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PRET10 E.

T H E writing of the History of Baltimore City and County has been rather a " labor of
love" than a source of profit to the author. It was undertaken at the request of Maj. Louis H.
Everts, the enterprising publisher, and from a desire to preserve historical facts connected with
Baltimore which came into the possession of the author in the course of long-continued investi-
gations. In the preparation of the work no authority of importance has been overlooked; the
author has carefully examined every source of information open to him, and has availed himself
of every fact that could throw new light upon, or impart additional interest to, the subject under
consideration. Besides consulting the most reliable records and authorities, over two thousand
five hundred communications were addressed to persons supposed to be in possession of facts or
information calculated to add value to the work. Recourse has not only been had to the valu-
able libraries of, Baltimore, but the author and "his agents have visited personally the entire
county, spending much time in each district, examining ancient newspapers and musty manu-
scripts, conversing with the aged inhabitants, and collecting from them orally many interest-
ing facts never before published, and which otherwise, in all probability, would soon have
been losi, altogether. In addition to the material partly used in the preparation of his
" Chronicles of Baltimore" and " History of Maryland," the author has consulted over five
thousand pamphlets, consisting of town and city documents, reports of societies, corporations,
associations, and historical discourses, and, in short, everything of a fugitive chai'acter that might
in any way illustrate the History of Baltimore City and County. From these and a large col-
lection of newspapers (more particularly a complete file of the Baltimore Sun which was kindly
loaned by the proprietors, Messrs. A. S. Abell & Co.) great assistance has been derived. The
file of the American was mainly used by the author in the preparation of his " Chronicles of
Baltimore."

Such material only has been retained as upon careful consideration and the closest scrutiny
has been found weighty and significant. At the same time it has been attempted to embody the
facts thus collected in a form as free as possible from the dryness of chronological recital. As
a rule, the original spelling of the names of both persons and places has been given, and in some
instances both the present and former modes are given.

"With the aid of Prof. Philip R. Uhler, the topography and geology as well as the geog-
raphy of the county have received the attention which their importance demands. Manufac-
turing, commercial, and agricultural interests have also a prominent place. The statistical
information embodied in the work is designed to connect the history of the past with the
present state of the trade and commerce of the city, and to present the features of the two
periods in striking contrast; and although to some minds these details may seem out of place in
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a historical work, yet it should be remembered that the statistics of to-day may become the his-

tory of ten years hence. Many of the facts recorded, both statistical and historical, may seem

trivial or tediously minute to the general reader, and yet such facts have a local interest and

sometimes a real importance.

Sketches of the rise, progress, and present condition of the various religious denominations,

professions, political parties, and charitable and benevolent institutions form a conspicuous

feature of the work. An account of the public school system is also given, and a history of the

various institutions of learning for which Baltimore is so justly famed.

An honest effort has been made to do justice to both sections in the relation of such events

of the civil war as came within the proper scope of a purely local history. The author has

made no attempt to obtrude his own political views upon, the reader, and has constantly kept in

mind the purpose that has guided his labors,—to present a work free from sectional or partisan

bias which shall be acceptable to the general public.

Considerable space has been given to biographies of leading and representative men, living

and dead, who have borne an active part in the various enterprises of life, and who have become

closely identified with the history of the city and county. The achievements of the living must

not be forgotten, nor must the memories of those who have passed away be allowed to perish.

I t is the imperative duty of the historian to chronicle the public and private efforts to advance

the great interests of society. Their deeds are to be recorded for the benefit of those who follow

them,—they, in fact, form part of the history of their communities, and their successful lives

add to the glory of the commonwealth.

A distinguishing characteristic of the work is its sketches of the thirteen districts into

which the county is divided. In them the reader is brought into close relation with every part

of the county. The advantage of this method of treatment is obvious, embracing, as it does,

narratives of early settlements, descriptions of interesting localities, and personal reminiscences.

An idea may be formed of the time and labor required in the preparation of the book, when we

call attention to the fact that the chapter on " Necrology" alone contains nearly three thousand

brief biographical sketches of prominent citizens who have passed away during the last century.

' The maps, views, and portraits are a prominent accompaniment, and add interest and

attractiveness to the subjects which they are designed to illustrate and explain.'

Our acknowledgments are due to many friends not only for a kindly interest shown in our

labors, but for much valuable information furnished in many cases without solicitation.

In presenting the History of Baltimore City and County to the public the author feels

conscious that he sends it forth with many imperfections on its head. In the preparation of a

work of this character many minor inaccuracies and .errors are almost unavoidable, the existence

of which it is impossible to discover until the book has been exposed to the light of general

criticism. I t may not be considered presumptuous, however, to express the hope that its general

conception and execution will be satisfactory to the community for which it has been written,

and that it will prove useful and interesting to all classes of readers.

J. THOMAS SCHAEP.

BALTIMORE, NOT. 8, 1881.
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HISTORY

BALTIMORE CITY AND COUNTY,
MA.KYLA.ND.

CHAPTER I.

TOPOGRAPHY.i

BALTIMORE COUNTY forms an important part of
the great continental belt of country known as the
Atlantic slope of North America. Situated in the

'northern part of the State of Maryland, it is the most
central of the counties which extend from east to west
along the Pennsylvania boundary. It has an axea of
seven hundred and eighteen square miles, and presents
somewhat the form of a broad curved wedge with the
tip cut square off at the north, and with the curved
base on the south indented by tidal estuaries. Its
length is about thirty-five miles from north to south,
by nearly eleven miles and a half in width along the
northern border, expanding to a breadth of twenty-
eight miles between the estuary of the Gunpowder
River on the east and the Patapsco River on the west.
The last named and the Little Gunpowder form its
chief boundaries on the west and east. Two of the
great areas of rain precipitation being included within
its limits, together with the mildnfess of the climate,
give it almost unsurpassed advantages for sustaining
a healthy and nourishing population. Supplied by
nature with an abundance of water and wood, with
soils easily cultivated, and capable of yielding ample
harvests of all the cereals, vegetables, and all the best
fruits of temperate climates, it rests only with the in-
habitants to advance their own interests by adjusting
themselves to the surrounding physical conditions.
Structurally, it possesses the most important elements
which give strength, variety, and character to the
Atlantic region. The contours of surface are chiefly
brought into prominence by the underlying reliefs of
hard rocks and of the solid materials derived from
them. For convenience, the surface of the county
may be divided into an upland region, a midland
basin, and a lowland border.

i Contributed by Prof. Philip K. Uhler, president of the Maryland
Academy of Sciences.

2

Uplands.—The uplands embrace all that part of
the country reaching from Western Run, about one
mile north of Cockeysville, to the Pennsylvania State
line. High mountains are no longer included within
these limits, for the peaked and craggy summits of
long-past ages have been softened into the blunt
domes and gentler ridges of a more quiet period. In
their stead are ranges of high hills traversing the
county diagonally, and passing out of it at a point
southwest of Reisterstown. North of Parkton these
hills are lifted to an altitude of more than eight hun-
dred feet above the level of the sea. Most of them
are broad on top, sloping gradually towards the south
and east, and give rise to groups of lower domes along
their flanks, which terminate usually at the forks of
the streams. In the very midst of these lower hills
an abrupt ridge of dark fissured rocks occasionally
rises, where a rapid stream has cut a deep ravine in
its downward flow. The soft micaceous soils of the
rolling uplands are covered by farms richly cultivated,
and yield abundant crops of wheat and corn. On the
ridges are still extensive tracts of second-growth
forests of oak, hickory, chestnut, and maple, sup-
plying rails for fences, cross-ties for the railroads, and
logs for houses, as well as wood for fuel. This sup-
ply is, however, rapidly decreasing, and the time is
near when it will be no longer possible to obtain trees
for most of these purposes. In rocky places, where
a deep vegetable mould has accumulated, bodies of
slender young walnut growth may still be seen, but
nearly all that of larger dimensions has long since
disappeared. Along these rich bottoms and between
the ridges near the streams the Kalmia, or calico-bush,
grows in vast thickets. These with the ferns and
lichens clothe the blackish-gray rocks, and decorate
every quiet nook. Little cascades and rapids appear
in all the broader rivulets, and a highly varied under-
growth shades the little pools in which until recently
the speckled trout found its favorite abode. These
waters are still clear, and do good service in furnish-

13
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ing power to flour-mills which stand hid away here
and there in unsuspected dells or hollows.

Midland Region.—The midland region is a broad,
depressed tract of country extending from Chestnut
Ridge on the west to the Ashland Ridge on the east,
and from the high plateau north of Western Run to
the Green Spring Ridge on the south. This inland
basin connects also with the valleys on the east and
southeast, which spread away like broad fingers to-
wards the border of Harford County. Throughout
most of this extensive region, and even in the valleys
beyond the adjoining ridges on the east and west,
limestones of good quality abound. The area in the
very centre of this basin yields also vast quantities of
fine white marbles. The soil is red, and of the very
best quality, easy to cultivate, and highly productive
of all the cereals. Iron ore. is also met with in many
places, chiefly in the soil overlying the limestone, but
also in the hills adjoining it on the west. It presents
a wide area of open country, depressed below the
general level, occupied by large farms, and wooded
only on the hills and ridges which project into it.
Several aflluents of the Gunpowder cross it, and an
abundant supply of good drinking-water is obtained
from wells.

Lowlands.—The lowland section is an alluvial
belt of country which bounds the hills of archsean
rocks on their tide-water sides. It comprehends the
whole of the Twelfth, Thirteenth, and the eastern part
of the Eleventh, nearly all the surface of Baltimore
City, and sends off a tongue into the Eighth District as
far as to Timonium. The surface of this whole region
is clay and gravel, with areas of sand in the lower
levels adjacent to the old water-courses, and with
deep black bogs and marshes in the necks at points
along the tidal estuaries. These cold, thin soils admit
a stunted growth of black-jack, scarlet, and willow
oaks, with occasional strips of small pines and some
tracts of chestnut trees. Where an accumulation of
vegetable mould occurs in the beds of the streams, a
more luxuriant growth of trees is seen, accompanied by
the maples, and by a dense growth of dogwood, various
bushes, and the greenbrier. The wild grapevine also
grows in these' places, and adds a fine element of va-
riety to the trees upon which it climbs. In a few
places hills of clay and gravelly sand rise to a height
of sixty feet or more, and break the monotonous level
of the tide-water plain.

The Thirteenth District, which forms a tongue be-
tween the Northwest and Middle Branches of the
Patapsco River, is remarkable for the extent and
height of the clay hills that form the chief part of its
mass. It has been at one time attached to the system
of clay ridges which pass through the city of Balti-
more and run back into the country on the northeast
to within a mile and a half of the Gunpowder River.
Federal Hill once formed a part of one of these ridges,
connected with the hill on which the Battle Monu-
ment now stands, and at the same time extended

northeast certainly as far as the valley of Herring
Run, between the* Harford and Belair roads. The
clay is invaded by beds of sand on the northwest,
in various places along North Avenue, on Gilmor
Street north of Saratoga, and in the northeast part of
the base of Federal Hill. Iron-ore nodules occur in
various places on both sides of the peninsula, and fine
sand suitable for glass-making has been extracted
from this hill near the back basin. Slabs of iron
sandstone and of pebbly conglomerates abound in
nearly all sections of the upper member of this clay
system, on or near the surface of the soil. The oak
forests which formerly covered the greater part of this
tract, aided by the abundant moisture derived from
the numerous springs in the slender ravines, con-
tributed to the nourishment of a very varied vegeta-
tion, quite in contrast with that now growing upon it.
At one time a cypress swamp skirted this peninsula
on the south side, and probably formed a part of the
one near the opposite shore of the Middle Branch ad-
joining Locust Point, and including a section of the
Fort McHenry submerged plateau. The swamp
cypress and the white cedar have long since been
exterminated in the vicinity of Baltimore, and the
only place where a few of them still remain, at a not
very remote distance from the city, is on Round Bay,
in the Severn River.

This part of the Thirteenth District has also been
tenanted by a varied population of the animal tribes.
The red deer and wildcat, the bear, the gray wolf,
red fox, wild hare, common mole, raccoon, opossum,
shrew, and various kinds of mice, and in the water
the beaver, otter, and muskrat, have all been repre-
sented. Most of the smaller of these animals still
remain, but in very limited numbers. Only a few
years ago this section was much wilder than now, the
waters were abundantly stocked with fish and reptiles,
and the wading birds—such as the great blue heron,
the egret, lesser heron, and belted kingfisher—held
complete sway over the humbler inhabitants of every
cove, poo^ and swamp. Of song-birds there are a
great variety, besides the wild pigeon and woodpecker.
The water snake, black snake, garter, ringed-neck,
and blowing viper; the gray swift and striped skink
among the lizards; and the snapper, musk turtle,
slider, pond terrapin, and the land tortoise, all
abounded. Insects too numerous to mention lived
here and enjoyed the region, which was also decorated
by huge tufts of the royal fern, and by its graceful
relations, the maidenhair and Dicksonia.

Rivers and Creeks.—The true rivers and principal
creeks rise in the high country of the First Division,
or in the ridges continuous therewith. Flowing be-
tween the groups of hills, and forking at frequent
intervals, they run swiftly in a generally southeast
direction until the wider valleys are reached, and
then they stretch more broadly onward to empty into
the estuaries of Chesapeake Bay. A general down-
ward slope of the whole country determines the di-
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rection of these streams and adds to the swiftness of
their currents.

The Great Gunpowder has all its large affluents
witihin the limits of the county. Several of these,
such as the Little Falls, Western Eun, Black Bock
Creek, and Beaver Dam, are powerful streams which
drain- most of the northwestern half of the territory.
The river itself is one of marked beauty and variety,
and especially so in its upper divisions. Like all the
rivers and creeks of the uplands, it plunges at one
place over huge rocks in a heavy cascade, at the next
it forms strong rapids among the bowlders, and then
placidly glides along for nearly a mile in a wider,
deeper channel, through a bed of alluvial soil. Its
course is very sinuous, and particularly so, on a
grander scale, south of the great fork below White-
hall ; while farther down it becomes a majestic stream,
full of energy, and supplying power for very large
mills, factories, and furnaces at many points along its
course. Yet it no longer fills the wide channel which
it once occupied, nor can it be estimated to contain
much more than one-fourth the volume of water that
belonged to it about one hundred years ago. The
drying up of springs which originally supplied its

. tributaries, and the decomposition of the rocks into
soils along the banks, have changed the order of dis-
tribution of the water and placed it in new relations.
Hillsides, once covered with trees, shrubs, and herbage,
retained the rain-water near the surface or allowed it
to flow in a gradual supply to the springs beneath,
while a notable proportion entered the cracks in the
rocks to trickle through and converge in the streams
at lower levels. But now the hillsides, baked by the
sun, allow the rains to run off by a single impulse, to
be lost in swelling floods, while that which falls on
the disintegrated rocks is held as in a sponge1, and is
parted with chiefly by evaporation into the atmos-
phere. These rivers and creeks have been a powerful
agent in grinding the hard rocks into sands, clays,
and earth. The river perpetually rasping against a
hill in its path, has made here and there a wide bot-
tom, over which it has deposited soft, moist soil, and
in such places, often of ten or more acres in extent,
the farmer now finds his choicest meadow-land.

The Patapsco Eiver is the largest and most power-
ful stream in the county, although it forms rather the
boundary than a true member of the territory. Most
of its tributaries belong to Carroll County, and the
principal ones rise in Parr's Ridge, at a distance of
twenty-five to thirty miles northwest of Baltimore
City.. These streams have frequent bends, and plunge
rapidly over beds of broken rocks in ravines between
the high, abrupt hills. After reaching the border of
the Second District, the West Branch becomes a wide,
rapid creek of clear water, running through a more
open country, with beds of limestone near on the one
hand, and with the dark, forbidding hills of the
Soldiers' Delight region on the other. After reach-
ing the vicinity of Marriottsville, it unites, forms a

fork with the West Branch, and then with redoubled
energy rolls through a wide channel between the high
domes of dark-gray rock until it reaches its extreme
expanse among the bowlders at Ellicott's City. At
this point it plunges over a great dam (no longer a
natural one), and furnishes power for several of the
largest flour-mills and cotton-factories in the country.
From thence, after being somewhat contracted by the
rocky barriers which arrest its expanse near Ilchester,
and passing through a deep trough to Orange Grove
Mills, it opens out into a beautiful, wide, deep valley
until the wide gap is reached at the Relay House.
From that point it flows steadily, and more narrowly,
on through an alluvial plain until it is lost in the
broad estuary at tide-water. It has been in former times
the avenue into the heart of the country, through
which large schooners passed to points nearly as far
up as the Relay House. This, however, is no longer
possible. The great flood of July, 1868, tore away
such quantities of sand, soil, and other materials from
the country above as to fill up the channel for about
four miles, leaving only two or three feet of water in
places where it was formerly ten or twelve feet deep.
The same flood affected all the streams in the vicinity
of Baltimore, in some thrusting the rocks out of their
places and grinding them into fragments, in others
transporting bowlders, sand, and soil, choking up the
channels, and changing the courses of the waters.
By this flood the rocks of the cascades in Jones' Falls,
near Baltimore, were nearly all destroyed, and the few
that remained were almost obliterated by the subse-
quent flood of August, 1870.

This latter stream runs through a most varied and
picturesque region. Rising at the head of Green
Spring Valley, it flows between verdant hills of va-
rious heights, through a valley of great fertility, out
into the broad depression since converted into the
great storage basin of Baltimore,—Lake Roland.
From thence it runs gently through a rocky bed until
it reaches an alluvial bottom near Mount Washing-
ton ; next it rushes over broken rocks, and continuing
on across an alluvial meadow and over the crushed
remains of ledges of rocks, it passes through the city
and empties into the harbor of Baltimore. All along
its course, at intervals of a mile or less south of the
lake, it feeds mills and factories of various kinds.
The most pleasant villages and settlements in the
State are situated on its banks, while the great cot-
ton and other factories at Mount Washington, Wood-
berry, and Hampton have drawn together a large
and industrious population. The adjacent hills have
become the places of residence of prosperous mer-
chants of Baltimore, and land companies have taken
advantage of this delightful country to build roads
and cottages for summer residents.

Gwynn's Falls Branch is a wide creek which rises
in the high region a little south of Reisterstown. It
flows at first through the flat bottoms adjacent to the
table-lands of the western part of the county, and
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then meanders between the more abrupt hills in a
deep channel, with bayed-out intervals at points
where the current formerly met an obstruction, such

* as the sharp face of a ridge or a mass of rocks. A
short distance south of the village of Franklin it
forks, and from that point it continues over broken
masses of black gneiss rock until it bends around into
the deep valley below Calverton. At this point it
has until recently supplied water for five large flour-
mills. Formerly it yielded the motive-power for
three others on the Frederick road, for several near
the Viaduct bridge of the Baltimore and Ohio Bail-
road, and for several others near the Washington
road. Now, however, the volume of water is so small
that steam-power has to be employed for all the mills
along its lower sections. The great floods have also
wrecked the lower reaches of this stream. Before
1868 a magnificent cascade, in some of its parts fully
twenty feet high, dashed over a high wall of granitic
rock at a point about one-fourth of a mile south of
Calverton, but now only the bed of the rock remains,
and a low wooden dam takes its place. Originally
this natural fall was more than seventy feet above the
present bed of the stream, the waters rushed over in
heavy volume, and the broken spouts of water in the
western angle wore deep and wide round pot-holes in
the massive rocks beneath. Some of these basins
were as much as six feet in diameter and five feet in
depth. They were caused by the water striking the
rock at right angles, producing first a little depression,
in which sand and hard stone lodged, and by the in-
cessant revolving of the stone and sand the hole was
widened and deepened until the motion was arrested.
Along this valley of the creek numerous other falls
occurred at irregular intervals of a few rods all the
way down. But at the present time scarcely more
than a few vestiges of these lower falls now remain to
mark their old places. This stream empties into the
Middle Branch of the Patapsco River through a wide
marsh and mixed sand-flat, covered in summer by a
dense growth of cat-tail reed (Typha latifolia) and
wild rice. The high tides formerly covered the greater
portion of this tract, but recently a large part of it has
become dry, and has been reclaimed for the raising
of vegetables by the market gardeners. This was
formerly the habitat of the snapping-turtle, the black
catfish, muskrat, a;nd edible crab. The latter ran into
the spaces between the clumps of marsh grasses for
protection while moulting, and during flood-tide mul-
titudes of soft crabs were thus easily obtainable. In
other parts of the estuary adjoining this tract, where-
ever the water is shallow, the Potamogeton, or pond-
weed, grows in dense beds, affording shelter to the
shrimp, pond-fish, stickleback, and countless num-
bers of Oyprinodonts, or mud-dabblers. Larger fish
such as the shad, herring, rockfish, and tailors, for-
merly abounded in the channel at the mouth of this
creek, but they have long since been exterminated,
and in their place smaller numbers of white perch,

yellow perch, pond-fish, and crocus have appeared.
Cray-fish also sometimes abound in the smaller tribu-
taries which empty into this basin. Less than fifty
years ago this branch of the river was unusually sup-
plied with springs, and previously, being a place of
great attractiveness, the name " Spring Gardens" was
applied to the locality.

Herring Run is another interesting creek which
waters the country near Baltimore City. It rises in
the high, hilly region a short distance southeast of
Towsontown, and flows in a direction generally a little
east of south, and empties into the broad marshy drain
at the head of Back River. Its name was suggested
by the large shoals of herrings which formerly ran up
to its lower rapids, in the vicinity of the Philadelphia
road, during the first warm days of spring, to deposit
their eggs. While not as broad as Gwynn's Branch,
it has all the variety of that stream in the beautiful
cascades and rapids which occur at irregular intervals
all along its course. It drains an area of about eight
miles in length by from two to three miles in breadth.
Running through a wooded region, with numerous
ravines along' its banks, each supplied with a rivulet
coursing between high banks, it deposits wide reaches
of alluvial soil, and yields a supply of water for
driving the wheels of several large flour-mills and
factories. After passing over a high, now artificial,
dam of black gneiss rocks, it rushes against a promi-
nent bluff of granite and hornblendic gneiss, is there-
by turned around towards the south for a few rods,
until, getting free from the high ridge which forms a
barrier behind Hall's Springs, it emerges into the
alluvial level next beyond'and crosses the Harford
road. From thence, passing over the rocky debris
which has fallen from the hills on the northern side,
and having resumed its former direction, it meanders
through meadows and lowlands until it spreads out
into the wide marshy pool which forms its mouth.

Leaving the numerous creeks of smaller size which
aid in swelling the volume of the Great Gunpowder
and Little Gunpowder in their long courses through
the hills of the northern part of the county, on the
southeast the attention is arrested by broad sheets of
water, in which the tide ebbs and flows in harmony
with the vast sheet of the Chesapeake, of which they
form a part. These are the broad estuary of the Gun-
powder, and the somewhat narrower ones of the Middle
River, the Back River,' the three mouths of the Pa-
tapsco, and Bear Creek. All of these are confined to
the alluvial belt adjacent to the Chesapeake Bay, and
only one of them (the East Branch of the Patapsco)
is as much as twelve miles in length. That of the
Gunpowder forms an extensive bay, with low clay
banks and sandy beaches, covering a basin about two
miles in width, at the widest part, by a length of
about seven miles from north to south. Middle River
is a less land-locked but broken gulf, scarcely sepa-
rated from the Chesapeake, and chiefly made up of
uneven pools of water, which push out like ragged
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tongues on either side into the flat necks of low
ground.

The Back River forms a better defined and more
channel-like stream, bent somewhat like the letter S,
and bounded on the bay side by low marshy islands.
It is a shallow sound, with low clay shores and sandy
or marshy stretches of beach from its source to its
mouth. Until quite recently these estuaries and
their adjoining necks of land have been the favorite
haunts of the wild swan, the canvas-back, and many
other varieties of the duck tribe, with a great multi-
tude of other water-fowl too numerous to mention.
They still form the resort of smaller numbers of these
same birds, while the blue heron, the egret, bittern,
night heron, plover, snipe, woodcock, and a few
species of song-birds, owls, hawks, and sea-birds, still
linger in the vicinity.

Most picturesque and attractive of all these waters
are the estuaries called the East and Middle Branches
of the Patapsco. The first of these reaches from the
harbor of Baltimore to Chesapeake Bay, a distance of
twelve miles; its greatest breadth being at the mouth,
between North Point and the Bodkin, a distance of
nearly five miles. After leaving the Lazaretto, just
outside of the harbor, it is a lovely- sheet of water,
having undulating banks of various-colored clays
rising on both shores somewhat abruptly, sometimes
to a height of twenty feet above the water-level, with
the tides of the Chesapeake rolling through every
part of it in dark-green waves. Here-and there a
clean beach of gravel is present along the levels be-
tween the cliffs, and often behind these appear the
fresh green of the swamps, covered with the cat-tail,
wild rice, and calamus. Groves of oaks, sweet gum,
and pines still decorate the hills and valleys along the
banks, and the necks adjacent are made bright and
pleasant by the vegetable and fruit gardens which
appear on every side.

The second of these, the Middle Branch, extends
from the Spring Gardens on the west and connects
with the former between Fort McHenry and the point
on which the Marine Hospital is situated. Its length
is about three miles, with an average width of rather
less than a mile. This is a fine sheet of tidal water,
with a ship channel running through its whole length,
having a depth of from sixteen to twenty feet. Along
the southern shore, however, the water is very shallow,
and on this side a frequent deposit of mud and silt,
brought down by the long Northwest Branch, is per-
sistently sweeping up. Quite near to the north shore,
east of the Long Bridge, there is also a deep channel
which connects with the other nearer the middle of
the river, and affords excellent wharfage for large
schooners. All of these basins are more or less sub-
ject to the accumulation of drainage from the rapid
streams which receive their deposits from the high
country beyond. Hence the bottom is covered in
most places by a pasty blackish mud, similar to the
oyster mud of Chesapeake Bay. It is derived from

the carbonaceous matter of the softer alluvium, and
requires to be dredged at occasional intervals to keep
the channels navigable. The shores on either side
are low, but much higher along the Spring Gardens,
on the south side of which the clay hills rise to a
height of sixty feet or more. The same side of the
broader basin of the river is chiefly bordered by cat-
tail marsh of variable width, and near the Marine
Hospital extensive ridges of sand prevent their farther
extension in the direction of the outer tide-water. On
the low tract behind this shore may be seen strips of
woods of great beauty, including the holly, sour gum,
sweet gum, willow, scarlet oaks, red maple, and thickets
of the magnolia.

Bear Creek is a tributary of the East Branch of the
Patapsco. It enters the latter on the southeast side,
and is chiefly composed of unequal arms, projecting
into coves, connected with a central channel about
three and a half miles long, having a general width
of about half a mile. The banks are high and low
at unequal intervals, chiefly composed of iron ore
clays, of reddish or ochreous colors, and of gravelly
sand next to and beneath the marshes. Deep boggy
tracts of black mud appear between the low hills;
these are densely overgrown by the magnolia, sour
gum, maples, and a great variety of bushes, and are
made almost impenetrable by the thick tangled
masses of the greenbrier (Smilax). The most beauti-
ful tree of the region is the evergreen holly (Ilex
opaca). Its rich dark-green leaves, strongly contrasted
with the yellow green of the vines and sweet gum,
give persistent verdure to the thickets. Occasional
groves of the common pine still stand in erect col-
umns, and furnish fine dark backgrounds to the vege-
tation of the swamps. Altogether it is a region of
pleasant variety, which greatly needs the softening
touch of civilization to sweep off its exuberant wild-
ness, and to bring it into harmony with the better
surroundings of a great city. It forms the chief drain
of Patapsco Neck, and is fed and kept supplied with
water by the numerous springs which burst from the
ground in the bordering marshes. Formerly it was
the region of extensive fisheries of the shad, herring,
rockfish, white perch, etc., but now only a few of these
fish remain, and the two former have quite left the
locality.

Dead Rivers or Creeks.—The drying or failing of
sgrings in many parts of the country adjacent to the
lower highlands, south of the middle of the county,
has caused the obliteration of numerous branches and
smaller creeks which were formerly important tribu-
taries of the Gunpowder and Patapsco Rivers, and of
Gwynn's and Jones' Falls. The most striking in-
stance of this kind is Western Creek, or run. This
was once a stream more than three hundred feet in
breadth above and below the Pimlico road. It rose in
the hills east of the Reisterstown turnpike, and emp-
tied into Jones' Falls through a deep chasm, next to
what is now the railroad station at Mount Washing-
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ton. A few rods east of the point where its two
branches unite there is an extraordinarily large dam,
fully three hundred feet wide by twenty feet high,
built of the black hornblendic gneiss of this region,
which shows what a vast volume of water once accu-
mulated at this point. This work was once used to
supply the water-power of a large atone mill, which,
with its accompanying mill-race, still stands in ruins
on the northern bank of the old channel of the stream.
Terraces below the dam on this same bank may be seen
at intervals, serving to show that the water had been at
one time as much as twenty to thirty feet in depth. A
remnant of the former stream now remains as a shal-
low brook, varying in width from five to ten feet. At
this point it passes through an alluvial bed, charged
with a few small bowlders, while along the interval
between the hills in Mount Washington it has worn
a deep gully, filled with broken rocks and bowlders of
various sizes.

On both banks of Gwynn's Falls, near and north-
west of Baltimore, may be seen the dry beds of many
small brooks which formerly fed that creek. Very
notably is this the case in that branch of the stream
which runs in the vicinity of Wetheredsville. Only
in times of heavy rains are these drains supplied with-
water, and then only for a short time. The same may
be said of Jones' Falls, north of the city, and also,
in greater or less degree, of all the rapid streams which
drain the country north of Baltimore. The south
side of the Thirteenth District, between the Belay
House and Gwynn's Falls, has also several old beds
of former large streams and indications of ancient
lake basins.

Valleys.—Valleys of surpassing loveliness may be
seen in various parts of the county. The chief of
these are Dulaney's, Long Green, Green Spring,
Worthington's, and the Great Central Basin. The first
named extends from the ridge north of Lake Roland
(bounding the Northern Central Railroad on the east)
to that three miles beyond the Gunpowder River, or
a distance of about ten miles. It varies much in
width, being scarcely a mile across in any part of its
own proper depression. But it connects with several
other short valleys on its northwest side (the largest
being that through which the Gunpowder runs), and
thus appears immensely expanded at a few points. It
is not a uniform, unbroken trough, but has low, rolling
hills bending in from the upper side. On its southern
side the hills are steep at first, but they gradually pass
into the rolling, billow-like prominences which stretch
away on the east and southeast. The soil is generally
good, in some places quite rich. Large farms are
common, and the southwestern part of the valley is
characterized by the great estates of Hampton and
Glen Ellen. It is richly supplied with almost inex-
haustible beds of the strongest limestones, yielding
the best quality of burnt lime, and adding a highly-
prized fertilizer to the resources of the district. Iron
ores of the hematite type are also to be found in the

red clays of the region adjoining the hill on which
Towsontown is situated, and which are now being ex-
tensively excavated for the Ashland Furnace.

Long Green Valley is a more abrupt depression be-
tween the chain of high hills, and it is narrower than
either of the other large valleys. It starts from
behind the high ridge which bounds the great bend
in the Gunpowder River, near the copper-works, and
runs about three miles in the direction of the Little
Gunpowder River, while its principal depression ex-
tends nearly north and south for a distance of about
four miles. Apparently it is a synclinal trough in its
upper division, underlaid by limestone, which crops
out in beds on the sides, and which in disintegrating
adds an important ingredient in enriching the soil.
The Harford turnpike passes through the whole
length of its southeastern depression, and connects
with roads running into other sections of the region,
making every part of it readily accessible. The
valley is scarcely more than half a mile wide in any
portion, but it is rendered somewhat unequal by the
rolling hills which flank it on the west. On every
hand neat painted wooden houses, with large barns
and groups of whitewashed outhouses, associated with
fine orchards of peach, cherry, and apple trees, greet
the eye, contrasting finely with the dark soil of the
hills, and testifying to the neatness and thrift of the
people. The whole region is picturesque, attractive,
well watered, and most inviting as a place of summer
residence. It only needs a railroad to make it speedily
accessible in order to draw a larger population.

Green Spring Valley is a beautiful tract of country,
running nearly west and east, and opening out at the
basin of Lake Roland. It extends from near Owings'
Mills to the latter, a distance of about seven miles,
and is about two miles in its greatest breadth. Its-
name was derived from the numerous springs which
bubbled up in two small lakes near the head of its
depression, situated in the midst of a tract remarkable
for its rich verdure. The ridge on its north side rises
by gradual stages from the basin adjoining the North-
ern Central Railroad, and rolls in lower broad waves
towards the bed of the valley. On the south side, a
chain of hills rises in majestic beauty above the hori-
zon. This ridge starts from near its opening with a
high back, about three-quarters of a mile long, and is
continued by six or seven others of less length, all
crowned with tall trees, and flowing westward like the
folds of a huge sea-serpent, until lost amid the domes
at the head of the valley. Fine large farms range on
both sides and along the flanks of the hills; frequent
belts of limestone cross the roads or appear in the
sides of the knolls, and many of the choice country-
seats of wealthy citizens of Baltimore lie half con-
cealed behind the groves of trees which shut in the
landscape. The soil varies from clay to loam, is well
watered in most places, and yields abundant crops of
cereals and fruits. The valley is placed in the midst
of a rich grazing tract containing numerous dairy-
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farms, which produce vast quantities of the richest
milk and cream, and prove the importance of this
district to the not distant city.

Crossing the broad rise of Chestnut Ridge, upon
which Reisterstown is situated, and proceeding a
short distance towards the east, we are met by a view
of indescribable natural beauty. Worthington's Val-
ley stretches out in a broad oval depression, having a
general northeast by southwest trend, of nearly five
miles in width, and of somewhat more than that in
length. It is surrounded on all sides but one by mod-
erately high, almost abruptly sloping hills, crowned
with deep forests of every variety of green. The de-
pression becomes gradually deeper as Western Run
is approached, while several of its tributaries take
rise along the flanks of the ridge on the southeastern
and western sides of the basin. A short swell of low
limestone hills pushes into the valley from near the
middle of the southeast side, and contributes an ele-
ment of variety to the view in that direction. The
valley is underlaid by a sheet of white limestone of
Extraordinary purity and excellence, in which exca-
vations have been carried to a depth of more than
sixty feet without reaching to the underlying rocks.
Wells have been sunk in many parts of the valley,
some of them twelve feet, others twenty-five feet, and
the deepest beyond sixty feet, always entering the
limestone at a point eight to ten feet beneath the sur-
face, and generally reaching an abundant supply of
pure water. The only hindrance to obtaining the
water occurs where the limestone is deep and dry,
probably made so by the numerous sink-holes which
are found in many parts of this area. All around the
inner rim of this basin shattered quartz fragments lie
thickly settled in the soil, while similar pieces are
less abundantly seen on the tops of the ridges; but all
over the valley these fragments, of precisely the same
stone, have been turned into more rounded bowlders,
and lie buried there in a stratum often six to eight
feet thick, in a clayey, micaceous soil. Beneath this
is a layer of pure white sand, usually about two feet
thick, resting immediately upon the limestone, and is
turned into a quicksand wherever the water runs into
it from the higher levels. The hills which inclose
this amphitheatral basin are composed of mica schists,
everywhere deeply decomposed, and only to be seen
firm in a few small spots where the damp shadowing
vegetation has protected them from the sun and at-
mosphere. These few ledges are the harder remnants
of enormous masses, which once stood towering in
craggy peaks above the summits of the ridge. Enough
remains to show that they had a general dip of about
sixty degrees a little west of south. Bowlders of brown
hematitic iron ore lie scattered over the surface near
the outer side of the valley, and shallow beds of the
same occur in the midst of the quartz bowlders, and on

the lower edge of the micaceous uplifts. Numerous
springs burst from the schists which fill the hills,
yielding an almost inexhaustible supply of limpid
water, and filling the air with a cool temperature
peculiarly grateful to the senses. Nature has en-
dowed this lovely valley with everything needed for
the comfort of man. A deep, fertile soil spreads out
all around; vegetable humus is washed down from the
hills by every freshet; all the cereals grow in rich pro-
fusion ; fruits of all the usual kinds are at home here;
brooks cut their way through the meadows at frequent
intervals, and two kinds of water for drinking run
from the hills or swell up in the limestone wells. The
woods are full of varieties of flowering shrubs and
plants, and the ferns luxuriate in dense thickets upon
every moist hillside or hollow, and form brakes in the
damp corners of the meadows. A solitary hornblende
bowlder, about the size of a bushel basket, lying in the
upper part of this valley, at a distance of five or six
miles from its native bed, attests the power of the
floods which at various times have poured over the
hills into the adjoining basins. This peaceful valley
rests in the midst of a scene of quiet beauty, affording
pleasant prospects in all directions. It only needs a
system of good roads to render ithighly attractive to resi-
dents of the city who seek a place for health and repose.

The Great Central Basin, as it may properly be called,
is the broad open depression adjoining Cockeysville.
It is a wide stretch of country, sloping inward from
the rolling hills on the north, west, and south, but
itself rolling gently away towards the southeast and
south, and connecting with smaller valleys in those
directions. Its general expression is that of an east-
and-west oval basin, bounded by Chestnut Ridge on
.the left, and by Ashland Ridge on the right. Beaver
Dam Creek traverses nearly its whole length from
west to east, and Western Run crosses its northeast
corner. It is a great limestone basin, scooped out of
the archsean rocks, overlaid by iron-ore clays in de-
pressions, and with quartz cobble-stone and local drift
accumulations distributed throughout in their beds.
It is at once the centre of the marble and agricultural
interests. The Beaver Dam and other quarries yield
inexhaustible supplies of choice white marble of
various kinds, while the Texas belt supplies immense
quantities of valuable limestone. In and around the
basin large farms of rich soil in a high state of culti-
vation are numerous, and on the northwest side is
situated the celebrated Hayfields, the prize stock-farm
of the county. All the cereals and fruits grow here
in luxuriance, and the grazing farms supply the city
with an abundance of milk and butter. Situated on
the Northern Central Railroad, within three-quarters
of an hour's ride from Baltimore, renders it quickly
accessible, and it is rapidly filling up with an active
and intelligent population.
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CHAPTER II.

GEOLOGY.*

THE introductory chapter of geological history be-
gins in a period relative to which speculation takes
the place of observation, and conjecture or hypothesis
must supply, as best they can, the want of exact
knowledge. In this outline we propose to leave these
misty regions unexplored, and start from a state of
things which we know to have once existed. We
know that at a certain time in the world's history
this portion of its surface consisted of vast bare sur-
faces of rock and wide areas of water. Desolate and
hopeless as this prospect would have seemed to a be-
holder, these barren rocks and unfruitful waves, acted
upon by heat and cold, by expansion and contraction,
were to yield all the varieties of surface, of rock and
soil, of hill, valley, bay, and river, which afford such
pleasing diversity to-day.

The first surface rocks laid down in the primeval
ocean were no doubt sediments produced by the dis-
integrative action of warm currents and chemical
agents, and the shattering energies exercised by earth-
quakes and electricity. Hard volcanic materials,
such as lavas, trachytes, basalts, diorites, etc., had
to be reduced to soft plastic masses in order to be
changed into the rocks which form the lower crust of
the region as it rests at the present time. A general
deposition along almost parallel lines running nearly
northeast by southwest afforded an axis upon which
to build succeeding formations. As long ages of
steadily increasing shrinkage and drying went on,
foldings of the surface were pushed up above the
mist-covered waters, and mountain ridges appeared.

. Frequent agitations of the mass produced changes of
level, and the dispositions of rock and water became
more varied.

Sharing in the several continental changes which
have formed the Atlantic belt of North America,
Baltimore County has been developed from its condi-
tion of primitive simplicity into a region of varied
complexity. It now embodies within its substance
the chief varieties of rocks, minerals, and soils be-
longing to the whole territory east of Parr's Bidge.
Looking broadly at the features which stand out most
prominently, the county is seen to be traversed diag-
onally by three general ridges of high hills, inclosing
the valleys by lateral spurs and clusters of domes
which deflect more or less from the main direction of
northwest by southeast. Those on the northwest rise
in series of high, chiefly broad-topped masses, with
here and there | short, abrupt backbone ridge break-
ing their continuity. They rise to an elevation of
from six hundred to eight hundred feet above tide-
water, and are chiefly composed of hydromica slates.

The second series forms the great range, with its
many radiating members, which crosses the country

1 Contributed by Prof. Philip B. Uhler.

one mile or more north of Cockeysville, runs southwest
to Eeisterstown, and passes out of the county beyond
that place. It rises to an altitude of four hundred to
five hundred feet, and is built of the hornblendic
gneisses, containing some mica schists, quartzites, and
a few granites. This is the great central area which
incloses the principal limestone valleys, and which
has suffered deep erosion, perhaps during the Cam-
brian period.

The third is the area of lower blunt ridges which
succeed each other between the northern boundary
of Green Spring Valley, Woodstock, and the city of
Baltimore. These latter foldings are composed chiefly
of the lowest rocks belonging to the county. On the
southwestern side they reach an altitude of more than
four hundred feet above tide-water, and chiefly con-
sist of dense granites, altered from a sedimentary con-
dition by the action of heat. The other hills of this
division are generally lower near the middle of the
county, but they rise to nearly the normal elevation
between the Great and Little Gunpowder Rivers.

The geological formations which have thus far been
detected in Baltimore County belong to the ARCH.a:AN
(Laurentian and the Hydromica Schist series), PA-
LEOZOIC (Cambrian, or Lower Silurian), MESOZOIC
(Jurassic and Wealden, possibly Cretaceous), CENO-
ZOIC, or Tertiary, and QUATERNARY, or Modern.

I. Archfflan Age.—The first land which in this
county rose above the surface of the general ocean
was the broad belt, twenty miles wide, which stretches
across the country on a diagonal line about three-
quarters of a mile north of Monkton to about the
same distance west of Reisterstown, and extends from
that line south to tide-water. It is pre-eminently a
region of crystalline and hard rocks. Hornblendic
and feldspathic gneiss, both massive and stratified,
syenite, granites, quartzites, and some granitic and
gneissic mica schists appear in most parts of the ter-
ritory. In addition to these, chloritic gneiss, serpen-
tine, steatite, talc, asbestos, and magnesian rocks ap-
pear in an interrupted series of hills which range
diagonally across the county from near the southern
end of Lake Roland to a point about five miles south-
west of Reisterstown. The hills of the primeval
archsean era were less high than those of the hydro-
mica schist age which succeeded them on the north.
But they were once much higher than at the present
time, and erosion, degradation, and decomposition
have greatly reduced their size, and turned them for
the most part into rounded domes.

At the lowest accessible level of this formation,
almost at the edge of tide-water, the rocks are seen to
be hornblendic. Near the mouth of Jones' Falls, at
Gwynn's Falls, and at those of Herring Run and the
Gunpowder River, these underlying hornblende rocks
are dense, rather fine-grained, and stratified. Often
the stratification is lost, or indistinct, in the middle of
the beds, while it is better defined or even quite dis-
tinct on the outer limits. More commonly these
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hornblendic gneisses are destitute of scales of mica,
or when this mineral is present, it appears only in
very small grains. As we proceed northwardly across
their line of strike, granitic gneiss appears at frequent
intervals. Almost every hill has a bed of this rock
of larger or smaller size. Some of these granitic
masses are mere intercalations between the layers of
dark gneiss, the stratified folds fitting intimately
around every part of their form. In a few places
they are intrusive, cross the gneiss at nearly right
angles, and form slender dykes of chiefly silicious
materials. Near the mouth of Gwynn's Falls granitic
aggregations of various kinds occur in low hills (the
remnants of former great ones), and in the old bed of
the stream. These are charged with large laminse of
mica almost regularly stratified, while the chief con-
stituents of the masses are quartz and orthoclase
feldspar. Proceeding up this creek, the attention is
arrested by the conspicuous transverse yellow belts of
granitic gneiss which cross and uplift its bed. Wher-
ever a gorge has been made in the course of this
stream, as at the dam which feeds the race of the
flour-mills on the Frederick turnpike, huge piles of
this rock, somewhat squarely jointed, jut up to a con-
spicuous height. At a date not now known the
granitic gneiss at this place formed a wall more than
seventy feet high, fifty feet wide, and two hundred
feet long, which stood as a barrier across the bed of
the stream. But by the continuous wearing of sand
and water, driven against it through long periods of
time, and by the irresistible force of heavy floods, it
has been reduced to a lower level, and finally broken
down to within twenty feet of its lowest exposure.
This rock, like most of the others which formed dams
in this stream, is of a yellowish color, coarse-grained,
and composed of salmon-colored orthoclase in moder-
ately large crystals, mixed with quartz in masses,
veins, and fragments, and including mica in small
tablets or broken scales. It is dense in some parts,
loosely compounded in others, and shows evidences of
irregular stratification. Frequent seams of detached
bits of quartz, both smoky and white, run through
the layers along the line of strike, while the north-
eastern end of the mass passes into and mixes with
the hornblendic gneiss lying beneath. This rock
also bounds this great bed on its upper side and in-
closes it beneath, apparently constituting a great
mould into which it fits, and in which it has been
modeled by enormous pressure.

This furnishes a fair example of the type of bedding,
and of the kind of granitic gneiss which appears in
most of the hornblendic schists of our Laurentian area.

The whole county appears to be built into, if not
laid down upon, hornblendic rock and gneiss. The
former rock crops out along the boundary line on the
Little Gunpowder River; it occurs with a few inter-
ruptions upon the whole western boundary next the Pa-
tapsco, and it occupies the principal part of the country
between the city of Baltimore and Owings' Mills. It

crosses the city in or beneath every large hill, is con-
spicuous along all the rapidly-flowing brooks, creeks,
and rivers, and it contributes largely to the local drift
which clogs the ravines and covers the low hills in
the middle of the southern part of the county. No
rock in all this region offers such variety of texture
and such peculiarities of arrangement. In the region
south of Pleasant Valley it is as dense as trap, com-
posed of fine flattened grains of hornblende and
ragged particles of quartz, has a conchoidal fracture
when undecomposed, and forms the central mass of
various hills, rising more than seventy feet above the
bed of the river. At a point about one-half mile
north of Monkton is a hill of hornblendic slates, and
schists. The strata are almost vertical, but dip a
little west of north; they consist of layers of gneiss,
having hornblende as the principal ingredient, to
which is added feldspar and some quartz. The layers
range from an inch or two to two or three feet in
thickness. A few of them are thickly set with fine
scales of mica, but in general they are not charged
with conspicuous seams of that mineral. A close ex-
amination of this rock shows that crystallization of
the quartz sometimes proceeded in narrow layers,
passing diagonally through the plastic mass, and
forming small inclosures of the matrix, like the divis-
ions in a nest of boxes. Occasionally the strata are.
abruptly bent in the midst of the straighter ores, like
a series of steps; the material on each side of this
filling out in progressively more even lines until all
trace of inequality is lost on the sides.

The outer divisions of this hill are composed of
broad belts of this rock, curving downwards and con-
verging, while the next inner series of strata is pressed
into broad undulations, which inclose the somewhat
jointed, compact, and massive hornblende granite.
South of Monkton, as well as directly next it on the
north, the ridges are composed of very variously ar-
ranged beds and strata. The latter are twisted and
thrown back upon the underlying members until an
.almost horizontal position js reached. This condition
obtains in the midst of beds of varying texture, but
having a general dip west of north of about forty-five
degrees. Where these abrupt folds occur the grains
are less densely compacted, and are somewhat thrust
apart, particularly in the apex of the bend. Sufficient
flexibility has here been attained rather by the move-
ment of individual particles than by the cracking to
pieces of crystals and masses. Several of these in-
verted folds inclose coarse uneven granites, composed
of various kinds of feldspar, of quartz, and of mica,
in particles or bits irregularly mixed or fused together,
and sometimes very loosely compacted. Several of
such hills appear in succession as the line of strike
is crossed in going southward, until the limestone
is reached below Phoenix. From that point to
Rider's Station no large outcrops of gneiss appear;
but near the latter the folds are seen to consist of feld-
spathic gneiss, stained yellow by the oxide of iron de-
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rived from the decomposing hornblende. The eastern
end of Lake Koland is cut out of the stratified horn-
blendic gneiss at the interval where it has been
broadly cleft asunder from the adjacent granite,
which outcrops next the dam of the city water-works,
on both shores. Decomposing hornblendic schists
succeed this in all the hills along the railroad until
the southern end of Mount Washington is reached.
At this point the black rocks of hornblendic granite
project along the top of the ridge on the right, while
the strata in the lower exposures are seen to be schists
of gneiss, ranging from a coarse-grained, dark mix-
ture through finer-grained paler gray to an almost
white, micaceous, quartzose, sandstone-like rock of
firm texture. A fault has allowed these newer layers
of gneiss to slide down sixty feet or more, and thus
the hornblendic granite, greatly cracked and dissev-
ered, stands on top in huge piles. Some of these
latter have been precipitated to lower levels, and form
angular bowlders along the eastern flank of the hill.
The gap thus made has opened a trough across the
strike of the strata, through which the waters of
Jones' Falls flow, while another break is reached
about one mile farther down-stream, where two hills
of hornblendic granite are made by a split at nearly
right angles to the direction of the former, causing
the stream to alter its course and make an abrupt
bend. A broad basin follows next beyond this,
scooped out to a lower level than that of the gap de-
scribed. The western side of this area, as far as
Woodberry, is composed of stratified gneiss of less
dense texture, the top of which has been plowed
down by water, and perhaps also by ice, to within six
to eight feet of the lower level. Over this the wash-
ings of the hills beyond have been deposited to a
depth of four feet or more, and along the beds of the
two little brooks which formerly crossed this undula-
tion the broken fragments of the hornblendic rock
have been distributed in rows of bowlders. On the
most northward of these two1 streams the black
bowlders are of very large size upon the hill, but
lower down they appear gradually smaller and more
numerous until the bottom of the basin is reached.
The open low areas of this region have all been
scooped out of the softer rocks, while the surround-
ing hills are made of tougher and more highly meta-
morphosed masses of denser materials. .

South of Woodberry the hills are abrupt on their
eastern sides, slope gradually on the west, and are
rapidly decaying in all their exposed surfaces. The
hornblendic rock is succeeded by fine-grained, more
or less chloritic gneiss, either of a grayish-black or
yellowish-white color, which breaks down into a fine
yellowish powder, yielding a dry, dusty soil. Pene-
trating the hill bounding Druid Hill Park, on the
northeast corner is a bed of unevenly mixed granite.
This reaches the surface beside a crack, through which
runs a small brook. Being highly charged with firm
quartz, it mostly resists the action of the solvents in

the water and atmosphere, and stands as a prop to
support its adjuncts on the south. On the lower
eastern boundaries of Druid Hill the granites begin
again, and appear in large masses. They cross the
bed of Jones' Falls in high beds, giving rise to cas-
cades, wherever they have not been broken off by
heavy floods. Some of these are of the kind known
as graphic granites, exhibit a highly crystalline and
glossy surface when broken, and consist of coarse
grains of quartz, fused together with large crystals
and chunks of orthoclase, and holding tablets of mica
of various sizes. Most of these, however, are more
fine and even-grained, consisting of quartz and white
feldspar, with very little mica, and showing more
distinctly an orderly arrangement of their grains in
nearly parallel lines. All the beds of granites in
this section of country, as far as they have been ac-
cessible to inspection, have proved to be inclosed in
the less metamorphosed stratified gneiss. The beds
lie between the folds of gneiss, the latter fits all around
their form, and they often send off slender tongues
between the layers, or are, occasionally, even con-
nected with slender veins of quartz, which run in vari-
ous directions across the strata. The Jones' Falls
quarries, just north of the city, are an excellent ex-
ample of the forms of gneiss and granitic gneiss
which particularly belong to Baltimore County.
Here are beds folded at a high angle, fifty to seventy
degrees north of northwest, having a pretty regular
strike in conformity with the continental axis, and
with the tops of the strata planed off throughout a
tract embracing hundreds of acres. In this series of
beds are the sedimentary gneisses of every variety of
texture and composition, altered by metamorphic
agents into shales, schists, and dense beds in great
variety. Black mica abounds, and forms a principal
ingredient in some of the layers. In others the pale
mica appears in finer and more even scales, associated
with hornblende and feldspar. The broken ends of
some of these layers project up to a height of eighty
to ninety feet, while they become gradually broader
beneath, and are there more altered, compacted, and
hardened! Quarrying beneath the surface has ex-
posed sections of these rocks equal to a height of one
hundred and thirty feet. This has shown that con-
solidation of the materials has proceeded from
beneath. The grain there becomes fine and close,
quartz and hornblende are evenly associated, a mini-
mum of mica, if any, is present, and a fine granitic
gneiss becomes the substitute for the shaly layers
above. Here and there a small bed of coarse granite
is completely inclosed, and in two cases small rounded
masses of this rock have been seen fitted in the strata
surrounding them, like a ball in its socket. Proceed-
ing into the city of Baltimore, the same classes of
gneiss continue* until near tide-water. At intervals
they are interrupted by broad beds of disintegrating
granite, consisting of coarse and fine grains of quartz,
feldspar, and a small proportion of mica and horn-
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blende. In some of the beds the mica is abundant
in fine scales, the hornblende is scarcely apparent,
and the quartz forms the principal proportion of the
mixture. These quartz grains are of every possible
form, from a flattened, ragged scale to an oblong or
rounded pebble, and are usually charged with cracks
and crevices. For the most part they are rather
smoky and imperfectly translucent, often stained
brownish by the presence of iron, but occasionally
of great brilliancy and almost transparent.

On approaching Union Depot the black rocks again
appear, and extend along and then under Jones'
Falls in a blunt ridge sloping thirty feet beneath the
surface near the edge of the harbor. As this rock is
directly overlaid by the micaceous gneiss along the
outer edges of the formation southeast of the city, and
as it appears in all of the less broken exposures on
the tide-water side between the latter and the Great
Gunpowder River, it is reasonable to infer that it is
the bed-rock everywhere beneath the Jurassic on the
Chesapeake boundary of the county. Digging arte-
sian wells has shown that this gneiss occurs at a depth
of about one hundred and forty-five feet at a distance
of one mile from the city along the estuary of the
Patapsco in Baltimore County, and that in Fort Car-
roll, seven miles farther out, the same rock is reached
at a depth of one hundred and ninety-five feet from
the surface. Accordingly, and from other artesian
excavations, it is plainly shown that the hornblendic
granites have been swollen from beneath into ranges
of domes, which extend out for unknown distances
towards the ocean, and that the intervening deeper
basins have been made by powerful erosion, which
has carried away all the softer parts of the upper
layers of archsean rocks, and cut down to the more
solid and strong parts of the lower beds.

The region a few hundred feet back from the pres-
ent limits of tide-water is important, as furnishing ex-
cellent examples of the type of structure of many of
our hills. One of the best preserved of these is a
rounded hill dipping in all directions, which for con-
venience maybe called a cycloclinal,—i.e., having the
sides sloping all around the circle.. It is now a low
hill in which the strata of hornblendic gneiss follow
each other in serial order. The upper layer, about
five feet thick, is of coarse-grained dull feldspar, con-
taining a smaller proportion of quartz in uneven mix-
ture, of hornblende in fine, remote particles, and of
very small scales of mica in moderate quantity. This
stratum has been cracked into two divisions, and
jointed at frequent intervals. It is spread out more
horizontally than those beneath, and connects on its
eastern side with the more broken remains of a second
cycloclinal, which once stood a few rods beyond. The
next two strata are about six feet in thickness, are
bent at a little higher angle, and are very densely set
with larger scales of black mica, constituting an un-
evenly deposited schist. The next layer fits the above
intimately, is about three feet thick, less micaceous,

but more hornblendic, composed of more regular
grains of feldspar, and is quite compact and strong.
Underneath this is a series of foliated layers of finer-
grained quartz, feldspar, and hornblende, in all not
more than six inches thick. Below this a strongly-
bent broad stratum of hornblendic gneiss fits closely ;
next a few feet of rock having more quartz and less
hornblende, and at the lowest exposure a highly-bent
stratum of granitic gneiss, almost destitute of horn-
blende, but containing a large proportion of highly
crystalline quartz grains, in feldspar, with a little
mica in minute spangles. As this little hill is set
directly in the bed of Gwynn's Falls, it has caused
that stream to deflect from a straight course, and to
form a bend like the letter S. The creek has, how-
ever, hammered for long periods against the hard
flanks of this rigid barrier, and not without some
success. For by sudden floods loaded with masses of
stone and sand it has been broken stage by stage
until most of the upper part of one side has been re-
moved and carried away. Next north of this eleva-
tion the edges of hornblendic and mica schists cross
the bed of the stream, and are traversed in various
directions by thick and thin veins of white quartz.
These are followed by thick stritta of hornblendic
rock, and by more or less micaceous beds, mixed with
coarse granite for a long distance.

The fine-grained hornblende rock is a granite in all
essential particulars. It is intimately united with all
our lowest granites and flows into their mass; or, on
the other hand, the granites flow into it. This condi-
tion of things does not involve dykes, although there
are places near the Patapsco River, in the First and
Second Districts, where both granite and hornblende
veins push up through strata of granitic gneiss and
cross them at various angles. So likewise on the
Great Gunpowder River, etc. Hornblende rock forms
dome-shaped upthrusts in various parts of this county.
Several outcrops of this kind occur along the common
strike of the belt, between the Belair and Philadel-
phia roads, north of Whitemarsh Run, and also be-
yond the Great Gunpowder River, in the Eleventh
District, in the lower part of the Third District, etc.
Between the Reisterstown and the Liberty turnpike
roads great beds of this rock lie exposed in every deep
cut. These are of immense thickness, and of great
density, hardness, and weight. How deeply they pene-
trate into the earth is not known, but by adding to-
gether the exposures at the different levels a section
of at least three hnndred feet might easily be con-
structed. At various points they exhibit a strange
phenomenon in weathering. Near the new bridges
on Calvert and North Streets the centres of the beds
are solid and only cracked into joints, but on their
outer ends they are seen to be split into numerous
thin layers. This is due, in part at least, to the
presence of iron pyrites. As the latter oxidizes it
unites with the moisture of the atmosphere and
gradually works its way in lines between the flattened
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grains of hornblende, and so forms an eroding agent
which steadily splits the larger strata. Usually where
a conspicuous proportion of feldspar is present the
hornblende rock is stratified, while in most cases
.where there is an absence of this mineral, or of quartz,
the stratification is not apparent without close exam-
ination.

No description of the gneissic system of our archsean
geology would be complete which omitted to notice
the commercial granites, the chloritic belts, the hy-
dromica schist series, and the older limestones.

The former constitute prominent rolls in the high
hills which flank the western side of the county, from
Ilchester tp the uplands beyond Woodstock. Most
prominent and best known are those which are desig-
nated by the name of Woodstock, Ellicott's City, and
Elysville granites. The former are obtained from
three large quarries exposed in the upper parts of
long and wide hills, at an elevation of more than
four hundred feet above the sea, set in a tract of
country where this rock appears for a distance of about
five miles in length "from northwest to southeast, by
nearly two miles in width from northeast to southwest.
To this should be added the interrupted belt which
extends from the Eelay House to a short distance
above Ellicott's City. Each small section possesses
a different kind of granite, so that it is generally easy
to distinguish between one sample brought from the
region of Granite village and one brought from be-
yond, or indeed from different quarries in the same
neighborhood. Those from the vicinity of the last-
mentioned place are finer-grained than those near
Ellicott's City, while the most northwesterly of them
has the finest grain of all. This statement must • be
confined to the granites which have been introduced
as an article of merchandise, for there are still finer-
grained varieties resting in single hills between the
gneiss near Orange Grove, near Ilchester, and near
the mouth of Gwynn's Falls. The hills in which the
first-mentioned varieties occur rise as gentle elevations
of fifty feet or more above the general level of the
folds of the adjacent ridge. The rocks of the three
quarries mentioned are composed of ragged grains of
dull white feldspar, with a smaller portion of orthoclase
feldspar, clear quartz, hornblende in smaller spicu-
lated grains, in medium quantity, unevenly mixed,
and with quite small flakes of pale mica in small
quantity. An agreeable light gray color is the result
of this composition, which strongly resembles the
varieties brought from Richmond, Va., and from New
Hampshire. Where lying undisturbed they curve
gently in all directions, as if forming the upper mem-
bers of a cycloclinal or anticlinal. But, as yet, they
have not been sufficiently laid bare to establish their
exact connections with the beds next adjoining. Out-
lying members of the series, however, are seen to fit
into the more or less stratified hornblendic gneiss,
and to grade into the hornblende rock, as has been
noticed previously in some of the binary granites.

As the hill is ascended behind the college at Wood-
stock, the granite rises into the road in the form
of a dome, with a top about four feet in diameter.
This is encircled on the bed of the road by a belt of the
same rock, of about six inches in thickness. To this
was added, originally, other outer layers, of which
vestiges still remain, showing the same curvature and
inward bend, and serving to establish the fact that
they all belonged to a nearly hemispherical mass of
granite. It should be noticed at this point that the
bed is slowly undergoing decomposition, and that the
concentric form of these outer shells may be due to
the manner in which the grains crack apart as they
lose tenacity. However, throughout the upper parts
of the quarries, in the freshly-broken rock, a similar
curvature is also seen. In a quarry of fine granite,
owned by T. Putney, in the near vicinity of this
road, a most striking phenomenon presents itself. All
around the upper part, as far down as the excavation
has been well exposed, the outer grains of the rock
have decomposed, fallen aside or into adjoining joints,
and have left the strata lying in the form of huge
eggs, or elliptical masses. Some of these are twenty-
two feet long by twelve to fifteen feet in diameter,
while others are scarcely more than five feet in length
by three feet in breadth, and indeed they occur of
various dimensions. The outside of all these bodies
is seen to be more or less stained brownish by the
oxide of iron derived from the particles of decom-
posing hornblende, but this decomposition extends
inwards to a depth of rarely more than about six
inches. Inside of this the clear gray color of the rock
asserts its tenacity, and is extensively employed for
first-class buildings. The same phenomenon occurs
in the other quarries of this region, but on a much
smaller scale. In this hill, as in the others near it,
the granites lie in layers a few feet in thickness, one
above the other. The wedge-shaped end of one fill-
ing out a corresponding corner at the end of its next
neighbor, while others taper in yet more slender
wedges, which run between contiguous ones, on
nearly the same plane; and so the whole series is
made up of long bands, fractured obliquely, or in
contact, end to end, where jointed squarely. Several
other varieties of granite occur in beds of smaller
size, near the Patapsco River, in the Second District.
One of these, is a salt-and-pepper mixed pattern, with
the grains of feldspar and quartz smaller than those
in the beds aiready opened around Granite Post-office,
and have the particles of hornblende as small as pins'
heads, and rather evenly disseminated throughout.
It occurs in layers a few feet thick, pushing up
through the coarse granitic and hornblendic gneiss
on both sides of the Patapsco River.

The next variety is very compact, occurs in the
same region, is almost pure white, and resembles crys-
talline marble in its general appearance. The few
grains of hornblende that it contains are mere atoms
placed at very remote interval's, and rather regularly
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distributed. It also appears in small beds, set in simi-
lar position between the layers of coarse gneiss.

Across the Patapsco Eiver, opposite Elysville, is a
large outcrop of granite, forming the body of a ridge
fully sixty feet high. The rock is a fine-grained mix-
ture of white feldspar, quartz, hornblende, and mica.
The grains are somewhat flattened, ragged, and
irregular, and the hornblende is small, set in slen-
der streaks of jagged atoms along interrupted lines.
Atoms of mica are sparingly distributed through the
feldspar, and are generally placed between the finer |
grains. The color of this granite is generally that of
pale lead, a little darkened by the short streaks of
black hornblende. This large bed is set into a broken
mass of granitic gneiss into which it grades, th'e mica
increases in quantity and size until a somewhat schist-
ose character is imparted to the strata. Decomposi-
tion is making havoc with these outer parts near the
road, and the weathering parts are being variegated
with ochreous brown. It then appears more like a
sandstone, the grains become rounder, and it finally
washes down into a loose, sandy soil.

The Ellicott's City granite may be known by its
dark-gray appearance, varied by oval or square large
crystals of pink and white feldspar. These pieces of
orthoclase are sometimes of an inch or more in length,
while the general average of the fragments scarcely
exceeds the one-twelfth of an inch in size. In some
parts of the beds extraordinary diversity of mixture
obtains, large and small crystals of different kinds of
feldspar are placed in contact with quartz and large
grains of hornblende, and the rock displays highly
crystalline and lustrous surface. The texture of this
composition is close, hard, and very enduring. In
the presence of damp, iron-charged soil it disinte-
grates and turns into paste, but in ordinary situations
it strongly resists the atmosphere.

Between this place and Orange Grove the greatest
number of species of granite may be obtained. Some,
such as the variety just described, form the larger
part of the great hills which constitute the ridge
rising more than a hundred feet above the bed of the
river. Below Ilchester long, intrusive beds of rose-
colored porphyritic granites jut out in the midst of
the blackish varieties, and within a radius of two
miles southeast of this point a dozen patterns of
granites, from an almost black species beautifully
mottled and inscribed to a pale, delicate bluish-gray,
fine-grained, wayy-streaked variety, form a grand
uplift near Orange Grove. Near the bridge below
Ilchester these rocks are held in the embrace of the
great hornblende strata, in some cases fade into them,
while the pale-red or salmon varieties vein through
them at different angles.

Another species of granite, somewhat resembling
the Ellicott's City type, occurs in and next to the
Great Gunpowder River, near the Philadelphia turn-
pike. It is a gray rock, composed of moderately large
grains of feldspar and quartz, the former being some-

times rosy, charged with black hornblende in short,
wavy, slender lines, bent in every direction, and with
but very little mica, in exceedingly small scales. Oc-
casionally very coarse aggregations of hornblende,
as well as large crystals of ragged feldspar, give it a
very conspicuous appearance. In density, hardness,
and weight it will stand equal to any of the other
varieties. It weathers into ridgy, waved, broken lines
of quartz and feldspar, very much like the granite
from Ellicott's City. Away from the centre of the
massive beds it runs into thin layers, and finally
changes into stratified hornblendic gneiss. Horn-
blende invades it from various directions, and pene-
trates, or rests within its mass, in swollen wedges, in
bent lines, in vein-like, thick streaks, or in blunt,
tongue-like projections. Near the road, beyond the
bridge, it rises in concentric strata, inclosed all around
by strata of true gneiss, having been originally pushed
up in dome-shaped waves, which have been planed
off by the rushing of water and hard matter over its
surface. The rocks in this region have the usual dip
towards the north-northwest at very high angles, while
the concentric strata connect with others which ex-
tend away in more parallel lines.

At the former limit of tide-water near £he mouth of
Gwynn's Falls, a gray granite of fine texture occupies
the lower and central part of a large exposure in the
side of a hill. It is a rock composed of ragged grains
of feldspar and quartz, with finer fragments of horn-
blende, and a few very minute scales of mica. At the
ends, and as it proceeds upwards, the rock becomes
stratified, grades into gneiss and micaceous schist, and
loses its distinctive granitic character. This, with the
preceding illustrations of the variable nature of our
granites, will serve to show that at least many of them
were originally deposited as ordinary sediments and
that they have been changed to their highly crystal-
line condition by the action of heat, probably pen-
etrating them in the form of steam and gas.

The next great rock system which demands our at-
tention is the Chloritic, embracing the serpentines,
chlorite schists, soapstone, talc, and magnesian com-
positions, with their included ores and minerals.
They occur most prominently in certain ranges of
rounded, moderately-elevated hills running in a gen-
erally northeast by southwest direction along both
sides of the great limestone basins of the middle of the
county. The first and smallest of these is the tract
of country known as the Bare Hills,—a barren, for-
bidding region of blackish-green, hard, dry rocks,
everywhere exposed at the surface and in the deep
cuts of the little streams.

Tunnels have been cut into the massive, jointed
beds, and deep pits have been dug to reach the chro-
mic iron, but everywhere the same dark rock presents
itself, relieved only by magnesian efflorescence, or
brownish stains of oxide of iron. As nearly as can
be determined, these rocks dip north of east, at an
angle of nearly forty-five degrees. They are bounded
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on the east by the granitic ledges of Lake Eoland,
and on the other sides by the hornblendic and mica-
ceous gneiss. Their unconformability with the gneis-
sic system in this region seems clear; but as we ap-
proach Druid Hill Park, along the line of Green
Spring Avenue, they cross the line of strike of the
hornblende rocks, are fitted into them in belts a few
feet wide, and stretch off under the surface in a nar-
row tongue, which has been cut into on Charles Street
near Chase. As only the edges of the strata are ex-
posed on the roads north of the Park, it is not now
possible to state whether the serpentine lies in faults
within the hornblendic beds. But at all events, it
fits intimately into the places which it there occupies,
and might readily be supposed to be of the same age
as the massive hornblende. A few indications of the
presence of serpentine are seen next the great horn-
blende area east of the Pimlico road, but on both
sides of Green Spring Avenue it occurs in the chlo-
ritic soils which display their barrenness on the flanks
and sides of the hills. Chlorite affects the rocks and
makes its appearance over a diagonal stretch of coun-
try, less than an eighth of a mile wide, running across
the Eeisterstown turnpike to the Liberty road, about
one mile west of Baltimore; next appearing a few
rods west of Gwynn's Falls on the old Frederick road,
extending beyond the Frederick turnpike and becom-
ing lost in the hills southeast of Catonsville. North-
west of the latter place it occupies a wide space of
surface, stretching off towards Liberty.

The largest area of serpentine in this county is the
great group of hills called Soldiers' Delight. It is
dark and forbidding like the former, but more ele-
vated, and constructed on a grander scale. Possibly
the hills are only great mounds of rock, pushed up to
their present level by the drying and shrinking of
the earth's surface. Such enormous beds do not seem
to be intrusive upthrusts, or dykes. Cleavage, or
jointing, is carried to an extreme development
throughout their whole extent, but it is not the joint-
ing of gneiss, nor the cleavage of granite. Square"or
diagonal fracture-lines pass through them at frequent
intervals, and give to the weathered surfaces the ap-
pearance of gaping wounds in a parched integument.

Two other areas of this rock occur, the one a little
east of Black Rock Run, north of Butler Post-office,
and the other near the forks of the Great Gunpowder;
but they present the same general features as the
others, and have no peculiarities calling for a further
notice at this time.

All of these areas are of value from the pockets of
chrome and beds of precious serpentine and copper
which they contain. In the Bare Hills valuable de-
posits of several varieties of fine-grained serpentine
exist, more than one of which will favorably compare
with the celebrated verd-antique marble. Here also,
as well as in the Soldiers' Delight, extensive pockets
of chrome have been excavated, and for several years
a copper-mine gave its quota of good ore to the agents

who worked it. An expansion of this formation ad-
joins Catonsville on the northwest, and there may be
found beds of soapstone, seams of asbestos, some talc,
and occasionally tremolite and actinolite. About one
mile north of Druid Hill the hornblendic-magnesian
rock has been suddenly bent into small anticlinal and
synclinal folds, exhibiting a highly metallic and al-
most fused appearance. Some of the folds have been
overthrown, so as to lie at a very low angle. Most
parts of this member of the series, however, dip about
seventy degrees, a little west of north, show the strati-
fication distinctly, and pitch towards the west. Beau-
tiful thin seams of talc have once been folded into
these, but only a few of their shattered remnants are
now left to indicate their former places. Steatite oc-
curs in the northwestern part of the First District, and
has there been extensively quarried for commercial
purposes. The great breaking up of the surface
which seems to have occurred about the close of the
Cambrian period scooped out vast quantities of these
magnesian rocks with their associated overlying mica
schists and left basins, to be afterwards occupied by
corals and other animals, and the algae, which con-
tributed to the masses of limestones and marble now
spread throughout most of their expanse.

The hydromica schist formation naturally follows
next in order. It occupies the highest levels of the
county, and stretches over its whole width from the
Pennsylvania boundary to Reisterstown on the west,
and to the head-waters of the Little Gunpow'der on
the east. High crests of this rock, of a blackish-gray
color on the weathered faces, stand up on ridges
which often rise to an elevation of more than six
hundred feet above the sea. The masses are frequently
of immense size, cracked and dislocated in various
directions, and stand out at various angles along the
steep slopes down which they have slid. Both syn-
clinal and anticlinal folds, both short and long, stretch
over the whole width of the area from north to south.
In some.cases these rocks reach over like tongues into
the limestone country farther south, and in a few in-
stances, as near Butler Post-office, beyond Ashland,
and in the ridges next above Green Spring Valley,
they have formed islands, probably, in the Cambrian
Ocean. The excessive proportion of silvery mica
throughout this formation is its most quickly distin-
guishing feature. It is mixed with quartz, which
spreads out in lumpy layers between its plates, and
which sometimes pushes through it in large veins.
As we proceed well into it, the newly-fractured rock
of the central parts of th'e beds shows a slippery,
satin-like surface, coated with more metallic-looking
mica (Bamourite), and this is often connected with
beds of steatite, which thrust their stout root-like
veins into the strata like huge cancers. Along the
southern boundary of this formation the scales of
mica are coarse and the slaty character less distinct
than it is seen to be as the State line is approached.
Beyond Pleasant Valley splendid examples of the
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schist, of a highly silvery appearance, fill the nar-
rowly-folded anticlinal and synclinal hills. There,
too, the layers of that rock are very neatly wrinkled
in narrow wavy lines. Quartz in lenticular laminse
rests between the layers, and, where foliated, its struc-
ture is more closely pressed together, while the little
prominences set all over the surface are found to be
occupied by garnets. These rocks are bent and folded
in almost every possible way. The white quartz con-
trasts strongly with the gray mass, and forming slen-
der veins, imitates many of the more crooked letters
of the alphabet. Compression of the strata has often
bent the inclosed granular quartz in such a manner as
to force it back upon itself. Some of these intercala-
tions are several inches in thickness, and have in-
volved the surrounding layers of mica to such an
extent as to double them inwards in a series of com-
plicated folds. Near their outer limits, these rocks
occasionally include a bed of sandstone like gray
gneiss, but usually these masses are of small extent,
and of no great thickness. A paler gray, closer-
grained sandstone is sometimes interstratified in other
parts of the area, and it seems to be of a texture fit
for grindstones and hones. The most striking feature
of this formation is the celebrated Black Rock, on
the creek of that name, about one-half mile north of
Butler Post-office, in the Fifth District. This is the
shattered remnant of a former great hill of the dark
mica schist which at one time crossed the Falls turn-
pike near the fork in Black Rock Run. On the west
side of the road it now rises in picturesque attitude
to a height of about thirty-five feet. It is weather-
beaten, varied with patches of gray, green, and yel-
low lichens, and partly encircled below, and on pro-
jecting angles, by the beautiful fern, Polypodium vul-
gare. The most prominent part of this monumental
mass consists of two vertical bowlders, standing on
end, close together. They appear to be about twenty
feet high, by nearly fifteen feet in width, rest upon a
large broken bed of the same kind of rock, and are
partly capped by smaller masses, which lean upon
them almost horizontally. Behind them, the hill is
filled with similar pieces of large size, tossed there by
the dislocations which have disturbed the order of
this whole bed, and shattered in part by descending
from a higher level.

In Butler the outer edge of this formation lies
nearest to a stratified gneiss quartz-rock, separated
from it by only a narrow gap. The gneiss is made up
of the extremely fine particles of quartz, feldspar, and
mica, sprinkled with atoms of hornblende. It is ar-
ranged in very narrow strata placed almost vertical;
and dips away from the hydromica schist, although
pressed against it lower down.

Another remarkable example of the hydromica
schist is the Raven Rock. It occurs in the Seventh
District, on the south bank of the West Branch of the
Great Gunpowder River, about one and a half miles
southeast of Weisburg. The rock is a prominent dark

ledge, which projects at least seventy-five feet above
the earth, and overhangs the Gunpowder River. It
is also part of a great ridge, and is as usual broken
and craggy. The wildest and most rugged region
of all, while the highest, is that where these rocks
are most prevalent, in the northwestern part of the
county; and there they may be studied in the char-
acteristic and almost original condition in which they
have been left by physical forces.

All the geological formations thus far noticed be-
long to the great underlying systems of primeval
rocks. No remains of anything certainly known to
belong to animal structure have been found in any of
them. They constitute the floor upon which all the
sedimentary and other formations of later periods
have been laid down, and from the broken remains of
which, in association with the remnants of organic
beings, all the succeeding rocks have been derived.

Palaeozoic Age. Cambrian and Lower Silurian
Formations.—The period is now reached when living
creatures and plants have begun to make their ap-
pearance in the waters. A wide-spread ocean still
covers much of the surface, and the eroded rocks
have left deep cavities in the sides and between the
swellings of the archsean masses, where rank growths
of sea-weeds and the soft sea-worms could find place
and protection. Doubtless hot springs and heated
currents of water coursed here and there along the
margins of the higher beds; skirting, perhaps, the
drains and narrow valleys of the hydromica schists.
As this period advanced, broad sheets of silicious
conglomerates were laid down on the bottom, where
the grinding waves had reduced the quartz seams to
rounded pebbles. Powerful storms stirred the shal-
low waters, breaking the mica from the schists, and
sending it in the midst of sandy streams to the upper
submerged plateaus. Fine silicious paste was laid
down at more quiet intervals, until a broad deep sheet
of quartz conglomerate and sandstone rested over an
area extending perhaps from what is now the eastern
edge of the Triassic brown sandstone belt across the
greater part of our hydromica schist formation, and
even projecting over a part of the county to within
the Third, Ninth, and Eleventh Districts. Probably a
few small belts of the Potsdam sandstone and pebbly
quartzite were laid down along the old sea margin
immediately north of Baltimore, since large angular
fragments, with multitudes of smaller pieces, have
been dug out of the drift along that line. These were
not rounded, as would have been the case had they
been brought from a long distance; but their edges
were sharp and unbroken, as if they had been cracked
from freshly-broken beds. Also, in similar deposits
in the same region, rounded small bowlders of the
same system occurred, but in every case noticed they
came from the harder and firmer parts of the rock,
which could readily bear transportation in contact
with other rounded quartz and pebble drift. The
latter part of this epoch was characterized by enor-
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mous wear and tear of the thick silicious beds which
covered some of the swellings along the bottom of
the shallower basins. Some of these were cut quite
down through the hydromica schists to the older
rocks beneath. Some of these basins, so made, are of
great extent, such as Dulaney's and Worthington's
Valleys, and all the long depressions opening out
towards the southeast. The ocean entered by all
these avenues, and was perhaps only cut off from the
basins in other counties by the higher folds of ar-
chaean rocks along the southwestern border of the
county. • Life must have teemed in the shallower parts
of the great ocean. The drains and open gulfs may
have been peopled by the corals and algse, and the
foraminifora, no doubt, filled the bottom of the deeper
waters with their constantly dropping shells. Long
ages elapsed, and the slowly accumulating deposits
had become thick. In some places they were com-
pact, in others more loose and porous. Here and
there streams of oozy matter, ground from the flanks
of the older rocks, mixed with sand, mica, and sili-
cious grit, coursed through the beds of limestone
mud, and left a long, wavy trail wherever they flowed.
Still other layers of limestone mud, mixed with what-
ever sediment was carried by the now gentler waves,
were laid over the former deposits, and by this time
a stratum had accumulated of several hundreds of
feet in thickness. Exact figures cannot be given, for
no measurements are obtainable at the present time.

Such has been the method, of construction of the
Cambro-Silurian system of rocks. Its whole history
has not yet been* given to the world, but enough has
been secured to enable us to recognize its most promi-
nent features.

Mesozoic Age. Jurassic and Wealden Formations,
—Whole ages of geological history have passed since
the Cambro-Silurian period came to an end; but, ex-
cepting a few badly-worn corals and brachiopods of
the Lower Silurian epoch, buried in the drift of the
Jurassic, no remains have been left to show that these
periods had ever affected the county. Probably at the
beginning of the Jurassic time great heat was active
in the crust of the earth. Trap was thrust up through
the cracks of the rocks in the brown sandstone of
the Triassic, and through other formations, and tre-
mendous contractions and expansions of the strata
dropped whole hills to lower levels, while it lifted
others in a corresponding degree. Drying and shrink-
ing of the earth's surface had already settled the
bolder reliefs of upland, and now the ocean was being
pushed farther away, extensive marshes bordered the
coast, and the lower midlands were covered with con-
spicuous groves of trees. Springs of water welled up
through the sandy beds covering the primeval rocks,
and lakes filled up the avenues between the rounder
hills. Great beds of canes spread away in belts next
the shores, and lagoons were tenanted by the ever-
hungry Astrodon and his other reptilian relations.
The climate was warm ; in the lowlands the atmos-

phere moist, and a plentiful vegetation grew all
around. Exquisite tree-ferns flourished in the open-
ings of the ravines, and the Cycad palms spread over
the deep, rich soil near the swamps. Many forms of
pine-like trees were established on the lower hills,
and they were spread out in wide forests as far back
as the first high elevations beyond Druid Hill Park.
Extensive washings of the surface, caused by the
melting of,glaciers on the flanks and in the cafions
of the high mountain on the northwest of the county,
brought down quantities of sand and gravel and small
rounded quartz bowlders from the rocky streams, and
carried them out in piles as far as the border of the
great ocean which washed the beach on a line with
North Point and the mouth of the Gunpowder River.
On that line beds of sandstone were being laid
down, layer upon layer, until finally a deep and
narrow strip of silicious rock stretched across the
region, which was afterwards to be the estuary of
the Patapsco Eiver, and away off through Cecil
County, northeast, in the direction of the Delaware
River. Probably this rocky belt then formed a high
barrier, and served to arrest the mud and sand which
was being continually carried towards it. The car-
bonaceous mud of the Middle Jurassic and Wealden
had now served its purpose in supporting a luxuriant
vegetation, and the iron material had been stored in
vast quantities throughout the beds of clay. The
repose of long intervals of quiet was at length to be
disturbed. The ice-barriers which had been gradually
extending towards the coast were now being broken
up. Floods swept down, cutting trenches through
the clays and former drift mixtures, and opened
channels into the sea. Ocean-waves and floods from
landward tossed the clays and sands about in. rude
heaps, and carved canals between the more refractory
beds of the harder clays. These once opened, the
higher tides rushed through them with great energy,
cut away their corners, and left them standing in de-
tached domes and wavy rounded swellings. Another
epoch, the Cretaceous, made little or no change in
the existing order of things, at least so far as any
record has been left to us within the limits of this
county.

Cenozoic Age.—And now we reach a period when
the whole region is lifted still higher above the sea,
and later, when fluctuations of level in the crust of the
earth forced up the mountains west of our county, and
let down our coast to a depth of more than one hun-
dred feet, admitting the ocean once more as far inland
as Lutherville and Timonium. Proceeding stage by
stage, it distributed the gravel in high heaps over the
plateaus and in the basins, and cast down some of the
rocks which had become detached along the summits
of the hills. A time of greater quiet followed this,
when a scanty vegetation of spruce grew upon the
ridges south of Dulaney's Valiey, but of all else
during the remainder of this period no remains exist
to point out its history.
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But now the end of the Cenozoic Age has been
reached, the present position of land and water has
been reached, and a temperate climate permits the
growth of willows near the streams, and of chestnut
and oak upon the rolling surfaces. Marshes of deep
black mud were beginning to accumulate, and the
tangled roots of grasses and shrubs were preparing
the foundations of the later peat.

Glacial Epoch.—The genial temperature of the
Cenozoic has now passed away, glaciers have again
settled on the mountains, and ice-rafts are crashing
through every channel, carving more profoundly the
beds of the streams, and plowing deep furrows in
the surfaces of the hard rocks. Swelling floods, from
the frequent melting of the ice-masses, pour through
the valleys, grooving and rounding the edges of the
limestones, and scoring parallel lines along the sides
of the rocky ravines leading down to the rivers. New
channels are cut in the Jurassic beds for the passage
of the waters, and the mouths of these in turn are
clogged with the rushing masses of sand, clay, and
drift. Rows of hard bowlders are distributed in lines
from their original ledges upon the sides of the ridges
and plateaus, the upper edges of the gneisses at lower
levels are planed off and then covered with the rocks
detached from above. Finally, the ocean pushes the
smaller bowlders, gravel, and sand over all the sur-
face as far back as the lower falls of the rivers, and
high hills of these materials stand up along the whole
tide-water belt of the county. Later floods in this
and the modern period have transported these gravels

i away from several of the hills and plateaus near tide-
water, but the same formation still constitutes promi-
nent elevations in places near the outer limits of the
city, along North Avenue, near Fulton Station, and
on Mount Royal Avenue. But in the region lying
six to eight miles from Baltimore, between the Phila-
delphia and Harford turnpikes, they form an elevated
plateau, rising to fully one hundred feet above the
adjacent lowlands. Clays have also been distributed
during this period as shallow layers in the depres-
sions washed out by the receding waters, and marsh*
mud has been deposited around the shores and in the
estuaries. Also, the full fauna and flora of the present
had its culmination at this time, and all the diversi-
ties of land and. water had become established. The
great American elephant roamed over the lower pla-
teaus and plains, and a luxuriant growth of the swamp
cypress and white cedar fringed the beaches around
Locust Point, about the end of the tongue of land
lying in the Thirteenth District, and along the shores
of the Spring Gardens.

Iron Ores.—From the earliest settlement of the
county iron ores have been known to occur in various
places near tide-water; and in course of time their
existence was discovered in other places, until now

, almost every locality within the range of the arch»an
and limestone rocks affords more or less of this metal.
First of all, however, rank the Jurassic clays, in the
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amount and quality of the ore which they contain.
A great belt of these, extending from the Relay House
on the Washington road to the estuary of the Gun-
powder River (and into the adjoining counties), and
having a width of about six miles on the west by ten
miles on the east, is the natural repository of the
highly-esteemed carbonates of iron. In the Twelfth,
Thirteenth, and part of the Third Districts, these an-
cient deposits are more than one hundred feet in
depth. They are the dried muds of a once great
marsh, which covered the whole southeastern border
of Maryland, from the vicinity of the Delaware and
Chesapeake Canal to the city of Washington, and
which extended back across the country in a belt
averaging nearly twenty miles in width. This has
been the region of dense forests,, canebrakes, tree-
fern groves, and luxuriant vegetation, and from their
macerated and reduced remains has been derived the
carbon which afterwards combined with the iron, in
the alumina from the hornblendic rocks and pyrites,
to form the nodules and layers. These clays have
also afforded the air-tight receptacle in which the
ores have concentrated, or settled in thin strata.

These carbonates of iron, widely known for their
richness and purity of metal, are of two kinds. The
one called Hone ore, from the drab color of its fresh
exterior, and from its resemblance to the fine-grained
sandstones used for whetstones, is found chiefly in
layers and flat masses, a few feet below the bed of the
Patapsco River, in the region around the quarantine
station, also between Fort McHenry and the light-
house on the opposite shore, and near the Canton
water-line. Large quantities have been lifted from
the two former places, and there is reason to believe
that a vast store yet remains, which is now inaccessible
because of the valuable property which has been built
above it. At intervals, from at least the middle of
the Jurassic period to the present time, the blackish,
carbonaceous ooze has been settling in the bottoms of
the estuaries, and thus the material for a new supply
of the ore has continued to be present. It is as-
serted by various persons who have been engaged in
collecting this ore that the same beds may be worked
over indefinitely. They state that after an interval
of a few years, sometimes as few as from three to five,
they have returned to the beds at the bottom of the
river, and found them profitably productive.

The second variety of carbonate of iron is generally
a little darker, more lead-colored than the preceding,
and more or less hydrated. It is of a fine, close tex-
ture, occurs in the form of nodules, often arranged
like a series of shells, one within the other, and is
generally more or less liver-colored towards the
blackish, velvety, crystallized centre. The interior of
such nodules is also seen to be filled with wet, dark-
colored clay, or with sand. This is the most abundant
iron ore thus far worked in the county. It lies in the
lead-colored or blackish clays which rise from a few
feet below tide-level; but it may also be met with in
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the paler-colored and reddish clays overlying, or
thrust into depressions in the darker ones. The places
which have thus far yielded the largest quantities of
this ore are the peninsula of the Thirteenth District,
the Caton tract, the Sulphur Spring region, the belt
along the Washington road from the Relay House
to the vicinity of Gwynn's Falls, the whole range
of clay lands from Herring Run to within one mile
of the Gunpowder River near the Philadelphia turn-
pike, and especially that part of the county near
Stemmer's Run. In the northeastern part of the city,
likewise, extensive excavations, to a depth of sixty
feet and more, have been made to reach the large
beds of nodules which rested there. Some of these
pieces were of large size, weighing two hundred
pounds, and even more; but the greater number
ranged from the size of the fist to that of the head.

Next in extent and value in this county rank the
oxides of iron. These occur in numerous places in
and near the limestone belt in most if not all of the
valleys. They are of several different aspects, but all
exhibit an earthy appearance, and are more or less
ochreous on some part of the surface. Some of them,
such as those found at Timonium and Ashland, have
a dark-brown, smooth exterior, and occur in lumps
of small size. These are dug from pits in the earth,
and are often found quite near the surface. At other
places, as north of Hampton, and even on that estate,
deep excavations have been dug for the vast bodies
of brown hematite deposited there. At Oregon, also,
and at other places near Chestnut Ridge, on the
"Caves" estate at the head-waters of North Run,
and about two miles west of Hereford, valuable va-
rieties of limonite occur in considerable quantities.
These are all important ores, and generally yield from
thirty-five to forty per cent, of excellent iron.

The county has not been carefully explored for the
several kinds of magnetite, specular oxide, titanifer-
ous, and other oxides, of which small quantities have
been found in the Bare Hills, the Soldiers' Delight,
and especially in the hills of the hydromica schist
series in the northwestern and northeastern portions.
Rich magnetites have thus far been extensively mined
here only in the edge of the chloritic slates, near the
forks of the Gunpowder River, south of Whitehall.
The importance of large supplies of iron ore is fully
appreciated by our inhabitants, and new deposits are
being discovered every year; but doubtless many of
the richest and best yet lie hid away deep in the rocky
hills, where they will be found hereafter only as the
result of a systematic and minute examination of the
structure of the country.

Marbles and Limestones.—The marbles of Balti-
more County are celebrated for their usefulness and
durability. These are all white, or nearly so, and
while they are distributed throughout most of the
valleys of the middle belt, are most easily developed
in the vast beds of the Beaver Dam, and in the ledges
of Dulaney's Valley. All of them have been more

or less altered by the action of heat, which has in
many cases imparted a highly crystalline and lustrous
surface to the fractured rock. This admits of a fine
polish to the dressed stone, and renders it highly de-
sirable for the finishing and trimming of houses.
There are two principal varieties of this rock which
claim attention first, because of their firm texture
and solidity in large masses. These are the fine-
grained and the alum marbles. The former is best
represented in the horizontal beds worked by Messrs.
Connelly and others west of Cockeysville. It consists
of small, even, glistening crystals of carbonate of
lime, but little invaded with sulphuret of iron, resting
in even strata of great length. The second is a very
coarse-grained, and more glassy, crystalline rock,
which occurs in the beds at Texas and in Dulaney's
Valley. It occurs in immense blocks, but, being
more difficult to polish, is not at present so much
prized as formerly. Both varieties have been exten-
sively used in the government buildings at Washing-
ton, and the former is the chief stone used in the
fronts of fine residences in Baltimore. The lime-
stones are the varieties of marble undesirable for
building purposes, from lack of evenness of texture,
or from resistance to polish, or softness of the body
of the rock. But they are precious as furnishing an
important fertilizer, and one well adapted to most of
the soils of the county. The limestones, including
the marbles, were originally laid down in nearly hori-
zontal beds, but where they rest in contact with the
primordial rocks the foldings of the surface have let
them down in deep synclinals, the closing of which,
followed by erosion, allows their ends to project at the
surface of the soil in conformity with the edges of the
adjacent beds of gneiss, etc. This is markedly the
case in Western Run Valley and in Quaker Bottom.
At the Gunpowder end of the new tunnel for the Bal-
timore water-supply, the limestone runs under the river
and juts against the massive hornblende rock, appear- -
ing to be nearly horizontal at that point, but bent into
a fold at a distance of a quarter of a mile farther east,
where it forms a prominent hill. The foldings of this
rock in the Texas district appear to be chiefly cyclo-
clinal, connected with serpentine waves following a
nearly northeast by southwest direction, and becoming "*
lost in more horizontal layers as they shade into the &
broad valley on the west. In Green Spring Valley 0£
broad belts of these limestones cross the roads, and
wide sheets of them underlie the soil on the north side ' ,4
of Lutherville. In the valleys south and west of the
Great Central Basin they underlie the soil at a depth
of six to ten feet, and the ore overlaid by micaceous
earth charged with small quartz fragments, somewhat
rounded.

Gold, Silver, Copper, and Chrome.—Gold has
never been found in Baltimore County in quantities
sufficiently large to pay for its production. It is com-
monly found here in the form of fine dust or minute
specks, scattered through quartz veins in the slates
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and primitive rocks. Granites in the archsean belt
have yielded small quantities, and the chloritic slates
of the metalliferous range north of Hereford have
disclosed a little of the gold in very minute particles.
It is an almost universally distributed native metal,
always hard to discover, and uncertain as to the
amount in any one locality.

Minute quantities of silver have also been found
associated with copper and iron in the quartzites of
the chloritic belt, eight miles from Baltimore. Speci-
mens of quartzite with fine spangles of this ore have
been exhibited from the region (it is asserted) just
north of Baltimore. As seams of altered chloritic
gneiss and almost fused hornblendic rocks pass
through the section immediately north of Druid Hill
Park, it is not impossible that some of the samples
might have been extracted from those places.

Copper belongs to the area along the borders of the
serpentine at the Bare Hills, at Soldiers' Delight, and
along the metalliferous range crossing the county
about twenty miles north of Baltimore. Indications
of the metal appear in the surface rocks east of Pleas-
ant Valley, also southeast of Whitehall, and near the
fork of the Gunpowder River. Copper ores of good
quality were formerly extracted from a shaft sunk
near the southeastern border of the Bare Hills, but
the large amount of the ore obtained at Lake Superior
and elsewhere caused the working to be unprofitable,
and it has since been abandoned. Native copper has
not yet been discovered in this county, but that which
has been worked is a carbonate, protruded into the
quartz veins, and often accompanied by the magnetic
oxide of iron. That which has been observed in the
Tenth District is found next the soapstone in the midst
of hydromica slate rocks. |

Chrome still holds a prominent place as one of the
valuable ores of Maryland. It is, however, less ac-
cessible in Baltimore County than in the northern
part of Cecil County, and this fact somewhat represses
the development of the digging in the Bare Hills and

_ Soldiers' Delight. It was formerly sought for in the
form of coarse sand in the gulleys and streams of the

_̂  localities before mentioned, but now the yield is found
to be more productive in the pockets of the massive
serpentine rocks.

-̂  _ Mica.—This much-needed mineral occurs in cross-
*j layers between strata of quartz in the archsean rocks.

It is associated with the binary granites, and often
forms irregular pockets in the midst of their mass.
A seam of this mineral has recently been laid bare on
St. Paul Street, next the northern end of the bridge
over Jones' Falls, but the only parts penetrated have
been too much decayed to be of commercial value.
Loose masses of large-sized mica plates have also been
found in the binary granites of the hornblende region
two miles east of Timonium. At that point only the
decomposed hills have been examined, so that the
rock in place may yet be found to yield veins of good
quality.

Clays.—The vast bodies of archsean rocks, largely
composed of alumina, have yielded by their decom-
position and erosion great hills and deep strata of the
most important commercial clays. These now rise in
part as bluffs along and near the shores of tide-water.
Deep cuts along the roads leading out of the city also
expose them at various points, and they may likewise
be seen in the excavations for new streets on its eastern,
southern, and western boundaries, and along North
Avenue east of the Harford road. They are of vari-
ous colors, from a pure white to a lead-black, and of
every variety of texture.

The finest porcelain-clay, or kaolin, is pure white,
soft, and destitute of grit, and results fcom the decom-
position of clean feldspar. It has been found in de-
posits of moderate size at many points in and near
Baltimore. The new basin at Montebello cuts through
a large bed of it, and it occurs in greater or less quan-
tities in all the large masses of decaying binary gran-
ites and feldsites. The sedimentary, water-washed
white clay may be in part only another stage of this
same kaolin. It occurs in beds underlying the drift
and sand, east and south of the city. Large beds of
it have been cut through in digging the Clifton reser-
voir, and it has been thrown out in large quantities
from the new tunnel for Harford Run, and from the
beds of the streets on Federal Hill, and west of Cal-
vert Street near the Northern Central Railroad depot.

Another kind of pale clay, whitish and drab, is used
in making the fine-pressed Baltimore bricks. It is
generally found a few feet beneath the surface in
separate beds, which are often many acres in extent,
and which extend beneath the surface to a depth of
ten feet, or even more. They are widely distributed
about the region of the Patapsco River, along a belt
about two miles wide, but sending off tongues into
the country at intervals to a distance of nearly five
miles.

The tile, pottery, and ordinary brick clays of Balti-
more County are still more widely distributed. They
occupy nearly all the intermediate levels over the
Jurassic area, from tide-water to a line about eight
miles north of Baltimore, and from the Relay House
on the Washington road to within one mile of the
Gunpowder River on the Philadelphia road. Many
of the beds of this clay lie directly next the surface,
and seem to be of late Tertiary origin.

Two other kinds of brick clay have lately been
brought into use. The one belongs to the iron-ore
regions of the limestone valleys, and the other to the
talcose slate region of the northern parts of the county.
Both of these varieties are much valued, and are
being extensively used in the construction of dwell-
ing-houses.

The limits necessarily prescribed for the present
chapter exclude the consideration of numerous topics
which fitly belong to the geology of the county. Thus
no notice has been taken of the duration of the time,
of the thickness, and of the rate of deposit of the
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different formations; of the different faults and dykes,
of the dislocations of the hills, and of the general
changes of level which have taken place during some
of the periods; but instead, we have had to be con-
tented with a general survey of the features which
more immediately concern the practical interests of
the present time.

C H A P T E E I I I .

ABORIGINES.

The Fierce Susquehannoughs—Habits and Appearance.

WHEN Captain John Smith, in the summer of
1608, penetrated the territory of Baltimore County (as
will be seen in the next chapter), he found it in-
habited by a nation of Indians who lived on or near
the river which has since borne their name. The
Susquehannoughs, being hunting Indians, changed
their abodes as game grew scarce, and so scattered
themselves over a large extent of country. Their
chief settlement was about twenty-one miles from the
mouth of the Susquehanna River, but in the spring
and summer they made visits to the salt water for fish
and oysters. They could muster seven hundred fight-
ing men, and exercised dominion over a considerable
part of the Eastern and Western Shore of the Chesa-
peake Bay, being the lords of some and the allies of
other tribes and confederacies.1

The Susquehannoughs were one of the fiercest and
most warlike nations on the Atlantic coast, and kept
all the tribes within their reach in a state of almost
continual alarm. Their villages were palisaded to
resist the incursions of their most bitter and deter-
mined enemies, the Iroquois, or Massawomekes, as
they called them. The warlike appearance, grave
and haughty carriage, and sonorous speech of the
Susquehannougha seem to have strongly impressed
the early voyagers. Smith describes them as very
noble specimens of humanity. He speaks of them
as a race of giants. " Such greate and well propor-
tioned men are seldome seene, for they seemed like
giants to the English, yea, and unto their neighbours."
He speaks of them as in other respects the " strangest
people of all those countries." They were of a sim-
ple and confiding temper, and could scarcely be re-
strained from prostrating themselves in adoration of
the white strangers. Their language seemed to cor-
respond with their proportions, " sounding from them
as a voyce in a vault." They were clad in bear and
wolf-skins, wearing the skin as the Mexican his
poncho, passing the head through a slit in the centre,
and letting the garment drape naturally around from
the shoulders.

1 Claiborne, in his petition to the English Crown in 1638, alleges that
he bought the Isle of Kent from the " kings" of the country. In 1652
the Susquehannoughs, in a treaty with the commissioners of Maryland,
ceded the territory, including the sites of Chestertown, Centreline, and
Easton. '

" Some have cassocks made of beares' head and skinnes, that a man's
head goes through the skinne's neck, and the eares of the beare fastened
to his shoulders, the nose and teeth hanging down his breast; another
beare's face split behind him, and at the end of the nose hung a pawe;
the halfe sleeves coming to the elbowes were the necks of the beares, and
the armB through the mouth with pawes hanging at their noses. One
had the head of a wolfe hanging in a chaine for a Jewell, his tobacco-
pipe three quarters of a yard long, prettily carved with a bird, a deere,
or some such device at the great end, sufficient to beat out one's brains."

Smith has given us a spirited sketch of one of these
gigantic warriors, " the greatest of them," thus at-
tired :

" The calf of whose leg was three-quarters of a yard about, and all the
rest of his limbes so answerable to that proportion, that he seemed the
goodliest man we ever beheld. His hayre the one side was long, the
other shave close, with a ridge over his crowne like a cock's combe. His
arrows were five quarters long, headed with the splinters of a white,
chrystall-like stone, in form of a heart, an inche broad, and an inche
and a halfe or more long. These he wore in a wolve's skinne at his
backe for his quiver, his bow in the one hand and his club iu the other,
as iB described."

When a hostile expedition had been determined on
by the chief and leading warriors of the Susquehan-
noughs in council, it was made known to the tribe,
who celebrated the occasion by a solemn dance, in
which the warriors, decked with paint and feathers,
chanted their past or prospective exploits, and imi-
tated in expressive pantomime the shooting, toma-
hawking, and scalping of their foes. On the ap-
pointed day they set out, in one or more parties,
moving, as they approached their destination, with
extreme wariness to prevent discovery, marching
often by night in single file, slipping from shadow
to shadow, or gliding through the forest so stealthily
that hardly a twig snapped or leaf rustled under the
tread of a moccasined foot, until at a given signal
they burst upon the village with terrific war-whoops.
Those of their foes who survived after the rage of
slaughter was glutted they made prisoners and re-
served for death by the most cruel tortures their in-
genuity could devise, in inventing and enduring
which the Iroquois—who indeed have the credit of
introducing the custom—seem to have surpassed all
others. Instances are recorded of the tortures of dis-
tinguished warriors lasting for days, a sort of contest
arising between the power of cruelty to inflict and
that of fortitude to endure. In the intervals of tor-
ment the victim would sometimes smoke his pipe and
talk on indifferent matters with his tormentors, while
amid his suffering he sang his own exploits or derided
the unskillfulness of his torturers, and taught them
devices for inflicting more exquisite pain. Women
were sometimes tortured, but usually they were toma-
hawked or shot, unless the captors wanted women, in
which case they were adopted into the tribe. The
Susquehannoughs made frequent incursions on the
more southern Maryland tribes for the purpose of
carrying off women.2

As we have stated, all the territory now comprised
in Baltimore, Harford, and Cecil Counties was the

2 The writer's History of Maryland, vol. t., p. 84.
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favorite hunting-ground of this formidable tribe; they, I
however, by no means confined themselves to these
narrow limits, but scoured all the country between
the Delaware and the Potomac, and spread terror
and dismay through the distant and less warlike
tribes of Southern Maryland.

The Susquehannoughs seem to have been the tribe |
known to the French by the name of Andast6s, or
Gandastogues; to the Swedes and Dutch by that of
Minquas; and to the Pennsylvanians by that of Con-
estogues. The similarity of the forms Gandastogues
and Conestogues, almost identical with that be-
tween Gaudawague and Caughnawaga, or Conewago,
is very striking. However, difference in name would
not necessarily disprove the identity of the tribes
mentioned. The same tribe was often known by dif-
ferent names, which varied according to locality or
other circumstance. It had, in the first place, its own
distinctive name, often, indeed almost always, sym-
bolical ; this name neighboring nations either trans-
lated into their own language or dialect, or replaced
it with a new appellation. The European settlers
either adopted these names as they received them
at second-hand, or corrupted the original in their
vain efforts to imitate the linked harshness of the
long-drawn-out gutturals of their Indian neighbors.
The name Iroquois, for instance, is of French manu-
facture ; in their own dialect they called themselves
"Hotinnonsionni," or " those who constitute a cabin,"
an appellation evidently referring to the close con-
federacy in which they were united. But each of the
five nations which formed this confederacy had also
its own distinctive name. The Mohawks called them-
selves " Agniegue," or the " She-Bear." By the Hurons
they were called " Agniers." The Mohegans on the
North River, the immediate neighbors of the Mo-
hawks, called all the tribes of the Iroquois confed-
eracy " Nadoway," or " Cruel," but they translated
the distinctive Mohawk appellation, " Agniegue"
into "Mahaquaas," which bears the same significa-
tion in their language. Sometimes a tribe took its
name from its geographical position; thus the tribes
on the Kennebec were called by the Algonquins
" Abrakis," or " Men of the East," and at the present
day the Algonquin tribes of Wisconsin give this name
to the Oneidas, who had removed from New York.
The name of a tribe thus depending upon so many
varying circumstances, it is not difficult to see how
the tribe under consideration may have been known
by all the different names that we have indicated.

' An investigation of the historical relations and ge-
ographical position of the Susquehannoughs shows so
exact a correspondence in these respects between
them, the Minquas, the Conestogues, and the Andas-
tes, or Gandastoques, as to lead irresistibly to the con-
clusion that they were one and the same tribe. The
Dutch settlers of New York, in their trading expedi-
tions down the Delaware, found the dominant tribe
in that region to be the Minquas. They lay west of

the Delaware, to which they were accustomed to make
their way by a creek known to the Dutch by the name
of Minqua's Kill. Their language was that of the
Mohawks and Senecas, both of which tribes belonged
to the Iroquois stock, as did also the Susquehan-
noughs, though not members of their confederacy;
and their military power was so great in 1633 that De
Vries saw them send out a war party of six hundred
men. Campanius, the Swedish authority, gives us a
long and interesting account of this same tribe:

" The Minquas, or Minckus, lived at the distance of twelve (fifty-four
English) miles from New Sweden, where they daily came to trade with
us. The way to their land waBVery bad, being stony, full of sharp, gray
stones, with hills and morasses, so that the Swedes, when they went to
them, which happened generally once or twice a year, had to walk in the
water up to their arm-pits. They live on a high mountain,1 very steep
and difficult to climb ; there they have a fort, or a square building, in
which they reside. They have guns and small iron cannons, with which
they shoot and defend themselves, and take with them when they go to
war. They are strong and vigorous, both young and old; they are a tall
people, and not frightful in their appearance. When they are fighting
they do not attempt to fly, but all stand like a wall as long as there is
one remaining. They made the other Indians subject to them, BO that
they dare not stir, much less make war upon them; but their numbers
are at present greatly diminished by war and sickness."

Turning next to several French authorities, we find
they place the Andastes in the vicinity of the Swedes,
and describe them as occupying the same prominent
position among the neighboring tribes as we have
seen ascribed to the Minquas by the Dutch writers,
and all the Jesuit authorities bear testimony to the
same point.2

The Susquehannoughs, or Minquas, or Andastes, or
Conestogues, or Gandastogues, as they were sometimes
called, were engaged in active hostilities against the
colonists and friendly tribes from the first settlement
of the colony. The policy of the early settlers of
Maryland was to treat the Indians with justice, mod-
eration, and kindness, and to buy the land from them.
The settlement of St. Mary's was bought by Leonard
Calvert for a quantity of axes, hoes, and broadcloth,
articles of real value to the Indians, who, indeed, were
the more ready to part with the territory from the
fact that they were suffering from the continued in-
roads of the fierce Susquehannoughs, who had harassed
them so cruelly that they had already determined to
abandon their lands and seek safer homes elsewhere.3

Some were allowed to remain on part of the purchased
territory, and their wives and children were employed
as servants in the settlers' families; others were al-

1 Vincent, in his " History of Delaware," says, " This mountain was
probably Iron or Chestnut Hills, near Newark." Henry Johnston,
in his valuable " Historical Researches," published in the Cecil Whig,
under the mm-de-plume of " Quilp," Bays, " It was probably an Indian
name applied to some part of the country between Iron Hill and Grey's
Hill, now called Red Hill."

2 Campanius, in Penn. Hist. Soc. Coll., iii. 157; "Relation de la N.
France," 1659-60, p. 28 ; Relation, 1636 (Huron); Relation, 1639-40, p.
134; Relation, 1647-48, p. 60; Bressain, Relation Abregee, pp.62, 286;
Lee, Relation, 1649-50; Relation, 1656-57, oh. iv. v.; Relation, 1660-61;
Relation, 1662, oh. iii. iv.; Hazard's Annals of Penn., p. 346; Albany
Doc. Records, xvii., 142,150. (See letter of John Gilmary Shea, LL.D., in
the Md. Hist. Soc.)

3 Father White's Narrative, pp. 36, 37.
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lotted reservations, with full rights of hunting and
fishing in the woods and streams. They very cheer-
fully submitted to the dominion of the whites for the
sake of the protection against the Susquehannoughs
which their ancestors tried to purchase from Smith
with the offer of perpetual subjection. The friendly
Indians were protected against their enemies and se-
cured in the enjoyment of their rights, and many of
them—such as the Yaocomicos,1 Potopacos,2 Piscata-
ways,3 Patuxents,4 and others—never, or scarcely,
wavered from their amicable relations. The two
strong and warlike, tribes of Maryland, the Nanti-
cokes5 and Susquehannoughs, preserved an independ-
ent existence, and at the time of the first settlement
of the province there was a feud between them, and
the former, as well as the latter, were often invaded
by the Iroquois. As if this were not enough, the
Nanticokes were frequently embroiled with the whites,
and war was several times declared against them.
Under this double pressure they yielded at last, and
requested to be put on the same footing as the Piscata-
ways. The Iroquois, however, continued to harass
them, and finally brought them under subjection.
About the middle of the eighteenth century, by ad-
vice or command of the Six Nations (who stipulated
in a treaty with the province that the Nanticokes
should be permitted to leave Maryland and settle
where the Six Nations should appoint), a portion of
the tribe left the province, carrying with them the"
bones of their ancestors, and removed to Otsiningo
(now Binghamton, N. Y.), where they joined some
fragments of the Shawnees and Mohickandus, and
made a league under the name of the Three Nations.
Others seemed to have settled in Wyoming, Pa., and
others again, if the theory be correct which identifies
the Oonoys orKanawhas with the Nanticokes, to have
removed to the vicinity of the rivers which now bear

1 The Taocomicos lived on the St. Mary's, and welcomed Leonard
Calvert and his little colony to the shores of Maryland.

2 The Potopacos lived at their town, now called Port Tohacco, in
Charles County.

* Mr. Davis, in his " Day Star," says, " The territory of the Piacataways,
whose prominent chief bore the title of emperor, was bounded in one
direction by the country of the Susquehannoughs; in another by the
region of the Patuxents. It also embraced a part of the country border-
ing upon the Patapsco and upon the Potomac, -including Piscataway
Creek, and probably the siteB both of Washington and of Baltimore." The
confederates of the Piscataways were the Doags, Mattawomans, Chap-
ticos, and the Mattawas. The latter tribe inhabited the lands near Bal-
timore.

4 The Patuxents, whose principal seat was upon the river of that
name, included a large number of smaller tribes remarkable for their
friendship towards the whites.

5 The Nanticokes were an offshoot of the Lenni Lenape or Delawares,
which nation they called their " grandfather." The origin of the name
Nanticoke was Nentego, meaning " tide-water" or " seaside" people.
The Lenni Lenape, or Delaware Indians, living between the shores of
the Delaware and Chesapeake Bays, were conquered by the Susquehan-
noughs or Minquas, and on condition of being permitted to occupy their
lands, they subjected themselves to a kind of vassalage that excluded
them from engaging in war, and, according to Indian ideas, they were
placed on a footing with women. Campanius says the Minquas " made
them subjects and tributary to them, so that they dare uot stir, much
less go to war against them."

their name. As late as 1852 a remnant of the tribe
(about one hundred) was living on Grand River,
north of Lake Erie, in Canada West.

The interposition of the colonists in behalf of the
peaceable and friendly tribes of Piscataways, Patux-
ents, and Yaocomicos had from the first secured the
hostility of the Susquehannoughs, who took occasion,
as they followed the war-path against their savage
enemies of the south or the back settlers of Virginia,
to strike a blow at the unprotected Marylanders, and
at times they organized expeditions with the express
purpose of surprising the frontier plantations, mur-
dering their occupants and plundering their dwellings.
Even the devoted and fearless Jesuit missionaries be-
gan seriously to think of abandoning their station
and establishing themselves at Potupaco (Port To-
bacco), which was less exposed to the ravages of this
cruel and warlike tribe. As early as 1638 their incur-
sions necessitated the passage of a militia law, and
although a military expedition was sent against them
in the following year, they continued their outrages
and kept the planters in perpetual uneasiness. They
had lately become more formidable by the possession
of fire-arms, for which reason the sale of arms and
ammunition to them by the colonists was made penal
by the following " orders," proclaimed on the 23d of
June, 1642:

"That no inhabitant or housekeeper entertain any Indian upon any
color of license, nor do permit to any Indian any gun, powder, or shot.
That all housekeepers provide fixed guns and sufficient powder and shot
for each person able to bear arms. No man to discharge three guns
within the space of one-quarter of an hour, nor concur to the discharging
so many except to give or answer alarm. Upon the hearing of an alarm
every housekeeper to answer it, and continue it so far as he may. No
man able to bear arms to go to church, or chapel, or any considerable
distance from home without fixed gun, and a charge at least of powder
and shot."

The Swedes and Dutch, however, who had settled
on the territory of Lord Baltimore, on the Delaware,
had no scruples in supplying the Indians with arms,
and, it was said, even taught them military discipline.
Claiborne, too, was not free from suspicion of stimu-
lating the discontent of his old neighbors and asso-
ciates, who grew so threatening that on the 13th of
September, 1742, the Governor publicly proclaimed
the Susquehannoughs, Wicomeses, and Nanticokes
" enemies to the province, and as such to be reputed
and proceeded against by all persons." A. commis-
sion was issued to Capt. Cornwaleys to levy men for
an expedition, and he soon subdued the Nanticokes
and Wicomeses, who, in 1651, put themselves under
the proprietary's protection. In Plantagenet's " New
Albion" we have the following account of Cornwaleys'
expedition against the Susquehannoughs and " their
forced auxiliaries," numbering two hundred and fifty
warriors:

" Having surprised in the reeds and killed three Englishmen, with the
losseofoneof theirs, Oapt. Cornwaleys, that noble, right valiant, and
polite soldier, losing but one man more, killed, with fifty-three of his'
and but raw and tired Marylanders, twenty-nine Indians, as they con
fessed, though compassed round with two hundred and fifty."
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"Yet this severe chastisement did not, it seems,
suffice, for on July 18, 1643, another expedition was
sent "against the Susquehannoughs or any their
aiders and confederates." The result of this expedi-
tion is not known, but we find among the records of
a court held at St. Mary's on the 28th of June, 1652,
"that the Susquehannough Indians, have for a long
time desired and much pressed for the conclusion of
a peace with the government and inhabitants of this
province," and the court being advised that such a
course would " tend very much to the safety and ad-
vantage of the inhabitants," ordered Richard Ben-
nett, Edward Lloyd, Capt. William Fuller, Thomas
Marsh, and Leonard Strong, or any three or more of
them, "at such time and place as they shall think
convenient, to consult and treat with the said Susque-
hannough Indians," and if possible conclude a league
and peace with them. The commissioners named
must have immediately, or within a day or two after
the preceding authority was given to them, entered
upon the execution of their diplomatic duties, for on
the 5th of July following a treaty was held and arti-
cles agreed upon by them with Sawahegeh, Aurogh-
taregh, Scarhuhadigh, Euthchogah, and Nathheldi-
aneh, " war captains and councilors of Susquehan-
nough, commissioners appointed and sent for that
purpose by the nation and state of Susquehannough."
The first article of this treaty reads:

" First, that the English nation shall have, hold, and enjoy, to them
their heirs and assigns forever, all the land lying from Patuxent Eiver
unto Palmer's Island, on the western side of the bay of Chesapeake, and
from Choptank Eiver to the Northeast Branch, which lies to the north-
ward of Elk Biver, on the eastern eide of the said bay, with all the islands,
rivers, creeks, fish, fowl, deer, elke, and whatsoever else to the same be-
longing, excepting the isle of Kent and Palmer's Island, which belong
to Capt. Claiborne. But, nevertheless, it shall be lawful for the aforesaid
Euglish or Indians to build a house or fort for trade, or any such like use
or occasion, at any time upon Palmer's Island."

The limits assigned by this treaty of cession from
the Susquehannoughs to the southern part of the
western shore of the bay is probably as far southward
as they claimed. The extent of the cession on the
eastern shore—to wit, from the Choptank to the North-
east River, in Cecil County—seems to imply that the
Susquehannoughs had by this time subdued all the
intermediate tribes on the eastern shore between the
Northeast River and the Choptank, or that these
tribes between the Northeast and Choptank had in-
corporated themselves with the Susquehannoughs.
It will be seen by an inspection of the map of Mary-
land that a small portion of territory, lying between
the Northeast River, in Cecil County, and the Susque-
hanna River, was by this treaty reserved by the Sus-
quehannoughs. At this time the Indians were quite
numerous around the head of the bay, and within the
territory not ceded to the English the Susquehan-
noughs had their settlements, or fort, from which an
extensive trade was carried on in peltry brought down
the Susquehanna.

On Jan. 14,1661, Augustine Herman purchased the

land for his settlement upon the Bohemia River, for
in his "Journal" he says he "bought all the land

j there (by permission of the Governor, Philip Calvert,
and Council) of the Susquehannough Indians, then
met with the great men out of the Susquehannough
Fort at Spes-Utie Isle, upon a treaty of soldiers, as
the old record will testify, and thereupon took posses-
sion, and transported his people from Manhattan [now
New York], 1661 (with great cost and charge), to
inhabit."

Although the treaty of cession of a great portion of
the province by the Susquehannoughs might have
been supposed to assure a peaceable and quiet posses-
sion thereof, yet the records exhibit for some time after
lamentable accounts of the murders, house-burnings,
and robberies committed by the Indians upon the in-
habitants of the territory now embraced in the limits
of Baltimore, Harford, Cecil, and Kent Counties.

Nathaniel Utie, who had received a license May 7,
1658, to trade with the Indians, lived at this time on
Spesutie Island, and became the owner of considera-
ble land on the Gunpowder and Sassafras Rivers.
He was one of the most adventurous pioneers at the
head-waters of the Chesapeake, and on account of the
troubles with the Indians and the Dutch, the Provin-
cial Council frequently met at his house for the pur-
pose of investigating the facts, making treaties with
the Indians, etc. The Governor and Council met at
Spesutie on the 13th of May, 1661, to inquire into
certain outrages committed by the Indians, and
ordered all persons that had suifered any damage by
them to appear on the 15th. This summons was di-
rected to be sent from house to house as far as the
Patapsco River. From the proceedings of the Council
we learn that John Norden, Stephen Hart, and two
others were killed by Indians near Iron Hill while
on their passage between Delaware Bay and the
Chesapeake. Robert Gorsuch, who lived on the
Gunpowder River, stated that the Indians came to
his house on the 11th of April, 1661, some dressed in
blue and some in red match coats, and killed his wife
and plundered his house. About four or five days
after they returned and killed five cows, a steer, and
some hogs. John Taylor stated that about Easter eve
nine male Indians with one Indian woman came to
his house, but upon being ordered off they departed,
but returned in about two weeks and damaged his
goods to the value of about one thousand pounds of
tobacco. They then went to the plantation of Edward
Fouster and John Fouster, two bachelors, and plun-
dered it. Intelligence having been received of the
depredations, William Wigwell, John Fouster, Ed-
ward Swanson, and others started after the Indians,
who, however, surprised and surrounded them in the
woods, and killed John Fouster and wounded Wil-
liam Wigwell. The rest of the English fought the
Indians over three hours, and finally made their
escape. Thomas Overton and William Hallis testified
that about the 25th of April, Thomas Simpson and
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Eichard Hayes, seeing two canoes with nine Delaware
Indians coming down Bush Eiver and moving towards
their plantation, the alarm was given and the English
took to their boats, when a fight ensued, during which
John Spume, an Englishman, and five Indians were
killed.

The next council met atSusquehanna Point (which
is supposed to be just below Perryville), on July 1,
1661. There is reason to believe that the Governor
and his secretary were present at this meeting, where
a commission was read from Lord Baltimore to Capt.
James Neals, directing him to levy men and make war
upon " certain enemies—pirates and robbers—that had
usurped a part of Delaware Bay lying within the for-
tieth degree of northerly latitude." He was author-
ized to make war upon the Dutch and their aiders and
abettors in Delaware Bay, and wherever they might
be found, and to capture and destroy them upon land
and sea; in which work all his lordship's officers, both
civil and military, were to assist. The Council being
uncertain whether the town of New Amstel was in
the fortieth degree of north latitude, decided to sus-
pend operations until that question was ascertained.
In the mean time, with a view of securing the co-oper-
ation of the Indians in case of a war with the Dutch,
Governor Calvert, accompanied by his secretary
(Henry Coursey) and John Bateman, one of his
Council, held a meeting with the Passagonke Indians,
who at that time lived on the Delaware River about
the present site of Philadelphia. This meeting took
place at Appoquinimi (now called Appoquinimink),
on Sept. 19, 1661. After both sides had stated their
grievances, a treaty of peace was signed by Pinna,
king of Picthanomicta, on behalf of the Passagonke
Indians, and by the Governor and Council of Mary-
land.1

The records of the province for 1662 show that the
Indians still continued to give trouble. The colonists
were at peace with the Susquehannoughs, but both of
these were at war with the Senecas, who were devas-
tating the few scattered settlements of the English
along the western tributaries of the Chesapeake Bay.
In the spring of 1662 they penetrated as far south as
the head of South River, which seems to have alarmed
the Council, for they ordered all the powder and shot
to be seized for the use of the colony, and that scouts
should be sent to the head-waters of all rivers emp-
tying into the bead of the bay, with orders to arrest
or kill all Indians found there. The troubles with the
Senecas grew worse, and on July 4, 1663, the Council
was informed by the inhabitants of Baltimore County
at the head of the bay that the Indians had recently
murdered two of the settlers, and another near Pa-
tapsco River, with two youths, whom it was believed
they had either killed or carried off. For nearly
twelve years a fierce war was kept up between the
Susquehannoughs and Senecas, success being mostly

1 George Johnson's Historical Researches.

on the side of the former tribe; but a more formidable
enemy than even the Senecas had by this time invaded
the Susquehannoughs,^the smallpox, which first ap-
peared among them in 1661, and whose ravages soon
became terrible. In 1673 they only numbered about
three hundred warriors, while ten years before they
had been able to muster seven hundred; and prob-
ably the mortality was even greater among the women
and children.

When the Hurons who were of Iroquois stock,
were finally overthrown, the survivors fled for refuge
to the Andastes or Susquehannoughs, from whom they
had before received promises of assistance. The pro-
tection thus afforded seems to have been resented by
the Iroquois confederacy, or Five Nations, and war
being declared between them and the Andastes in
1662, the warriors of the latter tribe carried such de-
vastation into the land of the Senecas (one of the
Five Nations) that these were forced to seek the aid
of the French. The Dutch writers, under date of
1661-62, relate that the Minquas, though they had
suffered severely from the smallpox, had engaged in
a war with the Senecas, and that " in May, 1663, an
army of sixteen hundred Senecas marched against
the Minquas, and laid siege to a little fort defended
by a hundred men, who, armed with fire-arms and
even cannon, relying, too, on speedy aid from their
countrymen and from the Marylanders, with whom
they had recently made peace,2 defended themselves
vigorously, and at last compelled the Senecas to raise
the siege."3

The war between the Andastes or Susquehannoughs
and Iroquois continued for many years with almost con-
stant victory for the former. But disease accomplished
what the Five Nations could not, and the reduced tribe
was finally defeated; the Relation of 1676-77 speak-
ing of the Andastes as utterly exterminated after a re-
sistance of twenty years. That Maryland took part in
the final defeat of this heroic nation is evident from
the language of the Iroquois deputies at the treaty of
Lancaster in 1744: "We do not remember," they say,
" that we have ever been employed by the Great King
to conquer others; if it is so, it is beyond our memory.
We do remember we were employed by Maryland to*
conquer the Conestogues, and that the second time

2 In August, 1663, the Provincial Council of Maryland met at Gold-
smith Hall (supposed to have been OH Bush Biver, now in Harford
County), and gave orders to Samuel Goldsmith to request the Susque-
hannoughs to come down and make a treaty with them. A treaty was
finally concluded with Wastahandow, " chief general and councilor" of
that nation. In August the Governor, attended by three of his council-
ors, also made a treaty with three kings of the Delaware Indians at New
Amstel.

3 It was, as we have seen, only a few years before this (1652) that the
Susquehannoughs had made their famous treaty with Maryland, by
which they ceded the territory from the Patuxent Eiver on the western
side of the bay to the Choptank Biver on the eastern side, and the iden-
tity of these Indians with the Conestogues seems fully established by
the fact that the Iroquois, in 1744, referring to this sale by the Susque-
hannoughs to Maryland, say, " We acknowledge the deeds to be good and
valid, and that the Conestogue or Susquehannough Indians had a right
to sell those lands to you, for they were then theirs."
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we were at war with them we carried them off." It
is a matter of record that the Maryland war here re-
ferred to, which was begun by the treachery of Wash-
ington and Trueman, in 1675, and which was carried
on to a successful termination by Bacon, of Virginia,
was against the Susquehannoughs, and ended in their
complete overthrow. The remnant of the tribe, though
carried off and mingled with their Iroquois conquer-
ors, must have maintained a separate existence, for
we find that Penn, in 1701, entered into a regular
treaty with Conoodagtok, king of the Susquehan-
noughs, Minquas, or Conestoga Indians; but it would
seem that on this occasion a representative from the
Onondaga tribe was present. As a subject tribe we
meet with them for many years in the negotiations of
the league, and though some of them appear to have
been removed to Onoghguage, a little band remained
at Conestoga, where, joined by some Nanticokes, they
formed a small village. In 1763, we are told, " they
were still at their old castle, numbering only twenty,
inhabiting a cluster of squalid cabins, living by beg-
gary and the sale of baskets, brooms, and wooden
ladles." An Indian war (Pontiac's) then desolated
the frontier, and the Paxton boys, suspecting these
poor wretches, and finding in the Bible sufficient com-
mission to destroy the heathen, attacked the village
and killed six of them, the only occupants at the
time. The fourteen survivors were taken to Lancaster
by the sheriff, and shut up in the jail-yard for protec-
tion ; but they could not escape the Paxton boys, who,
while the townspeople were at church, burst into the
jail and massacred the helpless objects of their fury.
Thus perished at the hands of a cowardly mob the
last remnant of that once powerful and noble tribe
which had lorded it over the whole of Maryland, and
which had often vanquished the fiercest and most for-
midable of the Indian confederacies.

French and Indian War.—Although, happily for
the people of Baltimore Town and Baltimore County,
they were not in the track of any of the great Indian
wars, or exposed to the formidable Indian invasions
from which many other parts of the province suffered,
they were by no means entirely free from the dangers
and alarms of the troubled period in which they lived,
and played no unimportant part in many of the stern
dramas of that early time. In the French and Indian
war which ensued after the treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle
in 1749, between England and France, Maryland be-
came involved mainly in self-defense, and though she !
was to share none of its spoils, her people were des- I
tined to suffer from many of the dangers and hard-
ships it brought in its train. Even before Braddock's
defeat bands of Indians were making forays into
Frederick County, burning houses and slaughtering
the inhabitants, but after his disastrous overthrow on
the 9th of July, 1755, and the retreat of Col. Dunbar
with the remainder of the British army to Philadel-
phia, the whole northern and western frontier of the
province was thrown open to the Indians. Measures

of defense were almost immediately adopted, but even
had they sufficed for the complete protection of the
wide territory to be guarded, they would scarcely have
allayed the terror which had taken possession of the
frontier settlers. The alarm inspired by Braddock's
defeat and by the advance of the French and Indians
was so great that many inhabitants of the western set-
tlements fled to Baltimore, and preparations were even
made by the people of that town to place the women
and children on board the vessels in the harbor and
send them to Virginia. At an earlier period the in-
habitants of Baltimore had erected a wooden fence
or stockade around the town, of which some tradi-
tions are still preserved. It had been constructed for
the defense of the town against Indian attacks, and
inclosed the whole of its inland border, thus indi-
cating that the danger apprehended was from the
land side. In this formidable stockade, which, it is
to be noted, was not pierced for cannon, there were
two great gates to admit the friendly traveler, or to
be shut in the face of the unfriendly one. The first
of these gates was at the west end of Baltimore Street,
and was placed somewhere very near its present in-
tersection with McClellan's Alley. The second gate,
for carriages, opened into the upper part of North Gay
Street, not far probably from the bridge which crosses
Jones' Falls. Between these two great portals a
smaller gate, for the use of foot-passengers, was cut
through the stockade near the present intersection of
Charles and Saratoga Streets. This line of fortifi-
cation never had its virtue put to trial, and seems
to have remained intact for only a few years, when,
a hard winter setting in, and the stockade being
made of wood of a very combustible and tempting
character, it was carried away piecemeal for " kind-
ling."1

Doubtless had it remained until the period now
under consideration, the inhabitants of Baltimore
Town would have felt more comfortable, even if really
no more secure. The general terror, however, con-
tinued to increase, and in September following the
Monongahela disaster the country to the distance of
thirty miles east of Col. Thomas Cresap's (who lived
about five miles west of the mouth of the South
Branch of the Potomac) was completely deserted.
So universal was the alarm that Governor Sharpe,
in one of his letters to Calvert, declared that " one
might foretell without the spirit of1 prophecy that
all that part of Frederick County that lies beyond

1 There is in the possession of the Maryland Historical Society an orig-
inal subscription paper for " keeping up, repairing, and making good
the fence of the said town and supporting a person to keep it in good or-
der." The subscribers were Robert North, William Hammond, Thomas
Chase, B. Chase, Darby Lux, William Rogers, and William Lyon, who each
gave £10. Nicholas Kogers, Hannah Hughes, Brian Pbilpot, Jr., Dr.
George Buchanan, Edward Dogan, and Capt. Charles Ridgely each gave
10 shillings; Capt. Darby Lux, Thomas Harrison, and William Rogers,
£1 ; John Shephard, John Frasher, James Perkins, Nich. Hartway,
Chris. Cytmire, John Ensor, Jr., and Joseph England each 5 shillings ;
William Ferguson 3 shillings; and Abraham Patner and Henry Johnson
each 2 shillings and 6 pence.
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Frederick Town will be abandoned before this time
twelvemonth at farthest." In the fall following Brad-
dock's defeat the people of Baltimore raised a large
sum of money, with which they purchased arms and
ammunition, and established a public armory in the
town, the martial spirit being kept up by the con-
tinual alarms and massacres on the frontier. Early
in November it was reported that a large body of
French and Indians were advancing upon the inte-
rior settlements, and this rumor reaching Frederick
Town on Sunday, November 2d, the inhabitants, ex-
pecting an immediate attack, rang the bells as an
alarm, and posted messengers to Baltimore and An-
napolis for help. Several companies of volunteers at
once mustered in Baltimore and the neighborhood,
and marched without delay. Even distant Annapolis
caught the infection of terror, and on the 6th of No-
vember the citizens began to fortify the town. On
the same day a report reached Baltimore that the
French and Indians were within thirty miles of the
town, and in a short time about two thousand volun-
teers had assembled for its defense. The report proved
to be false, but other reports, unhappily better founded,
poured in announcing slaughter and devastation in
the western part of the province. Baltimore Town
and County, however, were not occupied merely with
their own defense, but furnished both men and sup-
plies for the protection and support of the ravaged
and defenseless frontiers. The winter and spring of
1756 found the western section of the province still
overrun by raiding-parties of Indians, some of which
approached within thirty miles of Baltimore, and
though many of them were killed, terror spread from
the very fact of their approach. On the 25th of
April, 1756, forty-one persons,—six men, five women,
and thirty children,—with a small portion of their
cattle, to avoid the fury of the enemy, deserted their
cabins and clearings near Connecocheague and came
to Baltimore.

At length England and France abandoned all pre-
tence of peace, and war was formally declared on
May 17, 1756. This open authorization of hostilities
by the two great powers beyond the sea seemed to
arouse the Indians to a still greater degree of fury,
and Governor Sharpe, in alarm, writes to Lord Balti-
more, under date of September 13th, to say that " the
enemy has now free access to us through Pennsylvania,
and if some measures are not speedily taken for the
defense of that colony neither Fort Frederick1 nor
its garrison can be of much service. Besides the gar-
rison at Fort Frederick, we have at present two hun-

1 A fort erected by Governor Sharpe near the present town of Hancock,
in Washington County. It cost £2000, and had barracks for the accom-
modation of two hundred men, and on an emergency could contain
twice that number. It had bastions and curtains faced with stone, and
on each bastion was mounted a six-pounder.

dred men from the militia of Baltimore and Prince
George's Counties distributed on this side that fort
and about Connegocheague; yet that settlement is, I
am advised, almost broken up, and several hundred
persons have lately retreated thence, and retired to the
more populous parts of the county," some of them,
as we have seen, not stopping in their flight until they
reached Baltimore. Besides the aid which Baltimore
Town afforded in other ways, it contributed to the
general defense in another and rather peculiar mode.
The Assembly voted a large appropriation in 1756
for the prosecution of hostilities and the protection
of the province, and as one of the means of raising
the desired amount, levied a tax on all bachelors of
twenty-five years and upwards.2

Many of these gentlemen paid this tax for the next
eight years, being doubtless too patriotic to deprive
the province of this source of revenue during the con-
tinuance of hostilities, which terminated, however, as
far as danger to Maryland was concerned, with the
capture of Fort Du Quesne in the latter part of 1758.
In spite of the many alarms to which its inhabitants
had been subjected by the war, and the heavy bur-
dens which it involved, there can be no doubt that
the growth of Baltimore had been promoted by the
continuation of hostilities, which prevented the ex-
tension of settlements by the great influx of German
" Palatines" and other immigrants who came in be-
tween 1756 and 1763, and compelled the people of the
frontier to take refuge in the large towns.

This conclusion is supported by the fact that Balti-
more's commercial importance suddenly increased at
this period, and within a year after the declaration of
peace it became the chief mart of trade in the prov-
ince, a position it has ever since retained.

2 XJnder this provision the following persons were called upon to pay
their quota to the province: Thomas Harrison, John Moale, Andrew
Buchanan, Daniel Chamier, Sr., James Franklin, Jonathan Plowman,
John Shule, Dr. John Stevenson, Edward Parish, William Baxter,
Thomas Dick, John Mercer, and Mark Alexander, citizens of Baltimore
Town; Jeremiah Johnson, Keese Bowen, William Cole, Thomas Harvey,
Richard Bawlings, Edward Stevenson, Hugh Gray worth, Charles How-
ard, Beale Owings, Samuel Owings, Jr., John Doughaday, Nathan Crom-
well, Richard Hooker, Thomas Hooker, Nathaniel Stinchcomb, Walter
Bosley, John Fisbpaw, William Barney, Jr., Anthony Gott, Jr., Abel
Brown, Jr., Michael Huffand, Aquilla Price, Mordecai Hammond, Henry
Stevenson, of Edward, Samuel Bond, of Peter, William Harvey, Jr., John
Gibbon, Thomas Johnson, Thomas Cockey Deye, Benjamin Whipps,
Samuel Worthington, and Edward Peritany, of St. Thomas' Parish, Bal-
timore County; and William Osbourne, Garret Garreteon, John Peacock,
James Kemble, Philip Gover, W. Husband, Jr., James Lee. Jr., Isaac
Webster, Samuel Wallace, J. Billingsley, Jr., Richard Johns, Joseph
Hill, J. Lee Webster, J. Worthington, John Love, Thomas Husband,
Samuel Wilson, George Clark, David Clark, Josiah Lyon, William Wood,
Robert Dunn, John Cooper, John Wilkinson, Thomas Cooper, Stephen
Cooper, David Tate, David Maxwell, Joseph Bromely, M. Webster, Jr.,
James Cresswell, Joseph Wilson, Edward Hanson, F. Billingsley, Bich-
ard Keen, Robert Bryarly, of Robert, Robert Darby, Samuel Perryman,
James Foster, William Hill, William McClure, Moses Hill, Nathaniel
Giles, and C. Worthington, Jr., of St. John's Parish, then in Baltimore
but now partly in Harford County.
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until May 16, 1631, he had received authority to ex-
plore the Chesapeake Bay four years before this time,
and that he had not neglected to plant a settlement on
Kent Island very soon after this general authorization !
is evident from the fact that the " Isle of Kent" had j
a representative (Capt. Nicholas Matian) in the Vir- I
ginia House of Burgesses in the year 1631-32.
Kent Island, therefore, it would seem, must have had
a considerable population in 1631 to entitle it to rep-
resentation in a legislative assembly. But there is
some evidence to show that even before Claiborne
established his trading-post on Palmer's Island in i
1627-28-29, a previous colony had been planted there,
and that all the members of this adventurous party
had been murdered by the Indians, probably the
fierce Susquehannoughs, who had their principal seat
in this vicinity. Both Smith's voyages were made as
early as 1608, and it was doubtless his glowing descrip-
tions which fired the imaginations of other colonists,
and led to the settlements on Palmer's and Kent
Island. It is quite evident from these frequent jour-
neys into what afterwards became the territory of
Maryland that the attractions and advantages of this
region had become familiar in the other colonies, and
even in the mother-country, some years before George
Calvert received his charter. It is not probable that
the first settlement on Palmer's Island was a solitary
and unsupported venture, or that the large territory
formerly embraced within the limits of Baltimore
County was peopled entirely by emigrants from St.
Mary's. The population of the Virginia colony at
Jamestown had increased rapidly, and reports of the
prosperity of the country reaching the Old World,
numbers were induced to emigrate to the shores of the
Chesapeake. Whatever, indeed, may have been the
date at which the first settlements in Baltimore
County were made, it is certain that we were indebted
at an early period for much of the population of this
region to Delaware, Pennsylvania, and Virginia.
Our border troubles with Pennsylvania led many of
the inhabitants of the adjacent counties of that State
to remove to Maryland, and the dispute with the
Dutch over the title to Delaware produced an almost
wholesale emigration of the Swedes into our midst.
In a short time "fifty persons, including several fami-
lies, removed to Maryland and Virginia." Scarcely
thirty families remained in New Amstel, " and other
places day by day," says Stuyvesant, "are growing
worse and worse." The natural direction of this emi-
gration was by way of the present town of Elkton, and
from thence it penetrated into the heart of the territory
afterwards erected into Baltimore County. The first
Baltimore County court, as will be seen elsewhere,
was held in what is now called Cecil County, and the
first county-seat was at Bush River, said to be about
two miles below the present town of Bush, in Harford
County. This fact indicates that the upper part of
the county was at first the most thickly settled, and
there is conclusive evidence to show that it long main-

tained this numerical superiority. The settlement on
the Bush Eiver, known as Old Baltimore, continued
to be the county-seat for many years, a fact which
proves that point to have been for a long period the
centre of population, and the subsequent removal of
the court-house to Joppa, instead of to some more
southern or western locality, shows that even after
the lapse of half a century the northern and eastern
portions of the county were still by far the most
populous. They continued to be so for many years
longer, for the county-seat was not removed to Balti-
more until 1768, and Joppa, during more than fifty
years, was not only the chief mart of the county, but
the point which seems to have been fixed upon by
common agreement, or perhaps by law, as the most
convenient for elections, and a variety of purposes, to
a majority of the people of the county. It was not
until 1768 that the inhabitants of Baltimore Town and
the surrounding country grew strong enough to dis-
pute this supremacy, and even then they would seem
to have succeeded in obtaining the removal of the
county-seat under false pretences with regard to their
population, for we find that on the 28th of February,
1770, in pursuance of an act of Assembly, an election
was held for the purpose of giving the people in the
lower and upper districts an opportunity to determine
where lay the strength of the county and the greater
number of votes, and that the upper sections elected
their representatives by a considerable majority. The
polls were held in Baltimore Town for the lower, and
Bush Eiver for the upper districts, and the vote polled
was as follows:

Candidates—Above.
Thomas Oockey Deye 1572
John Paca 1354
John Matthews 1293
Aquila Hall 1220

Candidates—Below.
Samuel Owings 1181
John Moale 1167
George Bisteau 1119
Robert Alexander 990

All this shows how slowly the stream of population
moved into the interior, and throws additional and
interesting light upon the history of early coloniza-
tion in this State. Settlements, in the beginning,
clung closely to the shores of the bay or the banks
of the larger rivers, and nearly every plantation of
consequence was placed within easy distance of some
water highway, the only sort of road which the early
colonists found already prepared for them. Thus
from the first the "backwoods" was the wilderness,
and the backwoods was simply the unsettled region
removed from navigable water; and thus it happened
that both shores of the bay and its estuaries were set-
tled up to the mouth of the Susquehanna before the
interior of even Charles, St. Mary's, Talbot, and Kent
Counties had ceased to be called the " backwoods."

The tide of immigration from the north was met by
an upward current from the south, and accordingly
we find among the early settlers of this region emi-
grants from Delaware, Pennsylvania, and New York
on the one hand, and from Virginia on the other.
Among the most prominent settlers from the north
may be mentioned Augustine Herman, who founded
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CHAPTER IV.

ENGLISH DISCOVERIES AND SETTLEMENTS.

Captain Smith Explores the Harbor of Baltimore—Trading with the In-
dians—First White Settlers—Boundaries of the County.

HISTORY has not preserved for us the exact date of
the first settlements in Baltimore County, as it has
done in the case of the ancient town of St. Mary's,
but there is good reason to believe that, although this
section of the province was not formally erected into
a county until about 1659, the white man had effected
a lodgment there long previous to this time. Indeed
there is evidence to prove that even before the settle-
ment of Jamestown, Spanish adventurers had pene-
trated this region, for we learn from Capt. Smith's
narrative that while a prisoner in the hands of Pow-
hatan, he discovered that some of the subjects of the
savage chief had suffered injuries from Spanish ves-
sels, and framing his own story to suit the prejudices
of his hearers, pretended that his people had been
overpowered in a fight with the Spaniards, and had
sought shelter in the Chesapeake. It was the Chesa-
peake, signifying in the Indian dialect "mother of
waters," that first received the weary and impatient
voyagers who came to found the " mother of States,"
and it was but little more than a year afterwards, on
the 2d of June, 1608, that Capt. Smith undertook the
first of his two famous explorations of the Chesa-
peake. In these two expeditions he visited every
inlet and bay on both sides of the Chesapeake from
Cape Charles to the river Susquehanna, sailed up
the Patapsco, and probably entered the harbor of Bal-
timore. He brought back with him so accurate and
ample an account, and so faithful a plan of every por-
tion of the territory explored by him, that all subse-
quent researches have only expanded and illustrated
his original report; and his map has been made the
ground-work of all delineations, with no other diver-
sity than what has inevitably arisen from the varieties
of appropriation and the progress of settlements.
The little company that made the first exploration
under Smith sailed in an open barge of about three
tons burthen, and consisted of " Walter Russell, doc-
tor ofphydeke, Ralfe Morton, Thomas Momford, Wil-
liam Cantrill, Richard Fetherstone, James Burne,
Michell Sicklemore," whom Smith describes as " Gen-
tlemen," and "Jonas Profit, Anas Todkill, Robert
Small, Jame Watkins, John Powell, James Read,
Richard Keale, Souldiers." This voyage of discovery
occupied nineteen days, a very brief period consider-
ing the large number of points at which the expedi-
tion stopped to make observations and to institute in-
quiries among the savages. After passing the " straites
of Limbo," now Hooper's Straits, at the southwestern
extremity of what is now Dorchester County, they
crossed the bay to the western shore.

" So broad is the bay here,*' says Smith, in his narrative, " we could
scarce perceive the great high clifts on the other side; by them we an-
chored that night and called them Riccard's Cliftes. 30 leagues we sailed

more northwarde not finding any inhabitants, leaving all the eastern
shore, low islandes, but overgrowne with wood, as all the coast beyond
them so far as we could see; the westerne shore by which we sayled we
found all along well watered, but very mountainous and barren, the val-
leys very fertile, but extreme thicfce of small wood as well as trees, and
much frequented with wolves, bears, deere, and other wild beasts. Wee
passed many shallow creekes, but the first we found navigable for a ship
we called Bolus [the Patapsco], for that the clay in many places under
the clifts by the high water marke did grow up in red and white knots
as gum out of trees; and in Borne places so participated together as
though they were all of one nature, excepting the color, the rest of the
earth on both sides being hard and sandy gravel, which made us think
it bole-armomiack arid terra sigillata."

On the 24th of July, Smith set out from James-
town on his second exploration of the Chesapeake.
He ascended as far as the Susquehanna, and even
sailed some distance up that river, for he relates that
they lost their " grapnell among the rocks of Susque-
sahanocks," somewhere probably in the neighborhood
of Port Deposit.

Doubtless other explorations followed those of Capt.
Smith, but the next of which we have any record is
that of a trader named Spilman, who in 1621 was sent
from Jamestown to trade among the Indians for corn,
and whose party was all captured and killed by the
Anacostans, near the present site of Washington City.
One Capt. Henry Fleet, who was with Spilman, was
among the captured, and remained in captivity for
several years. After his release he returned to Eng-
land, and fitting out a vessel in 1627, revisited the In-
dian town of Towaccomoco (afterwards St. Mary's
City), and traded largely with them for furs. He
made many voyages of this character, but by no
means confined himself to this locality, his journal
showing that he carried on a brisk trade with all the
Indian towns far and near in which there was any
hope of obtaining the valuable beaver-skins which
constituted the principal part of his traffic. But it
would seem that even as early as 1632 he found a
competitor fully as enterprising as himself, one Charles
Harman, who appears to have been as familiar with
the country as Fleet, and of whom the latter com-
plains for having carried off " 1500 weight of beaver,
and cleared fourteen towns."

It was in October, 1629, that Sir George Calvert,
first Lord Baltimore, arrived in Virginia, and, im-
pressed by the beauty and resources of the country,
determined to apply for a grant of territory; but it was
not until the 20th of June, 1632, that his charter was
finally granted, and not until the 27th of March, 1634,
that the infant colony arrived at St. Mary's. But the
province had at least one flourishing white settlement
when the " Ark" and the " Dove" reached the shores of
Maryland. There can be no question, of course, as to
the prior settlement of Kent Island by Claiborne, nor
as to the fact of his having established a trading-post
on Palmer's (now Watson's) Island, at the mouth of
the Susquehanna, before the occupation of Maryland
under Lord Baltimore's grant. Claiborne's settlement
on Kent Island was probably made as early as 1627,
for, although his license to trade was not obtained
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a small colony on Bohemia River, within the then
limits of Baltimore County, but now included within
those of Cecil. Our first introduction to Herman is
in 1659, when he was sent by Governor Stuyvesant, of
New York, on an embassy to ask, " in a friendly and
neighborly way, the redelivery and restitution of such
free people and servants" as had taken refuge in
Maryland, and to make other demands with reference
to the border troubles then existing. Herman was a j
native of Prague, Bohemia, and emigrated to the
Dutch settlement at Manhattan. After his visit to
Maryland as one of the Dutch commissioners, he re-
moved to the.latter province, and in 1663 took up
land on Elk Eiver, Cecil County, where " Bohemia
Manor" and "Port Herman" still preserve his mem-
ory. In 1664 he and his family were naturalized as
citizens of Maryland by an act of Assembly,—the first
act of the kind passed in the colonies. Herman was
the great man of the region; he had his deer-park,
the walls of which were still standi ag in 1859; he rode
in his coach driven by liveried servants; his mansion
commanded a fine view of the Bohemia Eiver to the
Chesapeake Bay. It is said he died in 1686.

Nathaniel Utie, who was one of the foremost pio-
neers of civilization at the head of the Chesapeake,
and whose name is preserved in that of Spesutie
(Spes-Utie) Island, at the mouth of the Susquehanna,
upon which he settled probably before the formation
of the county, filled a prominent part in the early
history both of Maryland and Virginia. Becoming
involved in political troubles in the latter State, he
removed to Maryland, and in May, 1658, was licensed
to trade with the Indians for furs, and to arrest all
persons who were trading in the upper part of the bay
without license. On the 12th of July following he
was commissioned captain of all the forces between
the coves of Patuxent Biver and the Seven Moun-
tains, and was appointed to command as his own
company all the forces from the head of Severn River
to the above mountains. In 1666 he was one of the
commissioners appointed to effect an agreement be-
tween Virginia, North Carolina, and Maryland to
suspend the planting of tobacco for a year, so as to
enhance its value. He became a member of the
Governor's Council, one of the magistrates of the
province, and was one of the first representatives of
the county in the Assembly, holding a seat in that
body in 1662, 1666, and 1669. He took an important
part in the effort to dispossess the Dutch on the Dela-
ware, and was altogether one of the most prominent
figures in the early history of the county. George Utie,
probably a near relative of Nathaniel, represented
Baltimore County in the Assembly id 1661, and was
commissioned sheriff in 1666. The former importance
of Spesutie Island may be estimated from the fact that
a meeting of the Council was held there in 1661.

Baltimore County was erected into a county about
1659; the exact date is involved in some doubt. Be-
fore this year, however, the county is not mentioned

in the legislative proceedings as having any represen-
tatives. Its original limits were much more extensive
than they are at present, including Harford and
Cecil Counties, and, there is good evidence to prove,
stretching as far south on the eastern shore as the
Chester River, and perhaps embracing the whole of
the county of Kent. The first description of its
bounds is found in the proclamation of June 6, 1674,
by which it was declared that the southern bounds of
Baltimore County shall be "the south side of Pa-
tapsco River, and from the highest plantations on that
side of the river, due south two miles into the woods."
By the act of 1698 a boundary line was adopted be-
tween Baltimore and Anne Arundel County, which
had been located by commissioners appointed under
an act of Assembly passed in 1696. This line, which
is particularly described in this act of 1698, and which
began upon the bay about one mile and a quarter to
the south of Bodkin Creek, attached to Baltimore
County a considerable tract of country lying south of
the Patapsco; but in 1725 this act of 1698 was re-
pealed, and the present boundary by the Patapsco was
established. The western boundaries of the county
were undefined, and in the absence of the act or order
erecting Baltimore County, we are unable to say what
were the original western limits assigned to it. At
one time it extended to the head of the Patuxent ;
afterwards the head of the Patapsco became its west-
ern boundary, and was so until the formation of
Frederick County in 1748. On the north Baltimore
County extended to the extreme limits of the province.
Its eastern limits have for many years been an interest-
ting subject of dispute, but there is strong evidence to
show, as we have said, that they formerly embraced
Cecil County, and extended down the eastern shore to
the Chester River, probably including the whole of the
territory forming the present county of Kent. In the
early records of the province and county may be found
scores of deeds' and patents for lands on the Elk, the
Bohemia, and the Sassafras Rivers, which are de-
scribed as lying in Baltimore County, Capt. Nathaniel
Utie, for instance, holding lands on the Sassafras,
which are set down as in Baltimore County. There
are also several official references, in proclamations
and elsewhere, to points on the eastern shore north
of the Chester River as within the limits of Baltimore
County. The act of 1707, ch. 8, throws further light
on this subject. It provides for the removal of
Thomas Howell, " now lying under execution for
debt, in the custody of the sheriff of Cecil County,
into the custody of the sheriff of Kent County," and
this removal was made necessary " by the late division
of those counties, whereby this Howell became an in-
habitant of Kent County," showing that at least a por-
tion of Kent had previously been embraced within the
limits of Cecil, which itself, as has been shown, had
originally been included within Baltimore County.

Cecil County, named after Cecilius Calvert, second
Lord Baltimore, was erected in 1674, and the records
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show that by the terms of the proclamation creating
it it was described as extending " from the mouth of
the Susquehanna River down the eastern side of the
bay, to Swan Point; thence to Hell Point, and thence
up Chester River to the head thereof'' This proves
conclusively that Cecil County originally embraced
the county of Kent, and Cecil itself, or a part of it,
was carved out of Baltimore County, as the deeds and
patents testify. Deeds to lands some distance south

• of the Sassafras River, and described as lying in Bal-
timore County, have been discovered, and doubtless
others as far south as the Chester River could be
found by a complete examination of the old records.
Probably when Cecil was separated from Baltimore
County in 1674 the division was made with reference
to, if it was not dictated by, the geographical situa-
tions of the two sections and their natural boundaries,
the Susquehanna River and the bay.

Cecil County, as we have stated, was created in
1674, but its present boundaries were denned by the
act of 1706, ch. 3, which enacts " that Cecil County
shall contain all the lands on the north side of Sassafras
River and Kent County, and shall be bounded on the
east and north by the bounds of the province, and on
the west by Susquehanna and the bay."

Harford County, named after Henry Harford, the
last proprietary of Maryland, and the illegitimate son
of Frederick, the sixth and last Lord Baltimore, was
created in 1773, and is bounded as follows: " Begin-
ning at the mouth of the Little Falls of Gunpowder
River, and running thence with said falls to the foun-
tain head; thence north to the Pennsylvania line;
thence with that line to the Susquehanna River ;
thence with that river to the Chesapeake Bay; thence
with the bay, including Spesutie and Pool's Islands,
to the mouth of Gunpowder River; and thence up
said river to the beginning."

Carroll County, named after Charles Carroll of
Carrollton, and created out of Baltimore and Freder-
ick Counties, was created in 1835, with the following
boundaries: "Beginning at the Pennsylvania line at
Rock Creek ; thence to the Monocacy River; thence
to the junction of the Monocacy and Double Pipe
Creek; thence with the course of Pipe Creek to the
point of junction of Little Pipe Creek and Big Pipe
Creek; thence with Little Pipe Creek to its junction
with Sam's Creek ; thence with Sam's Creek to War-
field's Mill; thence with the Buffalo road to Parr's
Spring; thence with the western branch of the Pa-
tapsco Falls to the point of its junction with the north-
ern branch of the Patapsco Falls; thence with the
northern branch of said falls to the bridge erected
over said falls on the turnpike road leading from
Reisterstown to Westminster; thence in a straight
course to the Pennsylvania line, running north seven-
teen degrees east; thence to the Pennsylvania line to
the place of beginning."1

1 The present bounds of Baltimore County are given in another place,
with the districts, etc.

CHAPTER V.

ANCIENT 'COUNTY-SEATS.

Old Baltimore—Foster's Neck—Joppa—Baltimore Town.

IT is somewhat singular that while our records have
handed down to us the name of the person at whose
house the County Court held its first session, as well
as the year in which this event occurred, we find no
reference to the establishment of a regular county-
seat until 1683, or about twenty-two years afterwards.

By Chapter V. of the act of 1683 a port of entry
was established " on Bush River, on the town land,
near the court-house," and it is at this point that his-
tory first introduces us to the original capital of the
county. From the language of the act it is apparent
that this town on the Bush River was already the
county-seat when it was made a port of entry, but how
long it had enjoyed that dignity is not known. It is
not reasonable to suppose, however, that justice had
been without a fixed and local habitation since the
meeting of the first court at the house of Capt. Thomas
Howell2 in 1661; and it is probable that Old Balti-
more had been the county-seat for some years be-
fore 1683. As early as 1674 an act was passed " for
erecting a court-house and prison in each county
within this province," but, even without express pro-
vision, the necessity for the establishment of a county-
seat must have forced itself upon the public attention
soon after the organization of the county government,
and in selecting a place for this purpose the general
convenience must naturally have been one of the prin-
cipal objects in view. The county at that time included
within its limits Harford, Cecil, and at least a part of
Kent, and an examination of the map shows that Old
Baltimore occupied a convenient position with refer-
ence to all these different sections. The interior, or
backwoods, was then but thinly settled, most of the
inhabitants still being afraid to trust themselves far
from the bay or the borders of navigable streams, so
that the town on Bush River was not only reason-
ably central, as far as the large proportion of the popu-
lation was concerned, but was easily accessible by
water, which was then the principal and favorite
mode of travel.

The lapse of time has left so few traces of Old
Baltimore that the identification of the site on which
it stood cannot be made with absolute certainty.
Recent researches, however, have thrown so much
light on the subject that we can now, with tolerable
confidence, point almost to the exact spot where the
first county-seat was located. Old Baltimore, in all
probability, was situated about seven miles south of
Perrymansville, two miles northeast of the Philadel-
phia and Wilmington Railroad bridge over Bush
River, and four miles above the Chesapeake Bay, and
was an isthmus about a quarter of a mile wide be-

2 Capt. Thomas Howell at this time lived within the limits of what is
now Cecil County.
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tween Bush Biver on the south and Bumney Creek
on the north. It was immediately upon Bush River,
and commanded a noble view for miles up the river
and down its course to its junction with the Chesa-
peake.

Besides the concurrent testimony of at least six
ancient- maps to the correctness of this identifica-
tion of the site of Old Baltimore, the natural objects
in the vicinity still bear witness to the former exist-
ence of a towji in this locality. Long rows of large
cedar-trees strike the visitor with their venerable ap-
pearance, and their regularity and isolation indicate
that they were the results of careful culture rather
than of spontaneous growth. Nor is the fact without
significance that while the land between Old Balti-
more and Perrymansville is very barren, that in the
vicinity of the former is believed to be about the most
productive in Harford County. Besides a portion
occupied by a clover-field, the old site itself is covered
with alder-bushes and refuses cultivation, as if, having
once been set apart for the higher uses of civilization,
it disdained to revert to the less ambitious purposes
of agriculture. A rude fence at present incloses the
whole site, and on entering the .gate the visitor sees
two log houses, such as are used by servants on a plan-
tation, while hard by is an old-fashioned well with the
horizontal pole for raising and lowering the bucket
so common in former days. In the eastern part of
the field are the remains or ruins of a burial-ground
in a grove of large walnut-trees, and " here rest the
bones of William Osborne, who built the first house
in the present Harford County at Old Baltimore on
'Old House Point.'" About a quarter of a mile
north of the field is the residence of Mr. Bichardson,
the proprietor of the site of the ancient town. The
road from the north to the south, starting from a ferry
over the Susquehanna, just below the present rail-
road bridge at Havre de Grace, crossed Swan Creek
to Old Baltimore; and here, at Old House Point, there
was a ferry over Bush Biver, and this was the great
route of travel. The ferry was attended by Philip
Philips, who afterwards purchased it, and providing
" entertainment for man and beast," contrived through
these two sources of revenue to make a comfortable
fortune. The wharf at Old House Point has long
since decayed, but the large stones which formed the
abutments can still be plainly seen at low tide. Three
miles from Old Baltimore, as stated by Freeborn Gar-
retson (in his journal), is the place of the first church
building of any kind in Baltimore County. Here, at
Gravelly, are the almost obliterated remains of the
" log church"; and it was to this place, about fifteen
years after the decadence of Old Baltimore, that the
remains of the dead with their tombstones were prob-
ably removed from the burial-ground that has been
mentioned. This log church was the parent of St.
George's parish, now known as " Spesutie Church,"
and the records of the latter contain the names, of
many of the descendants of the " Old Baltimoreans."

From an act of 1696 it appears that nlany of the
court-houses in the province had been built upon land
to which the counties had no legal title, and the com-
missioners were authorized to perfect these titles by
purchase. The court-house at Old Baltimore would
seem to have been one of these, for under date of
April 1, 1700, we find a deed from Michael Judd, the
younger, of Baltimore County, and Mary, his wife,
conveying to " John Hall, gent, and others, inhabit-
ants and freeholders of the county," all " that piece
or parcel of land wherein the court-house of the said
county now standeth."

The precise date at which Old Baltimore ceased to
be the county-seat is to a large extent a matter of
conjecture. An impression prevails that the court-
house was removed from Old Baltimore to Foster's
Neck, on the Gunpowder, by the act of 1706, but the
act in question contains no allusion whatever to the
location of the court-house at that point, and it is
not until we come to the act of 1707 that we find
a provision for the erection of a new county-seat.
This latter act, as will be seen, failed to secure the
sanction of the queen, and it was not until 1712 that
its provisions were confirmed; but it is also to be
noted that the act of 1706, which provided for the
establishment of a port of entry at Foster's Neck, was
also vetoed by the queen, and was never re-enacted, so
far as the records show, so that, even had it directed
the location of the county-seat at Foster's Neck, it
would have been without force or effect. It seems
probable, therefore, that the county-seat remained at
Old Baltimore until 1712, and that when it was taken
from that place it was removed to Joppa, and not to
Foster's Neck, as has hitherto been generally sup-
posed.

The history of Joppa, although involved in less ob-
scurity than that of Old Baltimore, is clouded at
many points with the uncertainties which inevitably
accumulate around a town which belongs so entirely
to the past. Careful research has, however, rescued
from ancient and decaying records facts enough to
give us an idea of the general outline of its history,
and to enable us to form a tolerably correct opinion
of one of the most interesting of the earlier Maryland
towns. Although we first meet with " the town of
Joppa" in the act of 1712, the place was called into
being five years before by the act of 1707, which itself
was a sort of supplement or amendment to a law of
1706. This last legislative mandate proposed to create
no less than forty-two new towns at a single breath,
and among them provided for three in Baltimore
County, — one "at Whetstone Neck, on Patapsco
River;" one upon the land called "Chilberry, on
Bush Biver;" and " one on Foster's Neck, on Gun-
powder River." How many of these paper towns fell
still-born from the womb of this prolific law it is not
necessary to consider. Whether that at Foster's Neck
ever existed except in the legislative intention seems
a matter of dispute, but at all events its life was a
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brief one, for in the following year (1707) the Assem-
bly directed the site at Foster's Neck " to be deserted,
and in lieu thereof fifty acres to be erected into a town j
on a tract of land on the same river, belonging to
Anne Felks, and called Taylor's Choice, and the
court-house to be built there." All acts of Assembly
required the royal assent, but as it was not supposed
there would be any objection to the change of site
proposed in the law of 1707, work was at once begun
on the new town, streets were laid out, and the court-
house was in course of construction, when, to the gen-
eral surprise, the queen dissented both to the act of
1706 as well as to that of 1707. For the next five
years Joppa, if it lived at all, lived only as a sort of
illegitimate town, and probably consisted simply of
the buildings in process of construction and those
already built when the queen's veto suspended its
legal existence and checked its progress. In 1712,
however, a new act was passed, fixing the County
Court at the house built on Taylor's Choice, " in the
town of Joppa." Joppa had still, however, to pass
through a further period of probation, for it had no
sooner been freed from its former disability than it
was discovered that it was built not exactly upon the
sand, but upon the property of a minor, who could
not give a clear title. In this unfortunate state Joppa
languished for the next twelve years, when it was at
last delivered from all its troubles by a final act of
the Assembly. This act of 1724 recites that

" the inhabitants of Baltimore County have made to appear to this
Assembly that a publick court-house and prison have been erected at
Joppa, in the said county, at their expence, and that the right of the land
is in a minor, under the age of twenty-one years, who (although his
father, Col. James Maxwell, hath received full satisfaction for the said
land) cannot convey the same, and that the said inhabitants have like-
wise set forth and made appear that the business of that county is
greatly delayed and obstructed by the want of some convenient places of
entertainment, at or near the court-house, the officers thereof and
suitors thereto being obliged to go a great distance for necessary accom-
modation, and lying under several other inconveniences that the erec-
ting of a town at the same place would probably remove."

It then proceeds to enact "that the land already
allotted for the building of a court-house and prison
shall be and remain to the use of the said county for-
ever, any law, usage, defect, or other thing to the con-
trary notwithstanding." Thomas Tolley, Capt. John
Taylor, Daniel Scott, Lancelot Todd, and John Stokes,
or any three of them, were authorized and empowered
to purchase twenty acres of land at Joppa, and to
superintend the surveying and laying out of the same
" into forty equal lots, erected into a town, and so as
the public buildings aforesaid be included within the
twenty acres aforesaid, and that the same lots shall be
laid out so as not to affect the buildings or improve-
ments of Col. James Maxwell, or his son, already
made at the place aforesaid." The commissioners
were directed to meet at an early day to carry out the
instructions of the act, and on the 20th of April, 1725,
proceeded to bargain with Col. Maxwell, the owner,
for the land. They offered him three pounds (£3) an
acre for his land, which he at first declined to ac-

cept, but afterwards, when a warrant was about to be
placed in the hands of the sheriff requiring him to
assess and condemn the property, he came to terms,
and the purchase was concluded without further
trouble.

It was not until the latter part of June, 1726, that
the survey was completed and the town laid off. The
surveyor of the county, Col. John Dorsey, received
for his services five hundred pounds of tobacco from
the County Court. In his formal certificate Col. Dorsey
states that he has
" laid out for the said town twenty acres of land, being part of a tract
of land called Taylor's Choice, beginning (for the said town) at a bounded
white oak standing near the bank of the said river and near the mouth
and on the east side of the easternmost branch of the said river, and
running thence south eighty-two degrees and a half, east forty perches;
thence north seven and a half degrees, east eighty-four perches; thence
north eighty-two and a half degrees, wfist forty perches; thence south
seven and a half degrees, west eighty-four perches to the said bounded
tree containing and laid out for twenty-one acres of land, more or less.
Twenty-one acres whereof for a town called Joppa."

Joppa was northwest of Foster's Neck, and Foster's
Creek is still known, and is the southeastern boundary
of Col. John Carroll Walsh's land, Taylor's Creek
being between Col.. Walsh's land and Joppa farm.
"Taylor's Choice" was granted March 4,1661, to John
Taylor, who also had other tracts in the immediate
neighborhood. Taylor was one of the commissioners
of Baltimore County, and with others held a court,
probably the first held in the county, at the house of
Capt. Thomas Howell, the presiding commissioner,
on the 20th of July, 1661. In 1719, Taylor's Choice
was resurveyed for Col. James Maxwell, who was then
presiding justice or judge of the county, a position
which he held for twenty years. The judges of the
courts appear to have been alive to the importance of
a proper location for the seats of justice, as two of
them would seem to have been land-owners at or near
Joppa when the town was laid out. Joppa, as we
have seen, was laid out into forty lots of half an acre
each, exclusive of the one-acre lot set aside for the
use of St. John's parish church, and was divided by
Court Street and Church Street running east and west,
and Low Street and High Street running nearly north
and south. The lots were offered at one pound seven
shillings each, to be paid to Col. James Maxwell, with
a fee of two shillings and sixpence to the clerk for
every entry made by him.

By the terms of the act of Assembly, the owner of
the land was to have the first choice in the selection
of lots, and accordingly we find the first entry made
in the name of Col. Maxwell, the form of the entry
being as follows:

" (No. 23) July the eighth, one thousand seven hundred and twenty-
six, comes Col. James Maxwell (the owner of and person interested in
the said land) and makes choice of the lot (No. 23) which he desires
may be entered in his name, which is hereby accordingly done at the
request aforesaid and risque of the same James Maxwell."

On the same day (July 8th) Asaell Maxwell, son of
Col. James Maxwell, took up lot No. 24; Col. John
Dorsey, in the name and for the use of his son, Green-
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bury Dorsey, took up lot No. 4; John Crockett took
up lot No. S, and John Stokes lot No. 5. On July
20th Daniel Hughes took up lot No. 22; Thomas
White, clerk of the court, lot No. 1; Roger Matthews
lot No. 2, and Capt. Thomas Sheredine lot No. 19.
Lot No. 21 was taken up by Aquila Paca,
sheriff of the county, on the 25th of July,
and lot No. 18 by John Hall, Jr.; No. 17 by
John Roberts, July 27th; lot No. 26 on July
28th, by Joseph Ward, inn-holder; lot No.
6 by Richard Hewitt, Aug. 4th; lot No. 27
by Nicholas Day, Aug. 4th; lot No. 20 by
Thomas Tolley, on the same date; lot No.
16 on Aug. 5th, by Aquila Paca; lot No. 28
on Aug. 5th, by William Hammond; lot
No. 40 by Benjamin Jones, Sept. 25th; lot
No. 7 by William Lowe, Oct. 8th; lots Nos.
•8 and 9 by Joseph Calvert, " late merchant
of Kent County," Dec. 19th; lot No. 39 by
James Isham, March 30,1727; lot No. 13 by
Joseph Calvert, June 10th ; lots Nos. 34 and
35 by James Isham, Sept. 2d; lot No. 15 by
William Lowe, Sept. 12th; lot No. 10 by
Joseph Calvert, March 12, 1727; lot No. 29
by Catharine Hollingsworth, widow, Oct 9,
1729; lot No. 30 by same for her son, Val-
entine Hollingsworth, June 29, 1730; lot
No. 18 by Samuel Ward, " carpenter" (being
same lot at first taken up by John Hall,
Jr.), July 8, 1730; lot No. 30 by Abraham
Johns, for the use of Stephen Higgins, of
Anne Arundel County, Dec. 3, 1730; and
lot No. 31 on the same day, for the use of
Samuel Maccubins. Purchasers of these lots
were required to build within twelve months
houses that should cover not less than four
hundred square feet, and the act rather
quaintly declared that " none of these houses
shall be suffered to have any chimney, un-
less the same be built with brick or stone."
The first purchasers of several of the lots
having neglected to build houses within
the required time, the town commissioners,
Messrs. Thomas Tolley, Daniel Scott, and
John Stokes, in accordance with the provis-
ions of the act, adopted an order on June 27,
1727, directing the clerk to enter these lots
afresh should there be any new applicants,
and this was done in several instances.
Greenbury Dorsey took up his lot No. 4 a
second time; Jonathan Hughes succeeded
David Hughes in the ownership of lot No.
22; Nicholas 'Day took up lots Nos. 26 and
28, previously taken up by Joseph Ward
and William Hammond; lot No. 18 was resold to
Thomas Sheredine; lot No. 16 to William Lowe;
lot No. 40 to Jeremiah Sutton, on April 23, 1729; lot
No. 30 to John Higginson, Sept. 8, 1731; and lot No.
18, which had been sold twice before, to Hannah

4

Ward, of Joppa, on Oct. 1, 1731. It would seem that
the lawyers of those days did not care especially for
water as a beverage, for it was not until the 8th of
August, 1728, some two years after Col. Maxwell's lot
was taken up, that it was thought necessary to have a
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A, New Prison; B, Court-House; 0, Old Prison; D, St. John's Parish Church.

public well in the vicinity of the court-house, at which
time the commissioners of Joppa satisfied any tem-
perance principles that may have existed by adopting
a general order to the effect that " the money that is or
shall be raised for the use of the said town be applied
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towards digging a well on the court-house lands, and
it is further resolved that either of the commissioners
aforesaid may covenant with any person who shall be
inclinable to do the same on reasonable terms." Col.
Dorsey's plat of the town gives its length as eighty-
four perches, and" the width forty perches, exactly
twenty-one acres, showing forty lots, exclusive of the
church lot, with the church, court-house, and two
prisons conspicuously delineated, while adjacent to
the new prison is a small lot marked " Amen Corner,"
which was sacred to the whipping-post and the pil-
lory. It does not seem probable that the names al-
ready given embraced all the inhabitants of Joppa,
as in the act of 1724 reference is made to " the build-
ings or improvements of Col. James Maxwell, or of
his son, already made at the place aforesaid," and in
the proceedings of the county commissioners in 1725
the surveyor is directed to respect the "dwelling-
house of Mrs. Elinor Rumsey." This latter is believed
to be the sole house now standing on the site of Joppa,
it having been known for many years as the " Rumsey j
Mansion." Benjamin Rumsey, a member of the Con-
tinental Congress, and one of the most distinguished
men of the State, died here March 7, 1808. Addi-
tional color is given to the supposition that Joppa had
already made some progress before the act of 1724 by
the fact that the original act of 1707 locating the
town set apart fifty acres for that purpose, and the
law of 1724 appropriated only twenty acres. Between
1707 and 1724,—that is, in 1712,—another act was
passed, as has already been stated, "settling Balti-
more County court-house at Joppa," and it seems
only reasonable to suppose that other buildings had
sprung up upon part of the fifty acres at first desig-
nated. This would explain the limitation to twenty
acres in the act of 1724, it being then unnecessary, in
this view of the case, to adhere to the original number.

It is quite evident from all that has been said that
the erection of Joppa into a town and its develop-
ment into the metropolis of the county was the ob-
ject of special and influential effort. The pertinacity
with which the projectors of the town clung to the
site they had chosen, in spite of the many obsta-
cles in the way of their success, and the special in-
ducements offered to trade, as well as the special fa-
cilities provided for reaching the county-seat, indicate
either the presence of influential sponsors at the
cradle of Joppa, or the firm conviction in the public
mind that this particular site possessed peculiar and
unrivaled advantages. All roads led to Rome, and
so, on a smaller scale, all the most important roads of
Baltimore County would seem to have led to Joppa;
and even now the numerous " old Joppa roads"
through Harford and Baltimore Counties serve to
remind us of the ancient prominence of the place,
and the obvious design to make it a great commercial
centre. But it was in the act of 1724 itself that we
see especially the signs of fostering care. The last
section of that act provided

" That there shall be allowed to all debtors whatsoever, owing any to-
bacco to any person or persons whatsoever, or howsoever, such debtor
bringing bis tobacco to the town aforesaid, and there paying the Bame to
his creditor or creditors, or his or their receivers, the sum of ten pounds
of tobacco per cent, for every hundred pounds of tobacco so brought to
the place aforesaid, and there paid as aforesaid; to be deducted out of
such debtor's said debt, or allowed of in bar or discount of any action to
be brought against any debtor or debtors, by any creditor or creditors, in
any court within this province."

This new way of paying old debts, it is almost unne-
cessary to say, speedily became very popular, and in a
short time Joppa became a great tobacco market, which
meant a great deal in those days, when tobacco was
king, and when it often usurped the place of money
in the trade and commerce of the colonies. The
mode of getting this great staple to the county me-
tropolis was not a little ingenious, and though it sa-
vored somewhat of that laziness which is the mother
of invention, served all the purposes of the times.
Each hogshead of tobacco was made to render active
assistance in its own transportation by means of a
gudgeon or pin fastened in each end, to which hoop-
pole shafts were attached, and fastened to the collar
of the horse, which thus rolled his load to town, and
from this circumstance the roads so used were called
" rolling roads," a name which many of them still
retain. These "rolling roads" poured vast quanti-
ties of tobacco into Joppa, and with tobacco came a
very considerable commerce not only with the West
Indies, but with Europe. Though her population was
not large, it was doubtless a very busy one, and prob-
ably one of no inconsiderable wealth. Although the
removal of the county-seat to Baltimore in 1768 was
the death-warrant of Joppa, the commercial glory it
had gained did not pass from it all at once, and tra-
dition says that so late as the American Revolution
a vessel of war was built there.

Still other and incidental evidences of the import-
ance of Joppa have survived to us. The Maryland
Gazette of March 5, 1752, informs us that at an elec-
tion held there for representatives in the Legislature
" more people were present than ever before at any
election in that county, or perhaps any in the prov-
ince." Joppa, moreover, had her dealings in real es-
tate, and at the present day, when it is difficult to
discover even the ruins of this ancient town, it sounds
strangely to read that " in the town of Joppa there is
a spacious brick dwelling-house, kitchen garden, and
sundry outhouses (to be sold) in very good repair," or
the following advertisement in the Gazette of Oct. 23,
1766:

" May McCulloch Executrix and Anthony Stewart executor of David
McCulIoch, deceased, offer for sale or rent the following property in the
town of Joppa lately possessed by D. McCulloch, where he lived: His
dwelling-house, built of brick, two stories high, consisting of three rooms,
two closets and a passage on the first floor; four rooms and a passage on
the second floor, and a cellar under the whole house. Adjoining the
dwelling-house is a kitchen built of brick one story high. There is also
a large warehouse, situated on the water side, built of stone, consisting
of three floors, calculated to receive grain, salt, &c.; a store-house built
of wood, consisting of a store-room, and a room off the store, proper for
a counting room; a small house not far distant from the store, built of
wood, new, proper for an office or a counting-house; outhouses, such as
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smoke-house, hen-house, Ac, and a garden and the whole lot well pailed
in; also a store-house built of wood, and a counting-house with a fire-
place, and a large stable."

Not less strangely sounds the announcement that
" on Thursday, the 11th of October (1759), will be run
for at Joppa, in Baltimore County, a purse of twenty
pistoles, by any horse, mare, or gelding," and on " the
12th and 13th races will be run" for purses of ten
and six pounds current money respectively. " Every
horse, etc., to be entered with Isaac Risteau in the
town aforesaid the day before they run, and the own-
ers to pay one shilling in the form of entrance
money." In case of any dispute, it was announced
that "the same would be decided by Col. William
Young and James Christie." It was doubtless on
occasions of this sort that " the Governor and a num-
ber of gentlemen visited the town." Joppa had also
amusements of another character. Jan. 10, 1752,
"Martha Bassett and Mary Powell were hanged at
Joppa, pursuant to sentence, for the murder of Mrs.
Clarke. The execution of John Berry, the wicked
contriver of this scene of villany, was deferred until
yesterday (January 15th), when he was to be exe-
cuted near the place where the murder was commit-
ted, and afterwards hung in chains." And on Nov.
28, 1753, "John Barrett was executed at Joppa for j
the murder of his wife some time ago, and was after-
wards hung in chains on a gibbet as high as Hainan's
Gallows near Baltimore Town, where he committed
the fact."

Joppa, too, was ablaze with the patriotic ardor of
the Revolutionary period, as the following extract
from the Gazette of April 10, 1776, fully indicates:

" We learn from Joppa that a special messenger came to that town on
Sunday last with the agreeable Dews of the repeal of the Stamp Act.
The same being immediately communicated to the inhabitants, the
greatest joy appeared imprinted in every countenance; the day could
not be celebrated in such a cheerful manner as the occasion required,
but the evening was ushered in with the ringing of bells, and every
other decent signal of joy, and every house in the town was illumi-
nated, and the houses of Mr. Dorsey and Mr. Tolley, on the opposite side
of the river. The evening concluded with the greatest decency and de-
corum."1

But while Joppa was thus flourishing, " Baltimore
Town" had not been standing still, and soon grew
into a formidable rival to her elder sister. Finally, in
1768, the population of Baltimore had so greatly in-
creased that, from a sense of its own dignity, perhaps,
as well as from the inconvenience to which its citizens
were subjected in attending court at Joppa, Balti-
more demanded and obtained an act removing the
county-seat from Joppa and locating it within its
own borders. From this time may be dated " the de-
cline and fall" of the ancient town of Joppa. The
removal of the county-seat to Baltimore was, how-
ever, merely the evidence of a decline which must
already have begun, and not its sole or principal
cause. The history of Joppa is, in fact, simply a

1 Bishop Asbury, in his " Journal," says, "On Tuesday, Dec. 2,1773,
at Joppa, there were many people from the country and some from the
town."

striking illustration of the principle that great cities
are made by the laws of trade and commerce, and not
by acts of Assembly. Joppa was, to use the phrase
of the present day, a fiat town, but, with all the sup-
port she received, it was found impossible to bribe
commerce to depart from its inflexible laws for any
great length of time, or to found a great business
centre by any system of subsidies, no matter how in-
genious. No vestige of Joppa's former greatness,
scarcely a vestige of its existence, now remains. After
the removal of the county records to Baltimore, which
was attended with considerable turbulence, the old
court-house at Joppa was sold, and soon crumbled
away ; the town wharves, at which hundreds of the
largest merchantmen had laden, were gradually de-
serted for those of her more prosperous rival; and
her dwellings disappeared one by one, until at the
present day their foundations can scarcely be traced,
and a solitary tenement of antique style and venerable
appearance on the Harford shore of the Gunpowder
River, about a mile northwest of the railroad bridge,
alone marks the spot where Joppa once stood.

C H A P T E R VI.

THE FOUNDING OF BALTIMORE CITY.

Jones' Town—The First Settlers—Fell's Point—City Extensions—The
Belt.

IT may be said of cities, as of men, that some " are
born, great, some achieve greatness, and some" have
greatness thrust upon them." Joppa, as we have seen,
furnishes an illustration of an effort to thrust muni-
cipal greatness upon a pet location which was unfit
for the important purposes for which it was designed,
and which was unable to support its artificial dignity.
Baltimore's growth, on the other hand, is to a large
extent an equally striking example of the arduous
greatness which is achieved by patient effort and
gradual triumph over natural obstacles. No one,
indeed, who reads its early history would be apt to say
that it was born great, or that it had much cause ap-
parently to thank either nature for any special favors,
or its founders for any signal manifestations of wis-
dom in the selection of the particular site which it
occupies. Certainly, it is not too much to say that
they builded more wisely than they knew. Surrounded
by rugged hills, hemmed in by boisterous water-courses,
and flanked by malarious marshes, there seemed little
prospect that the rough hamlet planted on this appa-
rently unpropitious site would rise to the dignity of
metropolitan honors. Nor were the natural difficul-
ties of the situation to be vanquished in a day, and
while the diversity of surface gives great beauty and
variety to the present city, it has placed in its way
obstacles with which few other American cities have .
had to contend. The founders of the town had from
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the very beginning to do battle with nature for the
possession of the site, and their successors are even
yet forced to continue the struggle. Marshes have
had to be drained, hollows filled up, hills leveled,
streams diverted and bridged, walled in, and tun-
neled ; and still as the city grows difficulties present
themselves requiring no little engineering skill to
master; while the eccentricities of Jones' Falls, a
pacific brook for the most part, but subject at long
intervals to freshets which convert it into a swollen
and boiling torrent, laying the lower part of the city
under water, still perplex the city authorities. De-
spite these disadvantages, however, the site presented
so many desirable features that the town was enabled
to hold its own. The hills of the north and west, with
their rapid streams, afforded abundant water-power
for milling; the soil was more fertile than in the
sandy regions to the south and east; the harbor was
admirably safe, and deep enough for the light-draft
vessels that carried on our first commerce; the climate
was less rigorous in winter than that of the regions
nearer the mouth of the Susquehanna, and more
healthy than that of the coast settlements lower down
the bay. Forests of fine timber surrounded it; oak,
chestnut, and other deciduous trees to the north and
west, and yellow or pitch pines and other conifers to
the south and east; building-stone of fine quality,
and mines of rich iron ore were within easy hauling
distance. In fact, Baltimore lies at the junction of
two botanical and two geological systems, and enjoys
the advantages of both.

Of these advantages, however, not all were known
at the time of the first settlement, and the original
settlers of the future great metropolis of the State
seem to have been most impressed with those of the
harbor, as we find that within the first three days after
the town was laid out, in 1730, all the lots toward the
river were taken up, and but one on Long, afterwards
Market, and now Baltimore, Street. Yet but a single
street—Calvert—actually reached navigable water;
for the alluvion carried down by the falls made the
northern side of the basin a mere mud shoal, with
islands overflowed at high tide; while between the
eastern limits of the town and the Falls was a large
marsh, reaching down to the water-line. Charles
Street ended at Uhler's Spring Branch, about the
corner of the present Lombard Street; and the north
end of Calvert Street was terminated by a precipice,
about where the Battle Monument now stands.

It was on this contracted and unpromising spot
that the rude beginnings of the present great city of
Baltimore were made. The old province of Maryland
rested on tobacco, and perhaps Baltimore owed its
existence to the same plant. All the business trans-
actions of that period in the province began and
ended in tobacco, and if the proprietary government

• had not received its taxes in the same currency, it is
possible that the foundation of Baltimore might never
have been laid. The government needed a means of

support, and received its revenues in tobacco; and
when it began to establish its tobacco warehouses for
storing this bulky weed, every planter sought to get a
port as near his own door as possible. And thus, as
the Assembly was creating these ports of entry with
their tobacco warehouses by the score, the settlers
near the forks of the Patapsco began to petition the
Legislature to give them a custom-house or town of
their own, and fixed upon the north side of the Middle
Branch, the " Spring Gardens" property, which still
retains that name, as a likely site to meet their views.
But John Moale was the owner of the land, and be-
lieving that it was rich in iron ore, used his influence
to defeat the bill. The projectors then turned their
attention to the North Branch, and selected the farm
which was known as " Cole's Harbor."

The whole tract of land embraced under this name
consisted of five hundred and fifty acres, and it ap-
pears from the records that Thomas Cole obtained a
warrant for three hundred acres of this tract on the
13th of January, 1668, which was renewed on the
8th of June of the same year. Maj. Samuel Gold-
smith claimed in it five rights of fifty acres each for
transporting Robert Parker, Nicholas Banks, Thomas
Pickerall, Edward Jackson, and Elizabeth Hopkins,
and assigned these rights to John Collet. Collet as-
signed them to George Yates the 8th of February,
1668, with the exception of fifty acres, which were
laid off for John Dearing, and George Yates assigned
these two hundred acres to Thomas Cole on the 8th
of June, 1668; the remaining fifty acres of the tract
coming to Cole by assignment from John Blomfield,
the assignee of Roger Sheekey, " for his, the said
Sheekey, transporting himself into Maryland in 1649."
Cole's Harbor was resurveyed for Thomas Cole Aug.
28, 1668, and patented to him Sept. 4, 1668, " to be
held in free and common socage, by fealty only, for
all manner of services, yielding and paying therefor
yearly unto us, our heirs, at our receipt at St. Maries,
at the two most usual feasts in the year, viz.: at the
Feast of the Annunciation of the Blessed Virgin
Mary, and at the Feast of St. Michael, the archangel,
by even and equal portions, the rent of eleven shil-
lings sterling in silver or gold, and for a fine upon
every alienation of the said land, or any part or parcel
thereof, one whole year's rent in silver or gold, or the
full value thereof, etc." This tract, which was in the
shape of a rhomboid, extended from about Harford
Run, on the east, westwardly along the shore of the
harbor for a mile, thence northward about half a mile,
and was divided into nearly equal parts by the stream
afterwards known as Jones' Falls.

On Feb. 17, 1698, James Todd obtained a warrant
for Cole's Harbor, and had the tract resurveyed, which
then proved to contain but five hundred and ten acres,
and had it patented to him June 1, 1700, under the
name of " Todd's Range," at a rent of ten shillings
and two and a half pence per year. In June, 1701,
James Todd and wife conveyed to Charles Carroll
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" all the residue of Todd's Eange," a portion having
previously been sold to one Hurst. Thomas Cole,
however, was by no means the " oldest inhabitant,"
or the first settler.

As early as the 15th of June, 1661, Peter Carroll
surveyed for David Jones three hundred and eighty
acres of land on the line of the stream now known as
Jones' Falls. David Jones is said to have been the
first actual settler, having his residence on the north

with additions, which was called " Ely O'Carroll."
It was patented on the 10th, of February, 1696, five
hundred acres each to Daniel and Charles Carroll, at
the yearly rent of two pounds per annum for the
entire tract. In 1711, Charles Carroll sold thirty-
one acres of his tract to Jonathan Hanson, who erec-
ted a mill near the northwestern intersection of the
present Bath and Holliday Streets. Among others
who- took out patents to lands included within the
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side of his Falls on Jones Street, which by the inter-
ference of our law-makers has been changed into
Front Street. His house was near the intersection
of French Street, not far from what was known as
" Finn's Bridge." Other settlers followed from time
to time. On the 13th of January, 1695, Charles Car-
roll surveyed one thousand acres of land " lying in
Baltimore County on the north side of Patapsco River
in the woods upon Jones' Falls, and on the west side
of the said Falls," being a portion of Cole's Harbor,

limits of Baltimore, were Alexander Mountenay,
Charles Gorsuch, and John Howard. Mountenay
obtained a warrant for two hundred acres of land,
afterwards called "Mountenay's Neck," on the 8th

'of February, 1661, but did not receive his patent
until June 30,1663. The patent states that Lawrence
Porter assigned two hundred acres to Mountenay, at
the rent of four shillings sterling per annum, but we
can find but one entry where L. Porter demands one
hundred acres for transporting himself and servant in
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1661. There is another entry in the land records
where Margaret Kinsey assigns fifty acres, Robert
Ball one hundred acres, and William Like fifty acres
to Alexander Mountenay in 1661, which is no doubt
the correct entry. Mountenay's Neck, which was on
each side of Harford Run, was resurveyed the 27th of
April, 1737, for William Fell as escheat land, " one
hundred acres being in possession of Thomas Sligh,"
and " one hundred acres being in possession of Thomas
Sheredine."

Charles Gorsuch, said to have been a member of the
Society of Friends, on Feb. 24, 1661, patented fifty
acres of land afterwards known as Whetstone Point,
lying between the branches of the Patapsco River
and the present site of Fort McHenry. The proprie-
tary rent paid was one pound per annum. Gorsuch,
however, vacated this land, and a patent for it at a
yearly rent of two shillings was granted on June 2,
1702, to James Carroll, who called it Whetstone. It
was assigned to various persons until March 29,1723,
when it was resurveyed as " Upton Court," and finally
passed into the hands of the Principio Furnace Com-
pany, whose property, as will be seen, was confiscated
during the Revolution. By the act of 1706, ch. 14,
"Whetstone Point" was made a port of entry, the
first within the present limits of the town of Balti-
more.

On the 20th of June, 1668, John Howard patented
" Timber Neck," comprising two hundred acres, lying
between the middle and north branches of the Pa-
tapsco, and being that part of the city now occu-
pied by Howard, Eutaw, Paca, and other streets bor-
dering on the middle branch of the Patapsco. " Lunn's
Lot," which also appears to have belonged to Mr.
Howard's estate, touched Mr. Moale's land on the
east, and extending northward to Jones' Falls,
bounded the Coie's Harbor lands on both east, north,
and south, and " Chatsworth," " Ridgely's Delight,"
and " Timber Neck" on the west. Adjoining and
above Upton Court was John Moale's " Spring Gar-
den" property called " David's Fancy."

The discovery of the iron ore deposits on the shores
of the Patapsco must have tended to stimulate
speculation in land patents in the vicinity of Balti-
more, and of course attracted population and made
trade necessary. But it was the custom-house that
created Baltimore, or, at least, precipitated its foun-
dation. Accordingly, when the government needed
a warehouse in which to store the perishable article
from which it received its revenue, a petition was
signed by " the leading men of Baltimore County,"
and presented in the Upper House of Assembly on
the 14th of July, 1729, "praying that a bill may be
brought in for the building of a Town, on the North
side of Patapsco River, upon the land supposed
to belong to Messrs. Charles and Daniel Carroll."
The petition was accompanied by the following in-
dorsement: "We the susbscribers, proprietors of the
land mentioned in the within petition, do consent

there may an act pass as prayed in the usual terms:
Charles Carroll, Daniel Carroll." The petition having
been favorably received, such a bill was reported and
read, and went through the Assembly with reasona-
ble rapidity. On July 25th it was read a second
time and amended, next day engrossed, and on 30th
passed. On August 8th the bill was signed by Ben-
edict Leonard Calvert, Esq., Governor, on behalf of
Charles Calvert, fifth Lord Baltimore, proprietary of
the province of Maryland and Avalon. The law read,
" A bill entitled an act for erecting a town on the north
side of the Patapsco, in Baltimore County, and for lay-
ing out into lots sixty acres of land, in and about the
place whereon John Flemming now lives." It will be
noticed that the petition designates lands " supposed
to belong to Charles and Daniel Carroll," whereas
the act designates a place " whereon John Flemming
now lives." John Flemming was a tenant of the Car-
rolls. His house stood near the banks of Uhler's Run,
not far from the present intersection of Charles and
Lombard Streets. The change in the phraseology of
the bill was probably due to the fact that the title of
the Carrolls was at this time in dispute and in litiga-
tion.

When this act of Assembly for laying out Balti-
more Town was passed, John Flemming was probably
the sole inhabitant within the limits of the proposed
town. Within the limits of Cole's Harbor, however,
on the east side of the Falls, according to the returns
of Richard Gist's survey made for Edward Fell, there
were in 1726 three dwelling-houses, a mill, some to-
bacco-houses, and an orchard.

The act for founding Baltimore appointed Maj.
Thomas Tolley, William Hamilton, William Buck-
ner, Dr. George Walker, Richard Gist, Dr. George
Buchanan, and Col. William Hammond commis-
sioners of the town. All of these gentlemen were
men of consequence, and all but one were justices of
the peace, and had represented the county frequently
in the Legislature. The act provided that they should
hold their positions as commissioners for life, with
power to fill vacancies in their board, and they were
authorized and directed to " purchase (by agreement
or valuation of a jury) sixty acres of land, on the
tract whereon John Flemming now lives, commonly
known by the name of ' Cole's Harbor,' and to lay out
the same in the most convenient manner into sixty
equal lots." But little is known of John Flemming
beyond the fact that he lived on the original site of
Baltimore. But, although it is certain that he did
not take up one of the sixty lots into which the town
was laid off, the name did not disappear.1 Of the
commissioners much more is known. Mr. Gist, then

1 The first directory ever published in Baltimore, that of 1796, con-
tains the name of John Flemming, carpenter, who lived on the south
side of Queen's Street, Fell's Point. In 1804 there was a John Flemming,
ao " accountant," who lived on the east side of Harrison Street, near
Baltimore Street. Finally in 1812, August 12th, John Flemming, J. P.
for Montgomery County, took the depositions of Alexander Hanson and
his associates, victims of the anti federalist riots in Baltimore.
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CHARLES CALVERT, FIFTH LORD BALTIMORE.

deputy surveyor of the western shore, was the son of
Christopher Gist, who had settled on the south side
of the Patapsco as early as 1682, and died before the
river became the bounds of the county. Dr. Buchanan,
who came from Scotland, purchased lands and prac-
ticed medicine in the county from the year 1723.
Col. Hammond was from all accounts the son of John
Hammond, who settled upon the north side of the
Patapsco as early as 1695. Mr. Hamilton purchased
lands in the county, as appears by the records, in 1710.
Dr. Walker, with a brother James, had practiced medi-
cine in Anne Arundel County some years, but came
to reside in Baltimore County about the year 1715,
and was the proprietor of that old seat and tract of
land on the west side of the town called " Chats-
worth." Mr. Buckner had not apparently been long
settled in the county, but in 1726 became purchaser
of several tracts of land in Patapsco Neck. The act
under which the town was laid out was a liberal one.
It provided that when the land had been laid out,
surveyed, staked, and divided into convenient streets
and lots, and the lots numbered, the owner of the
ground was to have f̂irst choice of one lot, and then
the rest to be taken up at will; none to take more
than one lot in the first four months, and none but
citizens of the county to take up any lots within the
first six months. Lots were to be built upon within
eighteen months after entry, the buildings to cover
not less than four hundred square feet (that is, for

instance, a house 20 by 20, or 10 by 40), and all lots
not taken within seven years to revert to the original
owners of the land.

On Monday, the 1st of December, 1729, Kichard
Gist, William Hamilton, George Buchanan, and Dr.
George Walker, four of the commissioners, met and
agreed with Charles Carroll—acting for himself and
his brother Daniel, then absent—for the purchase of
the town site. The price agreed upon was forty shil-
lings per acre, in current money of Maryland, or to-
bacco at the rate of one penny a pound; not quite
six hundred dollars in money of the present day for
the entire town tract. The articles of agreement were
duly signed by Charles Carroll and the four commis-
sioners, and on Jan. 12, 1730, a second meeting was
held, at which Messrs. William Buchanan, William
Hammond, Richard Gist, George Buchanan, and Dr.
George Walker, with Philip Jones, the county sur-
veyor, were present. The commissioners appointed
Dr. George Walker, one of their number, clerk, and
he was duly sworn in before Justice Richard Gist.
Philip Jones laid off the town, commencing at a
" bounded red-oak" on the water side (at the corner
of the lot marked 37 in the town plat), a spot not very
far from the present northwest corner of Light and
Pratt Streets. The line then ran northwesterly, along
or near Uhler's Run (now called Uhler's Alley)
towards what was then called a " Great Eastern road"
and a " great gully" or drain at or near the present in-
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tersection of Sharp and German Streets; thence across
the present Baltimore Street, east of the gully, north-
easterly and parallel with the Great Eastern road,
afterwards called the Church road,1 and now McClel-
lan's Alley, to the precipice which overhung Jones'
Falls at or near the southeast corner of Pleasant and
Charles Streets; then with the bank of Jones' Falls
(which then swept along the bed of St. Paul and Cal-
vert Streets at the foot of Pleasant Street) south-
wardly and eastwardly various courses with a horse-
shoe bend to the low grounds which lay ten perches
west of Gay Street, about the intersection of the
present southwest corner of Holliday and Lexington
Streets; thence due south along the margin of those

The town lot was shaped like an Indian arrow-head,
its point towards the west, the sharpest fluke (No. 19
on the map) towards the north. It was traversed by
three streets: Long Street (afterwards Market and
now Baltimore Street), running east and west one hun-
dred and thirty-two and three-fourths perches, from
about McClellan's Alley to the swamp which edged
Holliday Street, and four perches wide, intersected at
right angles by Calvert Street, then not named, fifty-
six and one-fourth perches from the hill near the Falls
(where the Battle Monument now stands) north, to
the river side south, also four perches wide, and by
Forest Street, now Charles Street, eighty-nine and
one-fourth perches in the same course, and three

JONES 'S
TOWN

PLAT OF BALTIMORE TOWN AND JONES' TOWN.

low grounds to the river-bank on the north side of
the harbor, which then came up near the present in-
tersection of Gay and Lombard Streets; and thence
by that bank various courses, nearly as Lombard
Street now runs, westwardly and southwardly to the
first mentioned point.2

1 From the fact that it led to St. Paul's church.
2 The surveyor's certificate was as follows: " Baltimore County to wit:

Pursuant to the directions of the commissioners appointed by the act of
Assembly to lay out a town on Patapsco River, called Baltimore Town,
I, Philip Jones, Jr., do hereby certify that I have laid out the same, be-
ginning at a bounded red oak, and running thence east five perches and
one-half; then north twenty-one degrees east ten perches; then north-
east nineteen perches; then north sixty-nine degrees east twelve perches;
then south seventy-two and a half degrees east twenty-two perches;
then south fifty-five degrees east fourteen perches; then south thirty
degrees west twenty-three perches ; then south forty-one and a half de-

perches wide. There were also nine lanes of the
width of one perch each and of various lengths, since
widened, and called Second, South, Light, Hanover,
East, Belvidere, Lovely, St. Paul's, and German Lanes.
Thus the original " Baltimore Town" was comprised
within the westernmost basin of the Patapsco near the
present Exchange Place on the south, the chalk hills
of Charles and Lexington Streets on the north, the deep
drain or Uhler's Alley on the southwest, the present
course of McClellan's Alley on the west, and on the
east by the big swamp, which, bordering Jones' Falls,

grees west seventeen perches; thence by a direct line to the place of
beginning, containing 60 acres of land, more or less. Surveyed and laid
out this fourteenth day of January, 1730, per me, Philip Jones, surveyor
of Baltimore County."
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by its western flank as far on the present Hol-
Street as Lexington or Saratoga Streets. Jones'
, the absolute easternmost limit, swept round in

horse-shoe bend, penetrating as far as the cor-
Bj(j(of Calvert and Lexington Streets, and thence

northeastwardly along the line of Cal,vert
t^ The terminus of Calvert Street on the south
ed the river front, the basin then coming up to

ajfcqnt the middle of Lombard Street as it was after-
ifjfzde called. The speculators in town lots evidently
fj|fl«ied that Calvert Street was to become the main
tjmoughfare, since it led to the water. The county
I^trf was built at its foot, and the street was named
«|j#r the Lord Proprietary's family. The lots, con-

about one acre each, and numbered from one
, commencing on the north side of Long (Bal-
Street, and running westward, returned east-

ward on the south side. Lot No. 1 was a square acre
Bfllthwest corner of Baltimore and Holliday Streets;
N<M. 2, 3, and 4 the present City Hall site, and so on.
ISfl. 19 was the site of St. ̂ Paul's church; Nos. 7 and
8 the new post-office site j î fo. 10 where the new Bal-
timore and Ohio Railroad, building stands, at the
apiihwest corner of Calvert and Baltimore Streets}
TSffi, 59 where the Sun newspaper building now stands,
bfti including much more ground besides, and No. 51
ia,nte of the American building.

On Jan. 14, 1730, the first lots were taken up, and
OiMU-les Carroll, who, as the owner of the property,
h|td the first choice, selected lot No. 42, nearly on the
northeast corner of the basin and Calvert Street;
Philip Jones, the surveyor, was given second choice,

took No. 37, corner of Light and Pratt Streets,
including the site of the present Maltby House;

Jackson chose lot No. 38, on the water front,
* tan»ferring it subsequently to Samuel Peele; Dr.

Qwige Walker took No. 52, adjoining Mr. Carroll's;
Ifltahard Gist took No. 48, on the northwest corner of
Q»i?ert Street and the basin; Wm. Hammond took
N*. 45, next to Mr. Gist's on the west; Mordecai
I^iee No. 55 (afterwards transferred to Capt. Robert
Qqvdon), midway between South and Holliday Streets,
on the water front; and Christopher Gist No. 56, next
t* that of Mr. Price, on the east. All these gentlemen
Mistered their title to these lots by beginning and fin-
uyJMng on them houses that covered at least four hun-
flmA square feet of ground within less than eighteen

•"* ' fflfiWtths after taking them up. On January 15th the
ĵjtjjwing lots were taken up, but were forfeited for

1 mmrnniplinnrr with the provisions of the law: No.
»t the southern end of Light Lane (now Light

| t ) , by Thomas Sheredine; No. 53, on South Lane
(flfflith Street), stretching on the west side to the water

by Wm. Buckner; and No. 26, at the western
niis of Long (Baltimore) Street, on the north
by James Powell. On the 16th Charles Ridgely
up No. 54, on the east side of South Lane, and

toding to the water, which was subsequently trans-
to John Diggs, who built upon it, and on the

same day Luke Trotten took up No. 36, at the south-
ern end of Forest (now Charles) Street, on the west
side, which was afterwards transferred to Philip Jones,
who complied with the law and built his house within
the required time. On the 14th Capt. Robert North
took up No. 10, northwest corner of Baltimore and
Calvert Streets, and Richard Hewitt No. 35, on the
west side of South Forest Street, both of which were
forfeited for non-compliance with the building pro-
vision ; and on the same day No. 50, on the southeast
corner of Long and Calvert Streets, was taken up
by Lloyd Harris, who built as required by the law.
On the 20th Thomas Sheredine, for the use of his son,
took up lot No. 14, northeast corner Long Street and
St. Paul's Lane, which was forfeited; on January 21st
Lloyd Harris took up for John Gorsuch lot No. 51,
on the southwest corner of Long Street and South
Lane, a portion of which is now occupied by the
office of the American, Gorsuch afterwards conveying
to Harris, who built upon it. April 18, 1730, David
Robinson took up No. 47, on the southwest corner of
Long and Calvert Streets, now occupied partly by the
banking-house of Alexander Brown & Sons, and after-
wards conveyed to Richard Gist, who built on it;
'July 1st John Risteau took up No. 15, northwest
corner of Long Street and St. Paul's Lane, and built
on it; August 18th Wm. Hammond took up No. 46,
southeast corner Long Street and Light Lane, who
built and afterwards took another lot; same day Mar-

'Hin Parlett No. 42, southwest corner of Long Street
and Light Lane, which he afterwards forfeited. Feb.
22, 1731, the vestry of St. Paul's parish took up lot
No. 19, bounded nearly by the streets now known as
Saratoga, Charles, and St. Paul's, on a part of which
the present St. Paul's church now stands; April 30th
Dr. James Walker took lot No. 9, northeast corner of
Long and Calvert Streets, and built on it; July 16th
George Walker took up No. 53, which had been origi-
nally taken up by Wm. Buckner, who had forfeited it
by failing to build. November 15th John Giles took
up No. 39, on the east side of South Forest Street,
which he forfeited; May 12,1732, Richard Lewis took
up No. 11, on the west side of Calvert Street at its
northern extremity, where Barnum's Hotel now stands;
May 20th Richard Gist took up No. 59, southeast
corner Long Street and South Lane, a part of which
is now occupied by the Sun iron building; June 28th,
1734, Rev. Joseph Hooper took up No. 32, and on July
3, 1734, took up No. 44, previously taken by Capt.
Thomas Sheredine; August 8th Thomas Woodward
took up No. 39, and paid for it in paper currency of
Maryland ; September 16th Rev. Joseph Hooper took
up lots Nos. 16 and 21, north of Long Street, No. 16,
fronting on St. Paul's Lane, and No. 21, on Forest
(Charles) Street; March 4, 1735, John Smith, cooper,
of Baltimore County, by his proxy, Richard Gist, took
up No. 43, on Light Street; March 28th Joshua Hall,
" joyner," of Baltimore County, took up No. 10, which
had been taken by Capt. North, but not built upon ;
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November 21st Rev. Joseph' Hooper took up, in the
name and for the use of Rev. John Humphreys, lot
No. 42, originally taken up by Martin Parlett; Jan.
19.1736, Rev. Joseph Hooper, not having built upon
lot No. 44, asked and obtained leave to re-enter the
same to his use; January 23d Thomas Woodward, in
the name of Capt. Francis Kipps, took up lot No. 40,
on the east side of Forest Street; on the same day
Mr. Woodward took up, for Gideon Donaldson, lot No.
41, southeast corner of Long and Forest Streets; Jan.
27.1737, Joshua Hall had lot No. 10 re-entered in his
name; March 4, 1738, Joshua Hall ordered lot No.
14, which had been taken up by Thomas Sheredine on
Jan. 22, 1730, in the name of his son, to be entered in
his (Hall's) name; same date Wm. Rogers took up
lots Nos. 42, 43, and 44, running along the west side
of Light Lane from Baltimore Street to the basin,
which lots had been forfeited by the previous owner.
A portion of this land is still owned by his heirs.

Thus the first Baltimore Town was laid out and
disposed of. But the takers were not immediately
greedy, though in a few years the whole land was ab-
sorbed, and applications were made for the lots for-
feited by delinquents. Still, as yet there was nothing
to invite extravagance in city building or improve-
ments by extending streets, building bridges, leveling
hills, and filling marshes; all of which tasks have
fallen on the successors of the first enterprise.

But the limits of the town were soon enlarged. In
1726, Edward Fell had settled east of Jones' Falls.
In 1730 his brother, William Fell, bought the tract
of land known as Copus' Harbor, built a house on
the line of what is now Lancaster Street, and thus
gave a name to Fell's Point. That part of the town,
therefore, so long the jealous rival of the westerly
town, was practically founded about the same time
with it.' On Aug. 8,1732, the Assembly passed an act
for the erection of Jones' Town into " a town on a creek,
divided on the east from the town lately laid out in
Baltimore County called Baltimore Town, on the
land whereon Edward Fell keeps store." This was
the beginning of " Old Town," a title still familiar to
our ears. It was so called, perhaps, because people
first began to settle in that part of the Cole's Harbor
property lying between Hanson's mill and Fell's
store, so that, in point of houses and people, " Old
Town" is older than Baltimore Town. Fell's store
was on Front Street near French Street. Jonathan
Hanson's mill was, as we have stated, about the pres-
ent intersection of Bath and Holliday Streets. He
had bought the property—thirty-one acres—of Charles
Carroll, in 1711. It was part of the original tract of
Cole's Harbor. Mr. Hanson built a strong dam
across the Falls at this point, and put up a substantial
mill. The backing of the waters by this dam tended
to drain what was afterwards called Steiger's Meadow.
Steiger was a butcher, who lived at the southwest
corner of Baltimore and Charles Streets; and in
1759 he purchased of Dr. William Taylor the wooded

marsh in the bend of the Falls, and then on the east
side of the stream, which he drained and cleared for
the pasturage of his cattle. "Steiger's Meadow,"
with the spongy condition of " Harrison's Marsh" be-
low, and the continued overflowing of Harford Run,
tended to make both Baltimore and Old Town very
sickly places, where the melodies of frogs and mosqui-
toes could always be heard. Mr. Hanson sold out his
mill property, as well as all his interest in twenty
acres of land lying on both sides of Jones' Falls, in
1741, to Edward Fottrell, an Irish gentleman, who
imported the materials and erected the first brick
house with freestone corners, and the first two-story
house in the town without a " hip-roof." It stood
near the northwest corner of Calvert and Fayette
Streets, and was the dwelling-house of Mr. Fottrell.
He returned to Ireland before the Revolution, when
his property was confiscated and sold.

Old or " Jones' Town," as it was designated by the
act, was called after David Jones, who is said to have
been the first actual settler, and who took up lands on
the line of the Falls as early as June 15, 1661.1

The act creating it appointed Maj. Thomas Shere-
dine, Capt. Robert North, and Messrs. Thomas Todd,
John Cockey, and John Boring, commissioners, with
power to purchase (by agreement with the owner, or
by valuation of a jury in case of the owner's refusal
to sell) ten acres of land out of the said tract, lying
most convenient to the water, and to lay out the same
into twenty lots, to be numbered from one to twenty
for better distinction thereof. The surveyor was di-
rected to return a plat of the town to the county
clerk, to be kept by him among the county records;
the owner of the land to have his first choice for one
lot, after which the remaining lots were to be taken
up at pleasure, with the restriction, however, that
none but inhabitants of the county were to take up
lots within the first six months, and that no person
was to purchase more than one lot during the first
four months after the laying out of the town. The
same conditions were contained in this act as in that
creating Baltimore Town with reference to the erec-

1 It may not be generally known that the ownership of the bed of
Jones' Falls was the subject of litigation as recently as 1817, an eject-
ment suit having been brought to determine the question of title in the
case of Lawson's heirs vs. Kennedy. It appears from the record that
Charles Carroll, of Annapolis, became seized of a portion of the original
tract of Cole's Harbor lying on both sides of the Falls, and that in
1767 he conveyed to a certain Wm. Lyon a parcel of this land lying on
the west Bide of the stream, and by the terms of the conveyance runniDg
and binding upon it, and that soon after in the same year he conveyed
another part of the same tract to a certain Alexander Lawson, lying on
the east side of the Falls, and running and binding upon them by the
terms of the conveyance. " That portion of the Falls," say the court,
" running between and dividing these two parcels of land, it is admitted,
was navigable for small boats until about the year 1786, when the old
bed of the Falls became dry in consequence of the water being drawn
into a canal cut to straighten the course. The plaintiffs claim under a
deed to Law-sou, and assert a title to the middle of the old bed of the
Falls. The defendant contends that -the title to the land thus abandoned
by the stream is Btill in the State, or in himself in virtue of a grant of
1796 from Charles Carroll of Carrollton, of all his interest in the land
not before granted to Lyou and Lawson."
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called Jones' Town, and possessors of lots were
L one penny current money per annum to the
n-rd Proprietary and his heirs forever. Of the com-
missioners, Maj. Sheredine had taken up land in the

^ounty as early as 1721, and in 1734 purchased the
pingsbury lands at the head of Back River, where
the iron furnace was afterwards erected, and Gen.
Smith built a mill. Capt. North had taken lot No.
10, at the northwest corner of Baltimore and Calvert
Streets, in Baltimore Town, and upon the laying out of
Jones' Town had visited the Patapsco and carried
freights in the ship " Content," which he commanded,
as early as 1723.1

Thomas Todd was the son and heir of Capt. Thomas
Todd, who removed from Virginia and purchased the
land at North Point in 1664, which had been first
taken up by Wm. Batten and Thos. Thomas. John
Cockey purchased near the Patapsco in 1728; the
year following his brother Thomas settled in the
limestone valley on the York road, and their name
is preserved in the town of Cockeysville, on the line
of the Northern Central Railroad. Mr. Boring was
a merchant, whose father had bought several tracts of
land on Patapsco Neck in 1679.

On Oct. 28, 1732, four of the commissioners, Capt.
Thomas Sheredine, Capt. Robert North, Thomas
Todd, and John Cockey, met, and after appointing
George Walker as their clerk, issued their warrants
to the sheriff of the county commanding him to sum-
mon a jury of substantial freeholders to assess the
value of the ten acres to be apportioned for the town,
and to inquire as to the ownership of the land. On
Nov. 4, 1732, all the commissioners met, and inquired
of William Fell, then in actual occupancy of the
land, whether he would sell ten acres of the tract, to
which he answered positively that he neither could
nor would sell any of it; whereupon, a jury of free-
holders returned by the sheriff, proceeded to inquire
as to the ownership of the land, and found by their
verdict the orphans of Col, Richard Colgate, deceased,
to be the owners, and judged the value of it to be
three hundred pounds of tobacco per acre, or twelve
pounds thirteen shillings for the tract. At the same
time, also, Philip Jones, surveyor, began the survey,
and laid out ten acres of land by the direction of the
commissioners, but could not then complete the sur-
vey for want of time. On Nov. 22, 1732, three of the

1 His daughter Helen, on May 25,1758, married John Moale. She was
the first female child born in Baltimore Town, and lived to see Balti-
more a city of nearly eighty thousand inhabitants.

commissioners being present, ordered the surveyor M
complete the survey, which he did " some small time
afterwards."

The new town as laid off had nearly the shape of*
parallelogram, or rather of a rectangular figure <rf
greater length than breadth, and lay " convenient to
the water," as the act had required. It boasted three
streets corresponding with the meanders of the bank*
of the Falls. The first on the bluff overhanging the
falls was called Front, Short, and Jones Streets, and
ran from a great gully at Pitt (now Fayette) Street
to the ford at the intersection of the old road where
French Street commenced, and near the present Bath
Street bridge, which crosses the Falls. The second
street, running parallel with the town and dividing it
in the centre, was called High Street; and the third,
binding the town on the east, was called Green, now
Exeter Street. The only cross street was Bridge,
now Gay Street, at the southwest corner of which and
Jones Street stood Mr. Fell's store. Before thewec-
tion of the bridge at Gay Street the communication
between the two towns was, of course, very much ob»
structed by the wide marsh which bounded the
stream, and which ran northwardly as far as the pres-
ent Eager Street bridge, spreading westward from the
margin of the Falls to the present Holliday Street
What is now Harrison Street, from its head at 0ay
Street to the Patapsco, was a swamp,—the resort of
sportsmen for snipe and woodcock,—and, indeed, the
lower part of it, below the present Maryland Institute
and market, did not disappear until the present cen-
tury. The communication, therefore, between Balti-
more Town and its adjunct, Jones' Town, was incon-
venient and sometimes dangerous, and effected only by
a ford which then existed near Hanson's mill, about
the site of the present Bath Street bridge. Accord-
ingly, a bridge was soon erected by the respective in-
habitants of the towns, at the point where Gay Street
bridge now stands, and the street was for a long time
called Bridge Street, so that the townfolk and 6rav-
elers, who, if they did not choose, in the unoccupied
and unbuilt condition of the land at that early day,'
to flounder through the swamp and swim the fails if
it happened to be high, might cross the open lots'and
pass to Jones' Town by this permanent viaduct, which
doubtless contributed more than anything else to
create a union of the two towns.
• Although the survey of Jones' Town was completed
shortly after the 22d of November, 1732, there seems to'
have been some delay in opening the lots for entry, and
it was not until July 20,1733, that the first lot was taken
up. On that day John Gordon took up lot No. 1, at the
head of Jones Street, which ran along the line of the
Falls; and on the same day Edward Fell took up
No. 4, William Fell No. 6, and Thomas Boone No. 6,
all of which were in Jones or Front Street. Oa
August 13th Capt. Robert North took up No. 2 ;
August 18th, Capt. John Cromwell No. 8; Augast
20th, Capt. John Boring Nos. 17 and 18; September
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3d, John Cockey No. 7. On Feb. 19, 1735, John
Cockey took up lot No. 3, vacated by Capt. John
Cromwell, and re-entered lot No. 7 in his name; Feb-
ruary 20th William Fell took lot No. 4, originally
token by his brother, Edward Fell, who had neglected
to baild; on the same day William Fell took up Nos.
16,16, 19, and 20, and on March 5th Nos. 8 and 9.
May 10th Col. John Smith took up No. 14, and No-
vember 8th Thomas Matthews No. 10; Aug. 14,

• 1786, Capt. John Boring had lot No. 17 re-entered in
big name; September 21st William Fell had Nos. 15,
16, and 19 re-entered in his name, and George Walker,
olerk, took up No. 20, formerly taken by William
Fell; December 27th William Fell had Nos. 8 and 9
re-entered in his name; December 31st Dr. Buckler
Partridge took up No. 11; July 2,1737, Dr. Partridge
had lot No. 10, formerly taken up by Thomas Mat-
thews, and situated at the southern extremity of Jones
Street, entered in his name. Aug. 3, 1737, Thomas
Taylor, of Baltimore County, took up No. 12, near
the southern end of Green, now Exeter, Street;
August 30th George Walker took up the next lot on
Green Street, No. 13; March 20, 1738, William Fell
re-entered No. 16; June 6th George Walker re-en-
tered No. 20, and on the 20th sold all his interest in
lot No. 13 to Redman Dearing, and on the 29th his
interest in No. 20 to Joshua Hall. On July 18th No.
9 was entered, at the request of William Fell, in the
name of John Boring, while on the same day Fell re-
entered No. 8 in his own name; May 29, 1739, John
Connell took up No. 13, previously taken by George
Walker; April 7, 1740, Capt. Robert North took up
Bfos. 8, 9, and 16, which had been vacated by the
former owners, and on April 8, 1740, Mary Hanson
took up Nos. 5 and 6, and the same day Thomas
Sberedine, John Boring, and Robert North, commis-
sioners of the town, decided to close out the remain-
der of the lots not taken up, for the sum of one hun-
dred and fifty pounds of tobacco for each lot. Under
this resolution, and on the date of its adoption, Alex-
ander Lawson took up lot No. 12, Capt. Thomas
Sberedine lot No. 11, and Edward Fell lot No. 20.
Oft August 18th William Fell re-entered No. 4, and
ok Nov. 19, 1741, Alexander Lawson re-entered lots
Jjfos. 11 and 12. These brief extracts from the origi-
nal records serve to show how slowly these two settle-
ments on Cole's Harbor were formed, growing for
fears only house by house and lot by lot, and giving
for a considerable period but little promise or prophecy
ctf the greater things to come'

The lots in Jones' Town were all sold shortly after
1741, but a good many lots in Baltimore Town were
•till on the hands of the commissioners. On the 28th
at -September, 1745, however, on the joint petition of
the inhabitants of Baltimore and Jones' Town, it was
enacted by the Assembly, " That the same towns, now
called Baltimore and Jones' Towns, be incorporated
into one entire town, and for the future called and
known by the name of Baltimore Town, and by no

other name." The act further p rided that the

bridge (there being but one at that . -
inhabitante-on the "branch" * * ^
towns at Gay Street should for the ^ c g
apubiUc bridge, and repaired and K . °
of Baltimore County. Capt. Darby'"*' f&^ ° n f T
dine, Capt. R o ^ o r t h . Dr. Gsxg0*?^^
William Hammond, Thomas Harrison, and ,.;ze)j
Fell were appointed commissioners, and authoi v0
to see the present and former acts relating to the tv»
towns put in execution, and cause them to be carefull
surveyed by their outlines, including the branch ov̂
which the bridge was built. The commissioners wer
also directed to cause all lots taken up and improved
to be regularly surveyed, substantially and fairly
bounded, and numbered, and they were likewise au-
thorized to determine all disputes about the bounds
of lots. They were further empowered to employ a
clerk, and " to levy, assess, and take by way of dis-
tress, if needful, and from the inhabitants of the
town, by even and equal proportion, the sum of three
pounds yearly, to be paid to their clerk," and were
invested with all the legal rights and claims of the
former commissioners of the two towns. One section
of this act was a very unfortunate one, and has caused
Baltimore a great deal of loss by narrowing the
water-front, and enabling many people to get rich
at the community's cost. This was the tenth section
of the act, which provided that all improvements,
of what kind soever, either wharf, houses, or other
buildings, that have or shall be made out of the
water, or where it usually flows, shall (as an encour-
agement to such improvers) be forever deemed the
right, title, and inheritance of such improvers, their
heirs and assigns, forever. Under this section a great
deal of property has been taken. The basin origin-
ally extended north to Water Street (now Lombard),
and at one point to Mercer Street; on the west it came
half-way to Hanover Street, at the foot of Conway
Street. Between the mouth of Jones' Falls and
Fell's Point was a great bay called the cove, and
the water-lines and port warden's lines at Canton
and Locust Point and Spring Garden were all origin-
ally much inside of their present limits. The in-
cursions made by the "improvers" in some cases
have been formidable indeed. Not less than four
hundred acres of solid ground were thus acquired
on the different fronts of the basin and lower harbor
before people became aware of what was being
done. When it was too late to be remedied it was
discovered that the " docks," left by commerce, were'
a hindrance, a nuisance, and a serious source of dis-
ease. Those in the upper part of the basin were filled
up when Pratt Street was extended through, but the
rest of the stagnant pools are still permitted to re-
main.

Of the new commissioners of Baltimore Town, Capt.
Lux commanded a ship in the London trade as early
as 1733, and in 1743 purchased lots 43 and 44, on the
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west side of Light Street, where he resided and trans-
acted much business. The commissioners appointed
as their chief clerk William Lux, son of Darby Lux,
in place of Dr. Walker, who died in 1743.

The communication by the bridge, which brought
the Great Eastern road from the ford directly through
parts of the town, gave value to the intermediate
grounds, and the whole land and marsh, containing
twenty-eight acres in all, was purchased of Mr. Car-
roll in 1747 for one hundred and sixty pounds ster-
ling by Mr. Thomas Harrison, merchant, who ar-
rived from England in 1742, and built a house near
the northeast corner of South and Lombard Streets,
buying the lots nearest the water on each side of South
Street. Eighteen acres of this tract, known as Harri-
son's Marsh, lay between Baltimore and Jones'
Towns, and being in the limits of neither, served
to separate inconveniently what the Assembly had
already joined together. Mr. Harrison, who was
doubtless of a thrifty mind, may have made his pur-
chase from Mr. Carroll with a view to its annexation
to the city, and with an eye to its future division into
town lots, but whether he did or not, a petition was
presented to the Assembly in 1747 from the inhabit-
ants of Baltimore asking the incorporation of these
eighteen acres within the town limits. Accordingly,
on the 11th of July, 1747, the Assembly passed the
desired act, providing, as in previous instances, for
the laying off and survey of lots, etc. This addition,
lying principally on the west side of the Falls, covered
the territory in which Frederick, Harrison, and parts of
Gay, Holliday, Water, and Second Streets were after-
wards laid off, and comprised all the fast land between
the eastern limits of Baltimore Town and Jones' Falls.
The act contains several significant indications that
the town had commenced to show signs of growth and
progress. The commissioners were empowered to
open and widen certain streets and alleys which were
too narrow for the public use and convenience, and
were authorized to hold two annual fairs, beginning
on the first Thursday of May and October, and lasting
three days, during the continuance of which every
person within the bounds of the town was to be free
from arrest, except for felony or breach of the peace,
and all persons coming to or returning from them
were to have the like privilege for one day before the
fair, and one day on their return therefrom. To guard
against fires, housekeepers were required to keep lad-
ders tall enough to reach the tops of their chimneys.

On March 19,1749, Thomas Sheredine and Thomas
Sleigh bought of John Hurst, and on the 15th of No-

. 3aan3e-r, 1750, of Richard Colgate's sons, John and
Thomas., their several rights to the residue of Cole's
Harbor,. east of Exeter Street, and between Plowman
and French Streets, with lots on each side, comprising
eighteen .'acres of land ; and at the session of 1750 the
Assembly,, pursuant to the petition of the inhabitants
of the county, empowered the commissioners of Bal-
timore Town to cause about twenty-five acres of land,

including doubtless the recent purchase of Sheredine
and Sleigh, and lying " on the north and east sides of
that part of Baltimore Town formerly called Jones'
Town," to be surveyed and laid out into lots and
streets, and directed that it should then be considered
a part of the town " to all intents and purposes, as
fully and amply as if included originally therein."

But although the town was thus rapidly growing
in territory, it is not to be supposed that it presented
anything like the appearance of a city. It was still
but a small, straggling village, with houses perched
irregularly here and there upon the cliffs and hills, or
nestling in the lowlands at thesweet will and pleasure
of each individual householder. " Eligible lots" were
still far more numerous than takers, and the supply
of suitable locations for residences greatly in excess of
the demand. Fortunately, a patriotic artist of those
times has handed down to us a picture of the town as
it appeared in 1752, which, rude as is its execution,
is evidently drawn from the life, and makes up in facts
what it lacks in imagination. This drawing, Which
hangs upon the walls of the Maryland Historical So-
ciety, is attributed to John Moale, the son of that
parliamentarian who was so successful in protecting
his iron-mines. The sketch has been improved by
others, who have filled up with some details much of
the space left bare by Mr. Moale in his original and
homely draft. The principal street, as portrayed in
our view of Baltimore one hundred and thirty years
ago, is Calvert, and there is a brick building laid
down which is ascertained to be the house that stood
within a few years at the corner of Calvert and Mer-
cer Streets, and was, at the date of Moale's drawing,
Payne's tavern. There was a rival tavern at the
northwest corner of Baltimore and Light Streets, kept
by William Rogers, who took up lot No. 42 on the
original town plat, March 4, 1738. In the basin we
see the brig " Philip and Charles," belonging to Mr.
Rogers, and the sloop "Baltimore," owned by Mr.
Lux. Most of the houses are clustered in the space
bounded by Baltimore, Calvert, the water-front at
Water Street, and Charles Street, though the town
straggles out both eastwardly and westwardly, and
the parish church of St. Paul's stands far off up the
hill, at the head of what are now called Charles and
Lexington Streets. In spite of the many acres which
had-been added to it by generous acts of Assembly,
Mr. Moale's drawing- shows us that it only contained
at this time twenty-five houses, one church, and two
taverns; it is interesting to know that four of them
were of brick, and while there were several two stories
in height, the town boasted but one brick house of two
stories without a "hip-roof." Each house is care-
fully surrounded by its own rude wooden fence, some
frugal citizen is cultivating a field of tobacco upon
land close to the water's edge, and apparently within
the " municipal" limits, and South, St. Paul's, Light,
and Charles Streets wander up and down the hills in
crooked, irregular lines, looking more like cow-paths
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BALTIMORE IN 1752.

1, 2, Two Houses near Sharp and Baltimore Streets.
3, Near the corner Baltimore and Sharp Streets.
4, Brewery near Hanover and Baltimore Streets.
5, German and Sharp Streets.
6, Baltimore Street.
7, Tobacco Inspection House on Charles Street.
8, On Vulcan Alley.
9, Residence of Capt. Darby Lux, Bank and Light Streets.

10, Near corner St. Paul and Chatham Streets.
11, St. Paul's Church, the first built.
12, Mr. Rogers', northeast corner St. Paul and Baltimore Streets.
13, Kaminskey's Tavern, German and near Light Street.
14, Northwest corner Calvert and Bank Streets.

than thoroughfares for human trade and travel, it
being quite evident that in laying them off the sur-
veyor, honest Philip Jones, has proceeded on the
principle that the curved line is the line of beauty.
The wooden wall which had been built around the
town some two years before to protect it from the In-
dians does not appear in Mr. Moale's drawing, but
doubtless it had by this time been pretty thoroughly
consumed by the more needy citizens. Mr. Moale's
picture of Baltimore Town in 1752, which was after-
wards improved by Edward J. Coale and Daniel
Bowly, is happily supplemented by another record of
the same year,—a sort of primitive directory, which
introduces to us by name all the families then com-
posing the embryonic city. In general only the heads
of families are given in this directory, and the female
portion of the community is ignored except in one or
two special instances. The names as given are as fol-
lows : " Capt. Lucas, William Rogers, Nicholas Rog-
ers, Dr. William Lyon, Thomas Harrison, Alexander
Lawson, Bryan Philpot, Nicholas Ruxton Gay, James
Cary (inn-keeper), Parson Chase, Mr. Paine, Chois
Carnin, Dame Hughes (the only midwife among Eng-

15, The first Brick House built in Baltimore, near northwest corner
Fayette anil Calvert Streets.

16, Mr. N. Rogers', near corner of Calvert and Baltimore Streets.
17, Mr. Ward's, " " " "
18, Near South and Second Streets.
19, Corner of Lombard and South Streets.
20, Southeast corner of South and Baltimore Streets.
21, Holliday Street, near Fayette.
22, Near Gay and Front Streets.
23, Sloop " Baltimore," the second vessel.
24, Calvert Street Wharf.
25, Brig of N. Rogers, the first Sqnare-rigged Vessel of the Port.
26, Jones' Falls.

lish folk), Charles Constable, Mr. Ferguson, Mr. Gold-
smith, Mr. John Moore, Mr. Sheppard (tailor), Bill
Adams (barber), George Strebeck (only wagoner, drove
a single team), Jake Keeports (carpenter), Conrad
Smith, Capt. Dunlap, Jack Crosby (carpenter), Bob
Lance (cooper), Philip Littig (whose wife was ac-
coucheuse among the German population), John
Wood, Hilt Stanwitch (laborer), Nancy Low, Mr.
Gwinn."

The town had at this time about two hundred in-
habitants, allowing ten persons to a family, which is
probably not an over-estimate in view of the fact that
it was a slave-holding community. The natural
features of the site have already been adverted to,
and it was many years before they were greatly
changed from the wild and rugged aspect with. wM?h
they met the founders of the city. At the time of
which we speak (1752) the hills still raided their
undiminished heads in every part of the iiifant me-
tropolis, the streets were paved only by their native
heath, and Jones' Falls in unbridled license, spreading
its waters over much adjacent territory, hemmed in
the town on the east with tributary marshes, and
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rolling in its sinuous course as far up as St. Paul
and Saratoga Streets, dashed its spray contemptuously
into the very face of the insignificant settlement.

On the 17th of November, 1753, the Assembly again
extended the limits of the town by adding to it thirty-
two acres of Cole's Harbor, which Joshua Hall had
purchased of Mr. Carroll, being part of the tract
which lay between the town and the lines of Lunn's
lot at the south, west and north of Baltimore Town,
commencing on the basin near the mouth of Uhler's
Run, and including the grounds between the original
western limits of the town and Lunn's lot, and run-
ning to the Falls side, north of Church Lane (Mc-
Clellan's Alley) and City Spring, where John Fra-
zier rented a shipyard and resided.

In 1755 the population of the town was consider-
ably augmented by the arrival of a vessel loaded with
French Acadian exiles, who had been driven from
Nova Scotia. These wretched exiles were received
with ready and generous hospitality. They were at
first lodged in private houses, and a number were
sheltered in the unfinished dwelling of Edward Fot-
trell. In a short time these peaceable, frugal, and
industrious exiles were able to construct some small
but comfortable houses upon South Charles Street,
near Lombard, giving to that quarter the designation
of "French Town," which it long retained. The
descendants of many of these exiles are still living
among us. At this time the town was also receiving
accretions from other quarters. In 1759, Jonathan
Plowman, an English merchant, arrived in Baltimore,
and bought several acres of land of Mr. Sleigh, ad-
joining the last addition east of the Falls, and built
a house at the northeast corner of York (Baltimore)
and High Streets, and in 1760 Mr. Philpot purchased
of Mr. Sleigh most of the peninsula between the Falls
jand Harford Run, south of Baltimore Street, and
built a house at the northeast corner of Baltimore
Street bridge, which caused the bridge afterwards
built to be known by his name. In 1763, Messrs.
Plowman and Philpot laid out some of their ground
between the. Falls and Harford Run into streets run-
ning northwest to southeast, and nearly parallel with
the former stream, with other streets at right angles
with them; and Mr. Fell about the same time laid
off part of the tracts of land on the east which his
father had purchased of Harris, Carter, and others
(buying of Sleigh himself part of Mountenay's Neck,
and all ths ground two years before resurveyed and
patented by the name of Fell's Prospect), with streets
running north, south, east, and west, except on the ex-
treme point itself, where he was governed by the course
of the river. In this year also Messrs. John Brown,
Benjamin Griffith, and Samuel Purviance settled in
Baltimore. The former was from New Jersey, and
having learned his trade in Wilmington, erected a
pottery on the east side of Gay Street. Mr. Purvi-
ance, who came from Donegal by way of Philadelphia,
erected a distillery on the southeast corner of Lombard

and Commerce Streets, with a wharf. Mr. Griffith
came from New Castle, and having purchased Fell's
lot adjoining Gay Street bridge, rebuilt it by contract,
and it was afterwards called by his name. In the
following year William Spear, of Lancaster, took the
water-lot near Gay Street, and wharfing out about one
thousand feet to a small island, erected a bakery there.
This locality is still known by the name of Spear's
Wharf.

In 1765 the Assembly added to the town thirty-five
acres belonging to Cornelius Howard, including a part
of Lunn's lot, especially the South Baltimore portion.
Lunn's lot, which extended from Timber Neck and
David's Fancy northward until it joined the Belvi-
dere estate of the Howards, was so called from the
original patentee, who sold the property, it is supposed,
about the year 1668, to John Eager, Jr.,—John Eager
Howard's maternal grandfather. This last addition
to the iown included the present Conway and Barre
Streets, so called after the successful opponents of the
Stamp Act in the British Parliament, and extended
northwardly between the west side of Charles and the
east side of Liberty to Saratoga Street. In November,
1776, Thomas Harrison, Alexander Lawson, and Brian
Philpot, the then owners of the marsh adjoining the
town on the east, were directed by an act pf Assembly
" to remove the said nuisance at their own proper ex-
pense" by " wharfing in all such marshy ground near
the water with a good and sufficient stone wall," and
by " covering the marsh with stones, gravel, and dirt,"
after the completion of which it was ordered to be
laid off" into lots and added to the town. This se-
cured the draining of all the marsh, or " mash"
mavket section of the town, and added largely to
its area. Messrs. John Smith and Wm. Buchanan
had before this, in 1759, purchased of Mr. Harrison
the lots fronting on Gay and Water (now Lombard)
Streets, and commenced building two wharves, each
about one thousand feet long, to the channel of the
river, which wharves still bear their names.

By the act of 1773, Fell's and Plowman's additions
were made to Baltimore, consisting of about eighty
acres of land, lying on the east and southeast sides of
the town, and embracing what has long been known
as Fell's Point. Plowman's addition was the tract
east of the Falls and south of York Street (now East
Baltimore Street), and Fell's all his father's purchases
of Mountenay's Neck, and generally the land from
York Street down to the "cove." Mountenay's
Neck, as we have seen, was resurveyed for Wm.
Fell as escheat land on April 27, 1737, and had
passed at his death in 1746 to his son Edward.
Wm. Fell's brother, Edward, it will be remembered,
"kept store" on the site of Old Town, and when
he died in 1738 left all his property to his nephew
and namesake. It appears, however, that previous to
his purchase of Mountenay's Neck, Wm. Fell bought
the tract of land called " Copus' Harbor," and built
a mansion there on the site of Lancaster Street, and
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this was doubtless the beginning of the settlement at
the Point. It was Wm. Fell's son, Edward, who laid
out Fell's Point in 1763, but he did not live to see
the Point annexed to Baltimore, as he died in 1766,
leaving an infant son, William, whose name fre-
quently occurs in the later history of the town.
Part of this new addition to the town was on high
ground, and being healthier than the localities closer
to the Falls, had early become a popular quarter for
the wealthier merchants and traders. Some of the
old mansions in that quarter still hint at the ease and
luxury of those who dwelt in them, dilapidated and
forlorn as their present surroundings are. In 1765,
shortly after the Point had been laid off, Capt. Charles
Ridgely and Mr. Griffith purchased water-lots of Mr.
Fell west of the public wharf, the latter building a>
wharf and warehouse, which was the first there; and
Benjamin Nelson, shipwright, who had moved from
Charlestown, Cecil County, established a shipyard
in Philpot Street. Three years later Isaac Griest, also
from Cecil, took the water-lot east of the public wharf;
the ensuing year George Patton, who came from Ire-
land, erected a wharf on the west end of the Point,
and three years after, Jesse Hollingsworth another
on the east, the remainder of the water-lots being
chiefly taken and improved in the mean time by
Messrs. Purviance, Wells, Smith, Mackie, and Van
Bibber. The Point, containing all the artisans and
articles requisite for building and fitting vessels, was
already the rival of the town in 1765. The first set-
tlers were at a great loss to determine in which part
to buy, as most likely to improve, and those who had
sufficient money and enterprise generally took lots
both in the town and at the Point. That the rivalry
between the towns before this was great is evident
from an advertisement that appeared in the Maryland
Gazette of July 31, 1766, in which Anne Fell, execu-
trix of Edward Fell, call's on those who have pur-
chased lots of ground " in a place laid out for a town
on Fell's Point, Patapsco River, to pay their several
arrearages." She mentions that some persons have
spread a report that the title to the lots was dispu-
table, that the water was bad, and the Point not
healthy, in order to intimidate strangers from taking
said lots, and declares that she can prove all these
reports to be utterly false and unfounded. John
Bond, who acted for Anne Fell, endeavored to dispel
these false rumors, which are said to have been put
in circulation by Baltimore land-owners, and finally
leased or sold many of the lots. Several years before
the annexation of the Point, however, a correspondent
of the Philadelphia Chronicle, in March, 1767, com-
plains that, owing to the bad and crooked roads lead-
ing from the west side of the Susquehanna to Phila-
delphia and the extravagant price of ferriage, most
of the trade of that section was being sent to and
shipped from New Castle, Del., and urges the Leg-
islature to make the ferries free, and repair and
straighten the roads, as the welfare of the province

of Pennsylvania was involved. " The port of Balti-
more," says the writer, " in this instance our rival, is
daily increasing its shipping and the number of its
merchants, and in consequence its trade and opulence.
It has many natural advantages, and there can be
little doubt but that it will soon become an object of
the Legislature's peculiar attention, which may make
it a great mart and flourishing port."

Baltimore was indeed growing, and twenty years
later got to be quite a place. Its mills were nu-
merous and busy; it had a large foreign trade with
the West Indies and with Europe; its trade with
the interior of Maryland and Pennsylvania was im-
portant ; above all, it had received large accessions
of active, enterprising citizens,—thrifty Germans
from Pennsylvania or from Fatherland; French from
Acadia and the West Indies; Scotch-Irish from
Derry; Irish gentry from other places. It was men
like Stevenson, Harrison, Steiger, Purviance, Patter-
son, Buchanan, Philpot, Plowman, Yeiser, the Smiths,
and their stamp, no less than the natives of the
county, who gave Baltimore its impulse of growth.
These people traded with the world, and their busy
craft, when the war of 1775 broke out, turned priva-
teers, and enriched them and the town with the spoils
of British commerce. In 1768 an act was passed " for
erecting a court-house and public prison for Balti-
more County, in the town of Baltimore, and for
making sale of the old court-house and prison." This
was the act by which the county-seat was removed
from Joppa, and from this period we can date the
growing importance of Baltimore. Messrs. J. B. Bord-
ley, John Ridgely, John Moale, Robert Adair, Robert
Alexander, William Smith, and Andrew Buchanan
were appointed commissioners to build the prison and
court-house, which the act directed should be con-
structed on the upper part of Calvert Street, next to
Jones' Falls.

While Baltimore was thus made the county-seat,
yet it must have resembled anything else than a city.
The hills were not yet cut down, the streets were
not paved, the houses -were poor, mean, irregular.
Robert Gilmor, in his reminiscences, mentions that
he caught crabs with a stick while walking around
the water-front from Jones' Falls via Lombard Street
to Charles and Lee Streets (the foot of the latter being
called "Deep Point"); that he learned to swim in
Jones' Falls at the corner of Calvert and Lexing-
ton Streets, and " the water was so deepthat once a
man was drowned here;" boats coming up to the
powder-house, which stood at the foot of the preci-
pice on which the court-house was erected, near the
southeast corner of Calvert and Lexington Streets;
and that in the Revolutionary war he saw a mounted
bugler swamped in the quagmire in front of the pres-
ent site of the Sun office. Calvert Street then ceased at
the south side of Fayette Street; there was no Holli-
day Street on account of the Falls apd Steiger's
meadow ; there was good shooting of snipe and wood-
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cock on Harrison's Marsh, where the Centre Market
now stands; there was a mill where the gas-house
now is on Holliday Street, and Englehart Yeiser had
not yet cut the canal through Steiger's meadow
which diverted Jones' Falls from its old horseshoe
curve to its present bed. When the old court-house

COUBI-HOUSE IN 1784-

was built (on the site of the Battle Monument) the
.bluff at St. Paul, Fayette, and Lexington Streets ex-
tended to North Street, then descended in an abrupt
precipice to the Falls, and the court-house stood sheer
and toppling upon the very edge and comb of this
bluff, at the then head of Calvert Street, until, by the
ingenuity of Mr. Leonard Harbaugh (afterwards a
town commissioner), it was, in 1784, underpinned and
arched and the street opened. At that time the arch
under the court-house was supplied with stocks, pil-
lory, and whipping-post, arid Justice straddled over
the city's centre like Gulliver in Liliput. There was
little attempt at grading or getting a definite co-ordina-
tion of levels. Mr. Gilmor says the court-house stood
on a hill sixty or a hundred feet above the level of the
basin, and about thirty or forty feet above the level
of the present pavements. The houses and style of
building were as irregular as the streets and wharves.
A portrait of the town, taken about the time of Mr.
Harbaugh's prodigious feat, adds spice of vivacity to
manifest accuracy:

" It was a treat," says Hon. John P. Kennedy," to see this little Balti-
more Town just at the termination of the war of independence, so con-
ceited, so bustling and debonnaire, growing up like a saucy, chubby hoy,
with his dumpling cheeks and short, grinning face, fat and mischievous,
and bursting incontinently out of his clothes in spite of all the allow-
ance of tucks and broad selvages. Market Street had shot, like a Nu-
remberg snake out of its toy box, as far as Congress Hall [Sharp Street
and Baltimore], with its line of low-browed, hipped-roof wooden houses
in disorderly array, Btanding forward and back, after the manner of a
regiment of militia with many an interval between the files. Some of
theie structures were painted blue and white and some yellow, and here

5

and there sprang up a more magnificent mansion of brick, with windows
like a mutiplication table and great wastes of wall between the stories,
with occasional courtyards before them, and reverential locust-trees,
under whose shade bevies of truant school-boys, ragged little negroes,
and grotesque chimney-sweeps 'skyed coppers' and disported themselves
at marbles."

The evident truth of these details about the houses
of the town is confirmed by the message of Mayor John
Montgomery to the City Council in January, 1826.
He shows that even then, of 10,416 houses returned
by sweep-masters, 101 only were of four stories, 1608
were of three stories, 1524 being of one story, while
7183, seven-tenths of the whole, were only two stories
high. In James Robinson's "Baltimore Directory for
1804," when the " city" was eight years old, Howard's
Park, trees and all, began at Saratoga Street, the west
end stopped at Green Street, and the separation of
Fell's Point from Old Town was complete. The
"cove" south of Aliceanna Street had begun to be
filled up, but the swamps of Harford Run were two
blocks broad, and Wilkes Street (Eastern Avenue) waa
a "causeway" indeed. The "meadow" was still un-
filled, though Yeiser's Canal had been cut, and there
were half a dozen mills on the line of the Falls from
the Gay Street bridge to Col. Howard's place at Bel-
videre.

At the November session of 1781 the Assembly
added to the town six acres and one hundred and
ten square perches of land belonging to John Moale,
east of the Falls; and also eleven acres and fifty-six
square perches belonging to Andrew Steiger, and
known as Steiger's Meadow, which had been drained
by the enterprise of Englehardt Yeiser, and the re-
mainder of Fell's Prospect, or as much of it as the
commissioners might think proper. By the act of
1782, ch. 2, the commissioners were directed to annex
the remainder of John E. Howard's tract of land,
called Lunn's lot, or so much as they might think
necessary, and by a later act of the same year part of
Howard's Timber Neck, Parker's Haven, Kemp's Ad-
dition, and Gist's Inspection was also added on the
petition of the owners, Benj. Rogers, Charles Ridgely
(son of John), Christopher Hughes, Henry Brown,
John Mercer Porter, George McCandless, Thos. Rus-
sell, Robert Moore, David Williamson, Charles Fred-
erick Wiesenthall, John Wells, Jonathan Hudson,
John Sterrett, Geo. Prestman, John Gorden, Thos.
Dorsey, John Dorsey, Samuel Chase, Wm. Hammond,
and David Rusk. In 1796 the town was incorporated,
and in 1799, agreeably to the powers of the corpora-
tion, an addition was made to the city of a small par-
cel of ground situated north of Saratoga Street, and
the bounds of Harford Street and Canal were fixed,
together with the channel of the basin. The addi-
tion thus made was described in the ordinance as lying
in that part of the precincts bounded on the south by
Saratoga Street, on the west by an alley one hun-
dred and twenty feet from Howard Street, on the
north by New Street, and on the east by Lerew's
Alley. In 1816 the Legislature passed an act to



62 HISTOltY OF BALTIMORE CITY AND COUNTY, MARYLAND.

XTMITS OFHALTTMIIKE TOWJJ.AS
1.A1D O U T J A N i J A m . ^
COMPRISING 6 O A C K U S OIT G R O U N D /

BOUNDARIES OF BALTIMORE.

annex the " precincts," as the suburban property was
called, to the city of Baltimore, against the consent
of about nine-tenths of the people of both the county
and city. By this annexation the city acquired a
population of sixteen or seventeen thousand souls.
By this act it was provided
" that the precincts of Baltimore City, and all that part of Baltimore
County which is included in the following metes and bounds, shall be
and are hereby annexed to and made part of the ciiy of Baltimore; that
is to say, bounded on the north by a line drawn parallel with Baltimore
Street in said city, through a point one mile and a half due north from
the centre of Baltimore and Calvert Streets in said city, and extending
eastwardly seven hundred perches from the said point to a public road
passing from the Philadelphia post-road, by the dwellings of Amos Loney,
Thomas "Worthington, and others, and westwardly six hundred and forty
perches from the same point; on the east by a line binding on the east
side of said road, to the Philadelphia post-road, and from the Philadelphia
post-road, by a straight line, to the northeast corner of the Lazaretto lot,
including said lot, and then with the lines of said lot to the Patapsco
River; on the south by a line drawn from the Patapsco River, at the ter-
mination of the lasUnientioned line, to the most northern part of Whet-
stone Point, on the main branch of the Patapsco River, and running
with and bounding on the said main branch, excluding the land ceded to
the United States on Whetstone Point for the use of a fort, to the place
called the Ferry Point, being the junction of the said main branch with
the middle branch aforesaid, and thence due west to the western side of
the middle branch aforesaid; and on the west by a line running from the
termination of the last-mentioned line on the western shore of the mid-
dle branch, and binding on the said shore, to the north of Gwynn's Falls,
thence up and with the southwest side of Gwynn's Falls to a point oppo-
site to the mouth of Gwynn's Run, thence with a straight course to the
mouth of Gwynn's Run, and thence with a straight line to the end of the
aforementioned six hundred and forty perch line."

The boundaries established by this act constitute
the present limits of the city, the area of which has
never been extended since the act of 1816. By the

act of 1817 the city of Baltimore was directed to be
divided into twelve wards, as nearly equal in propor-
tion as possible, and John Eager Howard, William
Gibson, William Cooke, William McMechen, Henry
Thompson, John Hillen, Joseph Townsend, Nathan-
iel Williams, John McHenry, James Mosher, and
George Winchester were appointed commissioners
with authority to survey and lay off within the
limits of the city all such streets, lanes, and alleys as
they might think proper and convenient, and to cause
the same to be marked with such durable landmarks
as they should think necessary. The commissioners
were further empowered to assign
"one name to any street which in the whole or in parts may have
acquired different names, and when two or more streets may be known
by the same name, to alter and change them ; and the names so given
of all the other streets shall be written on the plots thereof, to be re-
turned to the said commissioners, by which name they shall thereafter
be called and known."

The commissioners were, moreover, authorized to em-
ploy a surveyor or surveyors to ascertain and mark
out the limits of the city, and accordingly employed
Thomas H. Poppleton, whose map of Baltimore, laid
out in conformity with the metes and bounds already
given, is still the recognized and only authority of its
kind on this subject.

On March 9, 1850, the General Assembly passed an
act to provide " for taking the sense of the people of
Baltimore County on the propriety of separating said
county from the city of Baltimore." The preamble
of the act recited that it had been represented that
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the " interest and convenience of the people of Balti-
more County would be greatly promoted, and the
administration of justice in said county be rendered
more speedy and efficient, if the said county were
separated from the city of Baltimore," and enacted
that an election should be held on the second Wednes-
day in the following May, at which the matter should
be submitted to the qualified voters of the several
election districts. By the provisions of the act three
persons were to be elected from each district, who
were to meet on the first Monday in June at some
central place in the county, and then determine and
fix upon a suitable site for the erection of the public
buildings; and the commissioners were directed, in
making their decision, which was to be final, to take
into consideration the " general interest of the people
of the county, and the facilities of access and depar-
ture" from the site so selected. The commissioners of
Baltimore County were authorized to sell, exchange,
or dispose of all or any part or parts of the county's
proportion of the joint property of the county and
city, except the court-house and record office; and
the Mayor and City Council of Baltimore were em-
powered to treat with and purchase the county's in-
terest in the joint property. No option was left with
regard to the sale of the court-house, as it had been
expressly provided by the act of 1834, ch. 151, that if
a separation should take place at any time between
the city and county " the whole estate in the present
court-house shall be vested in the city of Baltimore,
upon the payment to Baltimore County of one-half
of the value thereof."

In pursuance of this act an election was held at
the time designated, and on the 3d of June, 1850, the
commissioners chosen from the several districts met
in Baltimore, and organized by the selection of James
L. Kidgely as chairman, and William E. Cole as sec-
retary. The entire day, however, was consumed in
the discussion of the various propositions submitted,
none of which received the approval of a majority of
the convention, which finally adjourned until the
second Monday in August, with the understanding
that they would then definitely settle the matter
without further postponement. The convention ac-
cordingly reassembled on the 12th of August, but the
opponents of the separation act were found to be too
strong for its friends, and finally succeeded in "kill-
ing" it by effecting an adjournment until March,
1852. Eighteen of the commissioners were in favor
of locating the county-seat somewhere, and eighteen
were opposed to locating at all; but the latter voted
solidly, while the former probably could not agree
among themselves. The Baltimore County Advocate
of August 17th, commenting upon the unsatisfactory
action of the commissioners, expressed the opinion
that the great body of the people of the county were
in favor of separation, adding, "when another bill is
formed for this object, let it be left to the vote of the
people, and let there be some different provision for

locating the public buildings. There is where the
difficulty lies now."

In the mean time a constitutional convention as-
sembled at Annapolis, on the 4th of November, 1850,
and adopted a new constitution, which went into
effect on the 4th of July, 1851. By the fourth sec-
tion of the fourth article of the new constitution
the State was divided into four judicial districts,

| Alleghany, Washington, Frederick, Carroll, Balti-
| more, and Harford Counties to compose the first, and

Baltimore City the third. By the eighth section of
the same article the State was also divided into eight
judicial circuits, Baltimore City making the fifth, and
Baltimore, Harford, and Cecil Counties the sixth.
" The Court of Common Pleas," the " Superior Court,"
and "Criminal Court" were also established in Bal-
timore City. The judicial functions of the city and
county being now completely separated, as the politi-
cal relations had been by the incorporation of the
city in 1796, the Legislature at its next session in
1852 passed the necessary laws for carrying out the
provisions of the new constitution. On the 27th of
February it passed two laws, one to authorize the
officers of Baltimore County to " keep their respective
offices within the limits of the city of Baltimore until
provision shall be made by law for the location of a
county-seat within the said county, and the erection
of a court-house and all other appropriate buildings
for the convenient administration of justice in said
county," and the other " to authorize the courts for
Baltimore County to hold their sittings within the
limits of the city of Baltimore." On the 9th of March

j the Legislature also passed an act repealing the legis-
I lation of 1850, which had placed the authority to
! locate the county-seat in the hands of commissioners,

and on May 31st it passed an act providing for the
valuation and severance of the ownership of property
held jointly by the city and county, and directing the
appointment of three discreet persons from each to
make the necessary assessment and division. The
commissioners appointed for this purpose on the part
of the city were Messrs. Fielding Lucas, Jr., Chris-
tian Keener, and Nathan F. Dushane; and those on
the part of the county were Messrs. Thomas B.
Cockey, Joshua Hutchins, and Joab Bernard. These
gentlemen qualified for the performance of their
duties early in September, and were already far ad-
vanced in their work when the Legislature, on May
30, 1853, passed an act providing for the location of a
county-seat for Baltimore County. By this act the
judges of election were directed to open polls on the
third Wednesday of November following, " at which
the qualified voters of the said county may vote by
written or printed ballots, designating thereon the place
for locating the county-seat of justice." It was pro-
vided that if no place should receive a majority of the
whole number of votes cast at the first balloting, a
second election should be held, at which the voters
should be confined to the three places having the
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highest number of votes at the first election; and if no
one of the three places voted for at the second elec-
tion should have a majority of all the votes cast, then
a third election should be held, at which the voters
should be confined in their choice to the two places
having the highest number of votes at the second
election.

Before any election had been held under this act, a
convention of delegates, appointed by the citizens of
Baltimore County for the purpose of recommending
a site for the county town, met at the court-house in
Baltimore. A committee, previously appointed, re-
ported that after visiting a number of places and
making the necessary examinations they had con-
cluded to recommend with some qualification, and by
a vote of five to three, the place known as the Rem-
ington estate, situated on the west of the old cattle-
show grounds on Charles Street Avenue, and between
the York and Falls turnpikes. After several hours
spent in exciting debate, the convention proceeded to
ballot for the place, and after several ballots the Alms-
house property at Calverton was selected by a vote of
fourteen to twelve for the Remington estate. The
matter had still, however, to be submitted to the pop-
ular tribunal, and when the election was held on the
third Wednesday of November (1853), Clover Hill
received 784 votes; the Almshouse, 776; Towsontown,
582; Cockeysville, 317; Geographical Centre, 266;
Huntington, 221; Remington, 158; Spring Hill, 104;
and Homestead, 70. None of these places having
received a majority of all the votes cast, a second elec-
tion was held on Wednesday, Jan. 3, 1854, in which
the Almshouse, Towsontown, and Clover Hill were
the places voted for. At this election Towsontown
received a considerable plurality, and the contest was
narrowed down to that place and the Almshouse.
Finally, on the 13th of February, the question was
again submitted to the voters, and Towsontown was
selected as the county-seat. The result was celebrated
in the new county-seat with much enthusiasm and
with a grand illumination, the old frame tavern be-
longing to H. B. Chew, on the top of Sater Hill, being
set on fire the more fittingly to honor the important
occasion. Efforts have since been made from time to
time to remove the county-seat from Towsontown, but
always without success.

In April, 1874, the Legislature passed an act " to
extend the limits of Baltimore City by including and
annexing a part or portion of Baltimore County in
and to the said city, and to provide for taking a vote
of the people residing in said part or portion to be so
annexed for or against such annexation." This act
proposed to extend the city limits two miles north-
ward, and one mile to the east and west. As an in-
ducement to the people of this district (commonly
known as the "Belt") to vote for annexation, it was
provided that all property situated in the territory to
be annexed should be assessed at one-half its cost
value for the period of ten years after the passage of

the act. After a warm and exciting canvass the ques-
tion was submitted to the people of the " Belt" on
the 5th of May, and annexation was defeated by a
vote of 1115 against it to 574 in its favor, being a
majority of 541 against annexation. The following is
the official vote by precincts:

For. Against.
1st Precinct, 1st District 116 81
1st " 3d " 72 173
1st " 9th " 126 186
2d " 9th " 196 248
1st " 12th " 37 235
3d " 12th " 14 111
3d " 13th " 13 81

CHAPTER VII.

PENNSYLVANIA BORDER TROUBLES,

THE dispute with regard to the boundary line be-
tween Maryland and Pennsylvania was the occasion
not only of much bitter feeling, but of actual col-
lisions and conflicts between those living near or
occupying debatable ground.1

The original area of Baltimore County embraced a
portion of this disputed region, and in the troubles
which arose from the antagonistic claims of the two
provinces many of its principal citizens were in-
volved. As early as December, 1732, Lord Baltimore,
who had come to Maryland to settle the disputes,
wrote to Governor Patrick Gordon of Pennsylvania,
calling his attention to the fact that "a most out-
rageous riot had lately been committed in Maryland
by a great number of people calling themselves Penn-
sylvanians." John Lowe, of Baltimore County, his
wife and family were the victims of this border raid,
which seems to have been entirely without justifica-
tion or excuse, as far as Lowe, at least, was concerned.
The dwellers on the Maryland side of the border, as
may be supposed, were not slow in retaliating, and in
May, 1734, John Hendricks and Joshua Minshall,
from their settlements on the Susquehanna, and two
others from the borders of New Castle County, were
carried off by the Maryland authorities and confined
in the Annapolis jail. These troubles, however, would
seem really to have begun with Penn's first settle-
ment in the province, for we learn from the Pennsyl-
vania records that at a council held at Philadelphia
in 1684 a letter from one Samuel Lands was read,
" concerning Col. George Tallbot's goeing with three
Musqueters to y" houses of William Ogle, Jonas Er-
skin, and Andreis Tille, and tould them if they would
not forthwith yield Obedience to y" Lord Baltimore,
and Own him to be their Propor, and pay rent to
him, he would Turne them out of their houses and
take their Land from them." And from the same
source we learn that in 1686 "ye Marylanders have
lately reinforced their fort at Christina, and would

1 See a fall review of the boundary troubles in the writer's " History
of Maryland," i., pp. 230,^395, etc.
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not suffer John White to cut hay, but thrittend those
he imployed to do it with their gunns presented
against them, and that what hay they had cut ye

Marylanders sayd they would throw it into ye river."
Moreover, it appears that about this same time one
Maj. English " came into ye county of New Castle
with about fourty armed horsemen; left them at John
Darby's whilst Maj. English and a Mary Land Capt.
came to New Castle, where John White meeting him,
made complaint to him of the abuses don him by ye

Mary Landers at y* fort. Maj. English tould him
that if thou wilt say ' you drunken dogg, Ned Eng-
lish, lett me cutt hay,' I will give you leave."

Inroads and exasperations of this character con-
tinued on both sides for a long period, and appear
not to have ceased even after the king himself had
commanded the peace. In 1717 we hear complaints
of "certain persons from Maryland who had lately
surveyed out lands not far from Conestoga, and near
the thickest of our settlements, to the great disturb-
ance of the inhabitants there;" and in 1722 " the se-
cret and underhand practices of persons" from Mary-
land are referred to with virtuous indignation in the
minutes of the Pennsylvania Councils,—" these secret
and underhand practices" consisting apparently in
an attempt to survey and take up lands on the west
side of the Susquehanna. In this same year Gover-
nor Keith sent a letter to the Governor of Maryland,
in which he refers to a report that " two magistrates
of Pennsylvania, with some others, had been taken
prisoners by a party of men in arms from Cecil
County, and carried before the justices of Kent
County, who detained them in custody two days, and
afterwards dismissed them upon a verbal promise to
appear there next court."

In 1735, William Eumsey, a surveyor of Maryland,
was apprehended by the sheriff of New Castle County
and taken before the Governor of Pennsylvania,
charged with committing and causing others to com-
mit great abuse and violence against several inhabit-
ants of Chester and Lancaster Counties, for no other
reason " than that those persons asserted the juris-
diction of this province (Pennsylvania) in those parts
where they live." In 1736, Governor Ogle directed
Thomas White, deputy surveyor, to lay out two hun-
dred acres of land in the disputed territory of Balti-
more County, and lying on the west side of the Sus-
quehanna, for each of the following persons: Henry
Munday, Edward Leet, Charl. Higginbotham, James
Kaine, John Smith, Hugh Kaine, James Nickleson,
Robert Trotter, Eobert Rowland, William Miles,
William Greenlee, Stephen White, John Cross, John
Kaine, Sr., John Kaine, Edward Ryly, Patrick Sav-
age, Arthur Browlee, James Love, Anthony Dixson,
Benjamin Dixson, John Morrow, Thomas King,
Ralph Higginbotham, John McNabb, James McGee,
Barnibe Clarke, Thomas Moore, Richard Ryan,
George Bond, Thomas Linass, William Linass, John
Linass, John Coats, Robert Jesson, George Moore,

Robert Moore, Gibbons Jennings, Thomas Scarlet,
William Carpenter, Richard Pope, Thomas Charlton,
John Charlton, Sr., Edward Charlton, John Charlton,
Thomas Charlton, Jr., Arthur Charlton, Henry
Charlton, Jr., Richard Sedgwick, William Betty,
William Betty, Jr., William Webb, Thomas Dawson,
and John Dawson. Henry Munday and Edward
Leet, however, were arrested by the Pennsylvania
authorities, and this design to occupy the debatable
land fell through. Among those who suffered in these
border frays was Elisha Gatchel, a member of the
Society of Friends, and a justice of the peace for the
county of Chester, who was carried off by a party of
Marylanders under Capt. Charlton, taken across the
line, and made to give bail to answer the charge of
speaking disrespectfully of Lord Baltimore. The
most striking incident of these border feuds was the
attack upon Thomas Cresap, then a citizen of Baltimore
County, which was made by a body of armed men
from Pennsylvania, who set fire to the house in which
he, together with his family and several neighbors, had
taken refuge, and attempted to murder them as they
made their escape from the flames. Cresap had formed,
with the knowledge of Governor Ogle, an association
of about fifty men for the purpose of driving out the
German settlers on the west side of the Susquehanna,
and in the prosecution of their design they killed one
Knowles Dant, who bad resisted them. Cresap was
then attacked, as related, made prisoner, and carried
to Philadelphia, where the streets and doors were
thronged with spectators to see the "Maryland
monster," who taunted the crowd by exclaiming, half
in earnest, half in derision, " Why, this is the finest
city in the province of Maryland!"

Before the formation of Cresap's association the
sheriff of Baltimore County, with the sanction of the
Maryland authorities, had marched with three hun-
dred men at his back to eject the German settlers
from their possessions, but was persuaded to relinquish
his design on a pledge from the Germans that they
would consult together and give an answer to Lord
Baltimore's requisition to acknowledge his authority.
The attack upon Cresap added fresh fuel to the bitter
feeling already prevailing, and Governor Ogle, after
in vain demanding the release of Cresap, "ordered
reprisals, and four German settlers were seized and
carried to Baltimore, and a band of the associates,
under one Higginbotham, proceeded forcibly to expel
the Germans. Again the Council ordered out the
sheriff of Lancaster and the power of his county,
with directions to dispose detachments in proper
positions to protect the people. When the sheriff en-
tered the field the invaders retired, but returned as
soon as his force was withdrawn. Captures were
made on both sides; the German settlers were
harassed perpetually, in many instances driven from
their farms, and in others deterred from every attempt
to plant or improve." In October, 1737, sixteen
Marylanders, under the leadership of Richard Low-
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der, broke into the jail at Lancaster and released
Lowder's brother and a number of others who had
been apprehended by the sheriff of Lancaster County.

This fierce border warfare at length attained so
alarming a character that the Governor and both
Houses of Assembly of Maryland found it necessary
to make' a true representation to the king and the
proprietary "of the impious treatment which this
province in general, and more particularly your
Majesty's subjects residing on the northern borders
thereof, have of late suffered from the Government
and inhabitants of the Province of Pennsylvania."

From this address it appears that the German set-
tlers, of whom so much has been said, had in the first
place applied to the authorities of Maryland for per-
mission to settle on the land in dispute, that consider-
able quantities of land had been allotted to them (in
what is now York County, Pennsylvania), and that
for a time they had paid taxes to the government of
Maryland, and in every other way acknowledged its
jurisdiction. The address charged, however, that they
had been seduced from their allegiance by emissaries
from Pennsylvania, who had promised them lighter
taxes under that province, and that they had accord-
ingly refused to yield any further obedience to Mary-
land, under the pretence that their lands were within
the limits of Pennsylvania. It was to reduce these peo-
ple to submission and to maintain the proper authority
of Maryland that Cresap's association was formed,
and it was in the attempt to defend her territory from
encroachment that he was subjected to the violence
and imprisonment for which the Governor and As-
sembly now sought redress. This address had the
effect of drawing from the king an order in council,
dated Aug. 18, 1737, in which the Governors of Mary-
land and Pennsylvania were commanded, on pain of
His Majesty's highest displeasure, to put a stop to the
tumults, riots, and outrageous disorders on the borders
of their respective provinces. The dangerous situa-
tion of affairs in the two provinces at this time and
the desire to conciliate the crown produced a ready
compliance with this order, and an agreement was
made in 1738 providing for the running of a pro-
visional line between the provinces which was not to
interfere with the actual possessions of the settlers,
but merely to suspend all grants of the disputed terri-
tory as defined by that line until the final adjustment
of the boundaries.

Col. Levin Gale and Samuel Chamberlaine, on the
part of Maryland, and Richard Peters and Lawrence
Snowden, on the part of Pennsylvania, were appointed
commissioners to run the line, and began operations
in the spring of 1739, when Col. Gale was called away
by sickness in his family, and Mr. Chamberlaine de-
clining to proceed in the absence of his colleague, the
Pennsylvania commissioners, by the order of Governor
Thomas, continued the work alone, and ran the line
westward of the Susquehanna " to the most western
of the Kittochtinny hills."

Though this provisional line put a stop to the bor-
der troubles, the boundary question remained a sub-
ject of contention until the 4th of July, 1760, wnen
it was finally determined by an agreement between
the Penns and Lord Baltimore. In 1763 the east-and-
west line between Maryland and Pennsylvania, known
as Mason and Dixon's line, from the names of the
surveyors, Charles Mason and Jeremiah Dixon, was
established. Mason and Dixon, whose services had
been secured by Lord Baltimore and Thomas and
Richard Penn in London, arrived in Philadelphia on
the 15th of November, 1763, and having settled upon
their " tangent-point, they proceeded to measure on
its meridian fifteen miles from the parallel of the
most northern part of Philadelphia, the north wall of
a house on Cedar Street, occupied by Thomas Plum-
stead and Joseph Huddle." They thus determined
what was to be the northeastern corner of Maryland,
and on the 17th of June, 1765, they had carried the
parallel of latitude to the Susquehanna, and having
run their lines two hundred and forty-four miles from
the Delaware River, and within thirty-six miles of the
whole distance to be run, they were prevented from
completing it by the Indians. Subsequently the line
was carried out to its destination by other surveyors.

C H A P T E R V I I I .

CAUSES OF T H E REVOLUTION.

The Sons of Liberty—Opposition to the Stamp Act—The Non-Importa-
tion Agreements.

AFTER the close of the French and Indian war in
1763, the British government, to relieve its financial
embarrassments, and to punish the colonies for the
reluctance and insubordination they had shown in
meeting its demands, resolved to tax them. Governor
Sharpe, of Maryland, in his devotion to the crown
and the proprietary, had at a very early period urged
upon Cecilius Calvert, secretary of the province, in
London, the necessity of Parliament " raising a fund
in the several provinces by a poll-tax," or by imports,
" or by a stamp duty." Accordingly, on the 22d of
March, 1765, the Stamp Act was passed, by which
all legal documents and newspapers were ordered to
be stamped, and agents were sent to the colonies
to sell the stamps to the people. In all the colonies
strong excitement prevailed. Public assemblies put
forth protestations the most eloquent, resolves the
most determined, in opposition, while the merchants
of the larger towns and cities, whose patriotism
preferred the public weal* to private emolument,
entered into engagements not to import goods from
England until the act should be repealed; from
one end of the continent to the other the love of civil
liberty strengthened the nerve and animated the
hearts of the colonists. The Assembly of Maryland
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was not in session, and was not convened until Sep-
tember, and consequently could enter no immediate
protest against the Stamp Act. But the people did
not wait for the action of the Assembly. Meetings
were held in nearly all the counties, at which resolu-
tions were passed denouncing the act as a gross viola-
tion of the liberties of the people, and promising

. to resist it by all lawful means. Mr. Zachariah
Hood, the stamp-distributor appointed for Mary-
land, was a native of the province, and this fact
served to increase the popular indignation and in-
tensify public feeling. He arrived at Annapolis late
in August, 1765, but before he received the stamps
the populace assembled, and on the 2d of September
tore down the house in which he was preparing to
store them. In Baltimore and elsewhere he was hung
in effigy, and becoming alarmed for his safety he fled
to New York, where a few weeks later, on November
28th, the Sons of Liberty forced him to resign his
obnoxious oflice. After this Hood returned to An-
napolis, and carried on his ordinary business without
molestation. He was afterwards rewarded by the
British government with a commissionership at
Turk's Island, and died at St. George's, Bermuda,
on May 4, 1789. In return for the discomfiture of
"the first and last stamp-distributor of Maryland,"
the Sons of Liberty of Baltimore, through Thomas
Chase, William Lux, Daniel Chamier, Eobert Alex-
ander, and Eobert Adair, sent a formal .letter of
thanks to the patriots of New York. On the 24th of
February, 1766, a large number of the most promi-
nent citizens of Baltimore assembled at the market-
house, and organized an association for the avowed
purpose of removing the cause of the partial suspen-
sion of public affairs by compelling the officers at
Annapolis to transact business without stamped
paper. They adjourned to meet at the seat of gov-
ernment on the 1st of March ensuing, and at the
same time invited the Sons of Liberty of the other
counties to be present and co-operate with them. In
the mean time they notified the public officers of their
coming, and advised them to be in readiness to receive
them. One of these very polite notifications is pre-
served in the Council records, and runs thus :

"Sir, the shutting up of the public offices, and thereby impeding
justice, being of the greatest consequence to the community, the Sons of
Liberty hare resolved to assemble at the city of Annapolis on Friday, the
28th inst., in order to obtain that justice which has been so long with-
held ; and of this you are to take notice, and be at home to receive them.
Hereof fail not at your . Your obedient servants,

" SONS or LIBERTY."

At the appointed time the Sons of Liberty of Balti-
more and Anne Arundel Counties were personally
present, and those of Kent by deputy. Upon their
organization, application by petition was made to the
chief justice of the Provincial Court, the secretary of
the province, the commissary-general, and the judges
of the land-office, requiring them, on pain of expul-
sion, to open their respective offices on the 31st of
March. The answers they received were not entirely

satisfactory, and the Sons of Liberty, after requesting
the attendance of the other organizations, adjourned
to meet at Annapolis on the day assigned for the
officers to proceed with their business. The day
arrived and the Sons of Liberty were at their post.
They repaired in a body to the Provincial Court to en-
force their petition. It was at first peremptorily re-
fused, but it was again earnestly insisted upon and
demanded " by the Sons of Liberty with united hearts
and voices," and yielding to the urgency of the de-
mand, after receiving a written indemnification, the
Provincial Court passed the following order, which
was at once acceded to by the public officers, con-
formably to the petition, and the detested Stamp Act
was in Maryland forever null and void: " It is by the
court here ordered that the clerk of this court from
henceforth issue all manner of process, file all plead-
ings, give copies, and transact all business whatsoever
in his office for which application shall be made to
him by any inhabitant-of this province as usual with-
out stamped paper." At last the British government
gave way, and to the great joy of the colonies repealed
the Stamp Act on March 18,1766.

In 1767 the British ministry determined to try an-
other mode of taxing the colonies, and on June 29,
1767, laid a duty (to take effect after November 20th)
on all tea, paints, glass, and paper imported into the
colonies, established a board of customs at Boston to
collect the revenues throughout America, and legal-
ized writs of assistance.
. The people took up the matter, and in April, 1768,

propositions were made by the Sons of Liberty in
the various colonies to revive the non-importation
associations, and letters to that effect were addressed
to the merchants of Baltimore and others. In accord-
ance with these suggestions, a general meeting of
Maryland merchants was held at Annapolis, June 20,
1769, " for the purpose of consulting on the most effec-
tual means of promoting frugality and lessening the
future importations of goods from Great Britain."
An agreement was signed by all the associators, in
which they bound themselves neither to import, buy,
nor sell any article of British production, except such
as were absolutely necessary, until the obnoxious law
should be repealed. Owing to the violations of the
non-importation agreement by Rhode Island, a meet-
ing of the inhabitants of Baltimore was,held on the
4th of June, 1770, to take into consideration this sub-
ject as well as the violation of the agreement by the
sloops "Industry" and "Speedwell," which had en-
tered the port of Baltimore on the 31st of May with
contraband cargoes. The meeting resolved not to
trade with the inhabitants of the colony of Rhode
Island, and the vessels were ordered to depart from
the province, which they did a few days afterwards.

On the 1st of August, 1768, Horatio Sharpe was su-
perseded by Sir Robert Edeu, Bart., the brother-in-
law of the proprietary, as Governor of Maryland. He
assumed office on the 5th of June, 1769, and on the 12th
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of April, 1770, the British ministry repealed all the
duties except that on tea. The partial repeal of this
act caused the merchants of New York, Philadelphia,
and Boston, to abandon the principles of the non-
importation association, and to recede from the agree-
ment which had been made. The abandonment of
these pledges by the New York merchants was at
first received with general indignation, and the New
Yorkers were denounced as enemies of their country ;
but the final defection of all the northern cities ren-
dered the effectual maintenance of the general system
impracticable, and the merchants of Baltimore, who
were the first to adopt the non-importation agreement
in the province, called a meeting on the 5th of Octo-

on the 25th of October to determine the matters in
question, and appointed Jonathan Hudson, John
McClure, John Merryman, and John Boyd as the
representatives of the Baltimore merchants. At the
appointed time the convention met, but the senti-
ments of a large majority of its members were found
to be decidedly unfavorable to the proposition to
recede from the non-importation resolves, and the
action of a portion of the Baltimore merchants was
denounced as " indecent and inconsistent;" and it
was resolved "that if the merchants and traders'of
Baltimore Town shall depart from the non-importation
agreement, we will not buy, take up, or receive any
goods whatever from such of them who shall by any

CHARLES CARROLL OF CARROLLTON.

ber, 1770, to determine upon the expediency of re-
scinding thje association, as far as it related to the
articles not taxed. No merchants on the continent
adhered more strictly to their engagement than the
merchants of Baltimore, so long as they thought they
could by any means bring about a repeal of the act
of Parliament complained of. But after New York,
Philadelphia, and Boston had repudiated the asso-
ciation, they came to the conclusion that their ad-
herence, without the support of the other colonies,
would not accomplish their designs, and they there-
fore wished to be released from an engagement
which bound them to useless self-sacrifice. The
meeting proposed a general convention at Annapolis

means break the association." As the policy of non-
importation was useless unless all concurred in it, the
Baltimore merchants may have braved the censures
of the country brethren and admitted British goods.
Tea, however, which was still taxed, was not received.
In another controversy which was agitating the pub-
lic mind at this time Baltimore took a prominent and
conspicuous part. The fees of the public officers
were regulated by an act of Assembly passed in 1763,
but it expired by limitation in October, 1770. The
Assembly at its last session had refused to renew the
law, but Governor Eden, on the 26th of November, at-
tempted to do so by proclamation. This act of Gov-
ernor Eden's was regarded as a measure of arbitrary
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prerogative, usurping the very right of taxation which
the colony had been so long defending against the ag-
gressions of Parliament. It aroused a strong opposition,
and public feeling was much excited. Public meet-
ings were held, and the proclamation was publicly
hung and buried in Baltimore, with all the accom-
paniments of scorn and contemptthat could be devised,
and the representatives of the county, Messrs. Charles
Eidgely, Thomas Cockey Deye, Aquila Hall, and
Walter Tolly, Jr., who were elected in May, 1773,
were instructed " to testify their thanks to the ' FIRST
CITIZEN' (Charles Carroll of Carrollton) for his
spirited, eloquent, and patriotic opposition to the
proclamation" in the controversy with 'Antilon'
(Daniel Dulany) during the campaign."

C H A P T E R IX.

THE WAR FOE INDEPENDENCE.

A General Congress proposed—Baltimore Aroused—Notes of Preparation
—The Second Burnt Offering to Liberty—Congress convenes in Balti-
more—A State Government organized.

As soon as it was announced in America that the
Tea Act was to be carried into effect it was generally
denounced as a scheme to establish the right of Parlia-
ment to tax the colonies and to give the East India
Company (who had accumulated a large quantity of
the tea, and who were very anxious to find a market
for it) a monopoly of their trade. This scheme aroused
great indignation in the colonies, and the people of
Boston having invoked the assistance of the other
colonies in a general effort to stop all importations
from Great Britain, Samuel Adams transmitted their
appeal to the people of Baltimore, addressed to
the care of William Lux, and immediately on its
reception, on the 23d of May, 1774, a meeting was
called at the court-house for the 25th, which duly
assembled, and after some deliberation appointed a
Committee of Correspondence, composed of Robert
Alexander, Robert Christie, Sr., Isaac Van Bibber,
Thomas Harrison, John Boyd, Samuel Purviance, Jr.,
Andrew Buchanan, William Buchanan, John Moale,
William Smith, William Lux, and John Smith. In
consequence of the great importance of the subject,
the Committee of Correspondence on the same day
forwarded the communications which they had re-
ceived from Boston to Annapolis and the South, and
on the 31st of May a second meeting of the people of
Baltimore was held, at which resolutions were passed
recommending that all trade with Great Britain and
the West Indies should cease. As the trade with the
West Indies was at that time the most profitable car-
ried on by Baltimore, this proposal shows how ready
her citizens were to sacrifice their private interests
for the general good. It was also recommended that
delegates from all the counties should meet at An-
napolis, and that all the colonies should send repre-

sentatives to a General Congress, to devise some plan
for the preservation of American liberty. The Balti-
more merchants further resolved to cut off all dealings
with all parties who would not come into the non-
importation plan, and in pursuance of their resolu-
tions deputed Capt. Charles Ridgely, Charles Ridgely,
son of John, Walter Tolly, Jr., Thomas Cockey Deye,
William Lux, Robert Alexander, Samuel Purviance,
Jr., John Moale, Andrew Buchanan, and George
Risteau to attend the general meeting to be held
at Annapolis, and appointed the same gentlemen,
together with John Smith, Thomas Harrison, William
Buchanan, Benjamin Nicholson, Thomas Sollers, Wil-
liam Smith, James Gittings, Richard Moale, Jonathan
Plowman, and William Spear, a Committee of Cor-
respondence.

The honor of first suggesting a general congress of
delegates from all the colonies is generally conceded
to Virginia, but an examination of the facts shows
that Baltimore is equally entitled to the claim. On
the 27th of May the members of the Virginia House
of Burgesses met by agreement, at Williamsburg,
and adopted a resolution recommending their Com-
mittee of Correspondence to communicate with the
several corresponding committees of the other colo-
nies upon the "expediency of appointing deputies
from the several colonies of British America to meet
in general congress annually at such place as may
be thought to be most convenient." Although this
resolution was adopted on the 27th of May, the letter
communicating it to the other colonies was not dated
until the 31st; and, as we have seen, on that day the
people of Baltimore, at their deferred meeting, adopted
a similar resolution; and in announcing it to the
other colonies, in a letter of June 4th, speak as if
they were the originators of this movement.1 Thus
it will be perceived that if there is any merit in being
among the first to suggest a great and leading meas-
ure, the recommendation of the people of Baltimore
on the subject of a general congress pre-eminently
entitles them to its claim; that Congress did assemble,
according to these suggestions, and from their delib-
erations resulted the declaration that the colonies
were free and independent States. In June and July
the people of Baltimore subscribed liberally for the
relief of Boston and Charlestown, Mass., and for-
warded several vessels loaded with provisions as a
free gift to the suffering poor.

On the 12th of November a meeting of the free-
holders and other inhabitants of Baltimore County
and Baltimore Town was held at the court-house, with
Andrew Buchanan in the chair, and Robert Alexan-
der, clerk, to select a committee for the purpose of
carrying into effect the non-intercourse resolutions of
Congress, and the following persons were chosen:

For Baltimore Town—Andrew Buchanan, Robert Alexander, William
Lux, John Moale, John Merryman, Richard Moale, Jeremiah Townley
Chase, Thomas Harrison, Archibald Buchanan, William Buchanan, Wil-

1 See the writer's " History of Maryland," ii., p. 147. Purviance, p. 22.
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liam Smith, James Calhoun, Benjamin Griffith, Gerald Hopkins, William
Spear, John Smith, Barnet Eichelberger, George Woolsey, Hercules
Courtenay, Isaac Griest, Mark Alexander, Samuel Purviance, Jr., Fran-
cis Sanderson, Jolin Boyd, George Lindenberger, Philip Rogers, David
McMachen, Mordecai Gist, John Deaver, and Isaac Vanbibber.

Patapsco Lower Hundreds—Capt. Charles Ridgely and Thomas Sollers.
Patapsco Upper—Zachariah McCubbin, Charles Ridgely, son of William,
and Thomas Lloyd. Back River Upper—Samuel Worthington, Benjamin
Nicholson, Thomas Cockey I>eye, John Cradock, Darby Lux, and "William
Randall. Back River Lower—J. Mercer and Job Garretson. Middle River
Upper—Nicholas Merryman and William Worthington. Middle Eioer
Lower—Henry Dorsey Gough and Walter Tolley, Sr. Soldier's Delight—
George Risteau, John Howard, Thomas Gist, Sr.. Thomas Worthiugton,
Nathan Cromwell, and Nicholas Jones. Middlesex—Thomas Johnson and
Mayberry Helmes. Delaware—John Welsh, Rezin Hammond, and John
Elder. North—Jeremiah Johnson and Elijah Dorsey. Pipe Creek—Rich-
ard Richards, Frederick Dicker, and Mordecai Hammond. Gunpowder
Upper—Walter Tolley, Jr., James Gittings,and Thomas Franklin. Mine
Run—Dixon Stansbury, Jr., and Josias Slade.

Although the proprietary government still existed,
in name at least, the control of affairs was really in
the hauds of the Provincial Convention. This body
called upon the people of Maryland to lay aside all
minor disputes and "unite in defense of the com-
mon rights and liberties;" and in December, 1774, it
began preparations for giving armed assistance to
Massachusetts if the attempt was made to subdue that
colony by force. All males from fifteen to sixty were
to be enrolled into companies, armed, equipped, and
drilled, ready for service. Ten thousand pounds were
to be raised by a levy on the counties to furnish the
militia with arms and ammunition. The amount of
Baltimore's subscription was fixed at nine hundred
and thirty-three pounds, which was next to the largest
in the province, that of Frederick County being put
at thirteen hundred and thirty-three pounds. The
Baltimore committee, to which was intrusted the
power of levying this amount, were solicitous that
their brethren of limited means should not be required
to contribute any portion of the levy, and in their
appeal to the citizens of Baltimore suggest that "care
ought to be taken to avoid laying any part of the
burthen upon the people of narrow circumstances,
hoping that those whom Providence has blessed with
better fortunes will, by their generosity, supply the
necessity of calling on those whose fortunes are con-
fined to the mere necessaries of life." The sum to be
raised was apportioned among the various districts as
follows:

£ 8. d.
Gunpowder Upper 79 17 6
North Hundred 51 17 6
Middlesex 33 7 6
Wyne Run 53 00 0
Back River Upper 112 00 0
Back River Lower 39 5 0
Patapsco Upper 50 10 0
Delaware Lower 63 00 0
Middle River Upper 43 10 0 930 00 0
Soldier's Delight 87 12 6

On April 29,1775, the Maryland Convention recom-
mended that six hundred pounds be raised in the
counties by subscription, and fifty-six pounds was the
proportion assigned to Baltimore County.

On the 3d of December, 1774, as we learn from a
letter of Mordecai Gist himself, the first military com-
pany in the province was organized for the Revolu-

£ s. d.
Middle River Lower 51 10 0
Patapsco Lower 50 2 6
Pipe Creek 84 5 0
Westminster 51 00 0
Baltimore Town West.... 72 7 6
Deptford 30 2 6
Baltimore Town East 26 12 6

MORDECAI GIST.

tion. It was formed in Baltimore Town, under the
name of the " Baltimore Independent Cadets/' and
the articles of organization were as follows:

"We, the Baltimore Independent Cadets, being impressed with the
sense of the unhappy situation of our suffering brethren in Boston,
through the alarming conduct of General Gage, and the oppressive un-
constitutional acts of parliament
to deprive us of liberty, and en-
force slavery upon his majesty's
loyal liege subjects of America in
general.

" For the better security of
our lives, liberties and'proper-
ties under such alarming circum-
stances, we think it highly ad-
visable and necessary, that we
form ourselves into a body or
company in order to acquire mili-
tary discipline; to act in defense
of our country agreeable to the
resolves of the Continental Con-
gress. And, first, as dutiful sub-
jects to King George the third,
onr Royal Sovereign, we ac-
knowledge all due allegiance, under whose banner we wish to support
the dignity of his crown, and the freedom and liberty of this constitu-
tion.

"Secondly, we resolve, after a company of sixty men have voluntarily
subscribed their names to this paper, that public notice thereof shall be
given and a meeting called to elect officers of said company, under whose
command we desire to be led and will strictly adhere to, by all the sacred
ties of honor, and the love and justice due to ourselves and country; and
in case of any emergency we will be ready to march to the assistance of
our sister colonies, at the discretion and direction of our commanding
officer so elected, and that in the space of forty-eight hours' notice from
said officer.

"Thirdly and lastly, we firmly resolve to procure at our own expense
a uniform suit of clothes, viz.: Coat turned up with buff and trimmed with
yellow metal or gold buttons, white stockings, and black cloth half boots;
likewise a good gun with cartouch pouch, a pair of pistols, belt and cut-
lass, with four pounds of powder and sixteen pounds of lead, which shall
be ready to equip ourselves with on the shortest notice; and if default
shall be found in either of us contrary to the true intent and meaning of
this engagement, we desire and submit ourselves to trial by court-mar-
tial whom we hereby fully authorize and impower to determine punish-
ments adequate to the crimes that may be committed, but not to extend
to corporal punishment. Given under our hands this third day of Decem-
ber, in the year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred and seventy-four.
A. McLure, James Clarke, Barnet Eichelberger, Richard Cary, Jr., Chris-
topher Hughes, W. Beard, Henry Sheaff, Matthew Scott, John Spear,
Mordecai Gist, John McLure, Samuel Smith, John Smith, Jr., J. Ken-
nedy, Hugh Young, Wm. Hammond, Wm. Stone, Abraham Risteau,
Moses Darley, Robert Buchanan, George Lux, N. Ruxton Moore, David
Plunkett, J. Riddle, Brian Philpot, Charles McConnell, Christopher
Johnston, Thomas Jones, Philip Graybell, Thomas Russell, David Hop-
kins, John Lahavan, A. McKim, Robert McKim, Alexander Donaldson,
Walter Roe, Wm. Sterett, G.McCall, Jonathan Hudson, Thomas Lans-
dale, James Govane, Wm. McCreery, Thomas Ewing, Robert Porttens,
Christopher Leon, Caleb Shields, David Evans, Simon Vashon, David
McMechen, George Peter Keeports, John Weatherburn, Matthew Pat-
ton, H. Waters, Wm. Yeaton, John Deitch, James Sowervell, J. Magoffin,
George Matthews, Robert Brown.1'

This company was organized by the election of
Mordecai Gist captain.1

!. Mordecai Gist, son of Capt. Thomas Gist and Susan Coekey, was born
in Baltimore Town in 1743. He was educated at St. Paul's parish school,
and at the breaking out of the Revolution was a merchant doing busi-
ness on Gay Street. His ancestors were early immigrants to Maryland,
and took an active part in the affairs of the province. Christopher Gist
was of English descent, and died in Baltimore County in 1691. His wife
was Edith Cromwell, who died in 1694. They had one child, Richard,
who was surveyor of the Western Shore, and was one of the commission-
ers in 1729 for laying off Baltimore Town, and was presiding magis-
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On Jan. 16, 1775, the inhabitants of Baltimore
Town " qualified to vote for representatives" met at
the court-house for the purpose of selecting delegates
to represent the county in the " provincial meeting
of deputies" to be held at Annapolis on April 24th,
and to carry out the resolutions of the last conven-
tion. Capt. Charles Ridgely, Thomas Cockey Deye,
Walter Tolley, Jr., Chas. Ridgely (son of John), Rob-
ert Alexander, Saml. Purviance, Benj. Nicholson,
Darby Lux, Jeremiah Townley Chase, George Ris-
teau, Thomas Harrison, John Moale, Andrew Bu-
chanan, Wm. Lux, and Saml. Worthington were
chosen delegates to the convention, and the following
persons were added to the Committee of Observation
appointed at the meeting in November:

Patapsco Lower Hundred—Charles Rogers, John Gorsuch, Wm. McCub-
bin, and Wm. Williamson. Patapsco Upper—Jas. Croxall, John Elliott,
and Edward Norwood. Bach River Uppei—John Cockey, Edward Tal-
bot, Joshua Stevenson, Edward Cockey, Ezekiel Towson. Middle River
Upper—Benj. Rogers, Robt. Cummings, Benj. Buck, Joshua Hall, Gist
Vaughan, and Benj. Merryman. Back River Lowei—Moses Galloway,
George Goldsmith Presbury, Abraham Britton, and Nicholas Britton.
Soldier's Delight—Thomas Cradock, Charles Walker, Saml. Owings, Jr.,
Christopher Randall, Jr., and Benj. Wells. Middlesex—Jacob Myers,
Richard Cromwell, and Thos. Rutter. Delaware—Christopher Owings,

trate in 1736. In 1705 he married Zipporah Murray. Christopher Gist,
one of his sons, because of his knowledge of the country on the Ohio
and his skill in dealing with the Indians, was chosen to accompany
Washington on his mission in 1753, and it was from his journal that all
subsequent historians derive their account of that expedition. Chris-
topher Gist, the sou of Richard, married Sarah Howard, the second
daughter of Joshua and Joanna O'Carroll Howard, and had four chil-
dren,—Nancy, who died unmarried, and Thomas, Nathaniel, and Rich-
ard. Christopher, with his sons Nathaniel and Richard, was with Brad-
dock on the fatal field of Monongahela, and for his services received a
grant of twelve thousand acres of land from the king of England. It is
said that Thomas was taken prisoner at Braddock's defeat, and lived
fifteen or sixteen years with the Indians in Canada. Richard married
and settled in South Carolina, and was killed at the battle of King's
Mountain. He has* descendants living in that State. Thomas, after his
release from captivity, lived with his father on the grant in Kentucky,
and became a man of note, presiding in the courts till bis death, about
1786. Gen. Nathaniel Gist married Judith Carey Bell, of Buckingham
County, Va., a grandniece of Archibald Carey, the mover of the Bill of
Rights in the Virginia House of Burgesses. Nathaniel was a colonel in
the Virginia line during the Revolution, and died early in the present
century at an old age. He left two sons, Henry Carey and Thomas
Cecil Gist. His eldest daughter, Sarah Howard, married the Hon. Jesse
Bledsoe, a United States Senator from Kentucky, and a distinguished
Jurist; his grandson, B. Gratz Brown, was the Democratic candidate for
Vice-President in 1872. The second daughter of Gen. Gist, Anne (Nancy),
married Col. Nathaniel Hart, a brother of Mrs. Henry Clay. The third
daughter married Dr. Boswell, of Lexington, Ky. The fourth daughter,
Eliza Violetta Howard Gist, married Francis P. Blair, and they were the
parents of Hon. Montgomery Blair, of Maryland, ex-Postmaster-General,
and Gen. Francis P. Blair, Jr. The fifth daughter married Benj. Gratz,
of Lexington, Ky.

Mordecai Gist was a member of the Baltimore non-importation com-
mittee in 1774, and besides being captain of the " Independent Cadets,"
in January, 1776, was made major of Smallwood's First Maryland Regi-
ment, and commanded it at the battle of Long Island, in August, 1776,
in the absence of its colonel and lieutenant-colonel, who were attend-
ing a court-martial in New York. In 1777 he was promoted to colonel,
and made brigadier-general, Jan. 9,1779. He was present at the sur-
render of Cornwallis at York town, and after the war settled near Charles-
ton, S. C. He married three times. His first wife was a Mrs. Carman,
of Baltimore County, who died shortly after marriage. His second wife
was Miss Sterrett, of Baltimore, who died in giving birth to a son. His
third wife was Mrs. Cattell, of South Carolina. She also bore him a son.
One of the boys was named Independent, the other States. Gen. Gist
died at Charleston, Aug. 2,1792.

Benj. Lawrence, and Nicholas Dorsey, Jr. North—Jno. Hall and Stephen
Gill, Jr. Pipe Creek—John Showers and Cfeo. Everhart. Gunpowder Up-
per—Samuel Young, Jesse Bassey, Thomas Gassaway Howard, James
Bosley, Wm. Cromwell, and Zaccheus Barrett Onion. Mine Run—Ed-
ward Stansbury, John Stevenson, Danl. Shaw, Wm. Slade, Jr., Jos. Sut-
ton, and Jno. Stewart. Baltimore Town—James Sterett, Charles Ridgely,
Wm. Goodwin, Dr. Charles Wiesenthal, and Thos. Ewing.

It was, moreover, resolved that subscriptions should
be opened in each Hundred, agreeably to the resolu-
tion of the Provincial Convention ; and after assert-
ing that forcible resistance to every illegal attempt
upon their liberty and property was not repugnant to
the oaths of allegiance, the meeting significantly au-
thorized William Goodwin, Richard Moale, William
Buchanan, and William Lux to purchase three thou-
sand pounds of powder and twelve thousand pounds
of lead for the use of Baltimore County. These war-
like preparations denoted something more than the
passive resistance of a non-importation association.
The hearts of the people were in the cause, and all
over the province men were arming and drilling to be
ready for the struggle. When the convention met in
April its proceedings were found to chime in with the
popular feeling. The news of the conflicts at Lexing-
ton and Concord, which reached Baltimore at 10
P.M. on the 27th of April, 1775, served still more to
influence the public mind, and so rapidly did the
martial ardor spread that by July there were seven
companies under arms in the town.

On the 26th of July the Maryland Convention
adopted the Articles of Association of the Freemen of
Maryland, which amounted to a practical declaration
of independence. To carry out their purposes, the
convention appointed a Council of Safety, which had
charge of all the military preparations and adminis-
tered the government; and the counties elected Com-
mittees of Observation, which saw that the orders of
the convention were enforced. The courts of justice
still performed their duties, and thus, with the courts,
the convention, and the committees, all the ma-
chinery of a regular government was provided.

The convention also authorized the enrollment of
forty companies of minute-men in the province, of
sixty-eight privates each. It assigned five companies
to Baltimore County, which were to compose one bat-
talion. All the other freemen of the province be-
tween sixteen and fifty years of age were to be en-
rolled in the militia. The convention also directed
the freeholders of Baltimore County to assemble at the
court-house on the 23d of September to elect a Com-
mittee of Observation, " who were to have full power
and authority to carry into execution the association
and resolves of the Continental Congress and Con-
ventions of this province." At the appointed time
the following persons were elected: John Moale, Jer-
emiah T. Chase, James Calhoun, Benjamin Nichol-
son, Andrew Buchanan, Thomas Sollers, John Crad-
ock, James Gittings, Robert Alexander, Samuel
Purviance, William Wilkinson, Charles Ridgely (son
of William), Walter Tolley, Jr., Darby Lux, John
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Cockey, William Smith, William Buchanan, William
Lux, John Boyd, John Smith, Zachariah McCubbin,
Jr., Capt. Charles Ridgely, Thomas Harrison, Benja-
min Griffith, William Randall, Thomas Gist, Sr.,
Stephen Cromwell, Isaac Griest, Thomas Cockey Deye,
Mordecai Gist, John Stevenson, Ezekiel Towson, Jer-
emiah Johnston, William Aisquith, John Howard,
George Risteau, and Abraham Britton. The follow-
ing gentlemen were elected at the same time delegates
to the Provincial Convention to serve for one year:
Robert Alexander, Benjamin Nicholson, John Moale,
Walter Tolley, Jr., Jeremiah Townley Chase.

On the 5th of May, 1775, Peyton Randolph, Ed-
mund Pendleton, George Washington, Benjamin
Harrison, and Richard Henry Lee, delegates from
"Virginia, and Richard Caswell and Joseph Hewes,
delegates from North Carolina, arrived in Baltimore
on their way to Philadelphia to attend the Continen-
tal Congress. They were met a short distance from
the town by three companies of militia, and escorted
to the Fountain Inn, which formerly stood on the
northeast corner of the present Light and German
Streets, where the companies saluted the delegates
with a triple discharge of musketry. On the follow-
ing day four companies of the town militia were
drawn up on the common, where they were reviewed
by Col. George Washington, accompanied by the
other delegates, who were pleased to express their
satisfaction in the appearance and behavior of the
officers and men. In the afternoon the delegates
were escorted by the reverend clergy and principal
gentlemen of the town, preceded by Capt. Gist's in-
dependent company, and the officers of the other
companies, to the new court-house, where an enter-
tainment was provided. Among other toasts, the
delegates were pleased to give the following: " May
the town of Baltimore flourish, and the noble spirits
of the inhabitants continue till ministerial tyranny be
at an end."

In July the ship " Totness," Capt. Warren, owned
by Mr. Gildart, of Liverpool, and bound to Baltimore
with a cargo of salt and other articles, ran aground
off West River. While lying there a rumor soon
spread on shore that she contained goods that were
contrary to the non-importation association, and a
number of the associators going on board advised the
crew to remove their own private property, after
which, on the 18th, they set her on fire and burnt her
to the water's edge. Mr. Eddis, in one of his letters
written at this time, says, " this is the second burnt-
offering to liberty within this province;" the burn-
ing of the " Peggy Stewart" at Annapolis, on the 19th
of October, 1774, being the first.

In the mean time active preparations were being
made for the coming storm. In December, 1775, the
Maryland Convention again assembled, and on the
18th ordered the Committee of Observation of Fred-
erick to send to William Lux, at Baltimore, three
thousand pounds of powder. On the 27th, Dr. Charles

F. Weisenthal, of Baltimore Town, was appointed
supervisor of the manufacture of saltpetre in that
county, and on December 28th a loan of one thousand
pounds was authorized for the erection of a powder-
house " within fourteen, and not less than six, miles
from Baltimore Town." On the 1st of January, 1776,
the convention resolved to raise at once a force of one
thousand four hundred and forty-four men, eight com-
panies of which were to be formed into a battalion,
and commanded by Col. William Smallwood, Lieut. -
Col. Francis Ware, First Maj. Thos. Price, and Second
Maj. Mordecai Gist. Major Gist was from Baltimore,
and at this time commanded the "Independent Ca-
dets." He was succeeded in the command of his
company by Samuel Smith, captain; James Camp-
bell, first lieutenant; Joseph Ford, second lieutenant;
and Brian Philpot, ensign. The convention also au-
thorized the raising of an independent company of
artillery at Baltimore Town, with the following offi-
cers : Capt. Nathaniel Smith, First Lieut. William
Woolsey, Second Lieut. Alexander Furnival, and
Third Lieut. George P. Keeports, and ordered that
three companies of the battalion should be stationed
there. The uniform of the soldiers and sailors was
hunting-shirts; that of the latter to be blue and the
former of other colors. At the same time the prov-
ince was divided into five districts, Anne Arundel,
Baltimore, and Harford Counties constituting the sec-
ond, under the command of Gen. Andrew Buchanan;
of Baltimore Town.

While thus actively preparing for the contest with
the British armies, Baltimore merchants were fitting
and sending out those formidable cruisers and pri-
vateers which preyed so seriously upon British com-
merce, and gave so important an impulse to the com-
mercial activity of the town. In March, 1776, Annapo-
lis and Baltimore were thrown into the greatest conster-
nation by the approach of the British sloop "Otter,"
accompanied by two tenders, and some prizes she had
taken on the way. Many persons, for fear of a bom-
bardment, hastily removed their effects to places of
safety. On hearing of this alarm the committee of
York, Pa., generously offered to raise a rifle company,
and send it to Baltimore at an hour's warning to aid
in the defense. From Harford County a battalion
under Col. N. Ramsey marched to the defense of the
town. In the harbor of Baltimore was lying the
Maryland ship " Defence," nearly completed, and
her commander, Capt. James Nicholson, made haste
to get her ready to attack the enemy. Capt. Samuel
Smith's company of Col. Smallwood's battalion offered
to serve as marines, and more volunteers presented
themselves than the ship could hold. The morning
was misty, and the British commander was taken by
surprise. The " Otter" and tenders made their escape,
but the prizes were recaptured. This scare hastened
the completion of the defenses of Baltimore which
had been ordered by the Provincial Convention. This
work was now proceeded with, and over two hundred
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and fifty colored men were employed in erecting a
boom between Whetstone Point and the Lazaretto,
and building batteries and mounting guns at these
points. Contracts were made with Daniel and James
Hughes, of Antietam, Washington Co., Md., George
Matthews, of Baltimore, and John Yoast, of George-
town, for the manufacture of cannon; while in the
mean time a number were borrowed from the Com-
mittee of Safety of Philadelphia. A chain was also
stretched across the mouth of the harbor, supported
by twenty-one sunken schooners. This obstruction,
however, was removed soon after. Beacons or signal
stations were also established on the shores of the Pa-
tapsco and the Chesapeake for communicating intel-
ligence of the approach of the enemy.

About this time a correspondence between Gov-
ernor Eden and Lord George Germaine of the British
ministry was intercepted, showing that the former
was co-operating with the enemy, and Gen. Charles
Lee, then at Williamsburg, Va., considered the matter
as of so much importance that he forwarded an urgent
request to Samuel Purviance, chairman of the Com-
mittee of Safety at Baltimore, to direct the immediate
arrest of the Governor. The convention not being in
session at the time, and Mr. Purviance believing that
the precaution was necessary and that he had the
power to make the arrest, instructed Capt. S. Smith,
on the 18th of April, 1776, to proceed to Annapolis,
seize the person and papers of Governor Eden, and
detain him until the will of Congress was known.
Capt. Smith and a sufficient guard proceeded to An-
napolis to arrest the Governor, but the Committee of
Safety at that point refused to allow him to execute
his orders, and the convention which assembled in
May censured Mr. Purviance in the severest terms for
overstepping his authority, although Congress had
expressed its approval of his course. Governor Eden,
however, was ordered to leave the province, which he
did on June 24, 1776, on board one of the British
ships.

The adoption of the Declaration of Independence
was nowhere received with livelier demonstrations of
joy than in Baltimore. On the 11th of July it was
printed in the Maryland Oazette, and on the 29th it
was proclaimed at the court-house in the presence of
the independent companies and militia, amid the
loudest applause, accompanied with salvos of artillery
and "universal acclamations for the prosperity of the
free United States." At night the town was illumin-
ated, and an effigy of the British king paraded through
the streets and burned in derision of his forfeited
authority.

Before the adoption of the declaration by Congress,
the Convention of Maryland, on the 25th of May,
elected the following field-officers for the militia of
Baltimore County:

' Gunpowder Battalion.—Walter Tolley, Jr., colonel, Darby Lux lieu-
tenant-colonel, JameB Gittings first major, Thomas Sollers second, and
Benjamin Rogers quartermaster. Soldier's Delight Battalion.—Thomas

Gist, Sr., colonel, Samuel Owings lieutenant-colonel, John 0. Cradock
first major, Isaac Hammond second, and Joseph Gist quartermaster.
Baltimore Town Battalion.—William Buchanan colonel, John Moale
lieutenant-colonel, Benjamin Nicholson first major, Thomas Jones
second, and James Calhoun quartermaster.1

The convention also proceeded at once to secure
the independence it had declared on the 3d of July
by strengthening the military force of the province
and placing it at the disposal of Congress. It pro-
posed to raise three thousand four hundred and five
men—the proportion authorized by Congress—to form
a flying camp, to serve until Dec. 1,1776, under Brig.-
Gen. Thomas Johnson, Jr. The force was to be
divided into four battalions of nine companies each,
of which four were to be furnished by Baltimore
County, officered as follows: First company, Zach-
ariah Maccubbin, captain; Thomas Yates, first lieu-
tenant; John Christie, second lieutenant; and Thos.
Lingan, ensign. Second company, John E. How-
ard, captain; Thomas Lansdale, first lieutenant; Wil-
liam Kiley, second lieutenant; and Robert Morrow,
ensign. Third company, John Stevenson, captain;
Edward Oldham, first lieutenant; James Ogleby,
second lieutenant; and Joseph Lewis, ensign. Fourth
company, James Young, captain; James Bond, first
lieutenant; John Smith, second lieutenant; and
James Tool, ensign. On July 6, 1776, by another
resolution the convention ordered four companies of
Germans to be raised, two in Baltimore County and
two in Frederick. On the same day, in obedience to
instructions from Congress, they ordered Col. Small-
wood to march with his regiment to Philadelphia and
place himself under its orders. In pursuance of these
instructions, Col. Smallwood on the 10th of July em-
barked at Annapolis six companies of his regiment
for the head of Elk River, and on the same day Maj.
Gist embarked three companies of the regiment at
Baltimore Town for the same place, from whence
they marched to Philadelphia. From thence they
moved to Elizabethtown, N. J., where they were at-
tached to the brigade of Brig.-Gen. Lord Stirling. In
August they participated in the battle of Long Island,
and under Gist saved the American army from de-
struction after a loss of over one-half of their com-
mand. The American prospect now looked gloomy.
Congress, fearing an attack upon Philadelphia, on the
12th of December adjourned to meet at Baltimore on
the 20th. On Friday, Dec. 20,1776, Congress met in a
spacious three-story and attic building which stood on
the southwest corner of Sharpe and Baltimore Streets.
The house was built by Jacob Fite, and was then
the farthest house west in the town, and one of the
largest, and in memory of the event with which it was

1 In May, 1775, there were eight companies of militia organized in
Baltimore County, and commanded respectively by Capts. James Gittings,
John Tully Young, Job Garretson, John Mercer, Josias Bowen, John
Standiford, William Cromwell, and James Bosley. In December of the
same year seven other companies were formed, commanded respectively
by Capts. Andrew Buchanan, Benjamin Nicholson, James Cox, Zach.
McCubbin, Thomas Butter, William Cromwell, and James Bosley.
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associated it was always afterwards called " Congress
Hall." The first proceeding of Congress in Baltimore
was the reception of the credentials of John Houston,
Lyman Hall, Button Gwinnett, George Walton, and
Nathan Brownson, the delegates from Georgia. On the
23d,'Rev. Patrick Allison, of the Preshyterian Church,
and Rev. William White, of the Episcopal Church,
were elected chaplains. At the same time Robert
Patton was appointed door-keeper, and James Long
messenger. Notwithstanding that there was a spirit of
hostility silently working among the members against

Gen. Washington,
in consequence of
the alarming state
of affairs, by a reso-
lution passed De-
cember 27th they
invested him with
dictatorial powers
for six months, au-
thorizing him to
raise and officer

sixteen additional battalions of infantry, three thous-
and light horse, three regiments of artillery, and a
corps of engineers, to form magazines, to displace or
appoint any officer under a brigadier-general, take
necessary supplies by force, arrest and confine dis-
affected persons, etc. On the same day Mr. Hillegas,

CONGRESS HALL.

printer of the bills of credit, or Continental notes, em-
ployed, with the approval of Congress, the following
superintendents of the press from Baltimore:

Thomas Harrison, William Smith, and John Merryman, Jr. William
Spear was added on Feb. 26,1777. The following persons were also ap-
pointed signers of money: William Aisquith, John Griffith, Hercules
Courtney, John Cockey, James Kelso, Richard Cromwell, James Cal-
houn, George Welsh, Theodore Bassell, Thomas Donellan, John Boyd,
Benjamin Levy, Samuel Hillegas, and William Govett. During the
session of Congress in Baltimore the following persons were added to the
signers of money: Benjamin Brannon, William Gibson, John Philpot,
Richard Johns, Robert Dorsey, Mark Alexander, John Dorsey, Edward
Gaither, William Young, George Patterson, Bichard Stringer, Samuel
Stringer Coale, Rinaldo Johnson, Saint George Peale, Joseph Gaither,
Zachariah Maccubbin, Dennis Griffith, James Franklin, John Barney,
Hans Creery, Clement Brook, William Hammond, James Walker, Ho-
ratio Johnson, John Taylor, Aquila Norris, Darby Lux, and Daniel Car-
roll.i

1 The prisoners from Philadelphia and North Carolina were placed under
the charge of Benjamin Griffith, and confined in the court-house and jail
and other buildings. On Sunday night, December 29th, a number of the
North Carolina prisoners escaped from the jail, but three of them, Alex-
ander and Daniel McCIeod and Murdock McCastle, were captured at
Broad Creek, in Sussex County, Va. During the winter the prisoners
were removed to Lancaster, Pa., Dumfries and Leesburg, Va., and
Frederick Town, Md. While Congress was sitting in Baltimore, Dr.
Mackenzie was in charge of the sick United States soldiers; Peter Gal-
loway rode express from Annapolis, Baltimore, and Frederick; Jonathan
Hudson was appointed paymaster of the town; Saint George Peale was
elected commissary of military stores in Maryland, and Gerard Hopkins,
son of Richard, was quartermaster in Baltimore; John Gibson was au-
ditor-general, and the Baltimore Committee of Observation were ordered
to remove all the powder belonging to the Continentals from the ware-
houses of the town " to a convenient house some distance therefrom," to
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On Feb. 17, 1777, Congress resolved to adjourn to
Philadelphia on the 25th, but on that day the resolu-
tion was suspended. On the 27th, however, it ad-
journed, and met in Philadelphia on the 4th of March.

The Proprietary government having been over-
thrown, it became necessary to form a permanent
government for the State. The convention having
no power to do this, ordered an election for delegates to
a new convention. Baltimore Town not yet having a
voice in the government except through her repre-
sentatives from the county, the convention directed
that two representatives be chosen from that town and
Annapolis "temporarily," the same "to be modified
or taken away on a material alteration of the circum-

more Town on the 5th. The judges chosen by the
convention for Baltimore County were Andrew Bu-
chanan, Thomas Gist, and James Gittings; for the
town, James Calhoun, John Merryman, and William
Aisquith. Then placing the government in the
hands of the Council of Safety, the convention dis-
solved on the 6th of July. On August 14th the dele-
gates elected to the new convention to form a consti-
tution and State government assembled at Annapolis
and elected Matthew Tilghman president. Baltimore
County was represented by Charles Ridgely, Thomas
Cockey Deye, John Stevenson, and Peter Sheppard;
Baltimore Town by John Smith and Jeremiah T.
Chase. Soon after the convention assembled the Dee-

GOVEBNOE THOMAS_JOHNSON.

stances of those places." The election for the county
was to take place on Aug. 1, 1776, and for Balti-

be placed under the care of Capt. Samuel Smith and a guard. William J
Lux, James Calhoun, and David Stewart were appointed appraisers of a
cargo of wool brought into Baltimore by a New York privateer. At the j
same time settlements were made with Capt. Levin Winder for convey- j
ing the North Carolina prisoners'to Baltimore; to George Lindenberger
for conveying Hessian officers and their servants, prisoners, from Balti-
more to Dumfries, Va.; to Capt. William Galbraith for hire of guard for
Carolina prisoners; to Thomas Rutter and men for guarding prisoners
to Leesburg, Va.; to William Lavely, innkeeper, for entertaining Hessian
officers aud servants in Baltimore; to Jacob Myers for entertaiuing Vir-
ginia light horse; to Henry Sheafe for guarding prisoners; to John
Griffith for entertaining North Carolina prisoners; to Daniel Grant for
entertaining guard over the treasury; to George Pressman for plastering
court-house by order i f Congress, and to John Griffith for supplies fur-
nished the hospital.

laration of Eights and Constitution and form of gov-
ernment were taken up and freely discussed from day
to day, both in and out of the convention, by the '
members, the people, and the press. After revision
and amendment, on the 3d of November the Bill of
Rights was adopted, and on the 8th the constitution,
having been discussed paragraph by paragraph, was
also agreed to. For introducing the new govern-
ment the constitution directed that an election should
be held for electors of the Senate on Nov. 25, 1776,
and that the electors should meet at Annapolis on the
9th of December following, and select fifteen persons
for the first Senate of Maryland. On the 18th of
December an election was to be held for members of
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the House of Delegates and sheriffs. The General
Assembly was to meet at Annapolis on Feb. 10, 1777,
and elect a Governor and Council for the residue of
the year. After appointing Thomas Gist, Sr., Edward
Cockey, and Henry Stevenson, Jr., judges of election
for Baltimore County, and John Merryman, Jr.,
Jamea Calhoun, and Benjamin Griffin for Baltimore
Town, the convention, on the 11th of November, ad-
journed. At the specified time the elections took
place, and Thomas Cockey Deye, Charles Ridgely,
John Stevenson, and Peter Sheppard were elected to
the House of Delegates from Baltimore County, and
Jeremiah Townley Chase and John Smith from Balti-
more Town. On the 5th of February the first As-
sembly of Maryland under the new constitution con-
vened at Annapolis, and organized the new govern-
ment on the 13th by the election of Thomas Johnson
as the first Governor of the State of Maryland. He
was inaugurated on the 21st of March, amid great
rejoicings and with much ceremony, closing with a
ball and other festivities. The new government being
now complete, the Council of Safety, on the 22d of
March, surrendered its powers, and the State was under
a regular constitutional republican government.

CHAPTER X.

PEACE AND INDEPENDENCE.

The Loyalists—Independent Company—Lafayette in Baltimore—Patri-
otic Action of the Merchants and Ladies—Cessation of Hostilities—
The Maryland Line.

BALTIMORE, in spite of her devotion to the Revo-
lutionary cause, had her share of loyalists, chief
among whom was Robert Alexander, who had been
one of the first to excite the people to resist the en-
croachments of the British crown. He was one of
the " Sons of Liberty" in 17-65, a member of the asso-
ciation for the non-importation of European goods in
1769, and his " sub-oratory in June, 1774, influenced
Baltimore County to adopt the resolves of Boston."
He represented the county in the several Provincial
Conventions from June, 1774, to June, 1776, and
during all this time was a warm supporter of the
popular cause. He served on nearly all the impor-
tant committees in the conventions and in Baltimore
Town; was secretary of the Baltimore Committee of
Observation in 1775, and a Western Shore member of
the Council of Safety. He was one of the " Associ-
ated Freemen of Maryland," and on the 9th of De-
cember, 1775, was appointed a deputy to the Conti-
nental Congress. On the 4th of July, 1776, he was
re-elected to Congress, but his name does not appear
among its proceedings at this time, and shortly after-
wards he fled from the State, and became a prominent
member of the " Associated Loyalists of America."
In June, 1778, he wrote to the Governor to be allowed
to return to his family and friends, which was refused,

and in 1780 he was outlawed for treason, and his
property confiscated. At various times judgment of
outlawry for treason was rendered in the General
Court at Annapolis against about a hundred leading
Tories, among whom were Patrick Kennedy, Daniel
Chamier, William Smith, Edward Carnes, James
Sommerville, Richard W. Parkin, John Lynch, Henry
Stevenson, John Christie, and James Hall, of Balti-
more County. Daniel Chamier had been sheriff of
the county; Dr. Henry Stevenson had built a splen-
did mansion, and laid out superb grounds and gar-
dens on the hills near the Falls in the rear of the
jail; James Sommerville had been a respectable
merchant of the town. In 1780 the General Assem-
bly passed an act "to seize, confiscate, and appropri-
ate all British property within this State." Owing
to the sales of many valuable pieces of property
under this law, the town was greatly improved.
Among the valuable property confiscated and sold
was twenty acres of meadow land along the line of
the west side of Jones' Falls, near Fayette, Lexington,
and Saratoga Streets, belonging to Edward Fottrell.
It was purchased by Benjamin Griffith, Philip Hall,
and Richard Lemmon for £2590. Eight acres of
meadow land about the same place belonging to
James Christie, Jr., was sold to Matthew Ridley for
£1020. The wharf and warehouse belonging to Eben-
ezer Mackie was sold to Gen. Gist and R. Long for
£3800. An undivided half of the wharf and ware-
house of James Christie was sold to Capt. Aquila
Johns for £2560. The house of William Russell was
sold to John McAllister for £2850. The two squares
of ground fronting on the east side of Charles Street,
from Baltimore to Lombard Street, with a depth run-
ning about midway between Charles and Light
Streets, were divided into thirteen lots and sold on
the 4th of April, 1781, to David Poe, Henry Wilson,
Capt. John Swan, Luther Martin, Dr. Fred. Ridgely,
John Snyder, Michael Diffenderfer. Lot No. 11, on
the town plat on the west side of Calvert Street be-
tween Fayette and Lexington Streets, was divided
into six lots and sold to John McLure and Gen. Gist
for £2120. Lot No. 38, on the south side of Pratt
Street between Charles and Light, was divided into
three parts and sold to Capt. John Dorsey for £1500.
The house of John Weatherburn was sold to Capt.
John Swan for £2765. During 1781 the property of
the " Principio Company" on Whetstone Point, con-
taining four hundred acres, was sold in lots to James
Hutchings, Samuel Chase, Capt. Samuel Smith, Mat-
thew Ridley, Thorogood Smith, John Browne, David
Poe, Nathan Griffith, William Patterson, Alexander
W. Davey, Thomas Yates, William Whetcroft, Capt.
Robert Henderson, James Toole, Jeremiah T. Chase,
Gen. Gist, Jonathan Hudson, Brittingham Dickinson,
Luther Martin, Charles Ridgely, Nathaniel Ramsey,
Robert Long, Samuel Hughes, A. McAllister, and
John H. Stone. The State also confiscated and sold
the following estates of the Principio Company in
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Baltimore County: " Buck's Eange," containing seven
hundred and fifty acres, sold to Job Garretson; " Car-
nass Scrutiny," three hundred and sixty acres, to
Mark Alexander; "Bouring's Landing," one hun-
dred acres, to Jeremiah T. Chase; " James' Park,"
one hundred and seventy-five acres, to James Hughes;
" Inlan's Oblong," one hundred and fifty acres, to J.
T. Chase; and "Inlan's Choice," one hundred and
fifty acres, to the same party.

In the early part of 1777 the loyalists in Somerset
and Worcester became so troublesome that it was
found necessary in February to dispatch Gen. Small-
wood, with Col. Gist and the Continental regular com-
panies of Capts. Deane and Goodman, and Capt. Ste-
rett's independent company of Baltimore merchants,
to repress them. This independent company of mer-
chants was composed of the representative men of
Baltimore, as will be seen by the following names
attached to its muster roll:

John Strieker, James A. Buchanan, Jas. H. McCoIIoch, Samuel Ste-
rett, Robert Rankin, James Calhoun, Jr., Win. Ferguson, George Wiley,
George N. Black ins ton, George Sears, Win.-T. Pencbty, Robert Mickle,
Archibald Buchanan, Thomas Earle, T. H. Bacher, Isaac Carston, Thos.
Calwell, Nicholas G. Eidgely, John Gordon, Robert Gilmor, Jr., John
Kennedy, Moses Moreau, Wm. Gilmor, Andrew Clopper, Francis Mc-
Keuna, Wm. Smith, Jr., Benj. Williams, Jos. Rice, John McClelland,
Jr., Solomon Robinson, Marcus Mcl'arland, Wm. Stenson, Thos. Mc-
Eldery, Jafi. Sloan, J. F. Kennedy, Wm. Slater, Hugh McCurdy, Jos. F.
Percival, Jos. Young, Jas. Angele, Archibald Moncreift, John Starck, Jr.,
John Anderson, J. Williams, Jr., Josiah Crosby, John Stump, Jas. Mc-
Colloch, Reuben Etting, John C. Wederstrandt, Edward Johnson, Lam-
bert Smith, Isaac Graybell, John McFadon, Thos. Drysdale, John Mc-
Kim, Jr., L. Croxall, Thos. Johnson, John Boss, Thos. Kelso, J. M.
Campbell, John Butter, Thos. Croxall, L. Everret, John Hillen, Josias
Clements, Standish Barry, Lawson Alexander, Joshua Kirby, Joshua
Merryman, Isaac Smith, James dimming, J. Russell, Jas. Purviance.
James Nicolls, John Leggett, Geo. Byerly, Thos. Bodley, J. S. Buchanan
Thos. Bailey, Jr., Alex. Coulter, Thos. Parkin, Jonathan Askew, Jos.
Spear, 0. H. Williams, Jr., Wm. B. Smith, Wm. Godwin, Jr., Jos. Swan
Henry Payson, Francis HoIIingsworth, Jos. Sterett, Wm. Cochrane,
Robert Moale, J. H. Purviance, J. Winchester, Robert Wilkinson, Thos.
McKenna, Geo. Harkius, Richard Doughaday.

The uniform of this company was as follows: "A
cocked hat and black cockade; black stock; a long
blue coat faced with scarlet and edged with white,
with white buttons and white lining; white vest and
breeches; white stockings, and half boots. The hair
to be dressed, platted, turned up behind, and secured
with a comb." The commissioned officers were armed
with "hangers and espontoons;" the non-commis-
sioned officers and privates were armed "with muskets
of bore sufficient for balls of the eighteenth part of a
pound, a good bayonet and belt, two spare flints, a
knapsack, canteen, and a pouch with a box therein to
contain not less than twenty-four cartridges, each to
contain a proper amount of powder and ball." The
non-commissioned officers to wear side-arms.

On the 20th of August, 1777, the British fleet, con-
sisting of upwards of two hundred and sixty sail,
passed Annapolis, entered the Patapsco, and made a
feint towards Baltimore, coming to anchor on the 21st
of August off Bodkin Point. On the following day it
weighed anchor and proceeded up the bay, and on the

6

25th anchored in Elk Eiver, six miles below Elkton,
Cecil Co. The militia of the State was at once called
out, and a force of twelve hundred and fifty men were
ordered to repair to Baltimore and Harford towns and
await the directions of Washington. On the 27th a
large body of the enemy entered the Gunpowder River,
and after landing and plundering the farms in the
neighborhood of Swann Creek took up their line of
march for Joppa. The eighth battalion of Harford
County militia soon assembled and threw up a small
fort, armed with four-pounders ; and the enemy find-
ing they could not capture the place without some
resistance abandoned the undertaking. Baltimore
and the neighboring counties were fortunately soon
relieved of the presence of the royal army, Philadel-
phia and not Baltimore being Gen. Howe's objective
point. About this period Baltimore lost several of
her most gallant sons in the army, among whom may
be mentioned Maj. James'Cox, who fell on the unfor-
tunate field of Germantown, " while nobly defending
his country's cause," being shot through the body
within twenty paces of the enemy's breastworks.
Not many months afterwards another of Baltimore's
brave representatives, Col. Nathaniel Ramsey, won
the highest distinction at the battle of Monmouth.
At the most important crisis of the day, when Lee's
retreat had nearly thrown the whole American army
into confusion, Washington asked for an officer to
check the advance of the enemy. Col. Ramsey at
once presented himself, and the commander-in-chief,
taking him by the hand, said, " If you can stop the
British ten minutes, till I form, you will save my
army!" Col. Ramsey answered, " I will stop them
or fall 1" He more than redeemed his promise, and
holding the enemy in check for half an hour, did not
retreat until the British troops and his own were
mingled together; when, borne back by the over-
whelming weight of the foe, he retired slowly in the
rear of his troops, sword in hand, and, disputing
every foot of the ground, fell at last, pierced with
many wounds, in the sight of both armies upon the
spot which he had so heroically defended. Happily
history can add that he recovered from his wounds,
and lived to enjoy the liberties which he had so nobly
labored to secure.

In the early part of 1778 Baltimore County was
again called on by the Legislature for a quota of
two hundred and eighty-one troops, and about the
same time Count Pulaski established his headquarters
in the town, and applied himself diligently to the
task of raising the independent corps afterwards
known as Pulaski's Legion.' In spite of the contem-
poraneous requisition of the Legislature, Pulaski's
success was even greater than he had. anticipated, and
by October he had raised a force of three hundred
men. They were organized into three companies of
horse and three of infantry, and on the 29th of July,
1778, he gave a public review of his independent
legion to the citizens and military authorities of
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Baltimore. It is said that while Pulaski was raising
his legion in Baltimore he visited Lafayette, who was
lying wounded in the care of the Moravians at Beth-
lehem, Pa. His presence, according to the tradition,

made a deep impression
upon the minds of the
inhabitants of that place,
and when it was known
that he was organizing
an independent legion in
Baltimore, the Moravian
sisters of Bethlehem pre-
pared a banner of crimson
silk, with designs beauti-
fully embroidered by their
own hands, and sent it to
Pulaski with their bless-
ing. This rather problem-

' atical incident has been
made the subject of a poem by Mr. Longfellow, who
has attempted to render the scene more effective by
the introduction of "cowls," "altars," and " censers,"
things that would have been mere abominations to
the simple brethren of Bethlehem. The banner is now
in the possession of the Maryland Historical Society.

On the 9th of May, 1779, a squadron under Sir
George Collier, consisting of transports and galleys,
with twenty-five hundred men, commanded by Gen.
Matthews, entered the Chesapeake, and taking pos-
session of Portsmouth ravaged and plundered the
adjacent country. The British being accustomed to
speak of Baltimore with some bitterness as a " nest
of pirates," their proximity to the town always pro-
duced more or less alarm, the people doubtless fearing
severe reprisals from an enemy to whose commerce
they had done so much damage. Their presence at
Portsmouth at this time excited the apprehension that
they might meditate an attack upon Baltimore, and
immediately upon the receipt of the intelligence that
the British were in the bay, the militia of the several
counties were ordered to hold themselves in readiness
to march to the defense of the town at a moment's
notice, while the public stores, merchandise, records,
and other valuable property were sent to places of
safety. The merchants of Baltimore organized as a
corps of light dragoons, and placed themselves under
the command of Gen. Andrew Buchanan; and Col.
Samuel Smith, the hero of " Fort Mifflin," being in
town, on the 18th of May tendered his services to the
Governor, which were accepted. On the 20th all the
militia of the State were ordered to Baltimore, and
the town placed in a complete state of defense. The
British, however, did not make an attack, but de-
parted for New York, satisfied with their marauding
achievements at Portsmouth and Norfolk. Gen.
Greene having been made quartermaster-general of
the army, on the 3d of September, 1779, appointed
Col. Henry Hollingsworth, of Cecil County, his
deputy for the Eastern Shore of Maryland, and on

the 7th James Calhoun, of Baltimore, as his deputy
for the Western Shore. These officers, together with
the " Continental agents," were licensed by the Gov-
ernor and Council " to purchase in the State for the
army, according to the act of Assembly for the more
effectual preventing, forestalling, and engrossing, and
for the purpose therein mentioned." On September
10th, Robert Buchanan was appointed Continental
agent for Baltimore, and on the 17th John Greer was
appointed assistant deputy quartermaster-general for
the lower part of Frederick and the upper part of
Baltimore County, and David Poe to the same office
for Baltimore.

In July, 1780, in response to an appeal from Wash-
ington for troops, the Legislature passed an act " to
encourage the raising of a volunteer troop of light-
horse in Baltimore Town, and each county of the
State." By this act any number of militia, not over
forty-five and not under fifteen years of age in Bal-
timore Town, were authorized to form themselves
into troops of light horse, provided each man fur-
nished his own horse, arms, and equipments. From
this time until the close of the war Baltimore seems
to have been almost continually called upon for sup-
plies of men, money, or provisions. But local patriot-
ism met these demands more than half way; and, to
supply the almost naked and famishing soldiers, vol-
untary associations were formed in Baltimore and
other parts of the State, and contributions of every
character made for the relief of the suffering armies.
While these contributions were still being made,
Gen. Greene, about the middle of November, passed
through Baltimore on his way to take command of
the southern army; and reported that it was in " so
defenseless a state" that " a twenty gun ship might
lay the town under contribution;" and in this de-
fenseless place, as if to invite the enemy, the State
had collected a magazine of shot and shell.

While Baltimore was left in this unprotected con-
dition, her sons were doing noble service in every
section of the country; and Gen. Greene, on his arri-
val in the South, found that the two Maryland regi-
ments which had fought so gallantly at Camden
comprised fully one-half of his available force. On
Feb. 22, 1781, Lafayette, under instructions from
Washington, set out for Virginia with a force of
twelve hundred men, for the purpose of checking the
ravages of the enemy in that State ; and as it was de-
sired that his movement should be made as rapidly
as possible, Timothy Pickering, quartermaster-gen-
eral, and Charles Stewart, commissary-general, ad-
dressed a communication to Samuel Purviance, of
Baltimore, asking that supplies for the troops might
be prepared in advance. In response to these letters,
Gen. Gist, David Poe, James Calhoun, and Capt.
Keeports, of Baltimore, with gentlemen in Annapolis
and elsewhere, were instructed by the Governor and
Council to seize all the salt and fresh meats in their
districts, and impress all the wagons, carriages, teams,
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drivers, vessels, etc., and send them to the head of the
Elk for the purpose of transporting the troops, can-
non, stores, and baggage to Virginia. On his arrival
at the head of the Elk, Lafayette received a letter
from Governor Thomas Sim Lee, dated the 3d of
March, in which he wrote: " We have ordered all
the vessels at Baltimore and in this port to be im-
pressed and sent to the head of the Elk to transport
the detachment under your command, and have di-
rected six hundred barrels of bread to be forwarded
in them." As the transports were slow in arriving,
Lafayette, at the suggestion of his aid-de-camp, Maj.
James McHenry, who was a citizen of Baltimore, de-
termined to appeal to the merchants of that town,
who were ever ready to respond to the demands of
patriotism, and at all times freely contributed of their
substance for the support of the common cause. On
the 6th of March, Maj. McHenry wrote to the mer-
chants of Baltimore for aid to transport Lafayette
and his army to the South, and immediately upon the

receipt of liis letter, a public
meeting was called by the
merchants, at which Eobert
Purviance, William Patter-
son, and Matthew Ridley
were appointed a committee
to co-operate with Maj. Mc-
Henry in procuring supplies
of money, clothing,- etc., for
the troops. At the same time
they transmitted a letter to
Maj. McHenry, promising to
spare no exertions to expe-
dite Lafayette's enterprise.
With the aid thus afforded,

Lafayette embarked his forces at the head of the Elk,
and, under the convoy of Commodore James Nichol-
son in the privateer "Nesbit," of Baltimore, and sev-
eral smaller privateers, crossed the Chesapeake, and
arrived safely in the harbor of Annapolis on the 13th
of March. Finding that the French fleet had not yet
arrived in the Chesapeake, he re-embarked his forces
and returned to the head of the Elk, where he arrived
on the 8th of April.

On the 26th of March, while Lafayette's force was
at Annapolis, Gen. Phillips arrived at Portsmouth
from New York with a reinforcement of two thousand
British troops. He was instructed to relieve Gen.
Arnold and take command; and in case Gen. Corn-
wallis should be successful in the Carolinas, he was
to move up the Chesapeake with a large force to Bal-
timore, and to take position near the Susquehanna on
the Eastern Shore, where it was expected a large
number of loyalists would join him. In view of this
threatened attack, the State concentrated all her
energies to resist the invaders. On the 5th of April,
the inhabitants of Baltimore assembled in town-
meeting at the court-house, and took into considera-
tion the security of the town. A committee composed
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of Isaac Griest, Kobert Henderson, Thomas Johnson,
James McHenry, Nathaniel Smith, Nicholas Rogers,
and William Smith were appointed, with full power
to devise and direct any plan for the security of the
town that the circumstances and ability of Baltimore
would permit. Governor Lee also wrote to Lafayette
on the 8th of April, requesting him to detach a por-
tion of his force for the defense of the town, and on
the 13th Lafayette crossed the Susquehanna, and on
the following day arrived in Baltimore. Immediately
upon his arrival, to conciliate his troops and supply
their wants, Lafayette determined again to apply to
the merchants of Baltimore for assistance. At this
time the credit of Congress was so low that nothing
could be obtained on its promises, and the army was
in want of almost everything necessary to its comfort.
The generous spirit of Lafayette triumphed over these
difficulties. Pledging his private fortune for the re-
payment, he borrowed ten thousand dollars from the
merchants with which to purchase shoes, linen,
spirits, and other articles of immediate necessity for
his detachment. He gave his simple obligation, and
among others the following merchants contributed
the amounts set opposite their names:

James Caltioun $272.52
James McHenry 110.76M
John Sterett 250.16>f
Charles Carroll 124.76
John Smith, Jr 351.10
William Smith 468.13
Alexander Donaldson 117.03J4
Stewart & Salmon 468.13
William Patterson ,.. 468.13
John McLure 468.13
Thomas Russell 210.60
Samuel Hughes 702.20%

On the 24th of May Congress passed a resolution
thanking the merchants of Baltimore for the gener-
ous assistance rendered Lafayette, and when shortly
afterwards he asked permission to return to France,
it directed the "superintendent of finance" to take
means for discharging his obligation. As Lafayette
gave "the march the air of a frolic," a ball was given
in his honor at the assembly-room, by the most prom-
inent citizens of the town. It is said that during
the evening one of the ladies, observing that Lafay-
ette appeared sad, inquired the cause. " I cannot
enjoy the gayety of the scene," he replied, "while so
many of the poor soldiers are in want of clothes."
" We will supply them," was the prompt and patriotic
response. The next morning the ball-room was turned
into a clothing manufactory. Fathers and husbands
furnished the materials; daughters and wives plied
the needle at their grateful task. Lafayette never
forgot the timely assistance obtained in Baltimore,
and on more than one occasion expressed his sense of
the deep obligation to the merchants and citizens of
the town. Indeed, but for this assistance, his expe-
dition must have come to a final halt in Baltimore,
and the whole enterprise have been brought to a lame
and impotent conclusion. About the 1st of June the
retreat of Lafayette towards Maryland again excited
apprehensions of invasion, and the utmost exertions

Richard Carson
Nathaniel Smith

Eidgely & Pringle
Stephen Stewart
William Neill
Daniel Bowley
Hugh Young
Samuel & K. Purviance..
Kussell & Hughes
Bussell & Gilman

$276.14
234.06U
93.56%

102.89
234.06%
379.18
411.87
234.06%
458.70
468.13
236.06%
117.03>|
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were made on all hands to meet the approaching
danger. Baltimore was placed in a complete state of
defense, arms and ammunition were distributed to all
the male inhabitants capable of performing military
duty, and a code of signals was adopted for assembling
the troops. Such was the alacrity of the people of
the State that two new regiments were formed in a
few days; a fine body of cavalry was also speedily
raised and mounted, among which was a troop of
" Baltimore Light Dragoons," composed of the most
substantial merchants of the town, and commanded
by Capt. Nicholas Ruxton Moore, who joined Lafay-
ette on the 6th of July; these last were no holiday
soldiers, for they marched with the remainder of the
force into Virginia, and were actively engaged in the I
campaign that followed. They returned to Baltimore j
early in August, the movements of the enemy render-
ing their longer stay unnecessary. Previous to their
departure they received the thanks of Gen. Lafayette
and Governor Nelson, as well as of Gen. Morgan
(under whose immediate command they were placed),
for their patriotic and spirited behavior. During the
latter part of July the movements of Cornwallis at
Portsmouth gave rise to the apprehension that an
attack was to be made upon Baltimore, and active
preparations for defense were at once set on foot.
The public stores were ordered to be removed from
the town, and the militia of the State were directed
to rendezvous in Annapolis and Baltimore. The
spirit which animated the people at this crisis was
intense. The militia in all portions of the State im-
mediately obeyed the summons, and in forty-eight
hours a force of two thousand eight hundred effective
men assembled in Baltimore.

On the 30th of August, 1781, in response to a re-
quest from Washington, who was marching south to
attack Cornwallis, the Governor and Council called
upon the various counties for supplies of clothing
and provisions for his army, directing that Baltimore
County should furnish four hundred head of cattle,
and empowering David Poe, quartermaster of Balti-
more, and others to impress all vessels, wagons, and
teams capable of transporting troops and military
stores. On the 4th of September the French cutter
" Serpent," of eighteen guns, under Capt. Arne de la
Laum, arrived in Baltimore with dispatches for Gen.
Washington, announcing the safe arrival in the
Chesapeake of Admiral de Grasse with twenty-eight
ships of the line. On the 8th Washington, accom-
panied by Adjt.-Gen. Hand and a number of officers,
crossed the Susquehanna and pushed forward to Bal-
timore. He was met outside of the town by a large
number of distinguished citizens on horseback, and
Capt. Nicholas R. Moore's troop of light dragoons,
and escorted to the Fountain Inn. His arrival was
honored with every mark of respect and esteem, and
in the evening the town was illuminated and a.ban-
quet given at Lindsey's coffee-house. A committee of
citizens, composed of William Smith, Samuel Pur-

viance, Jr., John Moale, John Dorsey, and James
Calhoun, presented him with an address of welcome,
to which Washington made a suitable reply. On the
11th of September a large body of French troops,
under the command of Count de Rochambeau, arrived
in Baltimore on their way to Annapolis, and encamped
in the neighborhood of Howard's Park. On the 16th
they renewed their march, and were followed through
Baltimore during the week by an immense train of
wagons, carts, etc., loaded with baggage, provisions,
and military stores. This was the last act of the
great military drama, as far as Baltimore was con-
cerned, for on Saturday, the 20th of October, the
joyful news reached Annapolis that Cornwallis had
surrendered. On the Monday following Baltimore
and Annapolis were illuminated, and the public re-
joicings which Annapolis commenced soon spread
throughout the colonies. On the 23d of March,
1783, the news that a general treaty of peace had
been signed reached Philadelphia, and on the 22d of
April, Governor Paca, in pursuance of the recom-
mendation of Congress, issued his proclamation de-
claring the cessation of arms by sea and land, and
enjoining obedience to the treaty, and appointing
Thursday, the 24th of April, as a day of public re-
joicing. On the 21st the joyful news of peace and
independence was celebrated in Baltimore with great
enthusiasm;.the town was brilliantly illuminated at
night, and, as may well be imagined, many patriotic
toasts were drank.

Count de Rochambeau and his troops arrived in
Baltimore, on their return from Yorktown, about the
close of July, 1782, and encamped in Howard's Park,
on the ground where the Cathedral now stands. On the
4th of August the French troops in the city, num-
bering about five thousand men, were reviewed by
Governor Lee, Count de Rochambeau, several distin-
guished strangers, and a large number of citizens.
On the 22d of August the greater part of the French
forces left the city, marching northward in five divi-
sions, accompanied by the cavalry and infantry of the
legion of the Duke de Lauzun, the regiments of Bour-
bonnois, Deux-Ponts, Saintonge, and Soissonnois. On
the 24th Count de Rochambeau departed for Phila-
delphia ; before doing so, however, he addressed a
letter to the citizens of Baltimore, in which he said,
" Your willingness to receive us in your houses, your
attentive politeness to us, have been a sufficient return
for the services which we have been so happy as to
render you." After the departure of the main army
there remained about five hundred French troops in
the town, under the command of Gen. La Valette;
these troops left the town soon afterwards with the
good wishes of all classes, and Gen. Valette declared
he would never forget the happy days he had passed
among the citizens of Baltimore, and begged that
they would " believe that their remembrance would
be forever dear to his memory." Gen. Greene, with
his secretary, Maj. Hayne, arrived in Baltimore on
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the night of the 25th of September, 1783, on his route
northward. He put up at Grant's Fountain Inn, and
would seem to have been pleased with his experience
in Baltimore, if we are to judge from the following
extract from his diary :

" Baltimore is a most thriving place. Trade flourishes, and the spirit
of building exceeds belief. Not less than three hundred houses are put
up in a year. Ground-rents are a little short of what they are in Lon-
don. The inhabitants are all men of business. Here I had the pleasure
of meeting two of my old officers, Gen. Williams and Col. Howard. The
pleasure of meeting is easier felt than described. The inhabitants de-
tained me four days to pay me the compliments of an address and a pub-
lic dinner. The affection of the inhabitants was pleasing, and the atten-
tion of the people flattering. Hyrne got wounded here with a spear, and
though it penetrated the heart he still survived."

Now that the war was over the remnants of the
Maryland regiments began to return to their native
State to be disbanded. Many of these veterans bore
honorable scars, still more returned with health
broken down by hardships and disease, and nearly all
were penniless and in rags. The Maryland Line, now
numbering about five hundred men, under the com-
mand of Brig.-Gen. Gist, embarked at Charleston, S.C.,
on transports, and arrived at Annapolis late in July,
1783. A portion soon after marched to Baltimore, ar-
riving there on the 27th. Before their departure for
home, Gen. Greene, in a letter to Governor Paca, thus
referred to the Maryland troops in the Southern army:
"I should be wanting in gratitude not to acknowl-
edge their singular merit and the importance of their
services. They have spilt their blood freely in the
service of their country, and have faced every danger
and difficulty without a murmur or complaint."

While Congress was sitting at Annapolis, on the
14th of January, 1784, it ratified the definite treaty
of peace, which had been concluded and signed at
Paris on the 3d of September; and on the 20th of
January, Governor Paca issued his proclamation an-
nouncing the same to the people of the State. The
flag of the United States was now acknowledged over
all the world, and the new Federal Republic had won
an undisputed place among the nations. To bring
about this glorious result no town in any of the States
had done more than Baltimore; in proportion to size
and populatibn, none had done so much. During the
war Maryland furnished to the Continental army over
fifteen thousand regularly enlisted men and between
four and five thousand militia, besides the various in-
dependent companies and marine and naval forces,
and the recruits furnished various organizations from
other States. From the spring of 1780 to the close
of the war the Maryland Line alone, of all the Ameri-
can troops, received not a shilling of pay, and suffered
from insufficient supplies of food and clothing; yet,
as Gen. Otho H. Williams wrote to Governor Lee,
" no distresses, no dangers, ever shook the firmness of
their spirits, nor induced them to swerve from their
duty." And whenever firmness and heroic courage
were needed, whether in fierce onset or stubborn re-
sistance, whether defeat was to be turned into vic-

tory, as at the Cowpens, or an army to be saved by
devoted self-sacrifice, as at Long Island, the com-
manders knew that they could always rely on the
Maryland Line.

C H A P T E R XL

THE DEVELOPMENT OF BALTIMORE.

The National Capital—Aggressions of Great Britain—Patriotic Resolves.

ALTHOUGH the protracted struggle with Great
Britain left Baltimore, in common with the rest of
the State, impoverished and exhausted, the war had
not been without its compensations, and by the op-
portunities it had afforded for the enterprise of
cruisers and privateers, had laid the foundation of
much of the future commercial greatness of the
town; and accordingly it was not long before Bal-
timore began to show signs of growth and prosperity,
and to attract capital and enterprise from many dif-
ferent quarters. These evidences of future great-
ness did not pass unobserved, and shortly after the
war many Tories and loyalists began to flock back
to the town with the intention of sharing its im-
proving fortunes. The citizens of Baltimore, how-
ever, had no idea of permitting their bitterest foes
in the struggle for independence to participate in the
blessings which had been so hardly won, and accord-
ingly, on the 21st of June, 1783, they assembled in
town-meeting at the court-house and adopted a series
of resolutions, in which they called upon their repre-
sentatives in the Legislature to procure the passage
of a law "prohibiting all persons whatsoever from
returning to and residing within this State as citizens
who have withdrawn themselves from the United
States of America since the 15th of April, 1775, and
have joined and abetted the armies or councils of the
King of Great Britain."

While thus sternly setting their faces against the
return of those who had proved traitors to their
country in her hour of trial, they gladly embraced
the opportunity of showing that they had not for-
gotten the friends who had come to their succor in
their time of need, and when, on the 26th of August,
1784, Lafayette paid a visit to Baltimore, he was re-
ceived with the most distinguished marks of love and
respect. A public dinner was given in his honor by
the merchants, and he was presented with a congratu-
latory address expressing in the strongest terms the
esteem and gratitude of the community. In reply to
this address, he said,—

" Tour affectionate welcome makes me feel doubly happy in thia visit,
and I heartily enjoy the flourishing situation in which I find the town
of Baltimore. Amidst the trying times which yon BO kindly mention,
permit me with a grateful heart to remember, not only your personal
exertions as a volunteer troop, your spirited preparations against a
threatening attack, but also a former period when, by your generous
support, an important part of the army under my command was for-
warded—that army to whose perseverance and bravery, not to any merit
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of mine, you are merely indebted. Attending to American concerns,
gentlemen, it is to me a piece of duty as well as a gratification to my
feelings. In the enfranchisement of your ports and their peculiar situ-
ation, it was pleasing to France to think a new convenience is thereby
offered to a commercial intercourse, which every recollection must render
pleasing, and which, from its own nature and mutual goodwill, cannot
fail to prove highly advantageous and extensive. Your friendly wishes
to me, gentlemen, are sinoerely returned, and I shall ever rejoice in every
public and private advantage that may attend the citizens of Baltimore."

Gen. Washington having been unanimously chosen
President of the United States, arrived in Baltimore
on his way to New York on the 17th of April, 1789,
accompanied by Charles Thompson and Col. Humph-
ries. He was met some miles from town by a large
body of citizens on horseback, and was greeted by the
ringing of bells and salvos of artillery. A committee
composed of James McHenry, Nicholas Eogers,
Joshua Barney, Paul Bentalou, John Bankson, Isaac
Griest, R. Smith, O. H. Williams, Thorogood Smith,
William Clemm, and John Swan presented him
with a complimentary address, and in the evening
he was entertained at a sumptuous banquet given at
the Fountain Inn, at which the leading citizens of
the town were present. The next morning he was in
his carriage at half-past five o'clock, and left town
surrounded by a body of citizens on horseback, and
amid the discharge of cannon. His escort accom-
panied him seven miles, when "alighting from his
carriage, he would not permit them to proceed any
further, but took leave, after thanking them in an
affectionate and obliging manner for their politeness."
Mrs. Washington with her two grandchildren, Eleanor
Parke and George Washington Parke Custis, arrived
in Baltimore on the 19th of May, on her way to join
her husband. She was met at Hammond's Ferry by
several of the citizens, and received with great demon-
strations of affection and respect. There was a dis-
play of fireworks in her honor, and she was serenaded
(as the ancient chronicles inform us) "by an excellent
band of music, conducted by gentlemen of the town.
We shall only add that, like her illustrious husband,
she was clothed in the manufacture of our country,
in which her native goodness and patriotism appeared
to the greatest advantage." It may be added that
at this period Gen. Washington passed through Balti-
more very frequently on his way to or from Phila-
delphia, and that the same patriotic demonstrations
always greeted his arrival in the town.

Congress being occupied in the consideration of a
suitable location for the national capita], Baltimore,
among other places, pressed its claim for the honor,
and as early as February, 1789, the merchants and
other citizens of the town commenced to raise a pro-
visional loan for the purpose of erecting the necessary
public buildings, as an inducement for the selection
of Baltimore as the permanent seat of government.
In May, 1790, when a bill was introduced in the
United States Senate "to determine the permanent
seat of Congress and the government of the United
States," it would seem that Baltimore and Conne-

cocheague, on the Potomac, "were about equally
balanced for some time in the number of supporters.
Mr. J. Smith set forth the advantages of Baltimore,
and the fact that its citizens had subscribed forty
thousand dollars for public buildings." The motion
to insert Baltimore instead of the Potomac was, how-
ever, negatived by a vote of thirty-seven to twenty-
three. The rapid growth of the " town of Baltimore"
and its increasing commerce " excelled at this time
the admiration of its citizens." The clearances from
its port from the 1st of January, 1788, to the 1st of
January, 1789, amounted to six hundred and fifteen
vessels, consisting of fifty-two ships, seven snows, one
hundred and twenty-six brigs, two hundred and sev-
enty-six schooners, and one hundred and fifty-four
sloops. Of these, twenty-four ships, twenty-nine
brigs, and twenty-eight large schooners and sloops
belonged to the port. A correspondent in the Mary-
land Gazette, in showing the advantages of Baltimore
for the permanent residence of Congress, says that it
has " as secure a harbor for shipping as the world can
afford; a capacious basin, capable of being made to
contain one thousand ships, without any risk from
winds, injury from freshets, or ice in the winter, or
worms in the summer;" and "Jones' Falls might, at
small expense, be conducted through every part of
the town;" fuel, coal, and lumber they had " for cen-
turies to come." Another correspondent proposes to
inclose the basin on the east by a wharf with a draw-
bridge running from West Falls Avenue across the
basin; on the west by Light Street; on the north by
Camden Street; and on the south by Lee Street,
within which space there would be, " along the town
and point, water sufficient to accommodate all the
ships belonging to the United States." Another cor-
respondent, who did not admire the appearance of the
town, said, "Should Congress ever settle in Balti-
more, what would foreign ambassadors think of their
taste, when they observed but few tolerable streets in
all the metropolis, and even those disgraced by such
a number of awkwardly-built, low, wooden cabins,
the rest of the town being divided by irregular, nar-
row lanes ?"

On the 9th of July, 1793, fifty-three vessels with
about one thousand white and five hundred colored
refugees from Cape Francois, who had fled from
the horrors of the St. Domingo insurrection, arrived
in Baltimore, and were received with that practical
sympathy and generosity which the town seems
always to have extended to the unfortunate. Many
of them were quartered in the houses of the citizens
until they could find permanent homes, and a com-
mittee composed of Robert Gilmor, George Presst-
man, Philip Rogers, Samuel Hollingsworth, Jere-
miah Yellott, James Carey, James McHenry, Robert
Smith, Zebulon Hollingsworth, Thomas McElderry,
Stephen Wilson, John O'Donnell, Adam Fonerden,
Thomas Coulson, Col. Daniel Smith, David Plunkett,
Samuel Sterett, Mr. Voucher, Mr. Cazanave, and Paul
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Bentalou were appointed to solicit subscriptions for
their relief, and in a very few days succeeded in rais-
ing twelve thousand dollars for the benefit of the des-
titute. Those more .fortunate who brought capital
with them entered into trade, in which a number
achieved eminent success; others introduced new arts
of cultivation, and plants both ornamental and escu-
lent, hitherto unknown in the neighborhood; and,
with succeeding arrivals from the southern and west-
ern parts of the island, contributed to increase the
wealth as well as the population of the town.

In the year 1794 some of the western counties of
Pennsylvania lifted the arm of defiance against the
government, in what is known as the " Whisky In-
surrection," and Gen. Samuel Smith, the hero of Fort
Mifflin in 1777, and at that time the able representa-
tive of Baltimore in Congress, was appointed to com-
mand the militia of Maryland. A requisition was
soon made for Baltimore troops by the Governor, in
consequence of a report that the insurgents had as-
sembled in considerable numbers near Cumberland,
and that their design was to seize the arms belonging
to the State deposited in an arsenal near Frederick.
The order came on Sunday while the people were at
their several places of worship, and Gen. Samuel
Smith, who was in the First Presbyterian church,
was called out by an express. When the service was
over the drums were beating to arms, and the troops
were ordered to assemble on the parade-ground near
Harford Run; the Governor's letter was read, and
several companies volunteered on the spot. Those
of the Fifth Regiment were ordered to parade at the
court-house on Monday morning at nine o'clock, and
to furnish themselves with knapsacks and blankets.
They paraded according to order, and took up the
line of march under the command of Col. Strieker,
the Twenty-seventh Regiment following on Tuesday
morning. Knapsacks of coarse linen were made on
the spur of the occasion (for the troops were not then
furnished with them), and marked with the members'
respective names in ink.1

1 Among the military organizations raised in the town during thiB
period were Capt. Mackenheimer's company of " First Baltimore Light
Infantry;" Capt. Strieker's "Independent Company;" Capt. Coulson's
" Mechanical Company;" the Baltimore " Sans Culottes," Capt. James A.
Buchanan; a rifle company, Capt. Jesson ; Maj. Lowry's " First Balti-
more Battalion;" a company of grenadiers, Capt. Hugh Thompson; a
company of light infantry, Capt. William Robb; a troop of horse, Capt.
John Bowen; and another by Capt. Nicholas Ruxton Moore. It may be
montioned in this connection, although somewhat out of chronological
order, that in the year 1798, on the prospect of a war with France, a
considerable revival took place among the volunteers; old companies were
filled up and new ones formed. A meeting of the " Sans Culottes" was
called, the name changed to the " Baltimore Independent Blues," and a
number of new members added. Capt. Buchanan having been promoted
in the interim, Lieut. Reuben Etting was chosen captain, Standish
Barry lieutenant, and Swallen Barry ensign. Shortly after a band was
formed in the company which made it very popular, and it continued to
increase until the attack on the " Chesapeake" in 1807, when another re-
vival took place, and it became necessary to form it into two companies.
Additional officers were elected, and the company provided themselves
with painted knapsacks, numbered and lettered.

On his retirement to private life in 1797, Washington again passed

The subject of a city charter, which had occupied
the minds of the people of Baltimore for nearly ten
years, was taken up by the Legislature in 1793, and an
act passed on the 28th of December for consideration;
but the inhabitants of the Point, the mechanics, car-
penters, and republican societies offered such strong
opposition that it was abandoned, and it was not
until the 31st day of December, 1796, that Baltimore
obtained the long-desired act of incorporation.

In consequence of the depredations committed by
the American privateers under the French flag against
British commerce in 1794, and the extraordinary pre-
tensions of the British government, fears of a war
were entertained, and great preparations were made
in Baltimore to meet it. In 1795 her citizens had
vigorously protested against Jay's treaty with Eng-
land, and in 1798, when the insults and aggressions
of the French Directory seemed to threaten imme-
diate war, her merchants had called a meeting at the
Exchange, and subscribed over forty thousand dollars
on the spot for the construction and equipment of
two sloops of war, to be offered to the government.2

Not content with these manifestations of their
spirit, the merchants of Baltimore drew up a me-
morial to Congress urging that body to adopt more
decided measures, and presenting in the strongest
light the wrongs and injuries to which our national
rights and commercial interests had been subjected.
In spite, however, of individual and national protests
the acts complained of continued, and no redress was
obtained.

On the 23d of June, 1807, the frigate "Chesa-
peake," which had been built in Baltimore, was fired
upon off the capes by part of a British squadron,
and some of her crew carried off under the pretense
that they were deserters. .This outrage created the
greatest excitement, and meetings were held in all
the principal cities of the country, at which the gen-
eral indignation was vehemently expressed. A meet-
ing was held in Baltimore on the 29th of June, with
Gen. Samuel Smith as chairman, and John Stephen
as secretary. Resolutions of the strongest character
were adopted, pledging the lives and fortunes of the
citizens of Baltimore to the support of the govern-
ment, and Alexander McKim, Thomas McElderry,
James H. McCulloch, James Calhoun, Samuel Sterett,
Robert Gilmor, Mark Pringle, and John Stephen
were appointed a Committee of Correspondence. In
the midst of the open discontent and treasonable ut-

through Baltimore, where he was met by a crowd of citizens on horse
and on foot, who thronged the road to greet him, and by a detachment
from Capt. Hollingsworth's troops, who escorted him through as great a
concourse of people as Baltimore had ever witnessed up to that time.
On alighting at the Fountain Inn the general was saluted with reiter-
ated and thundering huzzas from the spectators.

2 The committee appointed to solicit subscriptions for this purpose was
composed of Robert Oliver, David Stewart, George Sears, John Strieker,
and James Barry. The two sloops, which were afterwards named the
'" Maryland" and the " Chesapeake," were launched the following year.
The merchants also fitted out three armed privateers of twenty guns
each.



84 HISTOKY OF BALTIMORE CITY AND COUNTY, MARYLAND.

terances which followed the embargo act of 1807, and
the enforcing law of a year later in the Eastern
States, the citizens of Baltimore, on the 30th of Janu-
ary, 1808, assembled in town-meeting at the Centre
Market-House to express their confidence in "the
wisdom and integrity of the statesmen who now pre-
side at the national councils," and to show their
determination to support the government and to
resist, with every energy we possess, all attempts to
violate the majesty of the law." In a short time the
market was crowded to excess, and on motion of
Tobias E. Stansbury, Edward Johnson, mayor of the
city, was called to the chair, and Col. James A.
Buchanan made secretary. Upon the organization of
the meeting, the mayor appointed the following lead-
ing merchants of the city a committee to draft a set
of resolutions expressive of the views of the citizens
of Baltimore upon the momentous questions which
were then agitating the country: James Calhoun,
William Patterson, George Warner, Thomas McEl-
derry, Tobias E. Stansbury, John Donnell, James
Mosher, James Biays, William Wilson, John Hol-
lins, Thomas Dickson, George Stiles, Peter Levering,
Henry Payson, and John Strieker. And on the 21st
of May, 1812, when it had been shown that embargo
laws, protests, and repeated representations to the
British crown were all alike useless in protecting the
national honor from outrage and contumely, a Demo-
cratic convention of delegates from all the wards of
Baltimore assembled at the Fountain Inn, and after
selecting Joseph H. Nicholson as president, and John
Montgomery secretary, adopted resolutions calling
for war against England, and against France also, if
the latter should not afford redress for the wrongs in-
flicted. These resolutions were ordered to be signed
by the members of the general committee and trans-
mitted by the chairman to the President of the
United States. The resolutions were signed by the
following persons :

Joseph H. Nicholson, A. B. Levering, David Fulton, Charles Bohn,
William B. Barney, John Montgomery, Christopher HngheB, Jr., Ben-
jamin Berry, Nathan Levering, J. W. McCulloch, William Camp, J. S.
Hollins, Joseph Jamison, James Hutton, Peter Diflenderfer, S. Briscoe,
E. G. Woodyear, Hezekiah Piice, George Milleman, Hezekiah Miles,
'James Armstrong, Joseph Smith, Daniel Conn, John Kelso, James C.
Dew, J. A. Buchanan, Lemuel Taylor, Luke Tiernan, Wm. Wilson, J. L.
Donaldson, L. Hollingsworth, James Martin, James Wiison, G. J. Blown,
Richard Mackall, Edward Johnson, George Stiles, James Williams, Wil-
liam McDonald, William Pechin, James Biays, David Burke, Thorndike
Chase, Timothy Gardner, Thomas Sheppard, George Warner, N. F. Wil-
liams, J. H. McCulloch, Theodoric Bland, Christian Baum.

CHAPTER XII.
THE WAR OF 1812.

The Invasion of Canada—The Defenses of Baltimore—Battle of Bladens-
burg—Battle of North Point—The Star-Spangled Banner—Peace.

ON June 18, 1812, the United States declared war
against Great Britain. The declaration produced
great excitement. Baltimore, unlike Boston, which

at this juncture was for peace at any price, at once
girded up her loins and prepared for the conflict.
Maryland, through her Legislature, immediately
pledged " the lives and fortunes" of her citizens to
the public service, and made an appropriation for
raising the State's quota of six thousand militia. In
Baltimore the enthusiasm of the volunteers was such
that the recruiting oflicers were compelled to suspend
enlistments by companies and regiments and give
precedence to the old military organizations. The
war was thought just and necessary, and the public
enthusiasm could scarcely allow the expression of any
difference of opinion. This temper was illustrated
only too forcibly in the outburst of indignation
against the editors of the Federal Republican, which,
while without justification or excuse, was an extreme
manifestation of the intensity and depth of the war
spirit.

At the beginning of the war the government deter-
mined upon the invasion of Canada, and while the
regular troops were forwarded to the frontier, a por-
tion of the Maryland militia was called into service,
at the expense of the State, to garrison the forts at
Annapolis and Baltimore. In Baltimore the fortifica-
tions were manned by the city militia, and Capt. Col-
lins' and Lieut. Sterett's companies of Baltimore
militia were sent to Annapolis to garrison Fort Madi-
son. Within six weeks after the declaration of war,
Capt. Nathan Towson, of Baltimore County, organ-
ized a company of volunteer artillery in the city and
county, and marched northward to join the Second
Regiment of artillery, commanded by Col. Winrield
Scott. Another artillery company was formed about
the same time, composed of merchants of Baltimore,
and commanded by Capt. Joseph H. Nicholson, chief
justice of the Baltimore Court and one of the judges
of the Court of Appeals, with John Barney and Na-
thaniel F. Williams as lieutenants. The Fencibles
tendered their services to the general government as
a part of the garrison of Fort McHenry, and their
offer was soon after accepted. Several other volunteer
companies also tendered their services to the Presi-
dent, but owing to the unfortunate state of the Federal
finances their offer was not accepted until the State
could provide for their comfort. Nearly a regiment,
however, was sent forward to the frontiers of Canada
at this juncture from Baltimore, under the command
of Col. Wm. H. Winder,

" and the most ample funds," says NUes1 Register, " are provided from the
liberal purses of our citizens to supply them with every necessary to
their leaving home. About fifteen thousand dollars have been sub-
scribed for the purpose, and any reasonable sum may be obtained in ad-
dition if the service shall require it. Several gentlemen subscribed five
hundred dollars each.'*

On the 5th of October another company of volun-
teers, consisting of one hundred rank and file, under
the command of Stephen H. Moore, marched from
Baltimore to join Col. Winder.

" Perhaps no body of men," says Sir. Niles, " were ever better calcu-
lated and provided for the service expected of them. They were fitted
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out in the most substantial manner, by the munificent patriotism of the
people of Baltimore, with every necessary ; and were, besides, presented
with an elegant flag by the patriotic ladies of the Seventh Ward."

While the people of Baltimore were thus actively
engaged in strengthening the hands of the govern-
ment, her volunteer soldiery were doing gallant and
effective service in the north. As a military opera-
tion, however, the invasion of Canada in 1812 was a
failure, relieved somewhat by the gallant deeds of
Towson, Elliott, Covington, Winder, Moore, and other
brave Marylanders. On the sea we were more suc-
cessful, for we had proved by the close of the year
that we were more than a match for Britannia in both
skill and courage. To the Federal navy Baltimore
contributed largely, and within four months after the
declaration of war her wealthy merchants had sent to
sea forty-two privateers and letters-of-marque, carry-
ing about three hundred and thirty guns, and from
two thousand eight hundred to three thousand men.
These "skimmers of the seas" were the great thorns
in the side of the enemy, and harassed and annoyed
them in every quarter of the globe, and even at the
entrance of their own ports in old England itself.
They took and destroyed millions of property, and
were, beyond all doubt, chief instruments in bringing
about a permanent peace. By way of reprisal for the
immense damage inflicted upon her commerce, Eng-
land, in March, 1813, sent out a squadron of ten armed
vessels, under Admiral Cockburn, and declared all the
coast, except Massachusetts, New Hampshire, and
Ehode Island, to be in a state of blockade. The ad-
miral entered the Chesapeake and began a system of
devastation, plundering and destroying the villages
and plantations on both shores. The inhabitants de-
fended themselves as best they could, and applied to
the Federal government for help, but it was refused
them, although Marylanders were fighting in the
Canada campaign, and favors were being granted to
States which were clamorous for peace upon almost
any terms. The local authorities of Baltimore, how-
ever, were not idle, and on the 11th of March, 1813,
the Governor visited Baltimore and directed Gen.
Samuel Smith, of the volunteer militia, to "take the
earliest opportunity of making the necessary arrange-
ments of the militia for the defense of the port of
Baltimore." Maj. Beall, of the United States army,
and Capt. Gordon, of the navy, were directed to co-
operate with Gen. Smith, and Mr. James W. McCul-
loch was appointed acting deputy quartermaster-gen-
eral. Col. Wadsworth, of the United States ordnance
department, was placed in charge of the defenses,
and under his direction Fort McHenry was much
strengthened, and Fort Covington built. The guns
of the abandoned French frigate " L'Eole"1 were
borrowed from the consul and mounted, and to these
Gen. Smith afterwards attributed the preservation of

GEN. SA-MIIEL SMITH.

1 A French seventy-four, which came to Baltimore, Jan. 22,1806; being
nearly wrecked off the coast, she was stripped of her guns, and eon-
demned and sold.

Fort McHenry. " The enemy knew they were
mounted, and knew they carried balls of forty-two
pounds weight, and that furnaces had been prepared to
make them red hot." When Gen. Smith assumed
command of the forces in-
and around Baltimore he
found Fort McHenry in
no condition for a con-
flict; "one of the plat-
forms was rotten; the
water battery was totally
destroyed; the ground
between the fort and the
water was in its natural
state, affording a good
cover to an attacking en-
emy ; some of the car-
riages within the fort
were unfit for service;

there were no furnaces; and in fine, the fort was not
in condition to repel a serious attack from a formidable
British fleet." By direction of the Secretary of War,
Col. J. G. Swift, of the United States Engineers, was
sent to Baltimore, and under his direction an extensive
line of water battery was erected in front of the fort,
mounted with thirty-two heavy cannon, with furnaces
attached. For a more extended defense of the city, "in-
cluding the rear of Fort McHenry, the cove, the point
between the fort and flag-staff point, and the point
opposite Fort McHenry on the northeast side of the
harbor," he recommended to the Secretary of War " to
have twelve eighteen-pound cannon mounted on trav-
eling field-carriages, completely appurtenanced, at-
taching to them two pinnaces." This train was to be
" disposed so as to run four of the pieces with a furnace
to any position on the Fort McHenry side, and eight of
them with furnace to the point opposite Fort McHenry,
to be used as the position of the enemy may require."
He further suggested that "bridges should be con-
structed over every creek or river in the route from
Baltimore to any point of attack, removable at will."

Upon taking command of the defenses of Baltimore,
Gen. Smith made an address to the troops, in which
he said,—

" That the militia of Baltimore City and County stood high in the esti-
mate of the general government and of the public generally; that as
regulars could not be well spared for the protection of the different sea-
ports, the Executive of the United States had to rely on the militia of
such places for their immediate defense; that in placing this reliance on
the patriotic militia of this city he would not be deceived, for the alacrity
with which they had attended to the first calls of discipline was sufficient
evidence that they would always be found at their posts in time of need."

On the 16th of April, Cockburn's fleet, which had
been slowly moving up the bay, plundering and de-
stroying as it went, appeared at the mouth of the
Patapsco, and threatened the city, which had already
been "pointed out for military execution in papers
published by citizens of the United States," the ani-
mosities and jealousies of other cities scarcely suffer-
ing them to conceal their joy over the impending ruin
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of Baltimore.1 Before this time the enemy had not
attempted anything of great importance except what
was incidental to a mere blockade. But now they
stopped all intercourse with the city by water, cutting
off an immensely valuable trade and stinting her citi-
zens of even their ordinary supplies of provisions.
To crown all, says Mr. Niles, " internal foes of the
city co-operating with the enemy alarm those accus- :
tomed to deal with us from the interior, and destroy
the whole trade and curtail the supplies for the sub-
sistence of the people of this populous city." The
total annihilation of trade, which threw out of em-
ployment all classes of mechanics, and the exorbitant
price of most of the necessaries of life, compelled a
great number of worthy people to choose between
emigration or dependence on charity.

While thus assailed by her enemies and abandoned
by those whom she had considered her friends, it was
a fortunate thing for Baltimore that perfect good feel-
ing prevailed between the Governor and the city, and
that all classes of her citizens vied with each other in
zeal for the common defense and in fortitude in bear-
ing privation and loss. In spite of the great distress :
occasioned by the general suspension of business, the j
merchants of Baltimore about this time answered the
application of the general government for a loan by
a subscription of three million dollars, while on the
13th of April, 1813, the City Council appropriated
twenty thousand dollars for the defense of the city,
which was directed to be expended under the direction
of the mayor, and Messrs. James Mosher, Luke Tier-
nan, Henry Payson, Dr. John Campbell White, James
A. Buchanan, Samuel Sterett, and Thorndike Chase.
This sum proving insufficient, a meeting of the citi-
zens was held and a loan not exceeding five hundred
thousand dollars was advised, the committee of sup-
ply being enlarged by the addition of John E. How-
ard, George Warner, J. Kelso, R. Gilmor, William
Patterson, and Messrs. Deshon & Burke. Individual
citizens likewise made liberal subscriptions, the com-
mittee of public supplies " rendered all the services
that could have been obtained by the earlier appoint-
ment of a quartermaster," and Gen. Armstrong de-
clared that the city was " making itself ready com-
paratively with little expense to the United States,
and would no doubt be prepared to meet the enemy."

While the enemy's squadron was lying off Balti-
more, the measures for defense went on with the
greatest activity. The militia, under the command of
Gen. Smith, erected a water battery, mounted with
forty-two-pounders, and built furnaces for heating
shot, in accordance with the suggestions of Col. Swift.
Look-out or signal boats were established far down
the Patapsco, and cavalry, infantry, and artillery were
stationed along the shores of the bay with a " code of
signals." Fort McHenry was strengthened by the
mounting of a number of thirty-two-pounders, Col.

1 See the writer's " History of Maryland," Hi., p. 37.

Wadsworth, of the United States Engineers, laid off
other fortifications, and several old hulks were sta-
tioned in the river for the purpose of being sunk in
the channel if necessary. A small work for six guns
was also thrown up by the brickmakers without
charge, and in the ensuing year, during the bombard-
ment of Fort McHenry, destroyed one of the enemy's
barges in their night attack and compelled them to
retreat.2 The day the enemy appeared off the Pa-
tapsco Mr. Niles says was a proud one for Baltimore:

" It was astonishing to perceive the animation of the people on the
firing of the alarm gun. Only one spirit prevailed. There was no fear
but the fear of being too late on duty ; no party but to repel the enemy.
This generous feeling went through all ranks of society. We have per-
fect harmony (if such a thing can be), and the din of arms has not dis-
turbed the quiet of the citizen. The place is profoundly tranquil. The
marching of the volunteers occasions no bustle. All things are done in
decency and order. On the evening of that day they captured two
packets from Baltimore bound for Queenstown. The packet boat' Pa-
tapsco' was captured by the enemy's small boats off North Point, with
the mail, a large number of passengers, and over two thousand dollars in
specie. The passengers were detained over night under guard, and on
the following day were put on board an old boat, with scarcely any pro-
visions and no water, to make the best of their way to Queenstown with
a permit from the admiral."

The 22d of April still found the British squadron
lying inactive within a few miles of the city, contenting
itself with predatory excursions and rapid raids into
the adjacent country, in which, however, they got
little else than hard knocks. It is quite evident that
the military authorities expected to come into close
quarters with the enemy, for we find Gen. Smith, on
the 27th of April, writing to Edward Johnson, mayor
of the city, at the suggestion of Col. Wadsworth, to
advise that the fire-engines and fire companies be
held in readiness in case of attack, " so that in such
an emergency [which doubtless meant the firing of
the city by the anticipated bombardment] they may
be employed with the best practical effect." These
apprehensions might possibly have been realized but
for the vigorous preparations for defense that had
been made, and the prudent precautions adopted by
Gen. Smith to prevent the enemy from sounding the
river and examining the fort. Under the pretext of
transmitting a letter to the Secretary of War, Admiral
Cockburn sent a flag up the river, which, by Gen.
Smith's instructions, was met at a distance of four
miles by his aide-de-camp, and detained by Capt.
Chaytbr, who commanded one of the flotilla barges at
that point, until an answer could be returned. While
waiting for Gen. Smith's reply, the British messenger
asked whether the guns of the French seventy-four
had been mounted, and was told that the heaviest
had been placed in position; and this information, it
was afterwards said in the fleet, prevented an attack
being made at that time. Finding Baltimore too well
prepared to be attacked with any hope of success by

2 It would seem that Port McHenry was further strengthened by the
"first marine artillery of the Union," described as " a body of invaluable
men, masters and mates of vesselB," to whom the city is represented as
" indebted for the transportation and mounting of twenty great guns for
a new battery there."
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the force then under his command, Admiral Cockburn
proceeded to revenge himself for his disappointment
byplunderingSharp's,Poole's,Tilghman's, and Poplar
Islands, and by dispatching expeditions for the de-
struction of the towns and villages at the head of the
bay. This savage mode of warfare not unnaturally
spread terror through all adjacent parts of the State,
and a report having reached Baltimore on the 5th of
May that the British were once more advancing to.
attack the city, the alarm guns were fired, and the
city was thrown into great bustle and apparent con-
fusion. It was calculated that upwards of five thousand
men were under arms and in their proper places an
hour after the alarm was given. In the afternoon it
was discovered that the alarm was a false one, and
the soldiers were dismissed. An attack was still ex-
pected, however, for many women and children were
sent away to places of safety, and work was actively
continued on twenty large barges and several gun-
boats intended for the special defense of the city.

On the 1st of June, Admiral Warren entered the
Chesapeake with a considerable naval reinforcement
for Cockburn and Beresford, bearing a large number
of land troops and marines under the command of
Sir Sidney Beckwith. The British force now in the
Chesapeake consisted of eight ships of the line, twelve
frigates, and a considerable number of small vessels.
Such a force evidently foreshadowed an attack upon
some important point. By the capture of the bay
craft they were supplied with numerous tenders pre-
cisely adapted to the navigation of our waters. With
these and their barges they made repeated expedi-
tions, and kept the country in a state of constant
alarm. Baltimore, believing herself to be the chief
object of this expedition, made every preparation to
receive the enemy. Several companies of militia and
volunteers from Prince George's and the other counties
of the State were ordered to the defense of the city,
and relieved the citizens for a time from the fatigues
of garrison duty. Brig.-Gen. Miller commanded in
June a stationary force of two thousand men, which,
with the local strength, was supposed sufficient for
any emergency. To repel the advances which the
increased power of the enemy now authorized him to
attempt, the militia throughout the State were more
regularly embodied, and the Governor called the at-
tention of the more distant militia officers to their
powers and duties under the laws. In the latter part
of May, Governor Winder convened the Legislature
in extra session, and that body, while deprecating the
singular manner in which Maryland's application for
assistance had been received by the Federal govern-
ment, with that spirit of unselfish patriotism which
distinguished her citizens throughout the war, ap-
propriated the sum of one hundred thousand dollars
for the defense of the State. A further application
to the government for protection against invasion
resulted in the reply that "so far as expenditures
have arisen or shall arise, in consequence of militia

calls made by the State, without the participation of
the United States, no provision is found to exist under
the present laws." While the Legislature was thus
taking measures for that protection which the general
government refused to afford, a respectable memorial
was presented to it from the citizens of Baltimore,
setting forth the undefended state of the city, and the
fact that the city banks had, in the emergency, made
a loan for the purpose of strengthening the fortifica-
tions and arming the citizens; of which loan they
prayed the Legislature to assume such part as might
not be refunded by the Federal government. They
further asked that, as the Assembly might not be able
to consider the matter at once, the municipal authori-
ties might be authorized to levy a tax on the citizens
to liquidate the debt pending the ultimate action of
the Legislature. Both of these requests, however,
were refused.

On the 8th of August three ships of the line, five
frigates, three brigs, two schooners, and a number of
small vessels moved in sight of Baltimore, as if de-
signing an attack. Promptly the forts were manned,
and seven hundred men of Col. Jamison's regiment
of the Baltimore County brigade were ordered "to
defend a narrow pass of high land seven or eight
miles from the city towards North Point." The
cavalry of the Baltimore City and County brigades
of militia, under the command of Lieut.-Cols. Biays
and Moore, assembled on Hampstead Hill, and pro-
ceeded to North Point to make themselves better ac-
quainted with the ground in case the enemy should
attempt to land, while on the elevated grounds east of
the city (now Patterson Park) about forty pieces of
artillery, eighteen, twelve, six, and four-pounders,
mounted on field-carriages, were collected, and the
"marine artillery company," Capt. George Stiles,
manned their " marine battery" of forty-two-pounders
on the water front of Fort McHenry.' Awed probably
by these formidable preparations, the British forces
determined to turn their attention to weaker points,
and accordingly resumed their savage warfare on the
Eastern Shore. While the citizens of Maryland were
thus energetically engaged in the protection of their
own firesides, they also bore an ample part in the
dangers and honors of the arduous campaign on the
frontiers 'of Canada; and though sorely pressed at
home, over a thousand volunteers and recruits from
the city and State were sent forward to the main army
during the summer of 1813. Nothing more important
than skirmishes took place in this quarter until April
27,1813, when the town of York, now called Toronto,
was captured. Capt. Stephen H. Moore's company
of Baltimore volunteers had the honor to be in the
advance, and nobly sustained the character of their
native city for gallantry and steady courage. In the

1 Among Baltimore's defenders at this time was Capt. Brooker's corps
of Richmond and Washington volunteers, and according to the captain,
"never were soldiers more hospitably entertained" than were these
volunteers by the citizens of Baltimore.
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midst of the assault the magazine of one of the bar-
racks, containing five hundred pounds of powder, blew
up, killing and wounding more than two hundred of
the victorious column. Two of Capt. Moore's com-
pany were killed by the explosion, five men severely
wounded, and he himself received injuries necessita-
ting the amputation of his leg. The " Baltimore Vol-
unteers," however, had the satisfaction, when the town
capitulated that afternoon, of placing in advance of
any other, the flag presented to them by the ladies of
the Seventh Ward, " on the highest pinnacle of the
Government House in the capital of Upper Canada."
On the 27th of May, Fort George was attacked and
taken, and in this action also Baltimore and Mary-
land volunteers were in the front of the battle. In
the struggle at Burlington Heights, on the 6th of June,
they also took a prominent part; and Gen. Lewis, in
his official report of the action, says, " Hindman,
Nicholas, Biddle, and Towson are young soldiers who
would do honor to any service;" and to the troops
under their command, with a few others, he ascribes
the salvation of the army.

The overthrow of Napoleon in the spring of 1814
left Great Britain free to increase her forces in the
United States, and to supply what had hitherto been
wanting,—a land force to co-operate with the squad-
ron, which, without it, could do nothing of import-
ance. It was therefore resolved to increase Cock-
burn's fleet in the Chesapeake, and to send over a
large body of veteran troops who had served under
Wellington in Spain. Stronger preparations for de-

fense were also made
on this side. Commo-
dore Joshua Barney was
placed by the Navy De-
partment in command of
a flotilla, or small fleet
of gunboats and barges,
fitted out in Baltimore in
the summer of 1813 to
defend the shores of the
bay; and though not
able to attack Cockburn's
ships, he did great ser-
vice in checking and
driving off the enemy's

raid ing-parties. In April, 1814, his little fleet was
ready for active service, and after several minor en-
gagements won a considerable naval victory over the
enemy on the 10th of June in St. Leonard's Creek.

It was known that a serious attack was intended
upon Baltimore or Washington, and Brig.-Gen. Wil-
liam H. Winder, lately exchanged, and returned from
Canada, where he had been kept prisoner since his
capture at Stony Creek, was placed in command of
the military district which embraced Maryland, the
District of Columbia, and part of Virginia. He en-
tered upon his duties with the utmost energy, but
soon found that the new district was " without maga-

COMMODORE JOSHUA BARNEY.

GEN. ~\V. H. WINDER.

zines of provisions or forage, without transport tools
or implements, without a commissariat or efficient
quartermaster's department, without a general staff,
and finally without troops." He urged the govern-
ment to call out four
thousand militia, part to
be stationed near Balti-
more, and part between
South River and Wash-
ington, so as to be able
to support each other in
case of a landing of the
enemy. The govern-
ment, however, paid no
attention to his request,
and all the force he
could muster was about
a thousand regulars and
an uncertain number of
militia. On the 14th of August, Admiral Cochrane
arrived in the Chesapeake with a fleet, bringing more
than three thousand veteran troops from France, under
Gen. Robert Ross, and the plan of attack was at once
arranged. A portion of the force, under Capt. Gordon,
was sent up the Potomac to bombard Fort Washing-
ton and open the way to the capital; a few vessels,
under Sir Peter Parker, were dispatched up the Ches-
apeake, as if to attack Baltimore, while the main
body, under Admiral Cochrane, ascended the Patux-
ent, as if to engage Barney's flotilla, which was lying
near Nottingham, but really with the design of attack-
ing Washington if there seemed a reasonable prospect
of taking it. On August 19th and 20th, Cochrane
landed about four thousand five hundred men at Bene-
dict, on the west bank of the Patuxent, who at once
began their march northward under the command of
Gen. Ross. Cockburn's flotilla of barges went up the
river at the same time, and after compelling Barney to
set fire to his boats at Mount Pleasant, joined Ross at
Upper Marlborough, and on the 24th of August the
whole force marched for Bladensburg, where a battle
ensued between the British forces under Gen. Ross
and the Americans under Gen. Winder. The Amer-
icans were completely routed, and the British entering
Washington burned the capitol and other public
buildings. The Baltimoreans at Bladensburg were
under the command of Gen. Tobias Stansbury, of
that city, and consisted of two regiments of militia,
—the Fifth Regiment of Baltimore volunteers, under
Lieut.-Col. Sterett, Maj. William Pinkney's rifle bat-
talion, and two companies of volunteer artillery, with
six-pounders, under Capts. Myers and Magruder, also
from Baltimore. Commodore Barney, with his sailors,
had charge of a battery of heavy guns, and were sup-
ported by United States marines. The Baltimore
troops, about eight hundred in all, " worn down with
hunger and fatigue," reached Bladensburg on the
evening of the 23d.

After the capture of Washington it became evident
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that Baltimore would be next attacked. A feeling
of special hostility was entertained against this city
on account of the mischief done by its privateers, and
the high spirit and courage of its people. An emi-
nent British statesman declared that Baltimore was
"the great depository of the hostile spirit of the
United States against England," and Admiral Warren
said," Baltimore is a doomed town." A London paper
said,""The American navy must be annihilated, their
arsenals and dockyards must be consumed, and the
truculent inhabitants of Baltimore must be tamed
with the weapons which shook the wooden turrets of
Copenhagen." Indeed, Gen. Ross openly boasted that
though the heavens " rained militia," he would make
his winter-quarters in Baltimore. Thus forewarned,
the inhabitants of Baltimore immediately set about
making further preparations for defense. Up to this
time half a million of dollars had been expended in
the defense of the city, under the direction of the
mayor, Edward Johnson, and a Committee of Safety
composed of James Mosher, Luke Tiernan, Henry
Payson, Dr. J. C. White, James A. Buchanan/Samuel
Sterett, and Thorndike Chase. A Committee of Vigi-
lance and Safety, of which Mayor Johnson was chair-
man and Theodorick Bland secretary, co-operated
unceasingly with the military, and on the 27th of
August, three days after the battle of Bladensburg,
issued the following order:

" Whereas, the commanding officer has required the aid of the citizens
in the erection of works for the defense of the city, the Committee of
Vigilance and Safety having full confidence in the patriotism of their
fellow-citizens, have agreed on the following organization for the pur-
pose of complying with the request of the major-general:

" The inhabitants of the city and precincts are called on to deposit at
the court-house,in the Third Ward; Centre Market, in the Fifth Ward;
market-house, Fell's Point; riding-school, in the Seventh Ward; or take
with them to the place required, all wheelbarrows, pick-axes, spades, and
shovels that they can procure.

"That the city and precincts be divided into four sections, the first
section to consist of the eastern precincts and the Eighth Ward; the
Becond to comprise the Fifth, Sixth, and Seventh Wards; the third to
comprise the Second, Third, and Fourth Wards; and the fourth to com-
prise the First Ward and western precincts.

" That the exempts from military duty and the free people of color of
the First District, consisting of the eight wards and eastern precincts,
assemble to-morrow, Sunday, morning at six o'clock at Hampstead Hill,
with provisions for the day, and that Arthur Mitchell, Daniel Conn,
Henry Pennington, John Chalmers, William Starr, Thomas Weary,
Henry Harwood, and Philip Cornmiller be charged with their superin-
tendence during the day.

" That those of the Second District, comprising the Fifth, Sixth, and
Seventh Wards, assemble at Myer Garden on Monday morning at six
o'clock, under the superintendence of William Parks, Capt. Watts, Lud-
wig Herring, William Boss, William Carman, Daniel Howland, Caleb
Earnest, and James Hutton.

" That those of the Third District, comprising the Second, Third, and
Fourth Wards, assemble at Washington Square on Tuesday morning at
six o'clock, under the superintendence of Frederick Leypold, William
McCleary, John McKim, Jr., Henry Schroeder, Alexander McDonald,
Eli Hewitt, Peter Gold, and Alexander BuBsell.

" That those of the Fourth District, comprising the First Ward and
western precincts, assemble at the intersection of Eutaw and Market
[Baltimore] Streets on Wednesday morning at six o'clock, under the
superintendence of William W. Taylor, William Jessops, Edward Harris,
George Decker, William Hawkins, Isaac Philips, William Jones, and
John Hignet.

" The owners of slaves are requested to send them to work on the days
assigned in the several districts.

" Such of our patriotic fellow-citizens of the county or elsewhere as
are disposed to aid in the common defense are invited to partake in the
duties now required on such of the days as may be most convenient'to
them." i

On the same day the committee adopted further
resolutions calling upon all good citizens to keep a
careful watch upon all suspected persons, and to con-
tribute to the defense of the city.2

A committee composed of Col. John E. Howard,
Eichard Frisby, and Eobert Stewart was appointed to
wait on Maj.-Gen. Samuel Smith and request him to
assume military command of the city in accordance
with the expressed desire of Brig.-Gen. Strieker, Maj.
Armistead, Capt. Spence, and Commodore Perry, who
was then in Baltimore. On the 2d of September the
Committee of Vigilance and Safety, in view of the
distress occasioned among many of the poorer fam-
ilies by the absence of husbands, brothers, and fathers
in the army, adopted the following resolution, and
appointed a Committee of Belief3 to solicit subscrip-
tions for their support. In order more effectually to
carry out this good work, committees of inspection
were appointed, who were directed to ascertain and
relieve the meritorious poor in their respective wards.*

About the same time the committee called upon
the " good people of this and the neighboring States
to bring to the city for sale" supplies for the support
of the troops, assuring all who should "visit the city
for this laudable purpose" that they should be " free
from the danger of impressment of their horses,
wagons, or carts, or of any species of interruption to
themselves."

To these various appeals all classes of citizens re-
sponded with generous enthusiasm; their ordinary
avocations, which until this time had scarcely been
interrupted, were now altogether laid aside, and every

1 The Committee of Vigilance and Safety was composed of the follow-
ing members: Henry Stouffer, Solomon Etting, Elias Ellicott, Samuel
Hollingsworth, Benjamin Berry, Henry Payson, William Lorman, James
A. Buchanan, William Wilson, William Patterson, Adam Fonerden,
James Wilson, Joseph Jamieson, Cumberland Dugan, William Camp,
James Armstrong, James Taylor, Peter Bond, Robert Stewart, Fred.
Schaeffer, Richard Stevens, Hezekiah Waters, David Burke, George
Woelper, Hennanus Alricks, John Kelso, Richard Frisby, Col. J. E.
Howard, George Warner, and Theodorick Bland.

2 The patriotic ardor of the citizens is well illustrated by the reply of
John Eager Howard to a suggestion of surrender: " I have," said he, "as
much property at stake as most persons, and I have four sons in the
field. But sooner would I see my sons weltering in their blood and my
property reduced to ashes than so far disgrace the country." " Put me
down for fifty thousand dollars for the defense of Baltimore," said Isaac
McKim when he heard Ross was coming.

s The Committee of Relief was composed of James Ellicott, W. W.
Taylor, Elisha Tyson, Richard H. Jones, L. Wethered, Luke Tiernan,
William Riley, James Mosher, Joseph Townsend, Peter Diffonderffer,
William Brown, Daniel Diffenderffer, William Trimble, William Mande,
William Procter, and John Ogsden.

4 The ward committees were: First Ward—Isaac Tyson, Isaac Mc-
Pherson, Christian Keller, John Hignet. Second Ward—Elisha Tyson,
Cornelius Comegys, Richard H. Jones, and Moses Sheppard. Third Ward
—L. Wethered, Luke Tiernaa, Henry Schroeder. Fourth Ward—James
Sloan, William Riley, John McClure. Fifth Ward—Baltzer Shaeffer,
Daniel Howland, Samuel McKim. Sixth Ward— William Ross, Jacob
Miller, William Brown. Seventh Ward—William Trimble, William
Parks, Samuel Wilson, Joshua Mott. Eighth Ward—James H. Clarke,
Nathaniel Knight, John Murphy.
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one who could wield a musket, even old men and boys,
were found in the ranks, and each day marched to
the sound of martial music to their occupation of
laboring on the line of the intrenchments and fortifi-
cations.

The chief fortifications constructed by the citizens
were two long lines of breastworks, extending from
Harris' Creek northward across Loudenslager's or
Hampstead's Hill (now the site of Patterson Park),
about a mile in length, along which at short dis-
tances semi-circular batteries were thrown up, armed
with cannon on field-carriages. Behind these on
more elevated sites, commanding the lower line, were
several additional batteries, one of which, known as
Rogers' Bastion, may still be seen, well preserved, on
the harbor side of Patterson Park, overlooking Fort
McHenry and the surrounding country. There were
also connecting lines of breastworks and rifle-pits,
running parallel with the northern boundary of the
city, commanded in turn by inner bastions and bat-
teries, the precise location of which is not known.

Nor was the water approach neglected. A four-gun
battery was constructed at Lazaretto Point, Canton,
and between this point and Fort McHenry, across
the mouth of the harbor, a number of vessels were
sunk. Southwest of the fort, near what is now Wi-
nans' wharf, guarding the middle branch of the Pa-
tapsco from the landing of troops who might en-
deavor to assail Fort McHenry in the rear, were two
redoubts, five hundred yards apart, and called Fort
Covington and the City Battery.1

In the rear of these, upon the high ground at the
foot of Light Street, on the present site of Battery
Square, was the Circular Battery of seven guns. A
long line of platforms for a battery were erected a
few yards in front of Fort McHenry, which was
called the Water Battery, and upon which was
mounted a number of forty-two-pounder guns bor-
rowed from the French consul.

The British army, after several days' rest, having
replenished their store of fresh provisions by plun-
dering the people on the shores of the Patuxent, at
daybreak on the 6th of September embarked on
board of their fleet, weighed anchor, and stood with
a fair wind for the Chesapeake. After sailing down
the bay, at mid-day on the 7th they entered the Po-
tomac, and after moving up that stream for two days,
for the purpose of deceiving the Americans and to
keep them in suspense as to the next point of attack,
on the night of the 9th the whole squadron hastened
back to the Chesapeake and stood for the mouth of
the Patapsco.

It was probably this and the other delays succeed-

1 In 1854 a joint resolution was introduced in the City Council re-
questing the Senators from Maryland in Congress to procure the passage
of an act donating the old battery, known as Fort Covington, in the
Seventeenth Ward, and the adjacent ground, belonging to the United
States government, to the city of Baltimore for the purpose of converting
it into a public square, which is now known as Biverside Park.

ing the capture of Washington which saved Balti-
more from the hands of the enemy. On the evening
of the 24th of August, Washington was in the posses-
sion of the British army, and on the morning after
the battle the enemy was again at Bladensburg, on
his retreat to Benedict. Had Ross made directly for
Baltimore at this time, attacking it from the west
side, he would doubtless have effected its capture.

| But the time between the 24th of August anfl the
12th of September afforded the necessary opportunity
for the reorganization of the army that had been
beaten at Bladensburg and the concentration of fresh
troops at Baltimore. An immediate attack from the
western and northern sides of the city would, more-
over, not only have prevented the" formation of an
effective army of defense at Baltimore, but would
have rendered the formidable batteries at Fort Mc-
Henry and the fortifications and intrenchments on
the eastern and northern sides entirely unavailable.
As it was, Gen. Ross waited until a strong army had
been thrown into Baltimore, and then advanced
against it directly in the teeth of the numerous bat-
teries and fortifications on the eastern side of the
city. History presents but few instances of such ac-
commodating generalship.

On Sunday evening, September 11th, about seventy
of the enemy's vessels were anchored off North Point,
about twelve miles from the city of Baltimore by
water, and fourteen by land. The beautiful moon-
light night was chiefly spent by the fleet in preparing
for an immediate debarkation. At three o'clock on
Monday morning, the 12th, the boats of every ship
were lowered, and the troops landed under cover of
several gun-brigs anchored within a cable's length of
the beach. The boats went in divisions, the leading
one of each being armed with a carronade. By seven
o'clock they had landed a force of about seven thou-
sand men, composed of infantry, artillery, marines,
and sailors, completely equipped, each man bearing
eighty rounds of ammunition, a spare shirt and
blanket, and cooked provisions for a three days'
march. The most perfect system characterized every
movement. Not the slightest doubt as to the result
existed in the minds of the officers who planned the
campaign, and the troops looked eagerly forward to
the promised plunder.

The final arrangements having been made, the
Light Brigade, commanded by Maj. Jones, of the
Forty-first Regiment, led the advance; then followed
the artillery, consisting of six field-pieces and two
howitzers, all of them drawn by horses; next came
the Second Brigade, then the sailors, and, last of all,
the Third Brigade. Flank patrols and reconnoitering
parties were likewise sent out. Thus it was that the in-
vading army, under the leadership of Gen. Ross and a
brilliant array of staff-officers, marched towards the
" doomed town" on Monday morning, Sept. 12, 1814.
At the same time the frigate's bomb-ketches and
small vessels, under Admiral Cockburn, approached
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and ranged themselves in a formidable line to bom-
bard the fort and the city.

In the mean time the citizens were not idle, though
the disasters which had befallen our arms in previous
encounters gave but slight ground for hope of success
in any contest with veterans fresh from victorious
strife with the legions and the genius of Napoleon.
The unhappy field of Bladensburg was fresh in their
memory, and the smouldering ruins of Washington
showed the fate to which Baltimore was doomed if
the invaders were successful. " The prospect to
which they looked forward was indeed gloomy,—to
the sailor, imprisonment and fetters; to the soldier-
citizen, the prison-ship; to the merchant, confisca-
tion and ruin; to the house-owner, the torch of the
incendiary; and to the chaste matron and her pure
and beautiful daughters, the foul license of a brutal
soldiery. But the storm of war shook not their firm
hearts. The citizen-soldiery of Baltimore on that
gloomy Sunday bade a tearful adieu to their wives
and children, put on the harness of battle, and '
went forth to meet the insolent invader."

The city now became an active military camp.
Those who could afford it
sent their wives and chil-
dren out of the city. The
banks suspended specie pay-
ments, and much valuable
property was removed to the
interior for protection. The
batteries and intrenchments
were all manned. Commo-
dore Eogers, who had gen-
eral charge of the batteries
with about twelve hundred
men-of-war's-men, in his of-
ficial report gives the posi-

tion of his respective batteries and forces as follows:
" In the general distribution of the forces employed in the defense of

Baltimore, with the concurrence of the commanding general, I stationed
Lieut. Gamble, first of the ' Guerriere,' with about one hundred seamen,
in command of a seven-gun battery, on the line between the roads lead-
ing from Philadelphia and Sparrow's Point.

"Sailing-Master De la Zouch, of the ' Erie,'and Midshipman Field,
of the ' Guerriere,' with twenty seamen, in command of a two-gun bat-
tery, fronting the road leading from Sparrow's Point.

" Sailing-Master ltamage, of the ' Guerriere,' with twenty seamen, in
command of a five-gun battery, to the right of Sparrow's Point road.

"And Midshipman Salter, with twelve seamen, in command of a one-
gun battery, a little to the right of Mr. ltamage.

" Lieut. Kuhn, with the detachment of marines belonging to the
' Guerriere,' was posted in the entrenchment between the batteries occu-
pied by Lieut. Gamble and Sailing-Master Ramage.

" Lieut. Newcomb, third of the ' Guerriere,' with eighty seamen, occu-
pied Fort C'ovington, on the Ferry Branch, a little below Spring Gardens.

" Sailing-Master Webster, of the flotilla, with fifty seamen of that
corps, occupied a six-gun battery on the Ferry Branch, known by the
name of Babcock.

" Lieut. Frazier, of the flotilla, with forty-five seamen of the same corps,
occupied a three-gun battery near the Lazaretto.

" And Lieut. Butter, the senior officer of the flotilla, in command of all
the barges, which were moored at the entrance of the passage between
the Lazaretto and Fort McHenry, in the left wing of the Water Battery,
at which was stationed Sailing-Master Rodman and fifty-four seamen of
the flotilla."

COMMODORE ROGERS.

MAJ. GEORGE ARMISTEAD.

Fort McHenry was under the immediate command
of Maj. George Armistead, of the United States
artillery. His force consisted of one company of
United States artillery, Capt. Evans, and two compa-
nies of Sea Fencibles, under Capts. Bunberry and Addi-
son. Of these three companies thirty-five men were
unfortunately on the sick-list and unfit for duty. Gen.
Smith also furnished him with Capt. Joshua H. Nich-
olson's (Judge) volunteer artillery company of the
" Baltimore Fencibles," and
the " Washington Artillery"
under Capt. John Berry, and
the "Baltimore Independent
Artillerists," Capt. .Charles
Pennington, all of Col. David
Harris' regiment of the Bal-
timore artillery. A detach-
ment of Commodore Bar-
ney's flotilla, under Lieut.
Rodman, also volunteered
their services. In addition,
Gen. Winder furnished Maj.
Armistead with about six
hundred infantry, under the
command of Lieut.-Col. Stewart and Maj. Lane, con-
sisting of detachments from the Twelfth, Fourteenth,
Thirty-sixth, and Thirty-eighth Regiments of the
United States infantry,—the total force in the fort
amounting to about one thousand effective men.

Maj. Armistead arranged his force in the following
manner: The regular artillerists, under Capt. Evans,
and the volunteers, under Capt. Nicholson, manned
the bastions in the star fort; Bunbury's, Addison's,
Rodman's, Berry's, and lieutenant commanding Pen-
nington's command were stationed on the lower works;
and the infantry were in the outer ditch to meet the
enemy in case they effected a landing.

The Franklin Artillery, Capt. Joseph Myers; Bal-
timore Union Artillery, Capt. John Montgomery;
American Artillerists, Capt. Richard B. Magruder;
Eagle Artillerists, Capt. George J. Brown; First Bal-
timore Volunteer Artillery, Capt. Abraham Pyke;
Steiner's Artillery, of Frederick, Capt. Henry Steiner;
United Maryland Artillery, Capt. James Piper; and
Columbian Artillery, Capt. Samuel Moale, all under
the general command of Lieut.-Col. David Harris,
took positions in the various lines and batteries. The
trenches were occupied by some seven thousand
militiamen and volunteer infantry, chiefly composed
of our own citizens. A portion of these were the First
Rifle Battalion of Maryland militia, commanded by
Maj. Wm. Pinkney, in which were the Sharpshooters,
Capt. Edward Aisquith; Union Yagers, Capt. Dominic
Bader; and Fell's Point Riflemen, Capt. William B.
Dyer. The Fifth Regiment was commanded by Lieut.-
Col. Joseph Sterett, and contained the Baltimore
Yagers, Capt. Philip B. Sadtler; First Baltimore
Light Infantry, Capt. John Skrim; Mechanical Vol-
unteers, Capt. Benjamin C. Howard; Washington
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Blues, Capt. George H. Steuart; independent com-
pany, Capt. Samuel Sterett; Baltimore United Vol-
unteers, Capt. David Warfield; Union Volunteers,
Capt. Christian Adreon; Baltimore Patriots, Capt.
Robert Lawson; and the Independent Blues, Capt.
Aaron R. Levering. The Sixth Regiment was com-
manded by Lieut.-Col. Win. McDonald, and comprised
eleven companies, commanded respectively by Capts.
Thomas Sheppard, Gerrard Wilson, Peter Gait, Wm.
Brown, Thomas L. Lawrence, Benjamin Ringgold,
Luke Kierstead, Samuel McDonald, Robert Conway,
Nicholas Burke, and John G. Dixon. The Twenty-
seventh Regiment was commanded by Lieut.-Col.
Kennedy Long, and comprised eight companies, com-
manded by Capts. James McConkey, John Kennedy,
James Dillon, Benjamin Edes, John McKane, Peter
Pinney, George Steever, and Daniel Schwarzauer.
The Thirty-ninth Regiment was commanded by Lieut.-
Col. Benjamin Fowler, and contained eight compa-
nies, commanded by Capts. Archibald Dobbin, Thomas
Warner, Thomas Watson, John D. Miller, Andrew E.
Warner, Henry Myers, Joseph K. Stapleton, and Wm.
Roney. The Fifty-first Regiment was commanded by
Lieut.-Col. Henry Amey, and contained eight compa-
nies, officered by Capts. Jacob Deems, Wm. Chalmers,
John H. Rogers, Michael Haubert, John Stewart,
James Foster, Michel Peters, and Andrew Smith.
The Fifth Regiment of Maryland Cavalry was com-
manded by Lieut.-Col. James Biays, and contained
the Independent Light Dragoons, Capt. Jehu Boul-
din; First Baltimore Hussars, Capt. James Sterett;
Maryland Chasseurs, Capt. James Horton; and the
Fell's Point Light Dragoons, Capt. John Hanna.

The York Volunteers, attached to the Fifth Regi-
ment, were commanded by Capt. Michael H. Spang-
ler; the Hanover Volunteers, attached to the Thirty-
ninth Regiment, by Capt. Frederick Metzger; the
Hagerstown Volunteers, attached to the same regi-
ment, by Capt. Thomas Quantrill; and the Maryland
Cavalry by Capt. Jacob Baer.

The Eleventh Brigade, Third Division, was under
the command of Brig.-Gen. Tobias E. Stansbury.
The First Brigade was commanded by Brig.-Gen.
Thomas Forman, and the Third Brigade by Brig.-Gen.
John Strieker.

The command of the whole military force of the
city devolved upon Maj.-Gen. Samuel Smith. Gen.
William H. Winder arrived in Baltimore on Septem-
ber 10th, and assumed command of a division.

We have thus mentioned the more important prep-
arations made for the reception of the enemy, desig-
nated the fortified lines of defense, and given the
relative positions of the troops. As we have already
stated, intelligence reached the city of the arrival of
the enemy's fleet, which was announced to the people
on Sunday afternoon, Sept. 11, 1814, by the fire of
three cannon from the court-house green. This signal
threw the city into the most intense excitement. The
churches were at once dismissed; the congregations

flocked homeward; the drums beat to arms ; men on
horseback rapidly galloped to and fro through the
streets rousing the people, and all hastened to their
mustering-places. Each man was supplied with one
day's provisions and thirty-six rounds of ammunition.

It was decided to send out a reconnoitering-party
to " feel the enemy." The question being raised who
should compose this party, it was speedily settled by
the gallantry of Gen. Strieker, who claimed it as a
right, as the brigade which he had the honor to com-
mand consisted entirely of Baltimore militia, and
should be foremost in defending their homes. The
order was accordingly given, and about three o'clock
his brigade, consisting of five hundred and fifty of the
Fifth Regiment, under Lieut.-Col. Sterett; six hun-
dred and twenty of the Sixth, under Lieut.-Col. Mc-
Donald; five hundred of the Twenty-seventh, under
Lieut.-Col. Long; four hun-
dred and fifty of the Thirty-
ninth, under Lieut.-Col.
Fowler; seven hundred of
the Fifty-first, under Lieut.-
Col. Amey ; one hundred
and fifty riflemen, under
Capt. Dyer; one hundred
and forty cavalry, under
Lieut.Col. Biays, and the
Union Artillery of seventy-
five men, with six four-
pounders, under Capt.
Montgomery, making an
aggregate of three thousand one hundred and eighty-
five effective men, marched out Baltimore Street upon
the Philadelphia road. The troops were full of en-
thusiasm, and marched forth with all the glitter of a
dress parade. On passing the outer breastworks and
batteries, moving steadily on in brisk step to stirring
music, with flags fluttering in the breeze, they were
greeted with enthusiastic cheers.

The route of march was the old Philadelphia
road to Long Log Lane (now known as North Point
road), and thence to the Methodist meeting-house
near the head of Bear Creek, seven miles from the
city. Here the troops bivouacked for the night, with
the exception of the riflemen, wiio were posted along
the skirts of a low pine wood, near a blacksmith-shop,
two miles in advance; while the calvary were pushed
still further forward and stationed at the end of Gor-
such's farm, a mile and a half beyond, with orders to
place videttes in the vicinity of the enemy to main-
tain a careful watch and patrol, and to report promptly
to headquarters every movement of the enemy.

At seven o'clock on Monday morning, September
12th, information was received from the advanced
scouts that tho enemy were debarking troops under
cover of their gunboats, which lay off the bluff
of North Point, within the mouth of the Patapsco.
Immediately upon receipt of this intelligence Gen.
Strieker sent back his baggage under a strong

GEN. JOHN STItlCKER.
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guard, and moved forward three-fourths of a mile
with the Fifth and Twenty-seventh Eegiments and
his battery. With these he formed the first line of
battle, as follows: the Fifth Eegiment he posted on
the edge of a thick oak forest, behind a rail-fence, at
right angles with the road, on which the left flank
rested, while the right extended to Bear Creek. The
Twenty-seventh Eegiment occupied the correspond-
ing position on the other side of the road, on which
their right rested, their left being covered by a branch
of Back Eiver and a marsh. They were also on the
skirts of a wood and behind a rail-fence. The artil-
lery was stationed directly at the head of the lane
between the two regiments. The Thirty-ninth Eegi-
ment was placed about three hundred yards in the
rear of the Twenty-seventh, and the Fifty-first about
the same distance in the rear of the Fifth, forming a
parallel to the frontline. The Sixth Eegiment formed
a reserve, and was stationed in front of a rail-fence,
about half a mile back of the second line of battle.
Having thus formed his battle-lines, Gen. Strieker
gave orders that the Fifth and Twenty-seventh Eegi-
ments should receive the enemy on their approach,
and, if necessary, fall back through the Fifty-first
and Thirty-ninth Eegiments, and form on the right
of the Sixth. The riflemen were deployed where
they had been stationed the evening before, behind a
large sedge-field, with a thick wood of pine or fir in
their rear; and as the cavalry, still in front, were to
inform them of the enemy's approach, they were
ordered to take advantage of the covering of the
wood and to annoy his advance. Meanwhile, the
British forces were moving rapidly up the main road,
and horsemen continually coming in announced their
near approach. Just at this time, greatly to the gen-
eral's surprise, he discovered that the entire body of
riflemen were falling back to the main position, hav-
ing listened to a groundless rumor that the enemy
were landing on Back Eiver to cut them off. This
part of the plan having been frustrated, the rifle corps
was placed on the right of the front line, by this
means better securing that flank. After marching
for an hour or more the enemy, feeling perfectly con-
fident of success, halted at Gorsuch's farm, where they
spent another hour in resting and robbing hen-roosts,
etc.

When the Americans heard of these proceedings of
the enemy, several officers volunteered to dislodge
them. Levering's and Howard's companies, about one
hundred and fifty in number, from the Fifth Eegi-
ment, under Maj. Eichard K. Heath, Capt. Aisquith's
and a few other riflemen, aboMt seventy in all, one
small piece of artillery with ten men, under Lieut.
Stiles, and the cavalry were pushed forward to sur-
prise the enemy and provoke a general engagement.

With the force mentioned Maj. Heath pursued his
march to the front, under the belief that the enemy
were two miles off. After proceeding about half a mile
the major ordered the riflemen to deploy as skirmishers

7

upon both flanks in advance to guard against an am-
buscade. The order had just been given, and the
riflemen were on the point of diverging to the right
and left, while the column moved steadily down the
road, when, as the head of it ascended a small emi-
nence, there appeared at the distance of about one
hundred and fifty yards the vanguard of the enemy's
forces moving up. A sharp fire was immediately
opened upon both sides. The American infantry oc-
cupied the road, while the riflemen, who had taken
position upon the flanks, but not yet left the column,
availed themselves of whatever advantages the ground
afforded to use their weapons with effect. An order
was given to move the piece of artillery to the front,
which was obeyed, but it was withdrawn without
being used. The British light troops deployed rapidly
in open order to the right and left, advancing into
the thick wood which skirted the American right, and
hastening to gain a copse of wood standing in a field
upon the American left.

At this time, says the " Subaltern in America" in
his narrative, the skirmish was "tolerably hot and
extremely animated." "The Americans," he con-
tinues,
" as individuals were at least our equals in the skill with which they
used the weapon, yet from the very commencement it was on our part
a continual advance, on theirs a continual retreat. We drove them from
thicket to thicket, and tree to tree, not indeed with any heavy loss, for
they were no less expert in finding shelter than in taking aim, but occa-
sionally bringing down ah individual as he was running from one cover
to another. Our own loss again was very trifling.

" Two men killed and about a dozen wounded made up the sum of our
casualties, and it may with truth be asserted that everything was going
on as the general himself could have wished. But unhappily he was
not satisfied of this. The firing struck him as being more heavy and
more continued than it ought to be ; he was apprehensive that he had
fallen into some serious ambuscade, and unwilling to trifle with the
safety even of a few companies, he rode forward for the purpose of satis-
fying himself that they were safe. How bitterly had the whole expedi-
tion cause to lament that step. He had scarcely entered the wood when
an American rifleman singled him out; he fired, and the ball, true to its
mark, pierced his side. When the general received his death-wound I
chanced to be standing at no great distance from him. I saw that he was
struck, for the reins dropped instantly from his hand, and he leaned for-
ward upon the pommel of his saddle, and though I would not suffer my-
self to imagine that there was any danger, I hastened towards him, but
I arrived too late. His horse making a movement forward he lost his
seat, and but for the intervention of his aide-de-camp's arm must have
fallen to the ground. As it was, we could only lay him at length upon
the grass, for his limbs could no longer perform their office,—it was but
too manifest that his race was run. . . . His aide-de-camp (Capt. McDou-
gal) having seen the general laid by the roadside, left him to the care
of Admiral.Cockburn and galloped back for assistance.'*

Eev. Mr. Gleig, of the British army, in his narra-
tive says,—

'• We were drawing near the scene of action when another officer came
at full speed towards us, with horror and dismay in his countenance, and

j calling aloud for a surgeon. Every man felt within himself that all
' was not right, though none was willing to believe Ihe whispers of his

own terror. But what at first we could not guess at, because we dreaded
it so much, was soon realized, for the aide-de-camp had scarcely passed
when the general's horse, without a rider, and with the saddle and
housings stained with blood, came plunging onwards; nor was much
time given for fearful surmise as to the extent of our misfortune. In a
few minutes we reached the ground where the skirmishing hail taken
place, and beheld poor Boss laid by the side of the road, under a canopy
of blankets, and apparently in the agonies of death. As soon as the
firing began he had ridden to the front, that he might ascertain from
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. whence it originated, and, mingling with the skirmishers, wflB shot in
the side by a rifleman. The wound was mortal; he fell into the arms
of his aide-de-camp, and lived only long enough to name his wife, and to
commend his family to the protection of his country. He was removed
towards the fleet, and expired before his bearerB could reach the boats."1

On the death of Ross the command of the invading
army devolved upon Col. A. Brooke, of the Forty-
fourth Regiment, and under his direction they pressed
vigorously forward. Maj. Heath found his situation
becoming extremely ^perilous as a fire began to be
opened upon each flank, as well as in his front; he
was compelled to order a retreat. Just after giving
the order his horse had one of his hind legs broken
by a ball, and the major dismounted.

The death of Gen. Ross no doubt changed the plan
of operations on the British side. Had he lived he
would probably have pushed directly on to the at-
tack of "Gen. Strieker's front line, and then Gen.
Strieker's plan would have been followed out; for,
anticipating such an attack, he had ordered his two
front regiments to retire by files from the right of
companies, after holding their ground as long as they
could, and thus passing through the Thirty-ninth and
Fifty-first, which were directed to open and afford a
passage, the skirmish would have been renewed from
time to time, until the retiring troops reached the
strong ground where the Sixth was posted, and where
another struggle would have been made by the united
force of the brigade.2 But this judicious plan of
operation, so well calculated to employ his force to the
best advantage, and to obtain the double object of
checking the enemy and familiarizing his own troops
to battle, was rendered impracticable by the cautious
proceedings of Col. Brooke. That officer had just
learned from his experience with the Baltimore rifle-
men that desultory skirmishes were no light matters,
and he therefore proceeded according to rule, as if he
were opposed to a disciplined army. Observing the
short extent of Gen. Strieker's front, he halted his
attacking columns until he could detach the Fourth
Regiment to turn the left flank of the American army.
Gen. Strieker, with a promptness and decision which
reflect the highest honor upon his skill, instantly
changed his plan to meet the unexpected and cau-
tious movement of his adversary, and brought up his
second line to the support of the first. The Thirty-
ninth Regiment was stationed on the left of the
Twenty-seventh, while two pieces of artillery were

1 A story obtained partial currency at the time, and has often been re-
peated since, that Gen. Boss was Blain by two boys concealed in a tree.
The story is wholly without foundation. Daniel Wells and Henry Mc-
Comas, to whose memory a monument has been erected at Ashland
Square, Baltimore, generally enjoy the reputation of having killed Boss.
Both were privates in Capt. Aisquith's company of sharpshooters, and
were sent in advance with the other troops to annoy the enemy. They
were both standing in the front rank of their company, and the moment
after they fired were both killed.

2 The intention of Gen. Strieker appears to have been a succession of
skirmishes rather than a pitched battle, which is indicated by the manner
in which he drew up his troops when he expected an attack; and
this probably accounts for his not taking with him a larger detachment
of artillery.

detached to the left of the Thirty-ninth. The Fifty-
first Regiment formed at right angles with the line,
resting its right near the left of the Thirty-ninth.
This order, being badly executed, created for a mo-
ment considerable confusion, which was rectified,
however, by the efforts of Brigade-Majs. Frailey and
Calhoun, who corrected the error of Lieut.-Col.
Amey and posted the Fifty-first in its ordered
position.

In the mean time, according to our narrator,
" the British soldiers moved forward with their accustomed fearlessness,
and the Americans, with much apparent coolness, stood to receive them.
Now, however, when little more than a hundred paces divided the one
line from the other, both parties made ready to bring matters more
decidedly to a personal struggle. The Americans were the first to use
their small-arms. Having rent the air with a shout, they fired a volley,
begun upon the right, and carried away regularly to the extreme left;
and then loading again, kept up an unintermitted discharge, which soon
in a great degree concealed them from observation. Nor were we back-
ward in returning the salute. A hearty British cheer gave notice of our
willingness to meet them, and firing and running, we gradually closed
upon them with the design of bringing the bayonet into play. . . Volley
upon volley having been given, we were now advanced within less than
twenty yards of the American line, yet such was the denseneas of the
smoke that it was only when a passing breeze swept away the cloud for
a moment that either force became visible to the other. The flashes of
the enemy's muskets alone served as an object to aim at, as, without
doubt, the flashes of our muskets alone guided the enemy.*'

The Fifty-first Regiment, which had been intrusted
with the protection of the left of the line, after firing
a volley at random, broke and fled in wild disorder,
producing a like effect in the second battalion of the
Thirty-ninth Regiment. All efforts to rally the fugi-
tives proved fruitless. Col. Brooke, instantly perceiv-
ing his advantage, and hoping to effect a general rout,
came on with a rapid discharge of musketry, which
was not returned until they had approached within
a short distance, when our artillery, loaded with
" grape and canister, shot, old locks, pieces of broken
muskets, and everything which they could cram
into their guns," opened an incessant and deadly
fire, while from right to left along our entire line
one volley of musketry and rifle-shots followed
another. Our troops, weakened by the desertion of
the Fifty-first and companies of the Thirty-ninth,
numbered hardly more than one thousand four hun-
dred men. Defeat seemed almost inevitable, but there
was no disposition to flinch on the part of the mem-
bers of the city brigade, who were determined to re-
trieve the honor of their command.

As the British line continued to advance in over-
whelming numbers, exchanging fires with the Amer-
ican infantry and receiving that of the artillery, which
was well served throughout the whole engagement,
the action became warmer and warmer, until Gen.
Strieker, having accomplished the purpose which he
had in view, ordered a retreat to his reserve, and
owing to the fatigued state of the regiments which
had been engaged, and the probability that his right
flank might be turned by a quick movement of the
enemy, he finally fell back to a position near the city.
Thus ended what was then called the battle of Long
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Log Lane, now known as the battle of North Point,
after about an hour and a half of hard fighting.

Gen. Strieker retired with his brigade in good order
to Worthington's Mill, and as the enemy did not pur-
sue, he again fell back and took a position on the left
of the line, about a mile in advance of the intrench-
ments, where he was joined by Gen. Winder, who
had been stationed on the west side of the city, but
now ordered, with the Virginia brigade, under the
command of Gen. Douglass, and Capt. Bird's United
States dragoons, to take post on his left. The con-
duct of the city brigade, with the exception of the
Fifty-first and the second battalion of the Thirty-
ninth Regiments, who were seized with the panic to
which raw troops are so subject, deserved the highest
praise. Veterans could not have done more. Al-
though the American line retreated from a foe near at
hand and might have been expected to incur the heavy
loss which is inflicted upon a retiring party, yet the
aggregate loss of the British was greater than that of
the Americans. The loss, for example, stated in the
official reports of the British officers, was two hun-
dred and ninety, exclusive of the naval brigade under
Capt. Crofton ; while on the side of the Americans it
was only two hundred and thirteen, among whom
were some of the most prominent citizens of Balti-
more. This may perhaps be accounted for by the
slight protection a portion of the Americans had be-
hind fences, a circumstance of which the officers and
men availed themselves with great coolness, and the
deliberate aim they took, thus increasing the de-
structiveness of their fire. John Lowry Donaldson,
adjutant of the Twenty-seventh Eegiment, a distin-
guished lawyer, and Baltimore's representative in the
State Legislature, was killed, also Gregorious Andre,
first lieutenant of the Union Yagers, First Rifle Bat-
talion. Levi Clagett, third lieutenant in Capt. Nich-
olson's artillery company of Baltimore Fencibles, was
killed in the bombardment of Fort McHenry, and in
the two engagements the following non-commissioned
officers and privates were killed: G. Jenkins, J. Rich-
ardson, W. Alexander, T. V. Beeston, D. Howard, J.
H. Marriott of John, J. Armstrong, M. Desk, J. Craig,
R. Neale, J. Evans, J. Haubert, D. Davis, H. G.
McComas, J. Burneston, G. Fallier, J. Jephson, E.
Marriott, J. Dunn, P. Byard, B. Reynolds, J. Gregg,

A. Randall, J. H. Cox, J. Wolf, D. Wells, R. K. Cook-
sey, J. Wallack, J. C. Byrd, W. Ways, C. Bell, J.
Clemm, T. Garrett, J. Merriken, C. Cox, U. Prosser,
B. Bond.1

That raw militia should have met in open fight
and parted upon equal terms with the choicest troops
of the British army, who had won laurels in the Pe-

1 The following Americans were captured at Baltimore and exchanged
Oct. 13,1814: Jas. H. McColloch, Henry Brice, Geo. Reput, Jacob Noyle,
John Robinson, Jas. N. Marriott, Chas. Goddard, Walter Muskett, Bryan
Allen, Geo. Rentzel, Jacob Hubbard, Benj. Fleewood, Thos. Bringham,
Jno. Pidgeon, Luther A. Norris, David Davis, Wm. Collins, Jno. Lamb,
3m. Davidson, Wm. Kean, Jr., James Gibson, Eichard K. Cook, Robert
Smith, Jno. Jephson, Geo. Bennett, Conrad Enler.

ninsular war, would have been no slight achievement.
But the terms were by no means equal. The Ameri-
cans, it is true, retreated; but, as we have shown, this
was part of the plan. The closest calculation cannot
make the number engaged upon the American side,
after the withdrawal of the regiment upon the left,
more than sixteen hundred; and the chimerical idea
of effectually checking the whole British army did
not for a moment present itself to the mind of Gen.
Strieker. He came out to skirmish and no more.
His object was to let the British general see that the
city of Baltimore was a prize not to be had without a
struggle; and the severity of that struggle was fore-
shadowed by the determination with which his ad-
vance was contested.

The enemy slept on the field of battle, and at an
early hour on Tuesday, the 13th, they took up their
line of march for Baltimore. Our British narrator
says,—

" On our march to-day the Americans had at last adopted an expedient
which, if carried to its proper length, might have entirely stopped our
progress. In most of the woods they had felled trees and thrown them
across the road; but as these abatis were without defenders, we experi-
enced no other inconvenience than what arose from loss of time, being
obliged to halt on all such occasions till the pioneers had removed the
obstacle. So great, however, was even this hindrance that we did not
come in sight of the main army of the Americans till evening, although
the distance traveled could not exceed ten miles.

*' It now appeared that the corps which we had beaten yesterday was
only a detachment, and not a large one, from the force collected for the de-
fense of Baltimore, and that the account given by the volunteer troopers
was in every respect correct. Upon a ridge of hills which concealed the
town itself from observation stood the grand army, consisting of twenty
thousand men.2 Not trusting to his superiority in numbers, their gen-
eral had there intrenched them in the most formidable manner, having
covered the whole face of the heights with breastworks, thrown back
his left so as to rest upon a strong fort erected for the protection of the
river, and constructed a chain of field redoubts which covered his right
and commanded the entire ascent. Along the side of the bill were like-
wise Jleches and other projecting works, from which a cross-fire might be
kept up; and there were mounted throughout this commanding position
no less than one hundred pieces of cannon.

" It would be absurd to suppose that the sight of preparations so war-
like did not in some degree damp the ardor of our leaders; at least it
would have been madness to storm such works without pausing to con-
sider how it might best be attempted. The whole of the country within
cannon-shot was cleared from wood and laid out in grass and corn-fields,
consequently there was no cover to shelter an attacking army from any
part of the deadly fire which would be immediately poured upon it. The
most prudent plan, therefore, was to wait till dark, and then, assisted by
the frigates and bombs, which we hoped were by this time ready to co-
operate, to try the fortune of a battle.

" Having resolved thus to act, Col. Brooke halted his army, and having
secured it against surprise by a well-connected line of pickets, the
troops were permitted to light fires and to cook the provisions. But
though the rain still fell in torrents no shelter could be obtained, and
as even their blankets were no longer at hand, with which to form
gipsy-tents, this was the reverse of an agreeable bivouac to the whole
army.

" Darkness had now come on, and yet no intelligence had arrived from
the shipping. To assail this position, however, without the aid of the
fleet was deemed impracticable ; at least our chance of success would be
greatly diminished without their co-operation. As the left of the
American army extended to a fort built upon the very brink of the
river [Lazaretto], it was clear that could the ships be brought to bear
upon that point, and the fort be silenced by their fire, that flank of the
position would be turned. This once effected there would be no diffi-
culty in pushing a column within their works, and as soldiers intrenched
always placed more reliance upon the strength of their intrenchments

2 Not more than twelve thousand.
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than upon their own personal exertions, the very Bight of our people on
a level with them would in all probability decide the contest. At all
events, as this column was to advance under cover of night, it might
easily push forward and crown the hill above the enemy before any ef-
fectual opposition could be offered, by which means they would be in-
cloBed between two fires and lose the advantage which their present
elevated situation bestowed. All, however, depended upon the ability of
the fleet to lend their assistance, for without silencing the fort this flank
could scarcely be assailed with any chance of success, and therefore the
whole plan of operations must be changed." 1

The " Subaltern" says,—
" To the fleet the fort on the water was accordingly left, which by

bombardment would, it was presumed, reduce it to ruinB in a few hours;
and the commencement of a serious cannonade from the river was to be
the Bignal for a general movement in line. As hour after hour stole on
we turned our gaze with feverish anxiety towards the river. All, how-
ever, continued as it had been before. No flash told that the shipping
had taken their stations; the noise of firing was unheard, and the most
serious apprehensions began to he entertained that the plan had, for
some cause or another, miscarried. At last, when midnight was close at
hand, a solitary report, accompanied by the ascension of a small bright
spark into the sky, gave notice that the bombardment had begun. An-
other and another followed in quick succession, and now everNf man
instinctively sprung from the earth and grasped his anna. The point to
he passed was, we well knew, in our immediate front. Our ears were on
the Btretch for the musketry, which ought soon to be heard in the oppo-
site direction; in a word, we stood in our ranks for a full hour, under
the influence of that state of excitation which, while it lacks the
faculty of speech, renders the senses, both of sight and hearing, acute
to an almost unnatural degree.

** Such was our situation, both of body and mind, from midnight, when
the ships began to open fire, up to the hour of two. That all things
went not prosperously was manifest enough.

"At last Col. Brooke, having waited until he considered it imprudent
to wait longer without knowing the disposition of the fleet, and whether
he was to be supported, determined, if possible, to open a communi-
cation with the fleet, and for that purpose dispatched an officer to make
an effort to reach it. After many adventures he arrived on the river-bank
just in time to meet a party who had been sent by Admiral Cochrane for
theBame purpose to Col. Brooke. By them he was conveyed to the Ad-
miral, who informed him ' that no effectual support could be given to the
land force, for such was the shallowness of the river that none except
the very lightest craft could make their way within six miles of the
town, and even these were stopped by vessels sunk in the channel and
other artificial bars, barely withiu a shell's longest range of the fort.'
With this unwelcome news he was accordingly forced to return. . . .

" Having brought his report to headquarters, a council of war was in-
stantly summoned to deliberate upon what was best to be done. With-
out the help of the fleet it was evident that, adopt what plan of attack
we could, our loss must be such as to counterbalance even success itself,
while success under existing circumstances was, to say the least of it,
doubtful. And even if we should succeed, what would be gained by it?
We could not remove anything from Baltimore for want of proper con-
veyances. Had the ships been able to reach the town, then, indeed, the
quantity of booty might have repaid the survivors for their toil and con-
soled them for the loss of comrades; but as the case now stood, we should
only fight to give us an opportunity of re-acting the scenes of Washing-
ton. . . . About three hours after midnight the troops were accordingly
formed upon the road and began their retreat, leaving the pickets to
deceive the enemy and to follow as a rear-guard."2

If Gen. Boss had lived it is possible, and indeed
probable, that he might have attempted to force the
intrenchments or pass around them, with a view of
approaching the city upon a quarter where the natu-
ral advantages of the ground were not as great. But
the experienced eye of Gen. Smith had contemplated
both these probabilities and provided against them.
The heavy artillery, which was planted in batteries,
manned by brave and skillful artillerymen, and the
numerous corps of infantry which lined the intrench-

i Gleig's Narrative, p. 190. 2 Ibid., p. 196.

ments would have rendered the first a fruitless effort
whether made by day or night. If by day, the de-
struction of the assailing force would have been almost
certain; and ample means were provided if the attack
had been made by night to throw upon the advancing
column such a blaze of light that the aim of the de-
fenders would have been unerring. No direcj attack
could have succeeded. If, on the other hand, a cir-
cuitous route had been taken, the advantages of a
knowledge of the country and of numbers would have
probably turned the scale in favor of the American
troops, a part of whom had shown on the day before
that they could meet the invaders in the field with a
gallantry well adapted to inspire caution in an enemy.
It seems, however, that the enemy did make a feint
to pass around the intrenchments, for Gen. Smith, in
his official report to the Secretary of War, dated Sept.
19, 1814, says,—

" On Tuesday the enemy appeared in front of my intrenchments, at
the distance of two miles, on the Philadelphia road, from whence he had
a full view of our position. He manoeuvred during the morning to-
wards our left, as if with the intention of making a circuitous march
and coming down on the Harford or York roads. Gens. Winder and
Strieker were ordered to adapt their movements to those of the enemy,
so as to battle this supposed intention. They executed this order with
great skill and judgment by taking an advantageous position, stretch-
ing from my left across the country, when the enemy was likely to ap-
proach the quarter he seemed to threaten. This movement induced the
enemy to concentrate his forces (between one and two o'clock) in my
front, pushing his advance to within a mile of us, driving in our videttes
and showing an intention of attacking us that evening. I immediately
drew Gens. Winder and Strieker nearer to the left of my intrenchments
and to the right of the enemy, with the intention of their falling on his
right or rear should he attack me ; or, if he declined it, of attacking him in
the morning. To this movement and to the strength of my defenses, which
the enemy had the fairest opportunity of observing, I am induced to
attribute his retreat, which was commenced at half-past one o'clock
Wednesday morning. In this he was so favored by the extreme dark-
ness and a continued rain that we did not discover it until dnylight. I
consented to Gen. Winder pursuing with the Virginia brigade and the
United States dragoons; at the same time Maj. Randall was dispatched
with his light corps in pursuit on the enemy's right, whilst the whole of
the militia cavalry was put in motion for the same object. All the troops
were, however, so completely worn out with continued watching, and
with being under arms during three days and nights, exposed the
greater part of the time to very inclement weather, that it was fouud
impracticable to do anything more than pick up a few stragglers. The
enemy commenced his embarkation that evening, and completed it the
next day at one o'clock. It would ha^e been impossible, even had our
troops been in a condition to act offensively, to cut off any part of the
enemy's rear-guard during the embarkation, as the point where it was
effected was defended from our approach by a line of defenses extending
from Back River to Humphrey's Creek, on the Patapsco, thrown up by
ourselves previous to their arrival." 3

In the mean time the enemy determined to lay aside
the musket for the mortar and bomb-shell, and moved
his fleet of sixteen ships (including five bomb-vessels)
within about two miles and a half of Fort McHenry.
About two o'clock on Tuesday morning, September
13th, the enemy opened fire from his five bomb-ves-
sels at the distance of about two miles, and the whole
of Tuesday and Tuesday night was employed in an
effort to subdue the passive resistance of the fort by
an incessant shower of shell, which the garrison was
unable to return. There was something exceedingly

3 Niles1 Register, vii., p. 26.
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picturesque and beautiful in the silence of that fort.1

Having no means of reaching the enemy at that dis-
tance, which he took care to keep, the fort's brave de-
fenders were compelled to endure without reply an
incessant bombardment for twenty-four hours, and
with a few brief exceptions, when the incautious
enemy ventured too near, and the sullen silence of
the garrison was broken by such a salute from their
heavy artillery as compelled a prompt retreat, the in-
dignant defiance of the fort was manifested only by
the waving of its flag calmly floating in the breeze.
The language addressed to the eye by the continued
and proud waving of that flag can never be forgotten
by those who saw it. It told everything at a glance,
and the feeling which it excited was most happily ex-
pressed by Francis Scott Key in a burst of genuine
poetry which is destined to live as long as the history
of our nation shall be read or told.

The bomb and other vessels ranged in a half-circle
in front of the fort, kept up a furious bombardment
both day and night, and fired over eighteen hundred
shells with multitudes of round-shot and rockets.
Many of the shells weighed two hundred and twenty
pounds, and the incessant roar of the cannon and the
deafening and continuous scream of the shells and
rockets added terrors to the awful spectacle of. a can-
nonade by night. About midnight, screened by total
darkness only broken by the flashes of their own artil-
lery, a few bomb-ketches and rocket-boats with a
squadron of barges, numbering altogether about
eighty and manned by about twelve hundred men,
pushed up the cove beyond Fort McHenry to effect a
landing and attempt an escalade in the rear. They
passed the fort and moved for the shore with loud
cheers. Fort Covington, the City Battery, Fort Mc-
Henry, and the Circular Battery instantly brought
every gun to bear upon the barges, and a terrible fire
was opened. The concussion was tremendous; every
house in the city was shaken to its foundation, and
the affrighted population believed that all was over.

No eye was closed'in Baltimore that night, and
many expected that the morning sun would rise upon
a scene of havoc, plunder, and conflagration. And
when through the gray mists of dawn they saw the
bright Stars and Stripes still waving over the ramparts
of Fort McHenry, a burst of gratitude went up to
heaven for the deliverance.

The mortar-boats and barges which passed Fort
McHenry, after losing many men and suffering con-
siderable damage, being saved from destruction by the
darkness, retreated to their distant positions out of
reach of shot, whence they kept up the ineffectual
bombardment until six o'clock next morning, when
they, like the army, drew off, both worsted and con-
vinced of the much greater probability of their own
capture or destruction than that of Baltimore.

1 Gen. Wilkinson, an old and experienced officer from Maryland, said,
" The defense of Fort McHenry was of no ordinary character, for the
passive resistance of danger is the test of valor."—Memoirt, i., p. 795.

There is one circumstance in the narrative of the
defense of Baltimore upon which the citizens of Mary-
land can always dwell with peculiar pleasure, and
that is the cheerfulness and promptness with which
our neighbors from the interior country repaired to
our assistance. Three companies from Pennsylvania
—from York, Hanover, and Marietta—and one from
Hagerstown attached themselves to Gen. Strieker's
brigade, and bore an honorable share in the fatigues
and dangers of the day. Large bodies of troops from
Virginia and Pennsylvania,2 as well as from many
parts of our own State, hastened to our relief with a
brotherly affection. Two brigades of Virginia militia,
amounting to twenty-five hundred men, constituted a
part of Gen. Winder's immediate command which
hovered on the right flank of the British army during
the whole of its stay before the intrenchments. On
the 13th this force was increased by the whole, or
nearly the whole, of Gen. Strieker's brigade, so that if
Col. Brooke had attempted a circuitous route to the
city he would have had in his front a body of six
thousand men, whilst an equal number would have
marched out from the intrenchments and assailed
him in flank. The number which were collected en-
abled Gen. Smith thus to place his troops so as to
menace his enemy on every quarter, and assume a
position which proved his high military skill.

Intelligence of the defense of Baltimore was re-
ceived throughout the country with every demonstra-
tion of joy. The joy of the Baltimoreans, rescued,
as it seemed to them, from the very jaws of destruc-
tion, cannot be described. Measures were taken for
a perpetual celebration of the event; rewards were
proposed for those who had filled distinguished posi-
tions in the defense; and a beautiful monument in
the centre of the city perpetuates the names and
memory of those who fell in defense of their homes.
Around it, on each returning anniversary of the day,
amid dense crowds of spectators, the pomp of mili-
tary escort, and the stirring strains of martial music,
march, under a tattered flag, a handful of aged men,
their number lessening every year, the survivors of
that eventful 12th of September, the honored com-
pany of " Old Defenders." May it yet be long ere
the last survivor of that venerable band performs his
solitary circuit!

Notwithstanding the retirement of the enemy from
Baltimore, the works of defense were pushed forward
to completion, as the "hated Baltimore" expected
the enemy to return for a second attack. The enemy,
however, re-embarked on board of the fleet on the
15th, and on the 17th of September they got under
way and sailed for the bay, and on the 18th arrived
at their old anchorage in the Patuxent Eiver, when
they renewed their expedition^ for plundering and
robbing the inhabitants.

2 Among the volunteers from Pennsylvania for the defense of Balti-
more were James Buchanan (afterwards President of the United States)
and Judge Henry Shippen.
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Owing to some dissatisfaction among the militia
officers in and around Baltimore, a number of them
resigned in October, among whom were Maj.-Gen.
Samuel Smith and Gen. Strieker. Gen. Eobert Good-
loe Harper was appointed in the place of Gen. Smith,
and Lieut.-Col. James Sterett, of the Fifth Kegiment,
was appointed brigadier-general of the Third or " City
Brigade," in the place of Gen. Strieker, notwithstand-
ing Col. William McDonald, of the Sixth Regiment,
was the senior officer of the brigade.

On the 18th of November the First Cavalry Regi-
ment, and the Fifth, Sixth, Twenty-seventh, Thirty-
ninth, and Fifty-first Regiments of infantry, and Maj.
Pinkney's rifle battalion were " honorably discharged,
with the thanks of the major-general commanding
for their good conduct, orderly behavior, and atten-
tion to discipline during their service."

At the opening of the war the Federal government,
instead of providing for the common defense, ex-
hausted the public treasury in support of its futile
scheme of an invasion of Canada. The fruit of this
ill-advised policy was that when the enemy was at
the door it had not the means to protect the Federal
capital from pillage and conflagration. At this gloomy
time, when the cabinet at Washington seemed para-
lyzed by dismay and could give no help, the State of
Maryland appropriated more than four hundred and
fifty thousand dollars from her own treasury to help
the Federal government, while the city of Baltimore
appropriated one million dollars more, advanced by
her own citizens, for the purposes of defense. By
the judicious expenditure of this sum Maryland was
placed in an attitude of defense. But for the fact
that the State was enabled to repel the enemy, to save
her chief city from destruction, and escape with no
worse harm than the plundering and burning of farm-
houses along the coast, she was indebted only to the
stout hearts and the open purses of her sons; to the
Federal government she owed nothing. It was by
the losses sustained during the war and the failure of j
the government to reimburse the State that the foun-
dation of our present State debt was laid. In the city
of Baltimore, up to the year 1815 the current rev-
enues were sufficient to pay the expenses, and there
was no permanent city debt. But during the war the
treasury became exhausted by advancing money for
the public defense, and the Committee of Safety were
compelled to take loans from the banks and private
citizens, which were assumed by the city, and became
the nucleus of the present city debt. In the year
1816 the rate of city tax was twelve and a half cents
on each one hundred dollars, or one-eighth of one per
centum on the amount of assessment.
' The defeat of the British before Baltimore hastened
the conclusion of peace, as it was among the first in j
that brilliant series of events that illustrated the
truth that a united nation of freemen battling for the
right are invincible.

The American commissioners who were in Europe

HOS. C. HUGHKS, JE .

endeavoring to make an honorable peace with Great
Britain met in Ghent on the 24th of December, 1814,
when a treaty was signed. Mr. Christopher Hughes,
Jr., of Baltimore, who was then our charge d'affaires
at Stockholm, and secretary to the commissioners,
arrived in Annapolis on the 13th of February, in the
schooner " Transit," and immediately set out for
Washington. The tidings of peace which Mr. Hughes
brought to the United States
were as welcome as they were
unexpected. Cannon thun-
dered, bells rang, bonfires
and illuminations lighted up
the towns and cities, and
marked the public satisfac-
tion. In Annapolis the State
House and other buildings
were brilliantly illuminated,
and Baltimore followed in
the same spirit, and, in ac-
cordance with a proclama-
tion of the mayor, with a
general illumination on the
evening of the 15th of February. Upon the ratifica-
tion of this treaty of peace, on the 10th of April, 1815,
a large meeting of the citizens of Baltimore took place
in the city, at which Joseph H. Nicholson, Nathaniel
Williams, William Wilson, John McKim, Jr., James
Hutton, Levi Hollingsworth, Win. McDonald, George
Stiles, John Owens, Nathaniel F. Williams, Jesse
Eichelberger, Win. Krebs, and Edward G. Woodyear
were appointed a committee to forward to President
Madison a congratulatory address upon the successful
termination of the war, and an expression of their ad-
miration for the " enlightened wisdom and patriotic
firmness" by which his conduct was distinguished
during the extraordinary trials to which the country
had been subjected. In his reply to this address the
President said,—

" In the varied scenes which have put to the test the constancy of the
nation Baltimore ranks among the portion most distinguished for devo-
tion to the public cause. It has the satisfaction to reflect that it boldly
and promptly espoused the resort to arms when no other honorable choice
remained; that it found in the courage of its citizens a rampart against
the assaults of an enterprising force; that it never wavered nor tem-
porized with the vicissitudes of the conteBt; and that it had an ample
share in the exertions which have brought it to an honorable conclusion."

CHAPTER XIII.

PRIVATEERS AND ARMED VESSELS.

The Revolutionary War—The War of 1812—The War in South America.

IT is, and ought to be, a matter of pride with Bal-
timoreans that the first cruisers of the navy of " The
Thirteen United Colonies" were fitted out, manned,
and armed in Baltimore, sailed under Maryland
officers, and to a very great extent owed their efficiency
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to the energy and enterprise of her ship-builders, and
to the patriotism and sacrifices of her citizens. The
first act of the Continental Congress for the formation
of a navy was promulgated on the 13th of October,
1775, and in the same month the Continental Marine
Committee at Baltimore fitted out two cruisers to make
the first essay of the American navy.

A Bermudian vessel was purchased, armed with ten
guns, called the " Hornet," and placed under the
command of Capt. William Stone, with Joshua Bar-
ney as second officer, or master's mate. Mrs. Barney,
in her "Memoir of Commodore Barney," says,—

" A crew had not yet been shipped, and the duty of recruiting one was
assigned to Barney. Fortunately for his purpose, just at this moment a
new American flag, sent by Commodore Hopkins for the service of the
' Hornet.' arrived from Philadelphia. Nothing could have been more
opportune or acceptable. It was the first Continental flag that had been
seen in the State of Maryland, and next morning at sunrise Barney had
the enviable honor of unfurling it to the music of dnims and fifes, and
hoisting it upon a staff planted with his own hands at the door of his
rendezvous. The heart-stirring sounds of the martial instruments, then
e. novel incident in Baltimore, and the still more novel sight of the rebel
colors gracefully waving in the breeze, attracted crowds of all ranks and
eyes to the gay scene of the rendezvous, and before the setting of the
same day's sun the young recruiting-officer had enlisted a full crew of
jolly rebels for the ' Hornet.'"

At the time the "Hornet" was purchased the
schooner "Wasp," mounting eight guns, was also
fitted out and placed under the command of Capt.
Charles Alexander. These two vessels left Baltimore
late in November, and were the first regular cruisers
that went to sea under the new government. They
joined the fleet of Commodore Hopkins, at the mouth
of the Delaware, and aided in the descent on New
Providence. A short time after this the " Wasp"
captured a British tender in the Delaware, and Bar-
ney, who had been transferred to her for his gallant
conduct, was made a lieutenant in the Continental
navy.

On the 13th of December, 1775, Congress ordered
the fitting out of thirteen ships for the Continental
navy, and under this act the " Virginia," a frigate of
twenty-eight guns, was built at Fell's Point by Mr.
Wells, ship-builder. It was finished early in the spring
of 1776, and Capt. James Nicholson was assigned to
the command. Having received her crew and equip-
ments, the " Virginia" made an attempt to get to sea,
March 30, 1776, but ran aground between the capes,
and was captured by the British frigate " Emerald,"
Capt. Caldwell. Capt. Nicholson escaped, but Lieut.
Joshua Barney, with his brother William, who was
an officer of the marines, and the rest of the crew fell
into the hands of the enemy. Congress instituted an
inquiry, but acquitted Capt. Nicholson of all blame.
He subsequently fought two of the most remarkable
naval combats of the war.

Not only did the State of Maryland and town of
Baltimore lend their aid to the construction and
equipment of the infant navy of the United Colonies,
but there was also a Maryland navy, built, equipped,
manned, and maintained by Baltimore Town and the

State, which rendered most valuable services both in
defense and attack during the war of the Revolution.
The " Defense," mounting twenty-two six-pounders
and swivels, fitted out at Baltimore, under Capt.
James Nicholson, was a successful cruiser, and cap-
tured many prizes. The brigs " Friendship" and
"Amelia," the sloop-of-war "Hebe Johnson," twenty-
two guns, the galleys " Johnson," " Independence,"
"Baltimore," "Conqueror," "Chester," "Molly,"
and others, the barges " Revenge," " Terrible," " In-
trepid," "Protector," "Experiment," "Venus," "De-
fense," "Reformation," "Dolphin," and "Fear-
naught" rendered most valuable service in the waters
of the Chesapeake and elsewhere. Among the gal-
lant officers and men of the Maryland navy who dis-
tinguished themselves in the Revolutionary contest
were Capts. James Nicholson, James Cooke, Thomas
Grason, John Belt, John Gordon, Robert Dashiell,
John Green, James Stewart Davis, Zedekiah Walley,
William Corbin, William Middleton, Levin Spedden,
Daniel Brian, William Delisle Frazier, and John
Lynn.1

1 Dec. 12,1776, the Maryland navy numbered twenty-five vessels, car-
rying each from twenty to thirty guns.

September 13th, Capt. George Cooke, appointed to the command of the
" Defense," carrying twenty-two six-pounders and several swivels, went
on a cruise and captured five brigs.

The British vessel " The Otter," March 7,1776, accompanied by several
tenders, passed the Severn sailing towards Baltimore. They captured a
Hew England sfchooner in the Patuxent, and two or three small vessels.
Dispatches sent throughout the province quickly assembled a defensive
force. Capt, Nicholson, in the " Defense," stood out from Baltimore with
the purpose of grappling ''The Otter," but she moved quickly out of the
Patapsco. This gallant little vessel we find advertised Nov. 14,1778, as
follows : " The ship ' Defense,' sufficiently armed and manned to keep off
small privateers, will take in tobacco in Wye River, delivered alongside,
for Nantz, in France, the freight one-half for the owner, with the prefer-,
ence of having the proceeds back in woolens, linens, or the like articles,
on half the usual freight, it being intended to mount twelve guns and
ship a sufficient number of men for her voyage back." In July the
State sold the State boat " Amelia." In June a large number of bay
craft were impressed by the State to convey to the Head of Elk the pro-
visions bought by the government in Virginia. In December the galleys
" Independence" and the " Baltimore" were dispatched, under a resolu-
tion of the General Assembly, on an expedition southward. In accord-
ance with the resolution of Congress of Sept. 2,1778, the brig " Friend-
ship," Capt. Thomas Parker, another ship, " Susannah," Capt. Davis
Hatch, loaded in Maryland with flour for the Eastern States: also sloop
" Hannah," Crtpt. Paul Hussey, schooner " Swan," Capt. Styles, for
Boston, the " Chester" and the " Conqueror," with the " Dolphin," with
Commodore Grason, were dispatched on a cruise of two months around
the capes for the protection of commerce. The schooner " Hazard," Capt.
Perkins, was dispatched with flour for Portsmouth, N. H. April, 1779,
sloop " James," Capt. Shadrach Ames, with flour to Virginia; sloop
" Molly," Capt. Peregrine Dunk, with flour to Virginia, and several vessels
sent to the French fleet with supplies and vegetables. Col. Henry Hol-
lingsworth was authorized, April, 1780, to press vessels necessary for the
transportation of troops from the Head of Elk to Virginia; Commodore
Grason, those in Annapolis. The vessels were under the command of
Commodore Grason, with Capt. Joseph Middleton, Lieut. James Ewing,
and Lieut. James Skinner, Nov. 17,1780. " Some of the enemy's small
armed vessels have lately visited several places on the Eastern Shore
and the mouth of the Patuxent, where they have committed fhe greatest
outrages. Not content with plundering the inhabitants of their ne-
groes, cattle, and other property, they have savagely laid many of
their habitations in ashes. Bousby Hall, the elegant seat of Col. William
Fitzhugh, and a handsome dwelling-house, the property of John Parran,
Esq., both situated near the mouth of the Patuxent, are entirely con-
sumed by the means of these incendiaries."
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The defense of the State and "its trade" were not
wholly withdrawn from the exertions of the citizens,
and the act of Congress of the 23d of March, 1776,.
authorizing the fitting out of private armed vessels,
offered to the enterprise and patriotism of the citi-
zens of Baltimore an opportunity of acquiring wealth,
while defending their commerce and protecting the
people from the depredations of the common enemy.
Under this act privateering became a business as well
of fortune as of patriotism. Under the supervision of
men of the highest naval character, this kind of vol-
unteer warfare was kept from degenerating into piracy,
its too common consequence. The maritime law of
nations until 1856 gave no protection to the property
of peaceful traders on ttie high seas. While on land
the articles of war respected private property, on the
sea every species of property belonging to the people
of a belligerent was liable to lawful capture and con-
demnation. The people of Baltimore availed them-

selves of their legal privilege to a greater extent than
any other city or town of the United States. The
powerful navy of Great Britain blockaded the Chesa-
peake and destroyed the commerce of Baltimore.
Hundreds of vessels were idle, confined to the port,
and their crews unemployed. In this condition the
best citizens of Baltimore became volunteers on the
sea, as well as volunteers on the land, and from the
decks of their private armed vessels displayed the
same valor and intrepidity that characterized their
behavior in the ranks of the army.

Prior to the acts of Congress, the Council of Safety
issued licenses to privateers, but upon the passage of
the act of March 23, 1776, a Court of Admiralty was
established by the Convention of Maryland, with
William Hayward as judge.

The archives of Maryland exhibit the following list
of authorized privateers from April 1,1777, to March
14, 1783:

Baltimore Privateers from 1777 to 1783.

or VESSEL. Captain.

Schooner Montgomery
Ship Chase
Brigantine Buckskin.Heto
Schooner Gist
Sloop Black Jake
Schooner Beggar's Per-

mission

John Burnell
Benjamin Chew..
Edward Brooke...
Henry Geddes.....
Bobert Polk...

Schooner Swallow
" Potomac
" Sturdy Beggar...
" Enterprise

Sloop Mars
Schooner Williaminta

" Adventure
" Gen. Smallwood.

Sloop General Gates
Schooner Swift
Sloop Peggy
Brig Delaware
Sloop Morris and Wallace.
Brig Saratoga
Sloop Delight

" Molly
Schooner Willie and Minta

*' Johnson
" Baltimore

Brig Bautrus
" La Compte'g Denery..

Sloop Concord
Schooner Beggar's Benison
Sloop Fly
Schooner Savage...)
Sloop Richardson..

" Eclipse
" Washington

Schooner Widow Wadman.
Sloop Dolphin.
Brig Burling
Schooner Polly Sudler
Sloop Butledge

" Mercury
Tly

" Abingdon
" Richmond
" Ranger
" Adriana.
" Lady Washington-

Schooner Lively
" Molly
» Swallow
" Dorchester
" Dolphin
" Camden

Thomas Steele

John Martin
JosiahDoraey—
James Campbell
John Brynon
Norris Copp-r
Thomas Waters...
Thomas Robinson...
John Rogers
Thomas Steele
William Kennedy...
Collin Fountain
John Angus
Nich. Martin
Alexander Murray.
David Porter
Daniel Deshon
William Skillom
William Yardsley..
John Fanning
C. Watts
Piere Adelon
Robert Brisson
F. Stiles
Jonathan Parsons...
Henry Geddes
Nathan Cooper
Jonathan Clarke
John Burrows
Salisbury Blackmer.
Jos. Dashiell
Robert Caulfleld
John Mitchell
John Earle
JoBiah Hill
John Winning
James Handy
Henry Geddes
John Wainwright...
Joseph Veasey
Nathaniel Cooper.._
John Baldwin
William Thomas
William Bowin
Solomon Frazier
Benjamin Allen
Jeremiah Allen

10

4 4
12, 8
14;H
6 4'

Owners. Date of Commission and where
Owned.

25; 6
1 04i

8 10
6 10

4

10 10
8' 4
2

William Lux and Samuel Purviance

William Hammond, Thomas Russell, Stalia Hep-
burn, J. & J. Wilson

Hugh Young '•
Robert T. Hooe, of Charles County
S. & R. Purviance, Lux, Bowley, and others
John McClure
James Calhoun & Co
I. Vanbibber, etc
James Williams, etc
State of Marylaud
Thomas Steele and William Hammond
Joseph and James Williams
William Spear
Joseph Williams
Charles Wallace
S. & R. Purviance
Hugh Young
State of Maryland
Vanbibber, etc
Daniel Bowley -
Samuel Hughes
William Hammond .
Piere Adelon

John Craig
S. & R. Purviance..

Charles Wallace j Baltimore, April 1,1777.
" April 30,1777.

John Crockett " April 31,1777.
William Hammond " Jnne 17,1777.

" June 23,1777.

July 7,1777.
" July 23,1777.
" July 25,1777.

Aug. 5.1777.
" Sept. 12,1777.

Dec. 10,1777.
" Oct. 20,1777.

Thomas Russell and William Hindman..
Hugh Young
I. Vanbibber, etc
David Stewart & Co •
John Japett & Co
John Sterett and Daniel Bowley
John McClure & Co ....<
Benjamin Crockett
Isaac Vanbibber
William Patterson
S. & R. Purviance

John Wainwright
Joseph Veasey _
I. A A. Vanbibber
Samuel Rodley, Jus. Martin
Arch. Patterson
S. & R. Purviance
James Byns
R. & A. McKim
Capt. Charles Ridgely

" Oct. 29,1777.
" Oct. 19,1777.

« Oct. 20,1777.
Ann Arundel, Oct. 19,1777.
Baltimore, Oct. 20,1777.

u (c ((
" May 15,1778.
" May 28,1778.

" June 8,1778.

« June 11,1778.
u it <(

June 22,1778.
" June 25,1778.

Talbot, July 25,1778.
Baltimore, July 30,1778.

" Aug. 3,1778.
" Aug. 10,1778.
" Aug. 6, 1778.
" Aug. 18, 1778.
" Sept. 12,1778.
" Sept. 14, 1778.

Sept. 24,1778.

Oct. 9,1778.
" Oct. 14, 1778.

Dorchester Co., Oct. 16,1778.
Baltimore, Oct. 16,1778.
Dorchester Co., Oct. 26,1778.
Baltimore, Nov. 7,1778.

« Nov. 9,1778.
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Baltimore Privateers from 1777 to 1783.—Continued.

NAME or VESSEL.

Sloop Irish Gimblet
Brig Columbus
Sloop Bennington

" Despatch
Brigantine Salisbury
Schooner Nelly and Polly.

" Dragon
Sloop Annapolis
Ship Buckskin
Brigantine Sally
Sloop Little Sam
Schooner James

" Speedwell
Sloop Swift

" Franklin
" Fly
" Despatch
" General Gates

Schooner General Gates....
Brig Columbus
Sloop Forpus
Brigantine Snake

" King Fannuil..
Brig Nancy
Sloop Hero
Schooner Baltimore Hero..

" Laurens
Brigantine Lively

" Revenge
Ship Fancy
Schooner Camden..'.

" Dragon
Sloop Despatch

" Swallow
Schooner Greyhound

" Fidelity
" Baltimore

Brig Fox
Schooner Fly
Sloop Isabella
Schooner Johnson
Sloop Bennington
Schooner Lark

" Little Davy
Brig Maryland

Captain.

Thomas Steele
Thomas Moore
William Newton
Clem. Harrison
George Buchanan...
Jesse Weatherby....
Thomas Johnson....
James Forbes
Aquila Johns
Ign. Fenwick
William Weems
John Hanson
Hugh Lyle
James Gould
James Tate
Alexander Cain
John Frazier
Joseph Douty
Benjamin Tatem
Alexander Murray.
Nicholas Martin
L. Mathewman
Thomas DickBon
P. Briamant
Frederick Baker
James Earle
Clem. Harrison
James Belt
James Buchanan....
Benjamin Loxley....
J. Walters
Alexander Cain
Thomas Walker
John Martiu
H.Geddes
Jeremiah Yellott..
Kobert Caulfield....
Benjamin Dashiell,
Eaton Randolph....
Levin Trippe
Peter Houston
Robert Craige
William Coward....
Thomas Kelt
Benjamin King

1
•s

N
o.

w
iv

el

*O

N
o.

Owners.

12! 2i
6 "i
1 4
6 ...
6...
2 2
2 2!

128 ...
10 4!
6 4
2, 6!
2j 6|

4
10
10 10

John McClure
S. & R. Purviance .

10 6
6 4

14 6
10 4

6 7!
6 10

14: 8
4 ...;

10: 2
12 i 4
121 7:

2! 4!
•t 2

Henry Hooper
A. & G. Buchanan
Hugh and William McBride
Hugh Young & Co
James Williams & Co
S. & R. Purviance and others
Arch. Buchanan, I>. Bowley
David Weems
David Stuart
Blair McClanagau
John McClure, John Sterett..
Daniel Bowley
William Patterson
John Johnson
D. H.Cunningham
Hugh Young
S. & K. Purviance
John Davidson & Co Annapolis, April 23, 1779.
D. Stewart & Co i Baltimore, April 28, 1779.

" ~ " May 3,1779.
" May 6,1779.

May 10,1779.
" May 15, 1779.
" May 19, 1779.

Philadelphia, May 31,1779.
Maryland, 1779.

Date of Commission and where
Owned.

Baltimore, Nov. 9,1778.
" Dec. 6,1778.
" Dec. 16,1778.
" Dec. 18,1778.
" Dec. 19,1778.

" Dec. 25,1778.
" Jan. 8,1779.
" Jan. 9,1779.
" Jan. 11,1779.
" Feb. 4,1779.
" Feb. 12,1779.
" Feb. 15, 1779.
" Feb. 6,1779.
" March 11,1779.
" March 30,1779.

Annapolis, March 30,1779.
Baltimore, April 5,1779.

61 6

H. Young & Co
A. Marmayone
R. Curson
R. 4 J. Crockett, J. Sterett.
S. S. Magruder
Robert Morris
Charles Wallace
S. & R. Purviance ! Baltimore, June 14,1779.
John Stewart&Co ; " June 15,1779.
Hugh Young & Co " " "
John Johnson ! Annapolis, June 19,1779.
John Doreey & Co ' Baltimore, July 17,1779.

6 6 J. Hollingsworth....
William Smith

6 John Doreey & Co..

4 William Neill
2 John McClure & Co..,
4 Alexander Murray...
5 John Dorsey & Co
4 D.Stewart

!
2! Hooe& Harrison..

Sloop General Lincoln ' John Harrison

Sloop Hope George Garston

Brigantine Queen of France
Schooner Betsey
Brig Lady de Miralles

" Alexander
Brigantine Donia Anthony

Talbot
Sloop General Wayne
Brig Hercules
Schooner Peggy

" Despatch
Molly

Sloop Lark Carthen
Schooner Chance
Brig Black Prince....
Schooner Humming-Bird...

" Two Sisters
Brig Fox
Schooner Lizzard

" Blowson
" Dove
" Phoenix
" Isabella
" Centurion

Brigantine Virginia
Schooner Morrice

Holker
Brig Ranger
Schooner Jennie Fendant..
Sloop Porpoise
Brig Willing Lass
Schooner Two Sisters

" Laurens
Sloop Jane
Schooner Freemason
Brig Duke

" Porgie
Schooner Dorchester

Thomas Saunders....
John Nichols
Joseph Faribault....
Thomas Conway
John Haw
Solomon Frazier ,
Newton Cannon
James Forbes
H.Putnam
Thomas Walker
Joseph Elliott
Thomas Waters
D. Durham
John Rogers
John Stout
William Thompsou.
George Buchanan...,
Paul Hussey ,
B. Bradhurst
John McKirdy
Joseph Dority
Levin Trippe
William Woolsey
Joseph Greenway
C. Harrison ;
William Coward
Thomas Johnson
Thomas Gibbons
William Weems
Thomas Williams.
William Jones
William Waud
M. Parkinson ,
William Thomas
C. Warring
J. Faribault
James Frazier ,

30 10 10 Stevenson, Steward & Co..

2. . . James Williams & Co..

John Doreey & Co
H.Nichols
John Dorsey & Co
John McClure, etc
George Meade ACo
Joseph Chamberlain
Samuel Smith
Young, Knox & Co
R. Curson
Joseph Dawson
Archibald Patterson

J. Moses & Co...

John Dorsey & Co..

R. Curson 4 Co
A. Buchanan
D. Stewart & Co
William Neill
D. Stewart & Co
Hooe & Harrison.
Matthew, Ridley & Co

Daniel Bowley, J. McClure
Smith, Matthews & Co
Robert Morris, of Phila.; 8. Steward, of Maryland

I Henry Dennis
| John Sterett & Co
' John McClure, Thomas Yates
O'Neal, DeakinsA Co
A. Pattison & Co.
C. Crookshauk.
S. Smith & Co
Robertson Stevens

" July 19,1779.
July 26,1779.

" Aug. 11,1779.

" Aug. 13,1779.
" Aug. 14,1779.
'• Aug. 18, 1779.

" Aug. 30,1779.
Maryland and Virginia, Sept.

30, 1779.
Maryland and Virginia, Oct. 18,

1779.
Maryland and Virginia, Oct. 19,

1779.
Baltimore, Oct. 25,1779.
Maryland, Oct. 30,1779.
Baltimore, Nov. 4,1779.

" Nov. 18, 1779.
Philadelphia, Nov. 29,1779.
Talbot County, Dec. 3,1779.
Baltimore, Dec. 11,1779.

" Jan. 3,1780.
" Feb. 28,1780.

Annapolis, Feb. 29, 1780.
Dorchester Co., March 10,1780.

" " March 11,1780.
Philadelphia, March 13,1780.

Baltimore, March 13,1780.

" March 18,1780.
" April 6,1780.

April 18,1780.
Alexandria, Va., April 11,1780.
Baltimore, April 19,1780.

" April 22, 1780.

April 24,1780.
Worcester Co., Md., May 3,1780.
Baltimore, May 6,1780.

" May 9,1780.
" May 10, 1780.

" June 19, 1780.
Dorchester Co., June 24,1780.

l And 200 tons.
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Baltimore Privateers from 1777 to 1783.—Continued.

NAME or VESSEL.

Brig Revenge..

Captain. CD Owners.

Neabet

Schooner Molly
Brig Fox

** Hercules
Brigantine Trooper

" Duke of LeinBter
Brig Hawke I
Schooner Tucker
Brig Viper
Schooner Fidelity j

" Antelope
" Grampus ,
" Eagle
" Necessity I,
" Bamble
" Rover

Brig Eandoph !

Schooner Young Neptune..
" Resource
" Henry j
" Luzerne ;

Brig Rambler |
" Fair American !

Schooner Holker
" Lady Lee
" Fountain
" Success
" Unity !

Brig Hawke I
" Cato I

Sloop Porpoise \
Schooner Little Davy >

" Hope ...I
Brig Ranger

" Fox
Schooner Nautilus

" Antelope
" Felicity

Brigantine Duke of Lein-
ster.

Ship Tom Lee
Schooner Mantopony
Brig Nesbit
Schooner Somerset
Brig General Gist
Barge Independence
BrigOtho
Schooner Good Adventure..

" Resource
u Maria
'* Dragon

Brig Alexander
Brigantine Spitfire
Sloop Alphin
Schooner Betsey |

" Camden
Ship Venus

" Matilda
Schooner Perseverance \
Ship General O'Reily
Schooner Antelope
Ship Iris
Schooner Camden
Ship Count de Grass©
Brigantine Common Sense

" Letitia
Brig Recovery i

" Richmond J
" Hamburg i

Brigantine Count de Ro-
chambeau j

Brigantine Le Chevalier
D'Aumoure

Brigantine Le Count de
Grasse ,

Brigantine Ester
Schooner Return

" Alert
" Paragon

Ship York
Schooner Resolution

'* Harlequin
Brigantine Neabit
Ship Favorite

" Financier
Brigantiue Sea Belle

u Ranger

A. Murray
James Forbes
John Stewart
James Buchanan..
John Carey
James McCoy
William Taylor....
James Clifton
Thomas Steele
John Hanson
F. Folger
J. Yellott
J. Hill
Jos. Keiner
F. C. Dubreuel
James Tate
Thomas Patten
John Giffords
G. La Roche
Jos. Audett
B. Falcon
P. Sharpe
J. Buffington
L. Kiersted
R. Montgomery....
R.Dashiell
G.Chad wick
B.Allen
J.Elliott
John Bull
B. Weeks
W.Weems
Ruth Johns
James Gould
James Buchanan..
T. Steele
J. Kiersted
F. Folger.
T. Cole

o

32
30

13
22
60
40
60
31

6

12
14

4
8
16
12
16
10

o
is

"2
2
6

21

12: 8
3, 2

10
28
30
U
12
17

..; 25

.. 26

..! 14

... 14

..1 20

.. 20

..' 25

.. 30

.. 40

..] 18
10
12 6
42 14
22

. . . | 20

... 39

14.
10 .
14 .
4!

4
4 .

10.
6, 4

John Muir
Robert Morris, of Philadelphia; John Nesbit, of

Philadelphia; 3. Steward, of Baltimore
Smith, Johnson & Co
John Dorsey & Co
Young, Knox &Co
D. Stewart
W. Neill

61 William Smith
Richard Curson
D. Stewart

JohnSterett
H. Brown & Co
J. Kemer & Co
Verdue, Karlognew, Pagan & Co., of Cadiz....
S. Smith and D. Bowley

10 ..
14..

R. Caulfield
G. Buchanan
R.Walsh
J. Forbes..
W. Jones
P. Sharpe
T. Debark
John Martin
C. Besse
Jos. Audet
P. Milhaut
J. Handy
S. T. Boucher
C. Besse..
S. Davis
J. Brice
J. Foster
J.Buchanan
J. Belt
Thomas Sanders..
C. Alexander
J. Yellott.....
Thos. Cole
Jos. Foster
J. J. Sewell
F. Knox
Robt. Collings
S. Spooner
H. Hughes
G. Blackwell

John Given & Co
Lacaze & Mallett, of Philadelphia.
Dumaste, of Baltimore
John Smoot and Thomas Russel
John McClure
William Patterson & Bro
S. & R. Purviance
Ridley & Pringle
J.Williams, etc
R. Curson & Co
A. McKim & Co
R. Ewing, etc
Ridley 4 Pringle
S. & W. Smith
Robert Morris, of Phila.; J. Davidson, Baltimore.,
William Taylor & Co
Jos. Jaffray
Mathey, Riddle & Co
John Dorsey

2 John Sterett & Co..4| u .. u

T. Patten

J. Soujeau

0. Daniel
L. Hubal
T. Johnson
W. Beall
J. Jones
T. Moore
J.King
S. White
Jesse James...
J. Buchanan...
D. Darby
Geo. Doek
Roger Boyer...

18

William Neill & Co
A. Buchanan
T.Rutland
Bobert Morris, John Nesbit
John Sterett & Co
T. tfe W. Johnson
Jos. Handy
S. Smith

17 j 10 ...

20! 10

25
15
17
12
20
41
12
28
35
80
4il
21
iO

8
8
6
4
6
10
6
6
12
22
10
6
10

John Damerte
James Durand & Co
Hugh Young & Co
John McClure
John Damerte
N. Lowe, of Philadelphia
George Meade, Philadelphia
J. Sterett
A. Buchanan
John Dorsey & Co
Thorogood Smith
George Meade Sc Co., Philadelphia
J. Yellott & Co
J. Yellott & Co
J. Sterett
I. and Abraham Yanbibber
D. Harris, of Baltimore; Blair, of Philadelphia....
Chas. Young, of Philadelphia
Jas. Jaffrey
Messenocoi
P. Liemon

Date of Commission and where
Owned.

Maryland, June 24,1780.

Baltimore, June 24,1780.

July 1,1780.
July 24,1780.
Aug. 8,1780.
Aug. 14,1780.

Aug. 17,1780.

" Aug. 24,1780.
" Aug. 25,1780.
" Aug. 28, 1780.

Sept. 5,1780.
Sept. 7,1780.

1780.
Baltimore, Sept. 9,1780.

" Sept. 11,1780.
tt « tt

" Sept. IS, 1780.

Annapolis, Oct. 19.1780.
Baltimore, Oct. 26,1780.

" Nov. 22, 1780.
Dorchester Co., Nov. 30,1780.
Baltimore, Dec. 6,1780.

" Dec. 30,1780.
" Jan. 1,1781.
" Jan. 9,1781.
" Jan. 12,1781.

Jan. 19,1781.

" Jan. 20,1781.
Feb. 22,1781.

Annapolis, May 10,1781.
Baltimore, May 11,1781.

May 19,1781.
" June 23,1781.
« June 30,1781.
" July 5,1781.

July 7,1781.
iburg,Va.,July7,1781.
, July 7,1781.

July 8,1781.
Jan. 18,1782.

Jan. 22,1782.
Feb. 19,1782.
Feb. 21,1782.
March 2, 1782.

March 29,1782.

Frederioki
Baltimore,

I. Hudson

J. Lattel & Co. .

Rumey, Demare, and other Frenchmen..
J. Benel de Blequer, of Yorktown, Va....
T. Johnson and D. Reese
S. Ingles & Co., of Philadelphia
Stewart & Salmon
John McClure and Hugh Young
S. Gerock
Wm. Taylor and D. Bowley
S. Steward & Co
Wallace, Johnson, Muir & Co
H. Young & Co
J. McClnre
D. Bowley

April 6,1782.
April 8,1782.
April 12,1782.
April 20,1782.
April 30,1782.
May 20,1782.

May 12,1782.

May 28,1782.

June 22,1782.
June 24,1782.
June 26,1782.
June 29,1782.
July 3,1782.
July 13,1782.
July 15, 1782.
July 18, 1782.
Aug. 1, 1782.
Aug. 3, 1782. -
Aug. 9,1782.
Aug. 27, 1782.
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Baltimore Privateers from 1777 to 1783.—Continued.

NAME OF VESSEL.

Schooner Squirrel
" Return
" Antelope

Ship Jolly Tar
Brigantine New Orleans...
Schooner Plunkett

" Harlequin
Brig Ceres j
Schooner Cool and Easy....1
Brig Tartar I

" Escape
Schooner Clio

" Havana
" Freeman

Brigantine Conquedor, of
Madrid

Brigantine St. Patrick

Captain. S O to

•5 *
Owners. Date of Commission and where

Owned.

W. Coward
Ed. Peters
Geo. Garston
C. Harrison
T. Carey
D. Campbell
S. White
J. Channing
C. Thompkins
S.Williams
Wm. Smith
C. Dashiell
H. White
;Wm. Thomas

22
17
32
65
18
16
28
35
35

...| 25

... 39
.... 25
.... 12

14L
2 '..
4 .

10;..
12 .
10i.
10 ..
12 ..

J. Latreyte
W. Atchinson..

Schooner Despatch j T. Stansbury..
Ship Navigator j P. Briamant...

Nantes
Schooner Sally
Brigantine Hamburg
Ship Caroline
Schooner Jackett
Brig Duke de Criilon
Brigantine Hibernia

Eagle
Schooner Havana..

Greyhound

W. Weems
T. Conway
Jas. Forbes
J. Angus
Ed. Parkinson
P. Barrier
S. Benezett
E. Ewart
T. Channing 15

21

25
30

30
36
30
14
30

6i...

8 ...
a;...
6...

121...
8....
61...

10 ...

j A. Buchanan
T. Johnson, D. Resso, and D. Patterson
Sterett 4 Yellott
Henry, Messennior, & Zolleckoffer
J. B. McCarty, of New Orleans
D.Stewart
Wm. Taylor and D. Bowley
T. Worthington
Wm. Spear & Co
R. Smith, of Havana

I Jas. Smith
A. S. Ennalls

, T. Worthington and T. Tates
J C Crookshank

De Carriere Herrua
S. & A. Cromio and R. Smith & Co., of Cape Fran-

cois..
D. Stewart
J. Caze and Michael Mallett, of Philadelphia...
Clias. Wallace
W. & H. Lyles, of Alexandria, Va
Paul Leioneer

60 16!...' J. W. Stanley, of Philadelphia
30 10:...! S. Steward & Son and Thos. Tates

H. Willson.. 20

i Geo. Salmon..
Pringle & Wilson, of Philadelphia..
Thos. Russell *
Thos. Worthington .

The above is a list of two hundred and forty-eight
privateers with letters-of-marque and reprisals which
sailed from the port of Baltimore in the period from
April 1, 1777, to March 14, 1783. They carried an
aggregate armament of eighteen hundred and ten
guns and six hundred and forty swivels ; the number
of men being omitted in many of the letters, cannot
be given.

These privateers were the nurse of the infant navy
of the country, and many of our most distinguished
naval officers began their careers as captains or officers
of Baltimore cruisers. We need only refer to the
names of John Rogers, Samuel Rogers, David Porter,
Alexander Murray, Joshua Barney, and Joseph El-
liott as an evidence of the character of the men who
commanded our early privateers.

The admiralty notices in the archives show how
well the work of capture was carried on. We select
a few of these:

Jan. 2,1777.—" Enterprise" vs. brigantine " Clementina."
" Enterprise," Capt. Campbell, vs. sloop " Fame."

Jan. 21.—" Montgomery," Commander Wm. Rogers, vs. schooner " Han-
nah."

" Montgomery," Commander Wm. Rogers, vs. brigantine
" Minerva."

" Lexington," U. S., Commander Wm. Halloch, vs. brigan-
tine " Mary Ann."

1778.—" Mary and Elizabeth," Commander John Rian, vs. sloop " Little
John."

" Antelope," Capt. F. Folger, and u Felicity," Capt. Cole, vs.
" Jack-o'-the-Lantern."

" Recovery," Capt. Chadwick, vs. a barge, the schooner " William
and Polly,'' the " Betsey," a whale-boat, and a pettiaugre.

" Revenge," " Terrible," and " Intrepid," Capts. Thos. Grason,
Robert Dashiell, and Levin Speddin, vs. two schooners and a
barge.

Baltimore, Aug. 27,1782.
" Aug. 28, 1782.
" Aug. 30,1782.
" Sept. 6,1782.

" Sept. 26,1782.
" Sept 27, 1782.

" Oct. 12,1782.

Oct. 14,1782.
Oct. 25,1782.

Oct. 26,1782.

Dec. 2,1782.
Dec. 7,1782.
Dec. 11,1782.
Dec. 14,1782. i
Dec. 28,1782.
Jan. 1, 1783.
Jan. 4,1783.

Jan. 23,1783.
Feb. 10, 1783.

March 14, 1783.

" Kitty," Henry Darnell, vs. sloop " Swift."
Notice of payment of prize-money to " Harlequin," for captain of

ship " Lydia."
" Sturdy Beggar," Capt. John McNeal, vs. brigantine " Provi-

dence and Mary."
Same against ship " Elizabeth."
" Revenge," Capt. Gosland, vs. sloop " Maccaroni."

These and many other notices show how well the
work of making the goods of an enemy contribute
to the support of the war was carried on by Baltimore
privateers.

The cruises of these privateers were filled with
romantic adventure and hair-breadth escapes, and

I are well worthy of preservation. The Chesapeake
Bay was infested with Tories, refugees, thieves, and
pirates, whose depredations were not confined to ves-
sels and commerce, but, aided by the numerous rivers,
bays, and indentations of the coast, they roamed at
large, plundering defenseless houses and4 robbing
whenever opportunity offered. To break up the nests
of these pirates, to capture and punish them, and to
protect the land as well as defend the commerce, all
fell within the duty of the Maryland navy and the
Baltimore privateers.

The enemy, notwithstanding his great .superiority
in vessels of war, resorted also to privateers, and
numerous actions took place between the private
armed vessels of both belligerents. Off the mouth of
the Rappahannock, on the 13th June, 1779, an engage-
ment took place between a fleet of Maryland priva-
teers, composed of the " Baltimore Hero," commanded
by Capt. Earle, the brigs "Lively," Capt. Belt, the
" Lady Washington," Capt. Greenway, and four pilot-
boats, with two of the enemy's privateers, each mount-
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ing twelve guns. Capts. Earle and Belt immediately
came to close quarters with the enemy, and a severe
contest ensued. The capture of the enemy's vessels
was only prevented by the timely arrival of a fleet,
which rendered the contest too unequal, forced the
Baltimore fleet to retire, but not until it had retaken
an American privateer from the enemy.

The " Antelope," Capt. Folger, and the " Felicity,"
Oapt. Cole, recaptured the British ship " Resolution,"
laden with sugar and cotton for Amsterdam, captured
by Earl Cornwallis off Charleston, S. C, and on re-
turning from Gaudaloupe they captured the British
privateer " Jack-o'-Lantern,"1 carrying six guns and
one hundred and thirty-six men, in 1781, off the Pa-
tuxent River. Another of the enemy's privateers,
mounting three guns and carrying thirty men, was
captured at sea by the " Antelope," Capt. Garston._

The schooner " Flying Fish," of Baltimore, bound
to Havana, was captured by the privateer brigantine
" Glory," of St. Augustine. Her owner and captain,
M. Delisle, with a lad of eighteen years, was left on
board with a prize crew of six men. The captain
having tried by every means to recapture his vessel
without loss of life, on the 7th of October; 1782, was
in self-defense obliged to kill the prize-master; and
having secured the crew in the hold, recovered his
vessel, and safely brought her to Savannah.

The action which the " Naval History"2 styles " the
most brilliant that ever occurred under the national
flag" was fought by the " Hyder Ally," commanded
by Lieut. Joshua Barney, carrying sixteen six-pound-
ers and one hundred and ten men, with the " General
Monk," mounting twenty nine-pounders and carrying
one hundred and thirty-six men, commanded by Capt.
Rogers of the British navy. To rid the Delaware
River and bay of refugee barges and privateers, Lieut.
Barney proceeded from Philadelphia, convoying at
the same time a fleet of merchant vessels to sea; and
while in this service a British fleet hove in sight, and
the "General Monk" bore down upon the " Hyder
Ally." The presence of overpowering numbers did
not deter the gallant Barney from promptly accept-
ing the challenge of the "General Monk;" and seiz-
ing a raking position within pistol-range, he fought
his ship with such gallantry as not only to capture
her adversary, but to win the applause of his country
and merit the high compliment of the historian of
his country's navy.

Notwithstanding the success that attended the efforts
of Baltimore privateers, many were captured, lost at
sea, or destroyed to prevent their falling into the
hands of the enemy. The material damage done to
the enemy by prLvateering has been estimated at
one million pounds, but the benefit derived by the

1 This " Jack-o'-Lantern" had given very great annoyance to com-
merce. Previous to her capture by the " Antelope" she had captured a new
schooner from Boston, bound to Baltimore, near the entrance of the
capes and sent her to New York, and later, off the mouth of the Potomac,
a schooner from Baltimore to Virginia.

2 Cooper's Naval History, i., p. 269.

States, their citizens and their cause, must be meas-
ured not only by the money value, but by the material
aid and assistance derived from those captures, and so
urgently needed by the people.

Again during the war (1793) between England
and France many Baltimore privateers sailed under
French letters-of-marque issued by citizen Genet to
prey upon the commerce of Great Britain. The num-
ber of these vessels sailing from Baltimore under the
French flag is stated to have been from forty to fifty,
but as no patriotic motive could be pleaded for their
justification, they can now be regarded as but very
little better than legalized pirates, inspired by no
higher purpose than individual gain and plunder.

The war of 1812-15 between the United States and
Great Britain called for the utmost exertion of our
merchant marine to supplement the great disparity in
number of ships and weight of metal between the
navies of the belligerents. Baltimore quickly re-
sponded, and the part taken by her merchant marine
was equally as meritorious as that of her citizens in
the army. Her swift-sailing ships were to be seen on
every sea, and the commerce of Great Britain suffered
from their attacks in all quarters of trie globe. It
may be stated, as showing the immense profits of
some of those vessels, that the "Rossie" in forty-five
days took prizes valued at one million two hundred
and eighty-nine thousand dollars, and from July to
November of her next cruise captured prizes that
yielded one million five hundred thousand dollars.
The " Rolla" captured prizes valued at two million
five hundred thousand dollars, and the "Amelia"
others worth five hundred thousand dollars.

War was declared on June 18, 1812, and on Satur-
day, July 11th, Nilea' Register says, " From Balti-
more there will, in a few days, be at sea twelve or
fifteen of the fastest sailing and best found and
appointed vessels in the world, carrying from ten to
sixteen guns each, and from eighty to one hundred
and twenty men." On the following day " seven
privateers sailed from Baltimore," and " within four
months her merchants sent to sea forty-two armed
vessels, carrying about three hundred and thirty guns,
and from two thousand eight hundred to three thousand
men." Had .the brave commanders of these adven-
turous cruisers been in the Federal service their names
would have been placed high in the roll of honor, but
as it is the names of Barney, Boyle, Stafford, Murphy,
Wilson, Wiscott, Pratt, Southcomb, Veasy, Levely,
Grant, Dawson, Moon, Richardson, and a host of
others have been almost or quite forgotten; and
neither does the storied marble commemorate, nor
the historic page record, the gallant services that, by
crippling the enemy's navy, contributed so much to
our success.

Among the most notable privateers and letters-of-
marque that sailed out of the port of Baltimore to
harass and annoy British trade and commerce we
may mention the following:
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The " Dash," July 10, 1812, captured in Hampton
Roads the British schooner " Whiting."

The "Falcon," on the 18th of July, on her passage
from Boston to Bordeaux, with four guns and sixteen
men, when on the coast of France, was engaged with
the British cutter " Hero," with five guns and fifty
men, for two hours and a half, and finally beat her !
off, with considerable loss on both sides, after re-
pulsing the enemy three times in his attempt to board.
On the next day the "Falcon" was attacked by a ]
British privateer of six guns and forty men, and
although considerably injured by her engagement
with the cutter the day previous, she bravely returned
the privateer's fire for an hour and a half, when, the
captain and several of the crew of the " Falcon" being
wounded, she was carried by boarding while her colors
were still flying.

The privateer " Dolphin," Capt. W. S. Stafford, was
one of the most active cruisers of the war. On the
26th of July she captured an English vessel worth
eighteen thousand dollars, which was followed in Au-
gust by the capture of the British schooner " Fanny,"
valued at the same sum; and in the same month she |
also destroyed several droggers, and sent the schooner
"James" into port. Soon after she captured three i
other vessels. The ship " John Hamilton," five hun-
dred and fifty tons, mounting ten guns and carrying
thirty men, laden with seven hundred tons of ma-
hogany, was captured by her after a short action and
sent into Baltimore. When off St. Vincent, on the t
25th of January, 1813, she captured the "Hebe," six- j
teen guns and forty men, after a very severe engage-
ment, in which the captain of the enemy's vessel was
•wounded. In this action the "Dolphin" lost four
men, but was rewarded not only by her victory over
the " Hebe," but by the capture of her consort. After
this series of brilliant exploits, the "Dolphin" passed
through the blockading squadron, and arrived at Bal-
timore Feb. 13, 1813.

On the 3d of April, 1813, the British seventy-four
"St. Domingo," three frigates, two brigs, one schooner,
and two pilot-boat tenders anchored off the mouth of
the Rappahannock River for the purpose of attack-
ing the " Dolphin," two lett,ers-of-marque bound for
France, and one for Savannah, which were anchored
in the mouth of the river. While awaiting an oppor-
tunity to escape, the American vessels were attacked
by seventeen British launches and tenders containing
about forty men each. Two of the letters-of-marque
were taken with slight resistance, and the other ran
aground near the shore. The " Dolphin" bore the
brunt of the action, and the whole force of the enemy
was soon brought to bear upon her. The Register
says, " It was indeed a desperate fight against fear-
ful odds. The contest was sustained for two hours
with a gallantry peculiar to American sailors. The
«nemy finally succeeded in boarding, but the fight
was not done. On the ' Dolphin's' deck the battle
lasted fifteen minutes, when, overwhelmed by num-

bers, the brave Stafford submitted, the enemy some
time before having pulled down his colors. It appears
very certain that the British had fifty-nine killed and
wounded in the affray."

The " Globe," Capt. James Murphy, was another
very successful privateer. The ship "Sir Simon
Clark," sixteen guns and thirty-nine men, with a
cargo of sugar, rum, coffee, etc., and worth one hun-
dred and fifty thousand dollars, was captured by the
"Globe" and sent into Norfolk; she also brought
into Hampton Roads a British ship of twenty-two
guns; also the schooner "Ann," four guns, laden
with logwood and mahogany; and captured, after a
brisk engagement, the letter-of-marque ship " Boyd,"
mounting ten guns, which she sent into Philadelphia.
While Capt. Murphy was sailing off the coast of
Portugal he had a desperate engagement with an
Algerine sloop-of-war, which continued for three
hours and a half, ending in the repulse of the Algerine
vessel. He followed this with the capture of the brig
" Kingston," with a valuable cargo of rum, which he
sent into Ocracock, N. C.; with that of the ship
" Venus," fourteen guns, which he sent into Beaufort,
S. C.; with the destruction of the schooner " Eliza-
beth," from Lisbon to London; and the capture of
the ship " Pelham," and several other valuable ves-
sels, which were also sent into port. On the 3d of
November, 1813, the "Globe," then under the com-
mand of Capt. Richard Moon, had a desperate en-
gagement with two English packets at half pistol-shot
distance. The largest brig mounted eighteen guns,
and the other sixteen twelve-pounders. The former
surrendered, but owing to the disabled condition of
the " Globe" managed to get away. The loss of the
" Globe" was eight killed and fifteen wounded. The
force of the " Globe" was a "Long Tom" amidships,
and eight twelve-pound carronades, with a comple-
ment of ninety men, including oflicers and marines.
The enemy, it was supposed, lost twenty-seven men
killed and wounded, besides being terribly cut up in
their hulls, sails, and rigging.

The brig " Bellona," laden with Madeira wine and
fruit, was also captured by the " Globe."

On the 30th of August, 1812, Commodore Barney
arrived at Newport in his schooner " Rossie," after a
short but successful cruise of forty-five days along the
eastern coast of the United States. During his voyage
he captured fifteen vessels, nine of which he burned
or sunk. The prizes amounted to about two thousand
nine hundred and fourteen tons, manned by one hun-
dred and sixty-six men, and valued at one million
two hundred and eighty-nine thousand dollars. He
remained in port about ten days, when he again put
to sea, and shortly afterwards captured the British
ship " Kitty," seized the brig " Nymph," captured
and burned the ship "Princess Royal," the brigs
" Fame" and " Devonshire," and the schooner
"Squid," and captured the brig "Brothers," which
he manned with sixty prisoners and sent to St. Joh'ns
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to be exchanged for as many Americans. On Aug.
3,1813, he captured and sunk the brig " Henry" and
schooner " Race Horse," burned schooner " Halifax,"
manned the brig " William," and gave the schooner
" Two Brothers" forty prisoners, and sent them to St.
Johns on parole. August 9th he captured the ship
" Jenny," mounting twelve guns, after a short action,
and sent her into port. On August 10th the " Rossie"
seized the "Rebecca," from London, and the ship
" Euphrates," and after being chased by a number
of British frigates and ships of war, on the 16th of
September fell in with the British packet-ship
"Princess Amelia," when a desperate action com-
menced at close quarters, which resulted in a drawn
battle after both vessels had suffered considerable loss.
On October 8th the " Rossie," in company with the
"Globe," captured the schooner "Jubilee" and sent
her into port, and in the same month the '' Rossie"
seized the ship " Merrimack;" and the result of this
cruise was the capture of two hundred and seven-
teen prisoners and three thousand six hundred and
ninety-eight tons of shipping, valued at over one
million five hundred thousand dollars.

Four days after the arrival of the British fleet in
Lynn Haven Bay, on the 8th of February, 1813, the
letter-of-marque schooner "Lottery," Capt. John
Southcomb, of Baltimore, bound for France, with six
guns and twenty-eight men, was attacked by nine
boats containing two hundred and forty men from
the British squadron. Capt. Southcomb with his
brave companions gallantly sustained the attack for
two hours and thirty minutes, during which time
it was supposed that more Englishmen were killed
and wounded than the whole crew of the schooner.
The captain was wounded by five musket-balls, one
of which passed through his body, and finding that
he had exhausted all his ammunition, and that the
"enemy swarmed on his deck, he deemed further re-
sistance a useless waste of brave men's lives and sur-
rendered. The enemy had already pulled down the
colors themselves. Capt. Southcomb was taken on
board the British frigate " Belvidera," where he soon
after died, and Capt. R. Byron kindly sent his body
with a letter of condolence, in which his conduct
was spoken of in terms befitting a gallant enemy, to
his friends in Norfolk, where he was buried on the
16th of February with grand military and naval
honors. He was in the twenty-sixth year of his age.

The action between the "Nonesuch," Capt. Levely,
of Baltimore, and a British ship and schooner off
Martinique, on the 28th of September, 1812, also
shows how well these volunteers fought: "When
within reach of the ship," says Capt. Levely, " she
gave us a broadside. We bore down upon her and
hoisted American colors, and returned ten broadsides,
accompanied each time with a heavy volley of mus-
ketry, the ship and schooner keeping up a heavy fire
upon us with their great guns'and musketry. The
engagement lasted three hours and twenty minutes,

when the bolts and breachinga of our guns fore and
aft were carried away on both sides. We could then
only use our musketry, or we should certainly have
captured them both. We dismounted several of the
ship's guns, and damaged her very much in her hull
and rigging. From the confusion which appeared on
board, we judge that we must have killed and wounded
a considerable number of men ; she bore away for
Martinique; we being much crippled in our sails and
rigging could not pursue her. The ' Nonesuch' lost
during the action one officer killed (Mr. Wilkinson)
and three seamen (Samuel Christian, Lewis Riley,
and David McCarthy), and six seamen wounded. The
British lost seven killed and sixteen wounded."

The " Nonesuch" captured the schooner " Perse-
verance" and the brig "' Francis," and sent them into
Charleston ; she also captured the schooner " Fame,"
laden with dry goods and oil, and sent her into Sa-
vannah.

The privateer schooner " Highflyer," of Baltimore,
on the 27th of July, 1812, captured the schooner
" Harriet," with eight thousand dollars in specie, and
also the British ship " Diana," one of the Jamaica
fleet, richly laden with rum, sugar, and coffee. The
" Highflyer," after a brisk action with great guns and
musketry, captured the ship "Jamaica," carrying
seven guns, by boarding, the ship " Mary and Ann"
striking her colors at the same time. Both ships
reached the United States safely, loaded with sugar,
rum, coffee, logwood, etc. On her second cruise the
"Highflyer" captured the brig "Porgie," from An-
tigua, laden with rum and molasses; also the brig
" Burchall," and a number of droggers (coasting ves-
sels) plying between the West India Islands. The
brig "Active," carrying ten guns and a rich cargo,
was sent into Charleston by the same privateer.

The privateer " Sarah Ann," of Baltimore, in Au-
gust, 1812, captured the ship "Elizabeth," laden with
coffee and ginger, and carrying ten guns. The schooner
"Minorca" was captured by the "Wasp." The
schooner " Hussar," loaded with presents for Admiral
Warren, was sent into Savannah by the " Liberty,"
of Baltimore. The letter-of-marque " Baltimore"
captured the brig " Point Shares," loaded with fish,
and the " Wasp" captured the schooner " Dawson,"
with a cargo of rum and coffee. The " Tom," of Bal-
timore, captured the British mail packet "Town-
send," from Falmouth, England, after a severe en-
gagement, and the ship " Betsey" was taken by the
" Revenge," of Baltimore. The " Liberty" also cap-
tured about this time (1812) a prize schooner valued
at sixty thousand dollars. The "Rolla" captured
and burnt the schooner " Swift," and in a storm Capt.
Dewley was compelled to throw overboard all his
guns excepting one. He, however, continued his
voyage, and near Madeira, from the 12th to the 15th
of December, the "Rolla" captured, manned, and
sent to the nearest ports the following valuable ves-
sels, which were part of the Cork fleet: ship " Mary,"
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fourteen guns, of Bristol, laden with hardware, etc. ;•
ship " Eliza," of ten guns, laden with twenty thou-
sand bushels of wheat; ship "Rio Nouva," eighteen
guns, laden with dry goods; ship "Apollo," ten guns,
richly laden with king's stores; brig " Boroso," six
guns, laden with dry goods, and a schooner given up
to discharge prisoners, making a grand total of seven
vessels, fifty-eight guns, one hundred and fifty pris-
oners, and property worth between two and three
millions of dollars. Brig " General Prevost," from
Halifax, for Demerara, was captured by the " Rolla"
in 1813, and sent into New Orleans.

The " Comet," Capt. Thomas Boyle, was a famous
privateer from the port of Baltimore. Capt. Boyle,
although not born in Baltimore, was married there
on the 6th of October, 1794, and died at sea, Oct. 12,
1825. He commanded a ship when only sixteen
years old, married at eighteen, and died when only
forty-nine. Mr. Coggeshall says, " He possessed
many of the elements of a great man, for in him were
blended the impetuous bravery of a Murat with the
prudence of a Wellington. He wisely judged when
to attack the enemy, and when to retreat with honor
to himself and to the flag under which he sailed.
Had he been commander in the United States navy
his fame and deeds would have been lauded through-
out the country; but as he only commanded a pri-
vateer, who speaks of him ?"

Soon after the breaking out of the war the " Comet"
put to sea, and captured the ship " Hopewell," of four- !
teen guns and twenty-five men, after a sharp action,
and sent her into Baltimore. This rich prize was
valued at one hundred and fifty thousand dollars.
Soon after the " Comet" captured the ship " John," i
fourteen guns and thirty-five men, with a cargo also
valued at one hundred and fifty thousand dollars, and
sent her into Baltimore.

On the 14th of January, 1813, Capt. Boyle, when
off the coast of Pernambuco, discovered four sail
standing out of the harbor. They proved to be three
English vessels, consisting of a ship of fourteen guns
and two brigs of ten guns, under convoy of a Portu-
guese brig, national vessel, mounting twenty thirty-
two's and one hundred and sixty-five men, making in
all a force of fifty-four guns. After a desperate con-
flict the " Comet" compelled the British vessels to
surrender. Soon after the fight and capture of the
three British vessels the gallant Boyle fell in with
and captured the Scotch ship " Adelphi," belonging
to Aberdeen. She was from Liverpool, bound for
Bahia, of three hundred and sixty-one tons, mounting
eight long twelve-pounders, laden with salt and dry
goods. The " Comet" was subsequently chased by
the famous British frigate " Surprise," which she
easily outsailed, and continued on her cruise down
among the West India Islands. On the 6th of Feb-
ruary she fell in with two brigs, and after a short chase

. captured them. One proved to be the " Alexis,'' of
Greenock, from Demerara, loaded with sugar, rum,

cotton, and coffee, mounting ten guns; the other was
the Dominica packet, of Liverpool, from Demerara
bound for St. Thomas, laden with rum, sugar, cotton,
and coffee, mounting ten guns. A short time after
Capt. Boyle was chased by the man-of-war brig
"Swaggerer," which he outsailed with ease, and
captured the schooner "Jane," from Demerara for St.
Thomas, loaded with rum, sugar, and coffee. Soon
after the capture of these prizes Capt. Boyle returned
home, and arrived safe in Baltimore on the 17th of
March, passing through the British blockading squad-
ron, bidding defiance to their vigilance and numbers.

The " Comet" remained in port long enough to
make a few repairs, and to water and provision, when
she sailed on another successful cruise. The first
prize was the schooner " Messenger," laden with rum
and mplasses, which was sent into Wilmington, N. C,
followed in a few days by the " Vigilant," a tender to
the admiral of the Windward Island station. Nine
other vessels were also captured1 and sunk by the
" Comet" on this cruise, besides four valuable prizes
which were manned and sent to the United States.
She had a terrible battle with the ship " Hibernia,"
of eight hundred tons, twenty-two guns, and a large
complement of men, but was beaten off. The fight
lasted about eight hours. The privateer had three
men killed and sixteen wounded; the ship had eight
killed and thirteen wounded. The " Comet" also
captured another British vessel, which, being short of
provisions, put into Porto Rico for a supply, and was
given up to the English claimant. The " Comet" in
this cruise captured nineteen prizes.

In 1814 the " Comet" captured fourteen vessels in
the West Indies, twelve of which were destroyed and
two sent into North Carolina.

The revenue cutter " Surveyor," of Baltimore,
carrying six small guns, on the 12th of June, 1813,
while anchored in York River, was captured by the
barges of the British frigate " Narcissus." The enemy
were discovered about one hundred and fifty yards
distant from the vessel, and Capt. Samuel Travis,
finding that he could not bring his guns to bear,
furnished each of his men with two muskets. They
held their fire until the British were within pistol-
shot, but the enemy pushed on, and finally carried
the vessel by boarding, with a loss of three men
killed and a large number wounded. Capt. Travis
and his crew of fifteen men and boys were taken on
board the "Junior," and on the following day the
senior officer of the " Narcissus" returned the captain
his sword, with a very complimentary letter.1

The " Liberty," of Baltimore, destroyed the sloop
"Reasonable" in 1812, and ransomed the schooner
" Maria." The schooner " Pearl" was sent into port,
and a British privateer, which the " Liberty" had
captured, was divested of her ar,mament, and then
given up for want of room for the prisoners. The

1 See the writer's " History of Maryland," vol. lit., p. 48.
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" Liberty" also captured the schooner " Dorcas," and
after relieving her of her cargo of dry goods released
her.

The letter-of-marque schooner " Ned," of Balti-
more, Oapt. Dawson, arrived at New York on April
24, 1813, after a very successful cruise. After a close
action of nearly one hour she captured the English
letter-of-marque brig " Malvina," ten guns. The
captain of the "Malvina" was killed. The "Ned"
was chased several times off the coast by British
men-of-war, but outsailed all of them.

The " Sparrow," of Baltimore, captured in 1813 the
schooner " Farmer," laden with cotton, but afterwards
released her. Later in the war the " Sparrow" loaded
at New Orleans with a cargo of sugar and lead and
sailed for New York, but on the voyage was driven
ashore near Long Branch and bilged. The cargo was
saved by the militia of the place. The letter-of-
marque schooner "Sabine," of Baltimore, among
other prizes, captured and burnt a fine brig loaded
with cotton. The "Siro" captured the ship "Loyal
Sam," ten guns, with twenty-three thousand five hun-
dred dollars in specie and a large quantity of indigo
on board, which arrived safely at Portland, Me. In
1814 the " Siro," while on her way to France, was
captured and sent into Plymouth, England. The
letter-of-marque " Enterprise," of Baltimore, cap-
tured in 1813 the schooner " Louisa," twenty-six j
men, two hundred and two tons, one gun, and laden j
with rum and sugar. The letter-of-marque " Pilot"
captured a brig laden with fish, and also the schooner
" Lily," which was relieved of part of her cargo and
released. She also captured the brig "Mary Ann,"
laden with rum and molasses, which was ransomed
for four thousand dollars. The "Revenge" in 1813 j
sent in the valuable ship " Manly," four guns, laden :

with wine, oil, etc. A brig laden with sugar and !
molasses, captured by the privateer " Caroline," was
recaptured by the British off Charleston; she also
captured the brig "Criterion," laden with rum, and
sent her into Stonington, Conn. The "Caroline"
early in 1814 captured the brig " Elizabeth," and sent
her into Charleston. The brig " Experience" was also
captured by the "Caroline," but was lost on the
island of Cuba.' She captured three other vessels,
which were manned and sent into port, besides two I
vessels which were burnt. In 1815 the " Caroline" j
captured the brig "Stephen," fourteen guns and !
thirty men. A brig laden with wool was captured
and burnt by the letter-of-marque " Grampus," of
Baltimore, Capt. Murphy, on her passage from
France. The "Grampus," while cruising among
the Canary Islands, captured the British brig " Spec-
ulation," but afterwards released her. Soon after a
British sloop-of-war hove in sight so' well disguised
as a merchantman that Capt. Murphy was decoyed
under her guns before he discovered his mistake.
When within half pistol-range the enemy poured
a broadside from her main-deck battery into the

." Grampus," and killed Capt. Murphy and a number
of his crew. The " Grampus" suffered greatly in her
sails and rigging, but by great exertion escaped, and
shortly afterwards captured and burned the brig
"Ceres" in the Bay of Biscay. On the 18th of
June, 1814, the "Grampus" and "Patapsco," of
Baltimore, and the schooner "Dash," of Boston,
were chased by the " La Hogue," seventy-four, in
Boston Bay, but all escaped. Later in the year the
" Grampus" made another voyage, and captured the
British transport-brig " Doris," which was sent into
Marblehead, and a brig loaded with rum and mo-
lasses. She also sent into New York the ketch
"Expedition," laden with wine and barilla. The
brig " Catharine and William," captured by the
" Grampus," was lost near Beaufort, S. C. Capt.
W. S. Stafford, famous for his defense of the " Dol-
phin" in the Chesapeake in 1812, was attacked off
Charleston on the 27th of November, 1813, by five
boats from a British brig-of-war. When close upon
him he destroyed one of the boats with grape-shot,
and gave the rest employment in saving their com-
rades. The "Lion," privateer of Baltimore, arrived
in L'Orient, France, with about four hundred thou-
sand dollars on board, after having destroyed fifteen
or twenty English vessels off the coasts of Spain and
Portugal; and the letter-of-marque " Patapsco" sent
in a schooner laden with sugar, coffee, etc. She also
captured the valuable brig " Europa," ten guns and
twenty-two men, with one hundred and seventy-five
tons of sweet oil, and sent her into port. A sloop was
captured and sunk by the letter-of-marque schooner
"Delisle," of Baltimore, which also destroyed the
ship " Bonita."

The letter-of-marque "Tuckahoe," of Baltimore,
captured the schooner " Sea-Flower," and also burned
the schooner " Hazard." She also captured another
prize, 3,nd sent it into port. She narrowly escaped
capture off Long Island by an English fleet, but by
superior sailing arrived safely in Boston in March,
1814. The "Kemp" in 1814 captured a valuable
schooner loaded with dry goods, and also the brig
"Louisa," laden with oil and fish, which was sent
into Elizabeth City, Va. The " Kemp" also captured
and burnt the brig " Betsey and Mary." The same
privateer captured the ship "Calypso," with three
thousand dollars in specie on board, and the brig
" New Frederick."

On the 3d of December, 1815, the " Kemp," on a
cruise to the West Indies, descried a small fleet of
merchant ships, eight in number, under convoy of a
frigate. The privateer attacked the fleet, and carried
off, after a severe contest, four of the largest vessels;
one of the brigs and her cargo was estimated to be
worth three hundred thousand dollars. The " Kemp"
also sent in another brig with a valuable cargo. The
" Kemp" arrived in Baltimore loaded with rich goods,
capturing after a sharp contest lasting forty minutes
a British brig mounting fourteen guns, and carrying
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forty men. The privateer " York," of Baltimore,
when off the coast of Nova Scotia, on the 18th of
April, 1815, had a severe engagement with the British
transport-ship " Lord Somers." During the action,
Capt. Staples, of the " York," and five of his men
were killed and twelve wounded. In this disabled
condition, the privateer was obliged to haul off and
give up the contest. The " York" soon after captured
the schooner "Diligence," sloop "Regulator," ship
"Antonia," brigs "Betsy," "Harvest," "William"
(ten guns, fourteen men), " Rover," and two others,
and the East Indiaship " Coromandel," of fivehundred
tons, all of which had valuable cargoes. After a suc-
cessful cruise along the coast of Brazil and the West
India Islands, the " York" succeeded in making her
way home. Her prizes were valued at about one
million five hundred thousand dollars.

The privateer " Surprise" was an exceedingly for-
tunate vessel. Early in 1814 she captured the ship
"Hebe," and sent her into a Southern port. The
brig " Kutozoff," of six guns, and valued at fifty thou-
sand dollars, was carried after a sharp action by i
boarding and sent into Frankfort, Me. The " Sur-
prise" arrived at Newport, R. I., after a cruise of one
hundred and three days, a part of which time she had
spent in the British and Irish Channels. During her
voyage she was chased sixteen times, and made in all
thirteen prizes. The schooner " Fox," captured off
the Irish coast, was used to dispose of her- prisoners.
Among her prizes were the brigs " James and David,"
the "Fidelity," and the " Fortitude," which with a
valuable cargo was sent into Maine. The "Surprise"
arrived at Salem late in 1814, after a fortunate cruise
of one month, during which time she captured twenty
British vessels, some of which were very valuable.
On her next cruise the " Surprise" captured the
transport-brig "Endeavor," which was destroyed on
Rockaway Beach, near New York, by the English
men-of-war. The brig " Argo" was also captured by
the " Surprise," and the following, which were burnt:
brigs "Charlotte," "Lively," "William," "Maid,"
" Polly," ship " Milnes," and schooners " Prince Re-
gent" and " Sally." The English privateer " Lively,"
one gun and seventeen men, was brought into Salem
by the same vessel, and a cargo valued at fifty thou-
sand dollars was taken from the ship " Caledonia."
Brigs "Eagle," "Traveler," "Wellington" (four guns
and fifteen men), and " Eliza" were used as cartels
for the exchange of prisoners. The " Surprise" also
captured the brig "Albion," schooner "Charlotte
Ann," and recaptured the boat " Ann." During her
last cruise, which only occupied one month, she cap-
tured twenty British merchantmen, including one
small privateer. She made one hundred and ninety-
seven prisoners, released one hundred and sixty, and
brought into port thirty-seven. The "Surprise" on
her next cruise sent into Boston the brig " Cossack,"
which had been captured by the " Grand Turk" off
Salem, but recaptured by the " Bulwark," seventy-
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four, and sunk the schooner "Mary." On the 24th
of December, 1814, the "Surprise" was at Brest, and
fired a salute, which was answered by the French ad-
miral with eleven guns. The British schooner " Lucy
Ann" was captured, by the "Surprise," as was the
brig "Forth." As the "Surprise" left the port of
Brest she was chased for several hours by a British
sloop-of-war, which fired fifty guns at her without
effect. On the 28th of January, 1815, the "Surprise"
captured, after a short engagement, the English ship
" Star," mounting eight twelve-pound guns, with
twenty-six men. The prize was sent into New York,
and proved to be an exceedingly rich one, being val-
ued at three hundred thousand dollars. Its cargo
consisted of the following articles: 1180 bags of
sugar, 5021 bags of coffee, 45 tubs of camphor, 297
bags of sago, 224 cwt. of sapan wood, 22 bales of
nankeens, 83 cases of cinnamon, and 45 cases of tor-
toise-shell. The " Expedition," of Baltimore, in 1814
captured a brig from Lisbon, and recaptured the val-
uable schooner " Adeline," which had been captured
by a British frigate. The private armed schooner
"Perry" captured a schooner loaded with rum and
sent her into the Delaware. The " Perry" was only
out ninety days, during which time she captured
twenty-two British vessels, eighteen of which she de-
stroyed and sent four to the United States. She sent
the schooner " Rambler," with dry goods, into Wil-
mington, N. C. Brig "John" and brig "Nancy"
were captured by the " Perry," which arrived in the
Delaware about the 1st of February with a full cargo
of chosen spoils. She was chased some eight or ten
times by brigs, sloops-of-war, frigates, and razees, but
laughed at them all. The letter-of-marque schooner
" Midas" captured and burnt the schooner " Francis"
off the French coast. The "Midas" also captured
the British brig " Astrea," ten guns and twenty men,
and sent her into Savannah; the English privateer
schooner " Dash," with a crew of forty men and
several guns; three coasting vessels, laden with seven
hundred bales of cotton, and the ship "Pizarro,"
brigs " Esperanza" and " Elsinore," which were sent
into port. The schooners " Eugene" and " Stinger"
were destroyed. The " Zebec Ulter," of Baltimore,
sent into Charleston the brig " Robert;" also captured
the brig " Swift," four guns, eighteen men, brig "Lord
Nelson," and schooner " Nancy," and burned two
others. A schooner was given up to paroled pris-
oners, and the privateer schooner " Amnesty," one
gun, twenty-four men, was burnt, together with two
other small vessels. The " Zebec Ulter" captured five
or six other vessels which were released, but a brig of
fourteen guns was manned and sent to France, and
two others were sent to the United States. In passing
through Long Island Sound she was attacked by two
British boats, one of which she captured, but the
other escaped. The commander of the barge was
killed. The "Zebec Ulter" afterwards went to sea
and captured the ship " Anne," of four hundred and
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seventeen tons, and sent her to New York. She also
captured the brigs "Maria," "Annabella," "Mo-
hawk," and the sloops " Twins," " L'Esperance," and
"Constitution."

The "Pike" sent in the schooner "Hope," ship
" Mermaid," and burnt the British brig " Pike." She
also captured a schooner, but gave her up to the pris-
oners, and burnt the schooner "Industrious Bee."
The schooners " Venus," " Lord Nelson," and brigs
" Jane" and " Orient" were captured by the " Pike,"
together with several other vessels, which were re-
leased or used as cartels. The "Pike" was finally
chased ashore on the Southern coast, and captured
by the enemy's boats. A part of her crew escaped, but
forty-three were taken prisoners. During her cruise
she paroled two hundred and fifty prisoners. The
ship "Samuel Cummings," four hundred tons, cap-
tured by the " Pike," was also wrecked on the Southern
coast. The " Lawrence," of Baltimore, sent to Port-
land, Me., the ship " Commerce," laden with supplies
for the British army; she also captured the brig
" Canada," ten guns, which was sent into Wilming-
ton, N. C. The cutters "Eliza" and "Peggy," the
"Dart," the ship "Christian," and schooner "Ata-
lanta" were captured by the " Lawrence," which ar-
rived in New York on the 25th of January, 1815.
During her cruise the " Lawrence" took thirteen val-
uable prizes, and manned eight of them. The prizes
aggregated more than three thousand tons, and the
prisoners numbered one hundred and six. Later in the
year the " Lawrence" captured and sent into North
Carolina the brig "Peter," and also captured the
brig " Athill," eight guns, which was sent to Brest,
France. The brig "Eagle" was also one of her
prizes.

The " Amelia," of Baltimore, in 1814 captured the
brig " Liddelle," and made a cartel of her; the brig
" Jessie," six guns, was burnt, and schooner " Ann"
was sent as a cartel to Halifax. The "Amelia" ar-
rived at New York after a cruise of eighty-five days,
during which time she had taken fourteen hundred
tons of shipping, with property valued at one million
dollars, and eighty prisoners. On her next cruise
she captured the following vessels: brigs "Colier,"
"Harmony," "Ann," "Elizabeth," and a ship of
eight guns, besides having a sharp combat with the
" Neptune." Among the last vessels captured by her
was the brig " Polly." The " Amelia" arrived safe at
Philadelphia in April, 1815, with a full cargo of
valuable goods taken from the enemy. During her
cruise she captured ten British vessels; some she de-
stroyed, and others she ordered into port. The
" Amelia" carried but six guns and seventy-five men.
The captured vessels amounted to two thousand two
hundred and seventy tons, one hundred and twelve
prisoners, and thirty-two carriage-guns. She was
frequently chased by the enemy, and once for fifty-
three hours, but was fortunate enough to evade all
her pursuers.

The " Mammoth," of Baltimore, was another very
successful privateer. In 1814 she sent into port the
brig " Camelion," from the West Indies, laden with
rum and molasses. Off the coast of Newfoundland
she had a severe action with an English transport-ship,
laden with three or four hundred troops. She was
compelled to haul off after doing considerable damage
to the enemy. She afterwards captured the sloop
" Farmer," and brigs " Britannia" and " Ceres," and
three other brigs in ballast. In 1815 she captured the
brigs "Uniza," "Sarah," "Sir Home Popham," and
schooners "Two Brothers," "Rapid," and ship
" Champion." The " Ann Eliza" was destroyed, and
the bark "Mary," brigs "Alexander" and "Char-
lotte," and ship "Mentor," with valuable cargoes,
ordered into port. The schooners "Thomas" and
"Good Intent" and brigs "Joseph" and "Eliza"
were given up. The " Mammoth" in all made twenty-
one prizes, and paroled about three hundred prisoners.
She arrived at Portsmouth, N. H., full of rich spoils
from the enemy.

The " Harrison" sent into a Southern port in 1814
the schooner " Octavia," and soon after captured the
ship "Julia," brig "Mary Ann," schooners "John
Duncan" and " Louisa." After removing from the
prizes goods to the amount of one hundred thousand
dollars the vessels were destroyed. A schooner with
a large amount of specie on board was captured and
sent to the United States. The " Harrison" arrived
at Wilmington, N. C, in 1815, with a full cargo of
goods taken from the enemy, with the loss of her cap-
tain in an engagement with a British sloop-of-war.

In September, 1814, the "Harpy," of Baltimore,
fell in with the British packet " Princess Elizabeth,"
and after a warm but short action the packet surren-
dered. She had three men killed and several wounded.
The " Princess Elizabeth" was armed with ten guns
and thirty-eight men. She had on board as passengers
a Turkish ambassador for England and an English
officer, aide to a British general, and a second lieuten-
ant of a " seventy-four." The privateer divested the
packet of ten thousand dollars in specie, five pipes of
Madeira wine, and her armament, and ransomed the
vessel for two thousand dollars, and then allowed her
to proceed on her course to England.

After a very successful voyage the " Harpy" went
to Portsmouth, N. H., and after a cruise of twenty
days returned laden with the choicest spoils of the foe
and sixty prisoners. She captured the schooner
"Britannia," and burnt her and the brig "Halifax,"
packet, with a valuable cargo; also the transport-
ship " Amazon," six guns and eighteen men, an ele-
gant vessel with a cargo of provisions; also the
transport-ship " Budges," four hundred and forty tons,
six eighteen-pound carronades, and a large cargo of
rum, etc. The prizes of the " Harpy" were valued at
five hundred thousand dollars. She immediately put
to sea, and soon captured the ship " Jane," and burnt
the brigs " William Nelson," "Louisa," and schooner



PRIVATEERS AND ARMED VESSELS. I l l

" Nine Sisters." She also captured the ships " Wil-
liam and Alfred" and the " Garland." The " Harpy"
arrived at Salem, Mass., in April, 1815, with a valu-
able cargo of rich merchandise of every description
taken from her prizes, secured on the coast of Eng-
land, in the Bay of Biscay, and along the coast of
Spain and Portugal. She had among other articles
over one hundred thousand pounds sterling in British
treasury notes and bills of exchange. The " Harpy"
was a beautiful vessel of three hundred and forty-
nine tons, and carried fourteen heavy guns and about
one hundred men.

The " Fairy," of Baltimore, captured and burnt the
sloop "Active." The privateer "Leo" captured the
brig "Alexander" and several other vessels at sea,
and was herself captured by a British frigate while in
distress oif the coast of Spain. The English brig
" William," from the coast of Africa, valued at sixty
thousand dollars, was sent into Newbern, N. C, by a
Baltimore privateer. About the same time a British
schooner was captured by the " Resolution" and sent
into Charleston, S. C. The brig "Lord Wellington"
was captured by the letter-of-marque " Diamond,"
and burnt.

The East India Company's ship " Countess of Har-
court," five hundred and twenty tons, six heavy guns
and ninety men, outward bound, laden with dry
goods, brandy, rum, etc., separated from a British
fleet in a gale, was captured in the British Channel
by the " Sabine," of Baltimore, and sent into port.
This was a very valuable prize to her captors. The
brig " Fire-Fly," laden with drugs and silks, was
brought into Wilmington, N. C, by the "Sabine."
She was valued at one hundred thousand dollars.
The " Sabine" also captured the cutter " Flying
Fish" and the brig " Aaron," which were sent into
port. The British packet "Landraile," carrying
several guns and thirty-three men, was captured, after
a hard fight, in the British Channel by the "Syren,"
of Baltimore. Two vessels were also captured by the
"Syren" about the same time (1814), one of which
was burnt and the other released. The "Syren"
also took the ship " Emulation" and another off the
British coast, and destroyed them, and captured the
brig " Sir John Sherbrook," of twelve guns. On re-
turning from her cruise in 1815 she was run ashore
by the pilot near the mouth of the Delaware, where
she was attacked by three barges from a razee at
anchor, which were kept at bay for two hours.
Finally the privateer was set on fire, and the crew
escaped on shore.

The " Whig" captured the cutter " Jubilee," and
made a cartel of her; she also captured and burnt the
schooner " Alexandria," brigs "Irish Minor," "Prin-
cess Mary," "Eliza," and ships " Esperance," " Lon-
don," and " Postethwell." She made several other
prizes on this cruise, and arrived at New York with
a valuable cargo and twenty-three prisoners. She
also made some prizes in company with the " David

Porter," of Boston. The " Whig" also captured the
sloop "Enterprise," and brigs "Brunswick" and
" Race Horse," and schooner " Britannia." The brig
" Mary and Eliza" was captured by the " Argo," of
Baltimore, and burnt.

We have already referred to the brave Captain
Boyle in the privateer "Comet," of Baltimore. His
next cruise was in the privateer " Chasseur," or the
"Pride of Baltimore." It is said of this "skimmer
of the seas" that " she was the fleetest of all vessels,
and the story of her cruises is a tale of romance of the
most exciting kind." She was a privateer brig, ele-
gant in model, and carried sixteen guns and about
one hundred officers and men. With this formidable
vessel, Capt. Boyle captured eighty vessels, of which
thirty-two were of equal force with the " Chasseur,"
and eighteen superior. Many of the prizes were of
great value; three of them alone were valued at four
hundred thousand dollars.

Early in 1814 the " Chasseur" captured the schooner
" Miranda," sloop " Martha," and several other ves-
sels, which were destroyed. One of them had on
board a large amount of specie. The " Chasseur"
also captured the brig " Melpomene," six guns, and a
fine London packet-ship, twelve guns, laden with
four hundred pipes of brandy and wine. On the
same cruise she captured the ship " Joanna," valued
at thirty thousand dollars, and also several other
valuable vessels, including the ships " Mary and
Susan" and " Adventure," and the schooner " Arrow."

The " Chasseur," in her various voyages, was some-
i times in the West Indies; then on the coasts of Spain,

Portugal, and France; and then in the Irish and
British Channels, spreading the wildest alarm among
England's commercial marine. So much was she
feared in the West Indies and the islands of the
Carribean Sea, that the merchants there implored
Admiral Dunham to send them " at least a heavy
sloop-of-war" to protect their property. The admiral
immediately sent them the frigate " Barrossa." Dur-
ing her last cruise, only seventeen days previous to
her arrival in port, her heroic commander captured,
about six leagues to windward of Havana, his Bri-
tannic majesty's ship "St. Lawrence," mounting fif-
teen carriage guns, with a crew of seventy-five men.
This action lasted but fifteen minutes, when the
Englishman surrendered his vessel, having been com-
pletely cut to pieces. Fifteen of his crew were killed,
and twenty-five wounded. The " Chasseur" had but
five men killed and eight wounded, and received
little or no damage in her hull.

At this period it was the general custom for the
British admirals on our coast to issue what the Ameri-
cans called paper-blockades, declaring the whole coast
of North America in a strict state of blockade. Sev-
eral of these blockade proclamations had recently
been issued by Admiral Sir John Borlaise Warren
and Sir Alexander Cochrane. As a burlesque on these
proclamations, Capt. Boyle while sailing in the
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British Channel issued the following proclamation
and sent it by a cartel to London, with a request to
have it posted up at Lloyd's Coffee-House:

" By Thomas Boyle, *Eaq., Commander of the privateer armed brig
* Chasseur,1 etc.:

" PBOCLAMATION.

" WHEREAS, It has become cuBtomary with the Admirals of Great
Britain commanding small forces on the coast of the United States,
particularly Sir John Borlaise Warren and Sir Alexander Cochrane, to
declare all the coast of the United States in a state of strict and rigorous
blockade, without possessing the power to justify such a declaration, or
stationing an adequate force to maintain said blockade. I do therefore,
by virtue of the power and authority in me vested (possessing sufficient
force), declare all the ports, harbors, bays, creeks, rivers, inlets, outlets,
islands, and seacoast of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ire-
land in a state of strict and rigorous blockade. And I do further de-
clare, that I consider the force under my command adequate to maintain
strictly, rigorously, and effectually the said blockade. And I do hereby
require the respective officers, whether captains, commanders, or com-
manding officers, under my command, employed or to be employed on
the coasts of England, Ireland, and Scotland, to pay strict attention
to the exeoution of this my proclamation. And I do hereby caution and
forbid the ships and vessels of all and every nation, in amity and peace
with the United States, from entering or attempting to enter, or from
coming or attempting to come out of any of the said ports, bays, creeks,
rivers, inlets, outlets, islands, or seacoasts, under any pretense whatso-
ever. And that no person may plead ignorance of this my proclamation,
I have ordered the same to be made public in England.

" Given under my hand, on board the ' Chasseur,' day and date as
above.

'• THOMAS BOYLE.

" (By command of the commanding officer)
" J. J. STANBURT, Secretary."

On the 8th of April, 1815, Capt. Boyle, after a suc-
cessful cruise, arrived at Baltimore in the " Chasseur"
with a full cargo of spoils. On entering the port the
" Chasseur" saluted Fort McHenry in a handsome
manner, and upon reaching the dock her brave cap-
tain and crew were welcomed by all classes of the
community.

During the three years of the war Great Britain
lost about two thousand ships and vessels of every
description, including men-of-war, two-thirds of
which number were captured by American privateers
and private armed vessels. And although Baltimore
was frequently blockaded by the British fleets, she
took the lead in fitting out these vessels, and was more
active and patriotic in annoying the enemy than any
other city in the Union.1

1 In testimony of this fact Mr. Coggeshall, in his " History of American
Privateers," says, "When I call to mind the spirit and acts of the Balti-
moreans during our last war with England, I am inspired with a feeling
of esteem and veneration for them as a brave and patriotic people that
will endure with me to the end of my existence. During the whole
struggle against an inveterate foe they did all they could to aid and
strengthen the hands of the general government, and generally took the
lead in fitting out efficient privateers and letters-of-marque, to annoy
and distress the enemy, and even to ' beard the old lion in bis den,' for
it is well known that their privateers captured many English vessels at
the very mouths of their own ports in the British Channel. When their
own beautiful city was attacked by a powerful fleet and army, how nobly
did they defend themselves against the hand of the spoiler 1 The whole
venom of the modern Goths seemed concentrated against the Baltimo-
reanB, for no other reason but that they had too much spirit to submit to
insult and tyrannical oppression. Many of the eastern people made a
grand mistake in counting on the magnanimity of the British nation to
do them justice by mild and persuasive arguments. In making these
remarks in praise of Baltimore, I do not mean to disparage the noble

There were fifty-eight privateers sailing from Balti-
more during the war of 1812, fifty-five from New
York, forty from Salem, thirty-two from Boston, four-
teen from Philadelphia, and from all the States com-
bined only two hundred and fifty.

Baltimore furnished many privateers to the States
in the South American War of Independence. To
the injured party the privateer is a "pirate." In the
Revolutionary war the English government regarded
the Chesapeake Bay as a " nest of pirates," and in
1817 the Spanish minister at Washington wrote to Mr.
Monroe that " it is notorious that . . . whole squad-
rons of pirates have been fitted out from Baltimore
and New Orleans." He claimed that Capt. James
Barnes, of the " Swift," a privateer under the flag of
Buenos Ayres, had violated the laws of nations, the
neutrality of their government, and the existing
treaties in making " a regular entry of his vessel at
the custom-house of Baltimore, declaring his cargo to
consist of bales and packages containing silks, laces,
and other valuable articles, all, as you may suppose,
plundered from the Spaniards;" that the "Orb," the
"Maria," the "Paz," and the "Romp" were all
"pirates," sailing out of Baltimore to plunder Span-
ish commerce and capturing millions of dollars at a
time ; and as such he designated " the corsair ' Mon-
gore,' the ' Portoris,' the ' Independencia del Sud'2

(Commodore James Chaytor), the 'Congress,' the
'Regent,' the 'Republicano,' the 'Alexta,' the'Ca-
lypso,' the 'Clifton,' the 'Felix Cubano,' and the
'Young Spartan,'" all of Baltimore. Commodore
James Chaytor, Thomas Taylor, Joseph Stafford,
James Barnes, John Chase, Thomas Boyle, Francis
Mason, John D. Daniel, Henry Childs, J. W. Stephen,
Capt. Huffington, Capt. Davey, Capt. Fish, James
Rogers, Capt. Revilla, Joseph Almeyda, Capt. Moore,
and Capt. Watkins, all from Baltimore, commanded
privateers engaged in the South American war.

C H A P T E R XIV.

WAR WITH MEXICO.

Baltimore and Washington Battalion—Death of Ringgold and Watson.

ON the 27th of February, 1845, the United States
Senate passed joint resolutions for the annexation of
the republic of Texas to the United States as one of
the States of the Union ; the next day they were con-
curred in by the House of Representatives, and on
the 1st of March they were approved by the President.
Mexico, which still claimed Texas as a portion of her

patriotism of many other cities of our glorious Union; but I do mean
to say that if the same spirit that fired the hearts and souls of the Balti-
moreans had evinced itself throughout our entire country, it would have
saved every American heart much pain and mortification, and would, in
my opinion, have shortened the war."

2 The Spanish ship " Triton," captured by this vessel, was valued at
one million five hundred thousand dollars.
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territory, treated the act of annexation as a declara-
tion of war, and Congress having formally recognized
the existence of hostilities, on the 13th of May, 1846,
the President made his requisition upon the Governor
of Maryland for two regiments of infantry as the quota
of the State, which was promptly responded to by a
proclamation of the Governor calling for troops.
Upon the receipt of the Governor's proclamation,
the City Council of Baltimore passed a resolution re-
questing the mayor to convoke the people in town-
meeting, and in compliance with this resolution
Mayor Davies issued his proclamation, and on the
23d of May the citizens assembled in Monument
Square. The meeting was called to order by Jacob
I. Cohen, Jr., who nominated Mayor Davies as
chairman, and T. Parkin Scott and Thomas Yates
Walsh as secretaries, with some of the most promi-
nent citizens as vice-presidents. Col. Davies, in a
short and appropriate address, stated the object of the
meeting, after which Robert M. McLane offered a
preamble and resolutions, which he prefaced by a
patriotic speech. After the adoption of the resolu-
tions, Hon. Reverdy Johnson made a speech of great
eloquence and patriotism, and was followed by Gen.
Samuel Houston, United States Senator from Texas
and the hero of San Jacinto, who was received with
great enthusiasm. The meeting was closed by an ad-
dress from Hon. William L. Yancey, of Alabama. Dur-
ing the progress of the meeting news from Mexico was
received and read by Col. Davies, and at the mention
of the death of the gallant Maj. Ringgold, at the

battle of Palo Alto, every
head was uncovered, and
many a manly cheek was
suffused with tears.

In all sections of the
State volunteers were or-
ganizing, and pressing to
be placed upon active duty,
and such was the spirit of
the Baltimoreans that they
alone could have filled the
full quota of troops re-
quired from Maryland un-
der the President's requisi-

tion. This noble emulation was so great that re-
cruiting soon had to be discontinued, and those who
•were mustered into the service were held as a reserve,
and not as a portion of the State's quota of volun-
teers. The Baltimore Clipper of May 20, 1846, re-
ferring to this generous enthusiasm, says,—

"The company under Capt. James E. Stewart are still encamped on
Chase's Hill, busily engaged in drill and military exercise, and steadily
increasing their numbers. The rifle company formed at the Exchange
encamped yesterday morning in the park (Howard's). The Chesapeake
Riflemen, under Capt. Steiner, meet every evening for drill, and are rap
idly filling up their ranks. The Bhip-masters and others on the Point, as
well as the German citizens, are forming a volunteer company to be ten-
dered to the President for service in Mexico. The whole number of
volunteers in the several corps which are organized is between four hun-

MAJ. S. RINGGOLD.

dred and five hundred men, and a better set of soldiers, when they have
learned the arts and mysteries of war, could not be selected from our
citizens."

Fortunately, however, for some of those who were
eager to participate in the defense of their country, it
was arranged that a battalion of six companies should
be formed, composed of four companies recruited in
Baltimore and two from Washington City, to be
designated the " Battalion of Baltimore and Washing-
ton Volunteers."

The four companies from Baltimore were composed
of the following officers:

Company A.—Captain, James E. Stewart; Lieuten-
ants, Benjamin Ferguson Owens and Samuel Wilt;
Additional Second Lieutenant, David P. Chapman.

Company B.—Captain, James S. Piper. Companies
A and B were the first and second companies of Bal-
timore volunteers, and were known as the " President's
Guards."

Company E.—Captain, John R. Kenly. This
company was known by the name of " Baltimore's
Own."

Company F.—Captain, James Boyd. This company
was known as the " Chesapeake Riflemen." Capt.
Steiner, who at first commanded the company, was
prevented from accompanying it by severe illness
brought on by his incessant exertions in its organiza-
tion.

The battalion was commanded by Lieut.-Col. Wil-
liam H. Watson, of Baltimore.

This battalion, which was second to none in the
army in discipline and bravery, embarked on the
transport steamer " Massachusetts" on the 13th of
June, 1846, and on the 16th got under way for the
seat of war. After a voyage of fourteen days the ship
arrived off the island of Brazos, Mexico, and on the
1st and 2d of July the troops were landed. On the
9th they took up their line of march for Mexico, and
on the 24th, after suffering greatly from the extreme
heat, etc., reached the main army of occupation, and
camped opposite the Mexican town of Burita. It is
foreign to the aim of this work to follow these gallant
soldiers in the campaign that ensued, and it is
sufficient to say that their brilliant courage and stead-
fast determination in every scene of the war in which
they took part drew encomiums from the most dis-
tinguished sources, and fully sustained the honor and
reputation of their native city. The battalion con-
tinued in service until the 30th day of May, 1847,
when, their term of service having expired, they were
mustered out and honorably discharged. A large
number of the men, however, re-enlisted under Capt.
Boyd, Lieut. Taneyhill, and others.

Those who returned to Baltimore were welcomed
home with distinguished honors and hearty congratu-
lations, and on the 10th of July, in compliance with
the request of the battalion, the first American flag
ever planted on the walls of Monterey was presented
to the city of Baltimore by Capt. James E. Stewart,
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LIEUT.-COL. W. H. WATSON.

the senior officer, on behalf of the command which
had so gallantly borne it. The mayor received it in
the presence of a large audience with an eloquent
address, which was appropriately responded to by
Capt. John R. Kenly. In the capture of the city of
Monterey the commander of the battalion, Lieut.-Col.
Wm. H. Watson, of Baltimore, lost his life. Shortly

after Capt. Kenly's return
he was informed by Gov-
ernor Pratt that the Presi-
dent had notified him that a
battalion of volunteers was
to be raised in the District
of Columbia and the State
of Maryland, of which the
President was to appoint
the lieutenant-colonel, and
Governor Pratt the major.
Recruiting was going on
slowly for such an organiza-
tion, and with the assist-

ance of Capt. Kenly, on the 20th of July, 1847, a
sufficient number of companies were enlisted to au-
thorize the appointment of major by the Governor,
and on that day Capt. Kenly was commissioned major
of the District of Columbia and Maryland Regiment
of volunteers. He immediately entered upon the dis-
charge of his duties, and also soon succeeded in raising
a sufficient number of volunteers to form an artillery
company, which was commanded by Capt. Lloyd
Tilghman, and attached to the battalion.1

On the 24th of July, Maj. Kenly embarked from
Fort McHenry on the transport-ship " Alexandria,"
with the three Maryland companies under his com-
mand, and in one month dropped anchor off the
port of Vera Cruz. These companies were commanded
respectively by Capts. Henrie, Brown, and Barry.
The other companies of the battalion were com-
manded by Wm. H. Degges, Lawrence Dolan, Mar-
cellus K. Taylor, and Francis B. Schaeffer. Of these
Dolan, Taylor, and Schaeffer had been lieutenants in
Watson's battalion, and Isaac H. Morrow and John
Harper had been attached to the same command.
Among the list of officers of companies attached to
the regiment were Capt. James Boyd, Lieuts. James
Taneyhill, and Franklin B. Nimocks, all of whom had
been members of Watson's battalion. On the 29th of
May, 1848, peace .was declared, and on the 16th of June
the Baltimore regiment marched from Jalapa for home.

From this brief review it will be seen that Balti-
more furnished her full quota of soldiers during the
contest with Mexico. She contributed Col. Watson's
battalion of about four hundred men; next about
fifty men to Capt. Walker's command; then came the
enrollment of voltigeurs, the filling up of Capt.
Howard's company, and the enlistments under Lieut.

1 Capt. Tilghman's company was composed of upwards of ninety men,
and were a remarkably fine body, almost all of its members being under
forty years of age.

Marriott; and finally the Watson Guards, Capt.
Dolan, the Mechanical Volunteers, Lieut. Brown, and
the Twiggs Riflemen, Capt. Taylor. In this imperfect
enumeration the large number of those who enlisted
in the regular army and in the navy have not been
reckoned. Altogether, Baltimore contributed at least
a regiment and a half to the army of the United
States, and every member of the commands mentioned
enlisted without an official call from the executive,
their participation in the war being in every sense of
the term a voluntary act.2

C H A P T E R XV.

POLITICAL PROGRESS.

Legislative Representation—Federal Hill—Van Buren Electors—Politi-
cal Conventions—Reform Constitution—Know-Nothing Party—Re-
form Party.

UNDER the charter of Maryland the legislative
power was lodged in the hands of the proprietary,
with the proviso that it should be exercised " by and
with the advice, assent, and approbation of the free-
men, or of the delegates or deputies," the right being
reserved to him of selecting the mode in which they
should be assembled. The warrants for convening
the Assemblies issued by the Governors at the founda-
tion of the province determined whether they should
be convened in person or by deputies; or if by depu-
ties, the number of deputies to which each county
should be entitled and the manner in which they
should be elected. From the first Assembly of the
province until the government passed into the hands
of Cromwell's commissioners there was no settled or
uniform mode of convening Assemblies. At that
time the elective franchise was not highly appreci-
ated, and there are several instances showing that the
inconvenience of personal attendance and the obliga-
tion to defray the expense of delegates occasionally
caused it to be considered a grievance. "Until 1650
the delegates were elected for hundreds or settle-
ments, and the warrant for each Assembly specified
the number to be elected for each hundred. There
was no regular delegate system before this period, and

2 Among the Baltimoreans and Marylanders who achieved the high-
est distinction in the Mexican war were Lieut.-Col. William H. Watson,
Maj. (now Gen.) John It. Kenly, Maj. Samuel Riuggold, Capt. Randolph
Ridgely, Col. Trneman Cross, Maj. William Lear (born in Harford
County, and mortally wounded at the head of his regiment in the battle
of Monterey), Passed Midshipman John Ringgold Hynson, Capt. Samuel
H. Walker, Capt. Oden Bowie, Lieut. Raphael Semmes, Lieut. Arnold
Elzey, Lieut. John Contee, Lieut.-Col. William H. Emory, Brev.-Maj.
James Lowry Donaldson, Col. Robert C. Buchanan, Lieut. Isaac S.
Sterett (United States navy), Lieut. James Madison Frailey (United
States navy), Capt. Henry Little, Capt. James E Stewart, Maj. Daniel
H. McPhail, Brev.-Maj. John Eager Howard, Brev.-Maj. James J.
Archer, Capt. James E. Marriott, Capt. James Piper, Lieuts. Alexander
H. Cross, Robert Swan, Robert H. Archer, William H. Fitzhugh, Brig.-
Gen. Bennet Riley, Capt. Franklin Buchanan, and Surg. Ninian Pink-
ney, of the United States navy. The gallant Watson fell in the attack
upon the city of Monterey, on the 21st of September, 1846. Maj. Ring-
gold was mortally wounded at the battle of Palo Alto.
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perhaps this arose from the existence of the right
then generally conceded to the freemen of appearing
in the Assembly in person or by proxy. It was not
until 1659, when the Lower House was made to consist
only of delegates, that its organization became regu-
lar. At the session of 1659 four delegates were called
from each county, and from this period until 1681,
with one exception, the summons permitted the elec-
tion of two, three, or four delegates in each, at the
option of the people. In the latter year the number
was reduced to two by the proprietary's ordinance;
but in 1692, after the establishment of the royal gov-
ernment, the constitution of the Lower House was reg-
ulated by law, and four delegates were again allotted
to each county. The right of representation thus es-
tablished upon the basis of equality amongst the
counties existed without alteration until the Ameri-
can Revolution." Thus it appears that from the col-
onization until 1650 the right of representation had
no regular character. Sometimes the Assemblies had
the nature of the " Ecclesia"1 of the Athenians.
They were assemblies of the freemen generally rather
than of representatives. Every freeman had a right
to be personally present, and this right being a per-
sonal privilege, like that of a member of the English
House of Peers, he might either appear in person or
by proxy. When the Assemblies were so constituted
the government was a pure democracy, being admin-
istered by the people in person. At other times the
freemen were permitted to appear only by delegates
or deputies, elected in the manner prescribed by the
warrants of election. The three sessions of 1640, and
those of July, 1641, and 1642, were of the latter char-
acter ; the other sessions were of the former, which
was the prevailing character. After the commotions
of the civil war in Ehgland had ceased, and the gov-
ernmentwas restored to the proprietary by Cromwell's
commissioners, viz., from 1659, the Assembly con-
sisted only of delegates, and from that period the
right of appointing proxies or appearing personally
wholly ceased. Yet it was not until 1681 that any
restrictions appear to have been imposed upon the
people in the choice of delegates. It was the dispo-
sition of both the proprietary and the people to ex-
tend rather than to abridge the right, and it was not
until it was esteemed a privilege that restrictions
were imposed. By the proprietary's ordinance of the
6th of September, 1681, the same qualifications were
required for delegates as for voters, and these qualifi-
cations were continued as to both until the Revolu-
tion. This ordinance confined the privilege of being
delegates to all freemen having a freehold of fifty
acres, or residents having a visible personal estate
of £40 within the county. The qualifications were
re-established by law in 1692,2 and continued by

1 McMahon.
2 There was one change, however: Roman Catholics were not per-

mitted to hold office or to Tote, and were, moreover, required to pay a
double tax on their lands.

the successive acts of 1704, 1708, 1715, and 1716 s

until the beginning of the Revolution, and they were
then preserved by the provisional government. When
Maryland joined in the Declaration of Independence,
in 1776, a new constitution was adopted, by which it
was provided that the House of Delegates should be
chosen in the following manner: " All freemen above
twenty-one years of age, having a freehold of fifty
acres of land in the county in which they offer to
vote and residing therein, and all freemen having
property in this State above the value of £30 current
money, and having resided in the county in which
they offer to vote one whole year next preceding the
election, shall have a right of suffrage in the election
of delegates for such county." These provisions were
continued without alteration until 1802, when the
property qualification for voters was entirely abol-
ished, and the elective franchise was placed under
new regulations applicable as well to elections in
Baltimore as in other parts of the State. These reg-
ulations excluded persons of color, previously enjoy -

! ing the right of franchise when free and possessing
the necessary property qualifications, and conferred the
right to vote exclusively upon " free white persons, citi-
zens of the State, above the age of twenty-one, and
having a residence of twelve months next preceding
the election in the city or county in which they offered
to vote." Elections by viva voce vote and the prop-
erty qualifications were still required " in persons to
be appointed or holding offices of profit or trust;" but
in November, 1809, John Hanson Thomas, of Freder-
ick County, introduced a bill
in the Assembly by which all
such clauses of the constitu-
tion were repealed, and in
the following year the act
was confirmed. Under the
constitution of 1776 the qual-
ifications of a member of the
House of Delegates included,
besides the other requisites
of a voter, the possession of
an estate of £500. The time
of election was the first Mon-
day of October in each
year; the mode was viva voce; the judges of elections
in the counties were the sheriffs ;4 in Annapolis the

3 Owing to the prevalence of the smallpox, the General Assembly,
which was to have met in Annapolis on the 28th of March, 1757, was
adjourned, by order of the Governor, to meet in Baltimore on Tuesday,
the 5th of April. But, in consequence of the failure of the members to
attend in time, it did not meet until Friday, April 8th. The session
was opened by a speech from Governor Horatio Sharpe, who gave a re-
port of the conference held in Philadelphia with the Earl of Loudoun
and the other Governors, and laid before them a plan for the better de-
fense of His Majesty's colonieB in America, and asked the Assembly to
assist in carrying the plan into execution, and to furnish supplies, etc.,
which was complied with most readily. On Monday, May 9, 1757, the
Assembly, after passing seventeen very important laws, adjourned to
meet in Annapolis on the fourth Tuesday in August, 1757.

4 "Up to the division of Baltimore County into seven election districts
by the act of 1798, ch. 115, all elections were held by the sheriff at the

J. B. THOMAS.
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municipal authorities; and in Baltimore, at first its
commissioners, but after its erection into a city the
mayor and Second Branch of the City Council, with
whom it remained until 1799. Until that year " there
had been but one place for holding the elections in
Baltimore, as well as in the counties, but a new system
was then adopted for both. The eight wards into
which the city was divided for the election of the
City Council were made election districts for the
delegate elections, and the judges of elections for
members of the First Branch of the Council then be-
came judges for the latter elections also."1 Before
1776 Baltimore had enjoyed no separate representa-
tion in the Assemblies; but under the constitution of
that year it was allowed two representatives in the
House of Delegates. The Senate consisted of fifteen
members, taken indiscriminately from any part of the
State, with the sole restriction that nine of them were
to be residents of the west and six of the east side of
Chesapeake Bay. Their term of office was five years,
and they were chosen by an electoral college, com-
posed of two electors from each of the counties, and
one each from Annapolis and Baltimore. The elec-
tors were required to possess the qualifications neces-
sary for delegates, and met at Annapolis on the third
Monday in September after their election, to proceed
to the election of a Senate. The qualifications of a
senator were that he should be above the age of
twenty-five, should have resided in the State for the
three years next preceding his election, and should
have real or personal property above the value of
£1000.

After the conclusion of the Revolution political
sentiment in the State was divided between those who
favored the enlargement of the powers delegated to
the Federal Congress and those who, fearing that
such an enlargement would imperil the independence
and sovereignty of the States, insisted that these
powers should be strictly confined within the origi-
nal limits. After the adoption of the Federal Consti-
tution in 1787,2 and its subsequent ratification by the

court-house or place of meeting of the county court. The sheriff called
together three or more justices of the court, who with the clerk of the
County Court, were required to sit as a court, and during their sitting the
sheriff was to " make or cause to be made public proclamation, thereby
giving notice to all freemen ot your said county who have in their said
county a freehold of fifty acres of land, or who shall be residents and
have a visible estate of forty pounds sterling at the least, thereby re-
quiring them to appear at your county court-house at a certain time,
not lesB than ten days from such proclamation made for electing and
choosing deputies and delegates to serve for your said county in a Gen-
eral Assembly;" und they continued to vote at the court-house of the
county down to 1799 or 1800. By the subsequent act of 1799, ch. 50,
commissioners were appointed in all the counties of the State to lay them
off into election districts, and Richard Johns, Zachariah McCubbin, Jo-
sias Pennington, Wm. Gwynn, Nicholas Merryman, Francis Snowden,
Charles Jeseop, George Nace, Jr., and Beal Owings, of Christopher, were
appointed to lay off and bound the seven districts into which Baltimore
County WHS divided, and to fix the places for holding elections in each
district.

1 McMahon, p. 462.
2 The ratification of the new Federal Constitution in July, 1788, was the

occasion of public demonstrations of approval in all parts of the country.

States, a struggle for supremacy at once began be-
gan between these two parties, which was nowhere
more earnestly conducted than in Baltimore. The
depth and intensity of public feeling was manifested
in the State and Federal elections of the day, and a
degree of bitterness developed scarcely exceeded in
the political agitations of any subsequent period. On
the 6th of October, 1788, an election for delegates to
the General Assembly for Baltimore Town com-
menced and was continued until half-past seven
o'clock on the evening of the 10th, when by consent
of the parties the polls were closed. The Federal
candidates were James McHenry and John Coulter,
and the candidates of the Anti-Federalists were
Samuel Chase and David McMechen. The vote was
as follows: James McHenry, 635 ; John Coulter, 622;
Samuel Chase, 502; and David McMechen, 494. The
following contemporaneous description of the elec-
tion shows how bitterly the fight was waged:

" On the first day Dr. McHenry and Coulter's party paraded through
the town carrying a ship and a pilot-boat, with drum beating, fifes playing,
and colors fiying, followed by a large body of respectable characters, mer-
chants and gentlemen, and a very large number of persons not entitled to
vote, and the whole body took possession of the polls at the hour ap-
pointed for taking the vote, and kept possession the whole day, AND ALL
ACCESS TO THE HUSTINGS DEPENDED ON THEIR PLEASURE. On the second
day of the election the friends of Mr. Chase and Mr. McMechen (a re-
spectable number of citizens and all voters except some very few) took
possession of the hustings, but were forced from their station byjviolence,
and many of them were beat and grossly abuBed by persons who were
NOT voters, encouraged and assisted by others. From the whole conduct
of McHenry and Coulter's party a great number of peaceable citizens
were deterred and prevented from coming to the hustings ; many made
the attempt in vain. Hand-bills were dispersed every evening through
the town threatening to publish the names of those who voted for Chase
and McMechen AS ENEMIES TO THE NEW FEDERAL GOVERNMENT."

In compliance with a resolution of Congress, the
General Assembly of Maryland, on the 22d of De-
cember, 1788, passed " an act- directing the time,

In Baltimore a procession was formed on Philpot's Hill, under the direc-
tion of Capts. Moore and Plunket, in which both parties, forgetting their
recent feuds, joined in fraternal harmony. The mechanical trades, the
liberal professions, all united in the procession, and respectively dis-
played their appropriate banners. Commodore Barney performed a con-
spicuous part on this occasion. He had a small boat, fifteen feet in length,
completely rigged and perfectly equipped as a ship, which was called
the " Federalist," which being mounted upon four wheels and drawn by
the same number of hoTses, took ite place in the procession; he com-
manded the shipi and was honored with a crew of captains, who at his
word and the boatswain's pipe went through all the various manceuvres
of making and taking in sail, to the great delight of the crowded win-
dows, doors, and balconies by which they passed. The ship was imme-
diately followed by all the captains, mates, and seamen at that time in
the port of Baltimore. It was paraded through all the principal streets
of Fell's Point and the other portions of the city, and finally anchored
on the lofty bank southwest of the basin, which from that occurrence
received, and has ever since borne, the name of " Federal Hill." On this
spot a dinner had been provided, at which four thousand persons sat down
together, and made the welkin ring with shouts of "huzza for the con-
stitution !" This idea of carrying a full-rigged ship in procession origi-
nated entirely with Capt. Barney. The evening was ushered in by a
boufire on Federal Hill and fireworks. After the pageant was over it
was reBolved to present the ship to Gen. Washington in the name of the
merchants and ship-masters of Baltimore. It was launched and navi'
gated by Commodore Barney down the Chesapeake Bay to the mouth of
the Potomac, and thence up the river to Mount Vernon. Gen. Washing-
ton acknowledged its receipt in fitting terms in a letter to " Wm. Smith
and others," of Baltimore.
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the members were voted for by general ticket through-
out the State. At this election in 1789, when there
was nothing particularly or locally interesting to Bal-
timore, she cast a comparatively small vote, which was
divided almost equally between the two sets of can-
didates. From some unknown cause Baltimore after-
wards became dissatisfied with five of the members
then elected, and at the next election it was deter-
mined to leave them out. Accordingly a short time
before the election of 1790 a caucus was held, and
Philip Key, Joseph Seney, William Pinkney, Samuel
Sterett, William Vans, Murray and Upton Sheredine
were nominated as candidates. Upon the announce-
ment of this ticket the counties became alarmed at
the supposed assumption of power and influence on
the part of Baltimore, and immediately called a con-
vention of deputies in Baltimore, on the 23d of Sep-
tember, 1790, who were authorized to nominate can-
didates. On the day appointed the counties' deputies
assembled and nominated as their candidates Michael
Jenifer Stone, Benjamin Contee, George Gale, and
Daniel Carroll, four of the old members, and James
Tilghman, of James, and Samuel Sterett.1

When the election came off Baltimore cast up-
wards of three thousand votes for her own ticket,
while six votes was the highest number which any
one of the county candidates received. In the coun-
ties the vote was very much divided between the two
tickets, and as a consequence Baltimore elected her
ticket by a large majority, and thereby took control
of the politics of the State.2

The counties now regarded the plan of electing
members of Congress by general ticket as " destruc-
tive of their influence and interests," and at the next
session of the Legislature, on the 19th of December,
1790, the law was changed, so that the elector only
voted for a candidate in his own district, }t being en-
acted " that every person entitled and offering to vote
for representatives for this State in the Congress of
the United States shall have a right to vote for one
person being a resident of his district at the time of
his election." This change of the law confined the
direct influence of Baltimore to the election of its own
ticket, as at present, ahd the counties were restored to
their " proper station and dignity and independence."
The electors of President and Vice-President were
still to be chosen by general ticket, but five of them
were to be residents of the Western Shore and three
of the Eastern Shore.3

1 Gen. Wm. Smallwood was president of this convention.
2 Samuel Sterett received the highest number of voteB cast in the

State, 16,420.
3 In 1791 the electors for choosing port*wardens and special commis-

sioners met at the court-house October 7th and elected the following
port-wardens: Samuel Smith, James Calhoun*, Jeremiah Yellott, John
Strieker, George Salmon, Peter Hoffman, Samuel Owings, Isaac Griest,
and Thomas Johnson; Special Commissioners, Paul Bentalou, John Hil-
len, John Mickle, James Wignell, John Coulter, Joseph Biays, John
Brown Potter. This election was certified to by James Clark, James
Carey, James Edwards, William Winchester, Chas. Garts, Qeorge Sal-
mon, Philip Bogers, David Pluuket, and Thomas Johnson.

The congressional election of 1798 was conducted
with considerable bitterness in Baltimore, as will be
seen from the following extract from the New York
Daily Advertiser of October in that year:

"The election in Baltimore for members of Congress, which takes
place this week, is very warmly contested. Mr. Winchester and Gen.
Smith are the rival candidates. For some weeks the papers of that town
have been almost exclusively devoted to the canvassing of the respective
merits and pretensions of these gentlemen. Party spirit seldom ran
higher. No means are left unemployed by either side to secure its ob-
jects. The public conduct and private walk of the two candidates have
been scrutinized with the severest and keenest eye. Depositions are
brought forward, conversations are related, and the most secret are un-
folded to general view. Nor have their exertions and zeal rested here. To
rouse the torpid and unite and animate their partisans entertainments
have been given, inflammatory toasts drunk, and processions formed;
some houses have been threatened, one or two actually assaulted, and
finally, to work up the passions of the multitude to the highest pitch,
the adherents of the respective champions have resolved to distinguish
themselves by different badges on- the days of election. How all this will
terminate to-morrow's mail will inform us; but they are to us omens of
serious and fatal disputes."

To which the Federal Gazette adds,—
" Unfortunately, heated as the minds of the people were at the election,

and as they ever will be in large cities where votes are taken viva voce
and at but one poll, we can for the honor of Baltimore Bay but one house
was assaulted, and that the contest terminated more peaceably than
could reasonably have been anticipated."

The elections of 1808, both State and national, were
contested with great vehemence, and although the
Federalists gained two or three members of Congress,
and secured a majority in the Lower House of Assem-
bly, the Democrats triumphed in Baltimore, electing
Edward Johnson mayor, and celebrated their victory
with great enthusiasm by transporting the successful
candidates through the city in a boat mounted on
wheels and drawn by horses, and by a bonfire on

! Gallows Hill, made of six pipes of gin imported from
Holland "that had paid tribute to England." In
the elections of the following year Baltimore City and
County were still both Democratic. When the war
of 1812 commenced Baltimore was even more in-
tensely Democratic than ever, and continued so all
through that struggle. Political feeling ran higher,
perhaps, than at any previous period, and the ill-
advised utterances of the Federal Republican created
an excitement which culminated in scenes of mob
violence and riot. After the war (in 1815) consider-
able discussion arose in the larger counties and in
the city of Baltimore over the fact that the minority
of the people of the State were governing the major-
ity. Under the existing constitution the delegates
were the representatives of the counties of the State
and not of the people, thereby giving one man as
much political weight in some of these counties as
ten men in others. Annapolis, the capital of the
State, and the city of Baltimore elected one elector
of the Senate,—the counties two each. Annapolis
had at this period from two hundred and thirty to
two hundred and sixty voters, while Baltimore had
from five thousand to six thousand, but each under
the existing constitution were equal. Baltimore City
and County elected six members of the eighty which
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places, and manner of holding elections of represen-
tatives of this State in the Congress of the United
States, and for appointing electors on the part of the
State for choosing a President and Vice-President of
the United States, and for the regulation of the said
elections." By this law the State was divided into
six districts, which were numbered from one to six.
The first district was composed of St. Mary's, Charles,
and Calvert Counties; the second of Kent, Talbot,
Cecil, and Queen Ann's Counties; the third of Anne
Arundel (including Annapolis) and Prince George's
Counties; the fourth of Baltimore (including Balti-
more Town) and Harford Counties;1 the fifth of
Somerset, Dorchester, Worcester, and Caroline Coun-
ties ; the sixth of Frederick, Washington, and Mont-
gomery Counties.

It was provided that the first election should be
held on the first Wednesday in January, but after
this on the first Monday of October in every second
year thereafter. The electors were to consist of eight
persons, five to be residents of the Western Shore and
three of the Eastern Shore. There were to be six
representatives, who were to be residents of the dis-
trict they were to represent, but every person coming
to vote for such representative " shall have a right to
vote for six persons," thereby giving each voter the
right to vote for the general ticket. The elections to
be free and made viva voce. The mode of electing
senators to represent Maryland in the United States
Senate at this time engaged the attention of the pub-
lic, and after considerable discussion the State Senate
proposed to the House of Delegates, and it agreed,
" that the two Senators to represent this State should
be elected by a joint ballot of both houses; and that
no person should be elected a senator from this State
unless by a majority of the attending members of both
houses."

Tuesday, Dec. 9, 1788, being the day appointed for
the election, thirteen members of the Senate and
seventy of the House of Delegates attended in joint
convention, when a resolution was adopted declaring
" that one senator should be a resident of the Western
and the other of the Eastern Shore." Hon. Charles
Carroll of Carrollton and Uriah Forrest were put in
nomination for the Western Shore, and Hon. John
Henry and George Gale for the Eastern Shore, and
upon counting the ballots Henry received 41, Gale
41, Forrest 41, and Carroll 40. There being 83 bal-
lots cast and neither of the candidates receiving a
majority, a second ballot was taken with the follow-
ing result: Henry 42, Gale 40, Carroll 41, and Forrest
41. Mr. Henry receiving a majority, was declared
elected United States Senator, after which the Legis-

1 After the census of 1800, Maryland was entitled to nine representa-
tives in Congress, and the electoral districts were again altered by act of
Assembly. Baltimore City and County became the fifth, to elect two, one
to be a resident of each jointly elected, and Gen. Smith and Col. Nich-
olas A. Moore were elected; but the former being appointed United
States Senator, Wm. McCreery was chosen in his place.

lature adjourned until the next day, when Mr. Carroll
was elected by 42 to 39. The first constitutional elec-
tion for representatives to Congress and electors for
President and Vice-President took place in January,
1789, and resulted in the triumph of the Federal
ticket. The aggregate vote of Baltimore Town at
this election was about 1200 votes, and that of Balti-
more County about 1300. Speaking of this election,
the Maryland Journal of Jan. 13, 1789, says,—

" Long has been the struggle between the Federals and the Anti-Federals
in this town, and every artifice and exertion have been used by the latter
to unfetter themselves from the disgraceful, just, and self-acquired name
of Anti-Federal; they disclaimed the title, but they would not abandon
the detested principles. This town has been truly distinguished, and, we
hope, known and honored through America as truly Federal. The elec-
tion for representatives to Congress and electors of the President and
Vice-President was finally to establish the political character of the citi-
zens of Baltimore, and therefore both parties exerted their utmost powers
to carry the characters they set up. A very respectable committee of
this place addressed the Federals and called on them to support the Fed-
eral ticket, in which William Smith, Esq., of this town, a genuine Fed-
eral, a merchant of the first representation, of an independent fortune
and considerable family connections, was named for this district, against
whom the Anti-Federals appointed Mr. Samuel Sterett, a young gentle-
man of fair character and respectable connections. The contest lasted
four days (almost the whole time allowed by law), and the Federals were
crowned with conquest, Mr. Smith having at the close of the polls a ma-
jority of seven votes. Thus our beloved Constitution was triumphant
over its base enemies, and the trump of Federalism drowned the expiring
cries of the Anti-Federalist in this town. The Federals will use their
victory with temper and moderation. Now all our factions, all our wars
shall cease, and Federals rule our happy land in peace."

A correspondent observes that
" William Smith had a less number of votes in this town than the other
five candidates on the Federal ticket, and that Mr. Sterett had the
highest number on the Anti-Federal ticket. He also remarks that in
Baltimore County, Mr. Sterett polled almost five times as many votes as
Mr. Smith, but this may be accounted for as the county has ever been Anti-
Federal, and Sterett is connected with very influential characters in the
county, and many arts were practiced to render Mr. Smith unpopular."

Another correspondent observes
" that three hundred and eighty aliens were naturalized last October in
this town, during the then election, by Judge Hanson, that fifty of them
offered to vote for William Smith, Esq., and twenty-two offered to vote
for Mr. Samuel Sterett; the judges refused to receive their votes, declar-
ing their opinion, that a foreigner naturalized according to act of Assem-
bly for naturalization (passed July session, 1779) was not entitled to vote
unless such foreigner had resided in Baltimore Town a year after such
naturalization, although such foreigner had lived in Baltimore Town
one year preceding the day of holding the election, and was otherwise
qualified to vote."

The correspondent adds
" that the judges disregarded fas immaterial) the circumstance that such
foreigner came to this State with intention to settle therein, and would
not permit him to swear to such intention."

In October, 1789, James McHenry and Samuel Ster-
ett were elected without opposition to the General
Assembly from Baltimore Town, and at the same
time William McCreery, George Keeports, and John
Wetherburn were chosen comptrollers. The four
delegates from Baltimore County chosen in 1789 were
Charles Eidgely, Charles Ridgely (son of William),
James Gittings, and Richard Owings.

When the Constitution of the United States went
into operation, Maryland, as has been said, was divided
into six districts for the election of representatives in
Congress, and one member assigned to each, but all
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at this time composed the House of Delegates, while
Baltimore City and County paid about one-third of
all the revenues of the State, except such as were
derived from dividends on stocks, had very nearly
one-fourth of the free population, and therefore,
under a just distribution of the governing power,
were entitled by contribution and by population
to twenty of the eighty members in the House of
Delegates. At the election of 1815 seven counties
and two cities, notwithstanding they had a majority
of nearly nine thousand votes cast in the State, were
only entitled under this system to thirty-two members,
while twelve counties which were in the minority
sent forty-eight members. This question was dis-
cussed with great animation during subsequent cam-
paigns; and in 1816 the political writers declared the
attack of the " Baltimore Jacobins" the "most daring
upon the rights of the people that ever was conceived
in a country professing to be free to increase repre-
sentatives." The election in September of that year
is described "as the most bitter that ever transpired
in Maryland. Not only had the Federal party to
encounter the arts and zealous operations of the
Democrats of the State, but the general government
lent the aid of its influence in the election. The-con-
test was opened early in the winter by transporting
voters from places where they could be spared, where
the Federal majority was usually not very large.
This the Federalists soon discovered and counter-
acted. A number of United States soldiers were or-
dered from Baltimore to man the condemned works
at Annapolis, but with the greater object in view to
endeavor to vote through the expected acquiescence
of the corporation officers. This scheme failed on ac-
count of the tardiness of their motions, as they did
not reach the city more than six months before the
election. Great quantities of money, and false and
licentious papers, almost outraging shame itself, were
poured forth everywhere by both parties. Truth and
probability were set at defiance; the most virtuous
private characters were aspersed and criminated;
nothing was left unessayed, however nefarious, which
might conduce to gain success for either party."1

Early in the session of 1818 a bill was introduced
into the Legislature to alter the constitution of Mary-
land so as to give Baltimore two additional members
in the House of Delegates. This had now become a
matter of serious importance to the city, as with the
limited powers of the local authorities and the in-
creasing needs of a large and growing municipality,
it was found almost impossible for two representatives
to attend to all the matters required of them in the
Legislature. At this period, too, one-fourth of the

1 At the State election held in October, 1818, the soldiers stationed at
Fort McHenry and the sailors and marines on board the United States
vessel " Nonesuch" were mustered, furnished with ballots, marched
to the polls and voted. The soldiers themselves said that their ballots
were dealt out to them by a sergeant on parade, that they were then
marched to the polls and ordered to vote the tickets with which they
had been furnished.

time of the Legislature was taken up with the busi-
ness of Baltimore. Yet notwithstanding the equity
of the claim, the necessity of the case, and the fact
that the city now numbered over sixty thousand
inhabitants,—a greater number than Calvert, Alle-
ghany, St. Mary's, Kent, Charles, Caroline, Talbot,
and Montgomery Counties combined, which together
sent thirty-two delegates to the House,—with strange
jealousy against the city the bill was rejected. So
by this unjust distribution of representation oiie man
in Calvert County, which only contained a population
of four thousand and sixty-eight, had the political
weight of twenty-eight in Baltimore. At the legis-
lative session of 1819 a bill was passed by the House
of Delegates to alter that part of the constitution
relative to the election of Governor and Council,
and providing for their election by the people. The
Federalists bitterly opposed it by every means at their
command. They declared it would be throwing the
whole political power of the State into the hands of
Baltimore, which, with her population of sixty-two
thousand, could nominate and elect from among her
own citizens at any time she pleased any person as
Governor. They also endeavored to excite a prej-
udice against the " Baltimore Jacobins" by declaring
that the city contained one-third foreigners,—
"who entertain strong prejudices in favor of the governments under
which they were born, and whose main object in taking up a residence
in this country was to accumulate riches, which the disturbed state of
Europe for many years past rendered it impossible for them to do there*
The true contest is now between Baltimore and the counties, between
the city and the country ; and the question which every voter, when he
goes to the polls, ought to put to himself is, shall I vote for the men
who, by effecting the changes which they have proposed and design,
will place the great agricultural State of Maryland at the feet of the
merchants, the bank speculators, the brokers, the lottery-office keepers,
the foreigners, and the mob of Baltimore ? or shall* I give my support to
those who will maintain, in opposition to them, the honor, the dignity,
and independence of the cultivators of the soil?"

The bill was defeated in the Senate. In January,
1820, Thomas Kell, a delegate from Baltimore, pro-
posed a bill to increase the representation for that
city, which was violently opposed by the county
members and defeated.2 Such was the force of preju-
dice in Maryland that until 1826 no Israelite could
hold any office, civic or military, in the State govern-
ment. The subject was brought before the Legisla-
ture in 1818 and at each succeeding session until
1822, when a bill removing these disabilities was
passed, but, in accordance with the constitution of the
State, before it could become a law it was necessary
that it should be confirmed by the Legislature of 1823.
The measure was very unpopular with the people,
and its passage created an extraordinary influence on
their minds, so much so that in the election of mem-
bers for the Legislature of 1823, out of forty members
that voted in favor of the bill only sixteen were re-
turned to the next Assembly. As there were about
one hundred and fifty Hebrews in the State, represent-

2 The practice of printing a daily journal of proceedings of the Legis-
lature for the use of the members was not begun until January, 1823.
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ing a capital of about half a million dollars, the pre-
judice of the* people soon subsided, the measure gained
strength, and after a struggle of six or seven years pre-
vailed. In Baltimore it became a sine qua non of the
election of the delegate to avow himself in favor of it.

Finally, on the last day of the session of 1824 (Sat-
urday, Feb. 26, 1825), the "Jew Bill," as it was then
called, or bill to alter the constitution so as to relieve
persons from political disqualifications on account of
their religious opinions, again passed the Assembly,—
in the House of Delegates by a vote of twenty-six to
twenty-five, only fifty-one out of eighty members
being present. It was ratified by the Assembly of
1825 in the House of Delegates by a vote of forty-
five t6 thirty-two. Thus the Hebrews became free-
men in Maryland, and at the election for members of
the Baltimore City Council in October, 1826, Messrs.
Solomon Etting and Joshua I. Cohen, two estimable
gentlemen of the Hebrew faith, were chosen by the
suffrages of a large part of the citizens of their sev-
eral wards to represent them in the City Council.
They were the first Hebrews ever elected by the
people to office in Maryland.1 On the 20th of March,
1829, an ordinance of the City Council was approved
by the mayor providing for " the registering of all
the qualified voters of the city of Baltimore." This,
it is believed, was the first registry law ever passed in
the State, but it had only a brief existence, for it was
repealed by an ordinance approved Jan. 19,1830. As
early as October, 1825, Gen. Jackson was nominated
by the Legislature of Tennessee as a candidate for
President in 1828, and all the elections held in Mary-
land in the interval turned upon the Presidential
question. Both the "Administration" and the " Anti-
Administration" parties held State conventions in
Baltimore in 1827, and organized for the approaching
struggle. The convention of the "Friends of the
Administration" assembled in Baltimore on the 23d of
July, 1827. The delegates for Baltimore County were:

Philip Wilson, Abraham Cole, Thomas G. Gist, John Harryman,
Nicholas Dorsey, Nicholas R. Merryman, James Hood, John Wise, Wm.
Jamison, Dennis Marsh, Dr. Elisha J. Hall, John B. Pearce, Charles
Worthington, John Philpot, Benj. Wilson, Sr., Richard Fowler, Daniel
Hostetter, Josiah Green, John Murray, Jr., John Buck, of Benj. Dr. Thos.
Johnston, Henry V. Somerville, Edw. Buchanan, James W. McCulloch.

For the city of Baltimore,—
Luke Tiernan, Gen. Wm. McDonald, Dr. Nathaniel Potter, Solomon

Etting, Thorndick Chase, Peter Gold, John McKim, Jr., James L. Haw-
kins, Charles S. Walsh, Nathaniel V. Williams, Robert Miller, William
Stewart, James Harwood, Wm. Meeteer, James Conner, Thomas Kell.2

As the time for another Presidential election ap-
proached the Democratic party found two rival or-
ganizations in the field, the National Republicans or
Whigs, and the "Anti-Masons." The National

1 In the election of delegates from Baltimore to the General Assembly
in 1828 the " Anti-Slavery Society," recently formed in Baltimore, put
forward Daniel Raymond as their candidate, and he received six hun-
dred and twenty-four votes.

8 The delegates to the Jackson General Convention, appointed May,
1827, by Alex. McKim, in pursuance of resolutions of a recent town-meet-
ing, were Roger B. Tauey, Beal Randall, Jacob G. Davies, Hugh McEldery,
Joel Vickers, Matthew Bennett, Wm. Krebs, and George Winchester.

Anti-Masonic Convention, composed of about one
hundred and twelve delegates, assembled in Balti-
more at the Athenaeum, on Monday, the 26th of Sep-
tember, 1831, and on Wednesday, the 28th, nominated
Wm. Wirt, of Maryland, for the Presidency, and Amos
Ellmaker, of Pennsylvania, for the Vice-Presidency.
The "National Republican" party, composed princi-
pally of the friends of Mr.- Adams and those who had
become dissatisfied with the course of Gen. Jackson,
met in convention in Baltimore on December 12,
1831, with about one hundred and forty members in
attendance, and on the following day unanimously
nominated Henry Clay, of Kentucky, for President,
and on the 14th John Sergeant, of Pennsylvania, for
Vice-President. Gen. Jackson had been designated
by his friends in all parts of the Union at an early
period after the commencement of his administration
as a candidate for re-election, and a national conven-
tion was necessary only to nominate a candidate for
Vice-President. The convention for that purpose
assembled in Baltimore on the 21st of May, 1832,
and nominated Martin Van Buren, of New York,
for the Vice-Presidency. Before his nomination,
however, the convention adopted the following " two-
thirds rule," which has ever since been adhered to by
all Democratic conventions:

" Resolved, That each State be entitled, in the nomination to be made of
a candidate for the Vice-Presidency, to a number of votes equal to the
number to which they will be entitled in the electoral colleges, under
the new appointment, in voting for President and Yice-President, and
that two-thirds of the whole number of votes in the convention shall be
necessary to constitute a choice."

The convention met part of the time at the Athe-
nseum, and part of the time at " Warfield's Church,"
in St. Paul Street near Saratoga, which was after-
wards incorporated with N. C. Brooks' Baltimore
Female College. During the proceedings of the
convention a panic occurred, and one or two men
jumped from a window and were somewhat injured.

On the 23d of April, 1834, an immense meeting
of the people was held in Monument Square to give
expression to public sentiment with reference to the
recent protest of President Jackson. Gen. William
McDonald presided, with many of the most promi-
nent citizens of Baltimore as vice-presidents. The
meeting was addressed by John P. Kennedy, Charles
C. Harper, Joshua Jones, and John V. L. McMahon,
and the following resolution was adopted:

" Resolved, That such citizens of Maryland as can attend and who are
opposed to the doctrines promulgated by the President of the United
States assemble for the purpose of forming a ' State Whig Society' in
support of said constitution and laws, and to this end be it further re-
solved, That a committee of sixty, with power to increase their number,
be appointed by the chair with instruction and authority to prepare an
answer to said protest or appeal, and such resolutions as they may deem
appropriate to he submitted to that meeting, to fix and give notice of the
day and place for holding the same, to invite the attendance of distin-
guished Whigs from all parts of the country and especially from Mary-
land, to invite persons to deliver addresses on that occasion, and to pre-
pare fundamental rules for the government of a State Whig Society."3

3 Martin Van Buren was nominated for President by the National
Democratic Convention which assembled at Baltimore on May 20,1836.
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Before the Presidential election of 1836 the mani-
fest injustice of a minority of the people of the State
governing the majority, which had been the subject j
of complaint for years, again violently agitated the
people, who made it the engrossing topic of discus-
sion and the great object in State politics. The dis-
cordant elements in the most populous counties and
the city of Baltimore, of both political parties, J
finally united and proposed that a convention of re-
formers, without distinction of party, should be held
in Baltimore, to agree upon such measures as would
insure success. On the 6th of June, 1836, the Reform
convention, composed of delegates from Cecil, Har-
ford, Baltimore, Frederick, Montgomery, and Wash-
ington Counties and Baltimore City, assembled and
adopted resolutions recommending the people of the
State to elect at the next October election delegates
pledged to introduce and support a bill providing for
taking the sense of the people on the question of
reforming the constitution of the State on the first
Monday in May, 1837 ; and in the event of a majority
of the people declaring themselves in favor of such
reform, providing in the same bill for the calling of a
convention for that object. It was further resolved
that the members of the convention should be dis-
tributed equally among the several congressional
districts with the exception of the Fourth, which
being a double congressional district was to have
twice the number of representatives of any other
district. It was also agreed that if the Legislature
should refuse to pass the desired bill, the president of
the convention should reconvene it for the adoption
of such ulterior measures as might then be deemed
expedient. The people seemed disposed to fully sus-
tain the recommendations of the convention, for the
Assembly of 1835 had passed laws which tended to
enlarge the representation of the more populous
districts, and which only needed the confirmation of
the ensuing Legislature to become a law. By this
act two additional delegates were given to Baltimore
City, and Carroll County was erected out of portions
of Frederick and Baltimore Counties, thus giving
four more representatives to this section of the State,
and making the Reformers more urgent in their de-
mands. On the 5th of September, 1836, an election
for the purpose of choosing electors to select a State
Senate was held, and resulted in the choice of twenty- j
one Whig and nineteen Democratic or Van Buren
electors. When, in accordance with the constitution,
the Van Buren electors assembled in Annapolis to
choose the fifteen members of the State Senate, they
were advised by large bodies of their constituents not
to go into an election unless the Whig electors promised
that at least eight members of the Senate should be
selected from among persons known to be favorable to
such a reform in the State constitution as would insure
to all citizens living under it equal political rights and
privileges. To this the Whig electors refused to ac-
cede, and a "dead lock" was thus brought about

which continued until the 19th of November, when
it was at length broken and a Senate elected.1 The
Reform convention held another session in Baltimore
on the 16th of November, and adjourned to meet in
Annapolis on the first Monday of January, 1837.
This meeting never took place, for the Assembly con-
vened a few days afterwards and immediately entered
upon the work of reform. They first confirmed the
law, passed at the last session of the Assembly, to in-
crease the delegation from Baltimore from two to
four members; and in March, 1837, coerced by the
state of public feeling produced and manifested by
the course of the nineteen electors, the Legislature
passed a law making many of the desired changes in
the constitution. The people were given the power
of electing the Governor; the Senate was entirely
reorganized, one member being assigned to each
county and the city of Baltimore, to be elected im-
mediately by the people. The constitution of the
House of Delegates was materially altered, five
members being assigned to Baltimore City, Frederick
and Baltimore Counties each, and it was provided
that after 1840 every county having a population of
over thirty-five thousand souls should have six dele-
gates, and Baltimore City as many delegates as the
most populous county. The first Democratic State
convention under the reformed constitution was held
in Baltimore on the 31st of May, 1838, and resulted
in the nomination of William Grason, whose oppo-
nent was John L. Steele. This election caused great
excitement in Baltimore, where the opposing parties
became involved in a serious affray while waiting for
the returns in front of the newspaper-offices in Gay
Street. There was, as usual, much cheering and ex-
citement as the polls of the different wards were
successively announced; but about eleven o'clock a
fight took place, in which stones, brickbats, and
bludgeons were freely used. The contest was kept
up with occasional intermissions until two o'clock in
the morning, when it was only quelled by calling
out the City Guard.

On the 27th of March, 1838, the Legislature passed
an act for the registration of voters in Baltimore City,
which was submitted to the people for approval on
the 2d of October, and was ratified by an actual ma-
jority of only fifty-two votes. The vote by wards was
as follows :

Wards. Registry. No Begistry. Whole Number.
First 531 392 990
Second 394 412 863
Third 458 633 1,139
Fourth 385 683 1115
Fifth 702 393 1,163
Sixth , 558 482 1,077
Seventh 662 262 1 007
Eighth 403 692 1,146
Ninth 628 309 974
Tenth 430 616 1,085
Eleventh 649 599 1,282
Twelfth 552 831 1,472

6352 6300 13,316

1 For a more detailed account of this see the writer's " History of Mary-
land," iii., p. 190.
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The whole number of voters in the city at that time
was 13,316, and as the ordinance provided that those
who did not vote at all should be recorded in its
favor, there was an apparent or legal majority in its
favor of 716. It was provided by this act that the
** registers should require every person applying to be registered, and
by them adjudged entitled to be registered to state, in addition to his
name, the name of the street, lane, or alley in which he resided, and
whether he was a householder or a lodger, and if a lodger, the name and
residence of his landlord or landlady ; and in case there were no number
to the house, to designate its location in some other explicit mode, all
which particulars were to be plainly entered opposite to his name upon
the registration books. If a person were sick or absent from the city,
or deprived from other cause of registering bis name, any citizen of good
standing could apply to the register to register his name if he were a
qualified voter. The person so applying was to state under oath or affir-
mation the name of the person and his place of residence when at home
in the city. In case of a removal before the election from the ward in
which a person was registered, he was entitled to vote in no other ward
than that in which he was registered. Naturalized citizens were re-
quired to produce their papers of naturalization as the only evidence of
their citizenship, and every voter was required to have his name regis-
tered every year." 1

Public sentiment, however, had not yet been edu-
cated up to an appreciation of the advantages of regis-
tration, and this law shared the fate of its predecessor
and was repealed on the 15th of January, 1840. The
year 1840 was one of intense political excitement in all
sections of the country, and Baltimore did not fail to
share in the general agitation. On the 5th of May the
Democratic National Convention met in this city, at
the Assembly Booms, and nominated Martin Van
Buren as its candidate for the Presidency, and on
the day preceding one of the largest political gath-
erings of the campaign took place at Canton. Never
before was seen such an assemblage of people in
this State at a political meeting. In the language
of John V. L. McMahon, the president of the day,
" Every mountain sent its rill, every valley its
stream, and lo! the avalanche of the people is here."
The procession was one of the longest and most
interesting ever witnessed in this country. From
daylight until the hour of moving Baltimore Street
from one extremity to the other, and indeed along
the whole route, presented a spectacle beyond descrip-
tion, animated and exciting. From corner to corner
the streets presented one living mass of human beings;
every window was alive with fair, smiling faces;
from the top to the bottom every house was crowded.
At a few minutes after ten o'clock the procession com-
menced moving from the upper part of Baltimore
Street, led by several barouches, each drawn by four
white horses, the foremost containing. Gen. S. C.
Leakin, mayor of the city, Hon. Daniel Webster,
and other distinguished personages. Then followed
the delegations from the different States, commencing
with the Northern States, each having their appropri-
ate banners, etc. There were several log cabins, dec-
orated with all the fixtures belonging to the mansions
of the pioneers of the West, such as stags' antlers,
beaver-traps, etc. Hard cider flowed freely, and

1 This act was a substitute for a previous act passed at the same session.

hunting-shirts were everywhere visible. Addresses
were delivered by Daniel Webster, Henry day, John
Sergeant, Wm. C. Preston, John J. Crittenden, Cor-
win, Ely, Cushing, Fillmore, Halstead, John P. Ken-
nedy, Henry A. Wise, and other distinguished gen-
tlemen. The number of persons present was estimated
at twenty thousand.2 In spite of the great enthusiasm
for the Whig candidate, the Democrats succeeded in
securing a majority of thirty-one votes in the city of
Baltimore.

The Whig National Convention assembled in Balti-
more on the 1st of May, 1844, in the Universalist
church on Calvert Street, and nominated Henry Clay
by acclamation as a candidate for the Presidency, and
Theodore Frelinghuysen for Vice-President. On the
2d of May a "Young Men's National Ratification
Convention" assembled in Baltimore to indorse the
nominees, and was one of the largest and most im-
posing gatherings ever convened in the country. The
procession down Baltimore Street to the Canton race-
track (the place of meeting) was of the finest descrip-
tion. Among the speakers of the occasion were Daniel
Webster, Berrien, Crittenden, Clayton, George Evans,
of Maine, Thomas Ewing, Morehead, Metcalf, Rey-
nolds, Reverdy Johnson, and T. Yates Walsh.

The Democratic National Convention met in Balti-
more on the 27th of May, 1844, and nominated James
K. Polk for the Presidency, and G. M. Dallas for the
Vice-Presidency. On the 27th of May the Tyler Na-
tional Convention also assembled at Baltimore, at
Calvert Hall, and nominated John Tyler as their
candidate for President.

About this period a new party was organized which
in some of the States took the old parties by surprise.
The first announcement made by the Baltimore Clipper
on the 5th of November, 1844, that it intended to sup-
port the principles of the "American Republican" or
" Native American" party was favorably received by
a large number of citizens of Baltimore and the adja-
cent counties. Meetings were held on the 26th of
February, 1845, and every preparation made to ex-
tend the party organization throughout the State. A
city convention was held on the 5th of March, and on
the 13th they issued an address " to the public," in
which they declare the object of the party to be the
correction of existing abuses, the banishment of all
foreign influences, the prevention of frauds at elec-
tions, and to make American feelings and interests
pervade the nation. On the 29th of August, 1845, the
Native American party put out the following ticket:
for the Fourth Congressional District, Capt. Henry A.
Thompson ;3 for the House of Delegates, David Taylor,
Joseph Breck, John C. Holland, David Parr, and
Josiah Balderston. At the election in October Dun-
can, the Native American candidate, received 1147

2 It was on this occasion that Mr. McMahon, in opening the meeting,
uttered the celebrated expression, " I call the nation to order."

3 He declined the nomination, and John McKim Duncan was selected
as candidate in his place.
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votes; John P. Kennedy, the Whig candidate, 4962;
and William Fell Giles, Democrat, 5804. In the city
a Temperance ticket was run for the House of Dele-
gates, which received 212 votes, the highest number
cast for any one of its candidates. In the general re-
sult in the city the Democrats elected their Congress-
men, sheriff, and delegates. At the first Council elec-
tion held under the new divisions of twenty wards,
instead of twelve as theretofore, the Democrats elected
seventeen out of the twenty members composing the
First Branch, and nine out of the ten composing the
Second Branch. In the election of the 7th of Octo-
ber, 1846, at which the question of biennial sessions
of the Legislature was to be decided, the Whigs
carried both branches of the Legislature by hand-
some majorities. In Baltimore, Charles M. Keyser,
the Whig candidate for State senator, beat Joshua
Vansant, the Democratic candidate, by a majority of
one vote1 in a total poll of 14,871. Baltimore gave a
majority of 694 against the biennial sessions bill, but
it was carried in the State by a majority of 4655 votes.
In the election for mayor of Baltimore, Col. Jacob G.
Davies, the Democratic candidate, was chosen by a
majority of 106 votes over Aaron E. Levering, the
Whig candidate. At the gubernatorial election in
1847, Col. Philip Francis Thomas, the Democratic
candidate, carried Baltimore by 1566 majority over
William T. Goldsborough, the Whig candidate.

The brilliant achievements of Gen. Taylor in
Mexico and the successful issue of the war gave him
great popularity, and a strong movement was soon
made to place him in nomination as a candidate for
the Presidency. Although he was said to be a Whig,
he had in all his correspondence disclaimed party at-
tachments and party preferences, and had scrupu-
lously refrained from any declaration of his political
opinions. A "Taylor State Convention," composed
of prominent and influential gentlemen of all parties,
assembled in Baltimore on the 26th of April, 1848,
and nominated Gen. Taylor for the Presidency.
This " no party" convention, in their "address to the
people of Maryland and the United States," said that

" the only remarkable thing that characterizes this movement of ours
consists, we may presume, in this, viz.: that we have met together in our
representative capacity, as citizens in the exercises of the rights of citi-
zens, without regard to party distinctions; and being of the opinion that
Gen. Taylor is the only man who can unite the moderate men of all par-
ties and thus prepare the country for the severe ordeal through which
our institutions may have to pass in the course of approaching events,
we have chosen, without waiting for the permission of hasty conventions,
to act upon that conviction, and to invite our countrymen who may upon
reflection adopt the same views, to act in conjunction with us."

The National Convention of the Democratic party
met in Baltimore on the 22d of May, 1848, and nomi-
nated Gen. Lewis Cass for the Presidency, and Gen.
William O. Butler for the Vice-Presidency.

A revision of the State constitution had long been
agitated, and at the fall elections of 1849 in a num-

1 This was the legal return, but a subsequent recount by the judges
showed a majority of three votes.

ber of the counties the Whigs and Democrats united
in running " reform" tickets for members of the Legis-
lature without reference to political distinctions, and
in others and in Baltimore the candidates of both
parties were pledged to the measure of " constitu-
tional reform." In Baltimore all the Democratic
candidates for the House of Delegates were elected
by an average majority of 2118. In the election for
Governor in the following year Enoch Louis Lowe,
the Democratic candidate, received a majority in Bal-
timore of 2759, while John H. T. Jerome, the Whig
candidate for mayor, was elected by a majority of 777
votes over J. M. Turner, Democratic candidate.2

The efforts for reform were successful, and a new
constitution was framed and adopted by the people.
on the 4th of June, 1851. By the provisions of this
constitution Baltimore City was separated from the
county, and the representation of the former increased
to ten delegates and of the latter to six in the lower
branch of the Legislature.3

The National Democratic Convention for the nomi-
nation of candidates for President and Vice-President
met in Baltimore, at the Maryland Institute, on the 1st
of June, 1852, and continued in session for several
days. Its sessions were very exciting, and the two
Houses of Congress adjourned to enable the members
of that body to be in attendance. On the 3d the con-
vention began to ballot for President, and continued
to do so until the forty-ninth ballot was reached,
when Gen. Franklin Pierce, of New Hampshire, was
nominated, W. B. King, of Alabama, being selected
as the candidate for Vice-President. On the 16th of
June the Whig National Convention assembled in
Baltimore, at the Maryland Institute, and on the 21st
nominated Gen. Winfield Scott, of New Jersey, on
the fifty-third ballot, as their candidate for the Presi-
dency, with Wm. A. Graham, of North Carolina, as
their nominee for vice-president. On the evening of
the 21st one of the largest and most enthusiastic meet-
ings that ever collected in Monument Square assem-
bled there to ratify the Whig nominations. It was
estimated that there were twenty thousand persons
present. The election took place on the 5th of No-
vember, 1852, and resulted in Baltimore in a Water-
loo defeat for the Whigs by a majority of 4474 votes
for Pierce out of 23,619 polled. The Free Soil can-
didate received twenty-one votes in the city. After
the defeat of the Whig Presidential candidates in
Maryland that party reorganized, and with the help

2 Heretofore it had been the practice of both parties to " coop" their
intemperate voters to prevent them from falling into the hands of their
adversaries on the day of election. But at the fall elections of 1850 a
different practice prevailed, and political opponents were seized and con-
fined until the polls had been closed. Nor was this" cooping" practiced
only on the intemperate, persons of respectability were also caged and
kept from voting. A number of very prominent gentlemen made nar-
row escapes from capture, and among them the mayor of the city, who,
it is said, was indebted to the fleetness of his horse for retaining his liberty
on the day of election.

3 At the municipal election in 1852, John Smith Hollies, Democrat,
was elected over Capt. France to the office of mayor by 3684 majority.



124 HISTORY OF BALTIMORE CITY AND COUNTY, MARYLAND.

of the " American Party," 1 which was now assuming
shape, resumed the contest. In the fall elections of
1853 both parties made desperate efforts to carry the
day. In Baltimore the partisans of the " Maine liquor
law" elected their ten delegates by 964 majority, their
platform denouncing the manufacture, sale, and con-
sumption of intoxicating liquors, and their delegates
being pledged to urge the prohibition of the traffic by
legislative enactment. In the fall of 1854 the Amer-
ican or Know-Nothing party determined to nomi-
nate a straight-out municipal ticket in Baltimore, and
with this object in view Samuel Hinks was selected
as their candidate for mayor. The Democrats placed
in nomination Win. G. Thomas. In the contest con-
siderable sectarian feeling was displayed against the
Roman Catholics, which resulted in a complete tri-
umph for Mr. Hinks by 2744 majority, and the elec-
tion of fourteen members of the First Branch and
eight members of the Second Branch of the City
Council by the American party. In the election for
members of the City Council in 1855 the Democrats
carried the city by 1029, and elected a majority of the
members. The American ticket, however, was suc-
cessful in the State, giving the control of the Legis-
lature to that party.

On the 8th of October, 1856, the mayoralty election
occurred, the candidates being Thomas Swann,
Know-Nothing, and Robert Clinton Wright, Demo-
crat. The violence and disorder attending it2 pre-
vented a free expression of the popular will, and Mr.
Swann was elected by 1567 majority. On the 17th of
September, in the same year, the " Old-Line Whigs"
National Convention met in Baltimore, at the Mary-
land Institute, and indorsed Millard Fillmore and
Andrew Jackson Donelson, the Know-Nothing can-
didates for President and Vice-President. At the
Presidential election in November, 1856, Fillmore re-
ceived in Baltimore 16,900 votes; Buchanan, 9870;
and Fremont, the Republican candidate, 214.3 At
the municipal election of Oct. 19,1857, the Know-
Nothings carried all the wards in the city except the
Eighth by a declared majority of 9066 votes, polling
in all 11,896 votes, and the Democrats 2830; and at
the gubernatorial election in November Thomas
Holliday Hicks, the Know-Nothing candidate, car-
ried Baltimore by an alleged majority of 9036. About
August, 1858, an independent movement was insti-

1 The first Know-Nothing mass-meeting was held in Monument Square
on Thursday evening, Aug. 18, 1853, and was attended by nearly five
thousand people.

2 See chapter on " Mobs and Riots."
3 The first Republican meeting held in Maryland assembled in Balti.

more on the evening of Sept. 11,1856. The meeting was organized, on
motion of William Gunniaon, by calling F. S. Corkran to the chair, and
the appointment of William E. Cole, Jr., as secretary. After reading an
"address to the Eepublicans of Maryland" the meeting adjourned.
Upon leaving the room (Temperance Temple) Messrs. Corkran, Gunni-
son, and several others were rudely assaulted by a mob of several hun-
dred persons that had gathered on the street. The mob then repaired
to the office of the Weaker, the German Republican paper, which they
assaulted with stones, and it was saved from being sacked only by the
intervention of the police.

tuted, though not such as was expected, and an inde-
pendent candidate was nominated, which somewhat
changed the aspect of affairs.4 Early in September
this independent movement published their " plat-
form," and presented as their standard-bearer Col.
A. P. Shutt, a gentleman of integrity, who had been
a member of the Whig party, but since the rise of the
Know-Nothing organization had taken no part in
the politics of the day. But the hopes created by this
movement were destined to disappointment, and Mr.
Swann was re-elected on the 13th of October, 1858,
by a pretended majority of 19,149. The election, in
fact, was so evident a mockery from the beginning
that about noon on the day of election Col. Shutt
withdrew his name as a candidate, and advised his
friends not to attempt to exercise their rights of fran-
chise. If further evidence were needed to show the
manner in which the election was carried, the figures
would be sufficient comment. There must have been
illegal voting, and a great deal of it, to have enabled
the Eighth Ward to give 3307 majority for Col. Shutt,
and the Fourth Ward to give 2507 for Mr. Swann.
The mere formal record of votes sufficiently explains
the character of the election. Out of the entire poll
of 28,866 votes Col. Shutt is reported to have received
but 4859, and of these 3428 are represented to have
been cast in a single ward, leaving 1430 as the whole
number of ballots deposited in his favor throughout
the rest of the city. To our citizens these facts and
figures were quite intelligible enough of themselves,
and told too plainly of their shame and humiliation.
The details and particulars of the various outrages
that were committed by the ruffians who held undis-
turbed possession of the polls were in every mouth,
and were repeated and discussed by every fireside and
in every counting-room, store, and tavern in the city.
They were retailed from house to house, and from
man to man, until there was scarcely an individual in
the community who had not heard or did not know
of some neighbor, friend, or acquaintance who on
October 13th was driven and beaten from the polls,
or was threatened, insulted, and intimidated in the
vain attempt to exercise the right of suffrage. From
the opening of the polls in the morning until their
closing in the evening, in nineteen wards of the city,
they were occupied and held by bands of armed
bullies, who, as the returns show, permitted scarcely
any to vote who did not openly show and as openly
vote the " American" ticket. That ticket, moreover,
was so marked upon the back with a blue chequered or
striped pattern that, however folded, it could be rec-
ognized without difficulty in the hands of the voter.
By this means the secrecy of the ballot was effectually
destroyed, and the ruffians who guarded every avenue
to the polls were enabled to tell at a glance whose votes
might be admitted and whose should be excluded. Not

* In 1858 a vote was taken on the question of calling a convention to
remodel the State constitution, which resulted in the defeat of the effort
for that purpose.
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content, however, with excluding legal voters opposed
to the election of Mr. Swann, an immense proportion—
probably not less than from two-thirds to three-fourths
of the whole number polled—of illegal votes were
cast in his favor; men, and even boys, voting, not
twice or thrice merely, but ten or fifteen times; not
only in different wards, but in the same ward ; not at
different hours of the day merely, but half a dozen
times in succession, with scarcely an attempt at con-
cealment or disguise. Other votes were polled which
were purely fictitious, tickets being handed to the
judges and received by them which were falsely rep-
resented to have been tendered by persons in omni-
buses and carriages who were unable to get out and
walk to the window. In short, every trick and strat-
agem which fraud could invent and every extremity
to which violence could resort were successfully em-
ployed for the purpose of electing the "American"
candidate. These outrages upon the ballot-box and
upon the persons of voters the judges were unable
and the police unwilling to prevent. The former
did not so much as dare to question an illegal vote,
even when, as was frequently the case, they knew it
to be such. The latter constantly refused to inter-
fere for the protection of anybody. Under such cir-
cumstances and in such a crisis a large number of
the most respectable citizens of Baltimore organized
a " City Reform Association" for the effective redress
of grievances which were the common burden and
disgrace of all and the reproach of the whole
country. On the 1st of November, 1858, the Reform
Association held a meeting, and adopted an address
describing the purposes of the new organization and
earnestly inviting the co-operation of their fellow-
citizens, which was signed by Samuel W. Smith,
president; Win. H. D. C. Wright, Hugh A. Cooper,
Dr. A. C. Robinson, Geo. Wm. Brown, vice-presi-
dents; Henry M. Warfield, recording secretary;
James H. Barney, corresponding secretary; and
Lambert Gittings, treasurer.

Notwithstanding the favorable auspices under
which the Reform Association was organized, nothing
was done in the fall of 1858 or in the spring of 1859
to restore peace and good order. As the fall elections
of 1859 approached, however, a large number of the
citizens of Baltimore determined to make one supreme
effort to crush out ruffianism and restore the reign of
law. They therefore issued an invitation to their
" fellow-citizens, irrespective of party," to assemble
in " town-meeting at Monument Square on Monday
afternoon, the 5th day of September, at four o'clock,
to deliberate with us and devise some means of res-
cuing our city from its present deplorable condition."
Appended to this call were the names of over two
thousand of the best and most prominent citizens of
Baltimore. In consequence of inclement weather the
"town-meeting" was postponed to Thursday after-
noon, the 8th of September, at which time about ten
thousand persons assembled in Monument Square.

At the appointed hour Charles D. Hinks, on behalf
of the Committee of Arrangements, presented the
name of William Woodward for president of the
meeting, and three gentlemen from each ward as
vice-presidents. Patriotic and eloquent addresses
were delivered by George W. Brown, James Hodges,
and George M. Gill, and resolutions were adopted
urging combined effort on the part of all respectable
citizens, and requiring the president and vice-presi-
dents of the meeting to appoint " a committee of
twenty men, consisting of one from each ward," who,
with the president of the meeting, should constitute
a " Central Committee," which was " authorized and
directed to nominate, at as early a day as may be ex-
pedient and practicable, candidates, without regard to
party, to be selected from the best, most reliable, and
most competent men in the community." In pur-
suance of these resolutions the following twenty-one
conservative citizens were appointed as a " Reform
Central Committee":

William Woodward, President.
Wards.
First •William Dean.
Second Thomas J. Cocbran.
Third Edward W. Botiinson.
Fourth Hubert Eareckson.
Fifth James Musgrave.
Sixth Dr. C. H. Bradford.
Seventh Richard Fouder.
Eighth James P. Thomas.
Ninth Louis Muller.
Tenth George William Brown.

Wards.
Eleventh
Twelfth
Thirteenth....
Fourteenth...
Fifteenth
Sixteenth
Seventeenth..
Eighteenth...
Nineteenth...
Twentieth

....Dr. J. H. Thomas.
Charles J. Baker.

..Dr. A. C. Robinson.
Michael Warner.

...James Hooper, Jr.
...Alexander RusBell.
...William Swindell.

Edward Moon.
..Joseph H. Rieman.
...Allen A. Chapman.

Mayor Swann declined to co-operate with the com-
mittee in the effort to procure honest judges, and
while in the election for members of the City Council
in.October, 1859, the Reformers carried the Eighth,
Tenth, Eleventh, Twelfth, Fourteenth, and Nineteenth
Wards, the most indisputable evidence was afforded of
inefficiency and bad faith on the part of the municipal
authorities. With the election of the 2d of Novem-
ber, for comptroller, members of Congress, and the
Legislature, came one of the most momentous issues
that had ever been presented to the citizens of Balti-
more. Without entering into a detailed description
of the events of the day,1 it is sufficient to say that
life was, as usual, sacrificed in the ineffectual struggles
of individual gallantry. By two o'clock the Re-
formers abandoned the polls in all the wards except
the Eighth, perfectly satisfied that a fair election was
impossible.2

, 1 See chapter on " Mobs and Riots."
2 As an illustration of the methods by which the American party car-

ried elections the wonderful and rapid increase in the voting population
of the Fourth Ward may be mentioned. In 1848, in the exciting Presi-
dential election between Taylor and Cass, the total vote of this ward was
1193. In the election of 1850 it was 1007. In the Presidential contest
between Scott and Pierce in 1862 it was 1133. Up to that time the vote
of the Fourth Ward had never reached 1200, about the outside number
of legal voters which its whole white population of 6611, returned in the
census of 1850, would authorize us to expect. In 1856, which was the
commencement of Mr. Swann's political career, this ward gave him 909
votes, and his opponent, Mr. Wright, 288. The judges who presided at
that election were of the appointment of Mr. Hinks, and were never
charged with rejecting American votes on that occasion. The vote,
therefore, of 1856, under circumstances as well calculated to bring it out
as ever existed before or since, was altogether 1197, or only four more
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Notwithstanding these first failures, the Reform
party did not abandon its efforts, and on the 17th of
November a Reform convention was held, which was
organized, on motion of S. Teackle Wallis, by calling
George M. Gill to the chair. A more efficient organi-
zation was effected, and a Committee on Contested Elec-
tions was appointed to present the evidences of fraud
to the Legislature, and another on legislation, to pre-
pare and digest all legislation necessary to cure the
evils the city was then laboring under. This latter
committee consisted of William Henry Norris, chair-
man ; P. Francis Thomas, I. Nevitt Steele, S. Teackle
Wallis, and Neilson Poe. The following gentlemen
were also associated by invitation in the task, and by
day and by night for a period of six weeks gave their
time, talents, and patriotism to their duties : John V.
L. McMahon, John Nelson, George M. Gill, J. Mason
Campbell, George W. Brown, C. Jervis Spencer, and
C. J. M. Gwinn. On one occasion Reverdy Johnson
was present, and would have continued to lend his
talents to the work had he remained in the city. The
fruit of their labors were the " Reform Bills,"—the
police law, the election law, and the jury law,—which
were presented to the Legislature and promptly passed
by that body. On the last day of the session the
Legislature also declared null and void the pretended
election of the 2d of November, 1859. The expul-
sion of Charles L. Krafl't, Thomas Booze, Robert L.
Seth, George R. Berry, F. C. Crowley, R. A. McAllis-
ter, Thomas M. Smith, Robert Turner, and Marcus
Denison, the. members of the House from Baltimore,
on the last day of the session was regarded as even
more ignominious than if it had taken place at an
earlier period.1 Realizing the nature and extent of
the change which had been effected by the new police
bill of 1860, it was determined to take advantage of
the protection which it afforded for the free expression
of public sentiment, and accordingly, on the 18th of
August, 1860, a large meeting of " Independent Re-
formers" was held in the saloon of the Law Building
to provide for the nomination of candidates for mayor
and City Council. On motion of George M. Gill, Dr.
Alexander C. Robinson was chosen president, Hugh
A. Cooper and Lawrence P. Bayne vice-presidents,
with James P. Thomas and Henry M. Fitzhugh as

than the same ward had cast in the election between Cass and Taylor in
1848. Under the fostering care of the " municipal government" but 41
single year elapsed before a vast change was effected. In 1857, at the
Governor's election, the judges appointed by the mayor for the Fourth
Ward recorded and returned a vote of 1879 polls,—682 more than it had
cast only the year before. In 1858 Buch were the improvements and
facilities afforded by the "municipal government" and the judges and
police that this ward got in a total vote of 2589, of which Col. Shutt re-
ceived but 41, showing another advance in another single year of 710
votes. It thus appears that under the mayors in the eight years pre-
ceding Mr. Swann's first election the vote of the Fourth Ward increased
hut the insignificant number which a man may count on the fingers of
one hand, while under two years of Mr. Swann's administration there
were added to it the handsome accession of 1392 votes, making a sum
total considerably larger than double the number at the start.

1 Mr. W. A. Wisong, who was elected on the American ticket, refused
to take his seat.

secretaries. The officers of the meeting were directed
to appoint a central committee to consist of one from
each ward, to whom the duty of bringing forward in-
dependent reform candidates was confided. In ac-
cordance with these instructions the central committee
was formed, and on the 29th of August it nominated
George William Brown as
the Reform candidate for
mayor, and subsequently
Reform candidates for the
City Council. Samuel
Hindes was nominated as
the Know-Nothing candi-
date for mayor. The elec-
tion took place on the 10th
of October, 1860, and a
Reform mayor and a City
Council composed entirely
of Reformers were lifted
into power by triumphant
and genuine majorities in
the midst of enthusiasm so great and so general as to
show how terrible had been the oppression from which
the people were now delivered. The vote in the im-
portant city elections from 1854 to 1860 (inclusive)
were as follows:

HON. G. W. BROWN.

1854...
1856...
1857....
1858...
1859...
I860....

Know-
Nothing

... 13,840

... 13,902

... 17,849

... 24,008

... 18,211

... 9,684

Democrat.
11,096
12,335

8,213
4,859
5,334

Beform.

17,625

Majorities.
2,744 Know-Nothing
1,567 " "
9.636 " "

19,149 " "
12,877 " "
7,941 Reform.

In the election for members of the City Council in
1858 the Democrats were allowed to poll in the Twen-
tieth Ward one vote; in the Twelfth, two; Nine-
teenth, three ; Seventeenth, ten ; Fourteenth, eight;
First, twenty-four; Second, thirty-two; Fourth, thirty-
five; Seventh, thirty-seven; Sixteenth, ninety-one;
Eighteenth, ninety-four; and the Eighth, ten hundred
and thirteen ; and only two thousand eight hundred
and thirty votes in the entire city.

CHAPTER XVI.

THE CIVIL WAK.2

Prominent Local Events from 1860 to 1866.

I860.—On the 20th of April the Republican State
Convention assembled at Rechabite Hall, in Balti-
more, and organized by the election of Montgomery

2 In the limited space at our command it is impossible to treat that
portion of the history of Baltimore embraced between the dates given
above except in the briefest possible manner. During the period in
question almost every day bristled with " events," and every week gave
birth to numberless incidents of local or general interest. The magni-
tude of the subject and the multiplicity of the details required in a con-
nected narrative of one of the most interesting and stirring epochs in
the history of the city demand a far more extended and elaborate treat-
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Blair as chairman. The convention was broken up
by mob violence, but reassembled at a private house,
and selected the following delegates to the Chicago
convention which nominated Abraham Lincoln for
President: at large, Francis P. Blair, Sr., of Mont-
gomery County, and Hon. William L. Marshall, Judge
of the Court of Common Pleas of Baltimore; First
District, James Bryan, delegate, D. W. Orem, alter-
nate; Second District, James Jeffries, delegate, W.
P. Ewing, alternate ; Third District, Francis S. Cork- -
ran, delegate, James V. Wagner, alternate; Fourth
District, William E. Coale, delegate, Jonathan Shu-
macker, alternate; Fifth District, Charles Lee Ar-
mour, delegate, E. J. Anan, alternate ; Sixth District,
Montgomery Blair, delegate, Frederick Iddins, alter-
nate. They also adopted resolutions recommending
the delegates in the National Convention to cast their
votes as a unit, and instructing them to advocate the
passage of a resolution, as a part of the platform of the
Eepublican party, favoring the Jeffersonian plan of
colonizing the free negroes in some neighboring coun-
try where, under the protection of the United States,
they might establish a free and independent govern-
ment.

—On May 9th the Constitutional Union Conven-
tion, composed of Old-Line Whigs, former members
of the Know-Nothing party, etc., convened at the old
First Presbyterian church, at the northwest corner of
Fayette and North Streets. Twenty-two States were
represented in this convention, California, Florida,
Iowa, Louisiana, Michigan, New Hampshire, Rhode
Island, Oregon, South Carolina, and Wisconsin not
being represented. The platform was " The Union, the
Constitution, and the enforcement of the laws." On
the second day of the session John Bell, of Tennes-
see, was nominated for the Presidency, and Edward j
Everett, of Massachusetts, for Vice-President. The
convention was called to order by J. J. Crittenden, of
Kentucky, and Governor Hunt, of New York, was
selected as permanent chairman.

—On the 18th of June the National Democratic Con-
vention reassembled at the Front Street Theatre, and |
after a stormy session Virginia, on the 22d, with !
twenty-five of her thirty delegates, withdrew from the
convention; North Carolina, California, and Oregon
followed Virginia; Kentucky and Tennessee retired
for consultation; Georgia refused to re-enter the con-
vention ; Missouri and Maryland prepared to carry
out a moiety of their delegations. On the 23d, Caleb
Cushing, the president of the convention, and a ma-
jority of the Massachusetts delegation also withdrew.
On the second ballot Stephen A. Douglas received
184| votes out of 194J cast, and was declared the
choice of the convention. On the same day the t
Democratic delegates who had abandoned the Doug-

ment than can be given within our present limits, and we have there-
fore been forced reluctantly to content ourselves with simply a chrono-
logical presentation of the most prominent events in Baltimore between
the commencement and the conclusion of the Civil War.

las convention, together with the delegates from
Louisiana and Alabama, who had been refused ad-
mission, met at the Maryland Institute. The follow-
ing States were represented by partial or full delega-
tions : New York, Vermont, Virginia, North Carolina,
Maryland, Georgia, Calfornia, Oregon, Florida, Ala-
bama, Louisiana, Missouri, Texas, Mississippi, Mas-
sachusetts, Tennessee, Kentucky, Arkansas, Dela-
ware, and Pennsylvania. Hon. Caleb Cushing was
chosen president, and after a harmonious session of a
few hours John C. Breckenridge, of Kentucky, was
nominated for the Presidency, and Joseph Lane, of
Oregon, for the Vice-Presidency.

—On the 26th of November several palmetto flags
were unfurled in Baltimore, one of them from the
steeple of the old Liberty engine-house, on Liberty
Street near Fayette, by a number of persons belonging
to a branch of an association of Southern volunteers.

—On the 19th of December, Hon. A. H. Handy,
commissioner from Mississippi to solicit the co-opera-
tion of Maryland in the Southern movement, arrived
in Baltimore. The same evening he addressed the
citizens at the Maryland Institute, explaining the
policy of the slave-holding States. On the 22d a
large meeting of citizens was held at the Universalist
church, northeast corner of Calvert and Pleasant
Streets, calling for the assembling of the Legislature
to define the position of Maryland in the national
crisis.

1861.—With the opening of 1861 Henry Winter
Davis, a member of the National House of Repre-
sentatives from Baltimore, issued an address in favor
of the Union. Five thousand citizens of Baltimore
signed a letter addressed to Governor Hicks approv-
ing his course in refusing to convene the Legislature.
The list was headed by Hon. John P. Kennedy.
During the month of January, however, several
prominent citizens publicly expressed their views in
favor of co-operation with the South, among whom
were Judge John C. Legrand, who addressed a letter
to Reverdy Johnson on the subject in answer to a
Union speech made by the latter.

—James Carroll, former Democratic candidate for
Governor, announced his desire that Maryland should
go with the seceding States. Coleman Yellott de-
clared for a convention, and later in the month John
B. Brooke, president of the Senate, and E. G. Kil-
bourn, Speaker of the House of Delegates, urged the
Governor to convene the Legislature in response to
public meetings.

—On January 10th a " Conference Convention,"
representing all parts of the State and all shades of
opinion, met at the Law Buildings " for the purpose
of conferring relative to the threatening condition of
public affairs." Col. John Sellman, of Anne Arundel,
was chosen permanent president, and David M. Perine,
of Baltimore County, and Wm.F. Goldsborough, of
Dorchester County, vice-presidents. The convention
continued in session several days. Resolutions were
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reported by S. Teackle Wallis and adopted expressing
devotion to the Union, concurrence in the wisdom
andpropriety of the " Crittenden Compromise," and re-
questing the Governor to issue his proclamation call-
ing on the people to vote on the last Monday of Jan-
uary for or against the calling of a convention, and
asking that, in case of their favoring the call, he would
issue his proclamation inviting the people to elect
delegates to such convention on the second Monday
of February. Among the delegates in this Conference
Convention were David M. Perine, Col. John S. Git-
tings, Jos. Pope, Pleasant Hunter, Thomas Cockey,
Eobert Taylor, Fd. D. Lyon, John Q. Hewlett, Richard
Grason, Richard J. Gittings, John Ridgely, of H., John
Philpot, Joseph Walker, and Benjamin Payne, of
Baltimore County; and John P. Kennedy, S. Teackle
Wallis, Henry M. Warfield, Adam Denmead, Dr. A.
C. Robinson, Wm. McKim, Geo. A. Eaton, John W.
Garrett, Dr. J. H. Thomas, Wm. Devries, Johns Hop-
kins, Peter Morrell, and N. T. Dushane, of Baltimore
City.

—On the evening of January 10th an immense
Union meeting was held at the Maryland Institute,
indorsing Governor Hicks and condemning South
Carolina. The meeting, was called to order by Wm.
McKim, and Archibald Stirling, Sr., was chosen to
preside. Among the vice-presidents were John P.
Kennedy, Thomas Swann, John B. Morris, and Co-
lumbus O'Donnell. Addresses were made by Wm.
H. Collins, Augustus W. Bradford, Reverdy Johnson,
B. Deford, Wm. E. Hooper, Joseph Cushing, Jr., and
J. A. Pearre. This memorable mass-meeting had been
arranged at a preliminary meeting held at the Law
Buildings on the 29th of December, 1860, and was
called by a committee consisting of Messrs. Wm. H.
Collins, Wm. McKim, Benjamin Deford, Wm. E.
Hooper, and Joseph Cushing, Jr.

—On the 12th of January three companies of
United States light artillery from Fort Leavenworth
arrived in Baltimore and occupied Fort McHenry.

—On January 16th Marshal Kane wrote to the
mayor of Washington denying the rumor that armed
associations were being formed in Baltimore for the
purpose of making " unlawful demonstrations at the
seat of government on the 4th of March."

—January 30th, two companies of United States
artillery from Fort Hamilton, New York, arrived in
Baltimore on their way to Washington.

—On the 1st of February the citizens of Baltimore
who were "in favor of restoring the Constitutional
Union of the States, and who desire the position of
Maryland in the existing crisis to be ascertained by a
convention of the people," assembled in town-meet-
ing at the Maryland Institute. The assemblage, which
was an immense one, was called together by anxiety
with regard to the position of Maryland, and indig-
nation at the course of Governor Hicks. The meet-
ing was called to order by Joshua Vansant, and Dr.
A. C. Robinson was selected as president. The as-

semblage was addressed by the chairman, Dr. Robin-
son, Wm. Henry Norris, R. M. McLane, S. Teackle
Wallis, ex-Governor Lowe, and Mr. Kilgour. The
meeting invited the people of the State to send dele-
gates to a convention to meet in Baltimore on the 18th
of February. In pursuance of this call the State Con-
ference Convention assembled in Baltimore, in the
Universalist church at the northeast corner of Calvert
and Saratoga Streets, on the day appointed. All the
counties in the State were represented by gentlemen
reflecting all shades of political opinion. It was or-
ganized by the selection of Judge Ezekiel F. Cham-
bers, of Kent County, as president, and Col. John C.
Groome, of Cecil, David M. Perine, of Baltimore
County, Henry G. S. Key, of St. Mary's, J. F. Dash-
iel, of Somerset, and Andrew Rench, of Washington
County, as vice-presidents. After a session of two days
the convention unanimously adopted an address "To
the people of Maryland," and a set of resolutions, and
then adjourned to meet in Baltimore on the 12th of
March following.

—During the night of Friday, February 22d, Abra-
ham Lincoln, President-elect of the United States,
passed through Baltimore on his way to the capital,
having come from Harrisburg, Pa., by a circuitous
route through Philadelphia. On Saturday, the 23d, the
President's family arrived in Baltimore. The train
was supposed to contain the President also, and was
received by an immense crowd with groans and hoot-
ings, but no personal violence was offered to any one.
Nearly the entire police force of the city, under com-
mand of Marshal Kane, were on duty at the station.
Mrs. Lincoln and family were escorted to the resi-
dence of John S. Gittings, in Mount Vernon Place.
After a few hours' rest she left for Washington on the
same day. It is evident, from all the facts in the
case, that Mr. Lincoln altered his arrangements at
the suggestion of Marshal Kane, " to avoid," as the
Baltimore American of Feb. 25, 1861, stated, " the at-
tention of his political friends here, whose unpopu-
larity with the great mass of the people is so notori-
ous." On the 24th Marshal Kane published an
emphatic denial of the existence in Baltimore of a
conspiracy to assassinate or offer violence to the Pres-
ident, and on the 28th the Police Board formally
stigmatized the rumors as " utterly destitute of any
reasonable foundation."1

—On the 12th of March the State Conference Con-
vention reassembled in Baltimore, and on the second
day adjourned to await the action of Virginia, after
appointing Messrs. Walter Mitchell, E. F. Chambers,
Wm. Henry Norris, E. L. Lowe, Isaac D. Jones, and
J. Hanson Thomas to visit the Virginia convention,
then in session, and urge that body to recommend a
border State convention.

—On the 21st of March a company of about one
hundred men, under command of Robert E. Haslett,

1 See full particulars in the writer's " History of Maryland," iii., p. 387.
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left Baltimore by trie Norfolk boat en route for Charles-
ton, S. C, to enlist in the army of the Southern Con-
federacy. The company was organized by Mr. Has-
lett and Thomas J. Goodrich, and was composed of
unmarried men over nineteen years of age. On the
28th the Norfolk boat carried a number of other vol-
unteers for the Southern army.

—At a late hour on Friday, April 12th, a dispatch
was received from Charleston, S. C, announcing that
the attack upon Fort Sumter had begun. This an-
nouncement was followed by the most intense excite-
ment, which continued until the end of the month.1

—On Saturday, the 13th, the newspaper offices and
the streets in the vicinity were crowded with thousands
of people throughout the entire day. As the crowd
increased the excitement became more intense, but
no difficulty took place until about eleven o'clock,
when a young man made his appearance in the
neighborhood of South Street, wearing upon his hat
a Southern cockade. He was saluted with hisses and
groans by the Union men, who raised shouts of "Take
it off!" " Hurrah for the Union!" etc. About three
o'clock in the afternoon it was announced that Fort
Sumter was on fire, and the Union men assembled
about the news-offices in great numbers, and made
loud threats against any one sympathizing with the
South. In spite of these threats, however, the South-
ern sympathizers gathered in force, and for some time
serious difficulties were apprehended. Through the
exertions of the police quiet was partially restored,
but about four o'clock the excitement was revived by
the appearance of another cockade upon Baltimore
Street. A portion of the crowd made a rush for the
party wearing it, who proved to be a gentleman from
North Carolina who was stopping at Barnum's Hotel,
and cries of " Go in, Union men!" " Rally, minute-
men !" and other riotous shouts were heard. The
crowd pressed rapidly around the stranger, and al-
though he was immediately surrounded by a number
of sympathizing friends, he was forced up Baltimore
Street until opposite the clothing establishment of
Messrs. Noah Walker & Co., when a decided stand
was made, and with the assistance of Sergt. McComas
of the police department the gentleman was enabled
to return to the hotel. On Sunday, the 14th, the first
Confederate flag displayed in the harbor was hoisted
on the bark "Fanny Crenshaw," lying at Chase's
wharf, at the foot of Thames and Caroline Streets.
While all hands were away except a boy a party of
men went on board and made him lower the flag,
which, however, was run up again by the captain on
his return, and kept flying the rest of that day and the

l As an illustration of the position occupied by Maryland at the begin-
ning of the contest, it may be mentioned that in April, 1861, the United
States and Confederate States governments were both recruiting in Balti-
more at one and the same time, the Federal authorities having a recruit-
ing agency on Camden Street near Charles, and the Confederates one in
M&rsh Market apace. On the 21st of January, 1861, the schooner " Na-
hant" was entered at the custom-house, presenting her clearance and
manifest from the authorities of the " Republic of South Carolina."

whole of the next. On the 15th another small party
of volunteers left Baltimore in the " Louisiana" for
Charleston via Norfolk. On the same date John
Thompson Mason, collector of the port; Levi K.
Bowen, naval officer; Dr. Findley, surveyor of the
port; Gen. John'W. Watkins, United States marshal
for the district of Maryland, and others resigned, and
the following Federal appointments for Baltimore were
made by the new administration: Henry W. Hoff-
man, of Alleghany County, collector; FrancisS. Cork-
ran, of Baltimore County, naval officer; French S.
Evans, deputy naval officer; William H. Purnell, of
Worcester County, postmaster; William P. Ewing,
of Cecil, naval agent; William L. Marshall, judge of
the Court of Common Pleas of Baltimore City, sur-
veyor ; Frederick Schley, of Frederick County, ap-
praiser at large; John F. Meredith and Charles P.
Montague, appraisers; Washington Bonifant, of Mont-
gomery County, marshal; and Arthur W. Machen,
of Baltimore County, district attorney. On the 17th
Mayor Brown, by proclamation, made an earnest ap-
peal for peace and order, but with little effect.

—The 18th was a day of great excitement. At
noon a small party of young men sympathizing with
the South, and in honor of the secession of Virginia
on the day before, hoisted a Confederate flag near the
the Marine Observatory upon Federal Hill, and began
a salute of one hundred guns, but on the third round
they were driven off, the cannon seized, and, with the
powder, thrown into the basin, while the gun-carriage
was broken up and the flag torn into shreds. Later
in the day another Confederate flag was hoisted in the
northern section of the city and saluted with one hun-
dred guns. About two o'clock of the same day a force
of about six hundred United States troops and Penn-
sylvania volunteers arrived in the city. They were
greeted with hisses and groans from the people on
their march through the streets, and there would un-
doubtedly have been a serious collision but fer the
efficient police arrangements. Numerous outbreaks
occurred in the neighborhood of the newspaper-offices
during the day, and in the evening a meeting of the
States' Rights Convention was held in Taylor's build-
ing, on Fayette Street near Calvert, and where, it is
alleged, very strong ground was taken against the
passage of any more troops through Baltimore, and
armed resistance threatened. A meeting was held at
the same building in the morning by the " National
Volunteer Association," Hon. T. Parkin Scott pre-
siding, at which strong Southern speeches were made.
Proclamations were issued by the Governor and mayor
with a view of allaying the excitement, and a dispatch
was sent to Governor Curtin, of Pennsylvania, stating
that the feeling was intense in Baltimore, and that no
more troops could pass through the city. Such was
the condition of affairs in Baltimore when the memor-
able 19th of April arrived; with it came the news of
the destruction of the Harper's Ferry arsenal and the
approach of additional forces from the North, pro-
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ceeding to the defense of Washington. The occur-
rences of that day are given in detail elsewhere under
the head of " Mobs and Riots." On the afternoon of
the riot Messrs. H. Lennox Bond, John C. Brune, and
George W. Dobbin were sent to request the President
not to permit the passage of any more troops through
Baltimore, and at four o'clock a public meeting was
held in Monument Square, which was addressed by
Dr. Alexander C. Robinson, Mayor Brown, William
P. Preston, S. Teackle Wallis, John Wethered, Charles
Marshall, Robert M. McLane, Marcus Duvall, George
M. Gill, and Governor Hicks. In the evening it
was reported that more Northern troops were on their
way to the city, and after a consultation between Mar-
shal Kane, the mayor, Governor Hicks, and ex-Gov-
ernor Lowe, it was determined to burn the railroad
bridges of the Northern Central and Philadelphia,
Wilmington and Baltimore roads in the vicinity of j
the city. The necessary order was accordingly given,
and about half-past two o'clock Saturday morning,
the 20th, two parties left the city, one, consisting of a
squad of police, accompanied by one company of the
City Guard under command of Capt. J. G. Johannes,
and a number of armed citizens who volunteered their
services, for the Northern Central Railroad; the other,
with a posse of police-officers and one company of
the Baltimore City Guard under Col. Kane, for the
Philadelphia road. The first party destroyed the
bridge at Melvale, about five miles from the city, but
the citizens not feeling satisfied with this proceeded
farther and destroyed the bridge at the Relay House
and the one near Cockeysville. The second party
burnt the bridges over the Bush and Gunpowder
Rivers and Harris' Creek. The telegraph-poles and
wires were also cut and destroyed in several places on
both roads. On Saturday, the 20th of April, another
committee, consisting of Messrs. Anthony Kennedy
and J. Morrison Harris, was sent to Washington to
secure more satisfactory guarantees from the President
with reference to the passage of troops through the
city, and active preparations for defense were con-
tinued. On Sunday morning Mayor Brown and Gov-
ernor Hicks were summoned to Washington to con-
sult the President with reference to the situation, and
the Governor being absent, the mayor set out for that
city at an early hour accompanied by Messrs. George
W. Dobbin, John C. Brune, and S. Teackle Wallis.
While the mayor was absent a man on horseback
dashed up to the marshal's office bringing intelligence
that five thousand Northern troops were at Cockeys-
ville, fifteen miles distant, and were marching direct
for the city. The startling announcement was very
soon spread abroad by the newspaper-offices, and in a
few moments the whole city was on fire with excite-
ment. The church bells were ringing for morning
service when the quick roll of the drums at the vari-
ous armories was suddenly heard calling the forces to
arms, and its effect was instantaneous. Men rushed
from the churches to the armories; women hurried

shrieking through the streets, supposing that the
enemy was already in the city. Some of the churches
were deserted, in others the services were cut short,
and in less than fifteen minutes after the first alarm
the streets were filled with people flying to arms to
meet the " invaders." The old " Town Clock" bell
soon rang an alarm, and by eleven o'clock Holliday
Street, from Baltimore Street to the old City Hall,
and several adjacent streets were packed with a dense
mass of citizens and soldiers. They were rapidly
enrolled in companies of forty, and electing their
captains, were marched to the headquarters assigned
them to await further orders. Hundreds of persons
made their appearance at the marshal's office armed
with small bird and heavy duck guns, bowie-knives,
pistols, and every description of weapon. After some
five hours spent in hasty preparations the forces were
all collected, under command of Col. Isaac R. Trimble,
and ready for a move; and at two o'clock several can-
non were taken as far as Eager Street, near Green-
mount Avenue, where they awaited the arrival of the
remainder of the forces stationed on Holliday Street.
About five o'clock the mayor sent a telegram to John
W. Garrett, saying " we have again seen the Presi-
dent, Gen. Scott, Secretary of War, and other mem-
bers of the cabinet, and the troops are ordered to
return forthwith to Harrisburg. A messenger goes
with us from Gen. Scott. We return immediately."
Upon the receipt of this intelligence the militia and
volunteers promptly dispersed, and quiet was restored.
On Monday the volunteers and militia again assem-
bled, and wera thoroughly organized for immediate
action whenever their services should be required.

—On the 24th of April a special election was held
in Baltimore for the selection of delegates to the Gen-
eral Assembly, which had been summoned by the Gov-
ernor to meet in extra session at Frederick, Annapolis
being in the hands of the Federal troops. But one
ticket was presented, and 9244 votes were cast for
Messrs. John C. Brune, Ross Winans, Henry M. War-
field, J. Hanson Thomas, T. Parkin Scott, H. M.
Morfitt, S. Teackle Wallis, Charles H. Pitts, William
G. Harrison, and Lawrence Sangston, the "States'
Rights" candidates.

—On the 26th of April the propeller " Express"
landed troops and munitions of war at Forts Carroll
and McHenry. On the same day an order was issued
by the Board of Police Commissioners forbidding the
display of flags, and some seventeen persons on Fed-
eral Hill were arrested who refused to lower the United
States flag. On the 29th there was a grand parade
of the First Light Division of the municipal forces,
consisting of the First and Second Brigades, under
command of Maj.-Gen. Steuart.

—On the 1st of May, Henry W. Hoffman entered
upon his duties as collector, and the United States
flag was hoisted upon the custom-house. About two
o'clock a young man cut the halyards with his pocket-
knife. He was immediately arrested, and would have
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been hung by the mob but for the protection of the
police. On the same day the order of the Police
Board forbidding the removal of provisions from the
city, which had been in force during the latter part
of April, was rescinded.

—On the 4th of May, Maj. Morris, commander of
Fort McHenry, refused to obey a writ of habeas
corpus issued by Judge Wm. F. Giles, of the United
States District Court, for the purpose of releasing
from the United States service an enlisted soldier
named John George Mullen, who had petitioned for
release on the ground of minority. On the same
date an immense meeting was held in Baltimore to
protest against Coleman Yellott's bill to appoint a
Board of Public Safety. The powers proposed to be
given to the board were very great, and included the
expenditure of an appropriation of two millions of
dollars for the defense of the
State and the entire control ^

of the military, including the ,^HP
removal and appointment of
commissioned officers. It was
strongly pressed in the Legis-
lature, but finally failed to pass.
The proposed measure created
intense opposition among Union
men, as well as among some
Southern sympathizers, being
regarded as a mere substitute
for an ordinance of secession.

—On the 5th of May a Fed-
eral force under Gen. Butler
took possession of the Relay
House, at the junction of the
Baltimore and Ohio Railroad
and the Washington branch,
about six miles from Baltimore.1

—On the 9th of May a large
body of troops that had been
transported from Perryville by
steamboat landed at Locust
Point, and being transferred to
the cars, were immediately car-
ried to Washington. There was
no attempt on the part of the people or the au- I
thorities of Maryland to interfere with the troops.
The mayor and a large police force were present,

and a large crowd of spectators on the city side, who
appeared to have been attracted by curiosity rather
than a purpose to obstruct the passage of the troops.
On the 13th the order prohibiting the display of flags
was rescinded, and on the night of the 13th Maj.-
Gen. Butler entered Baltimore with a large portion
of his command and took possession of Federal Hill,
no one offering the slightest resistance. On the fol-
lowing day he issued a "proclamation," which was
generally observed. The troops at Federal Hill, after
a few days' stay, returned to the Relay House ; but the
position was held by some of the new regiments, and
from that time a considerable force was kept in Bal-
timore until the end of the war. In his proclamation
Gen. Butler forbade the transportation of supplies to
the South, and all assemblages of military organiza-
tions. He forbade also the display of any secession

1 While stationed there one of the soldiers who had partaken of too
much pie and beer was taken sick, and this important fact Gen. Butler
thought momentous enough to mention in a special order (May 8th),
in which he alleged that he " had found well authenticated evidence"
that the man had "been poisoned by means of strychnine administered
in the food brought into the camp." He then continued, in characteristic
style: "Are our few insane enemies among the loyal men of Maryland
prepared to wage war upon us in this manner? Do they know the ter-
rible lesson of warfare they are teaching us? Can it be that they re-
alize the fact that we can put an agent, with a word, into every house-
hold, armed with this terrible weapon ?" Though most strongly posted
and formidably armed, the forces at Camp Relay were apprehensive of
an attack by the " roughs" of Baltimore, and judged it prudent to apply
to the mayor for the protection of the police.

FOKT FEDEEAL HILL IN 186f.

flags or banners, and directed all State military offi-
cers to report to him. On the 14th, " for his hazard-
ous occupation of Baltimore without the knowledge"
and approbation of Gen. Scott, Gen. Butler was re-
called to Washington, and Gen. Cadwallader ap-
pointed in his stead. As soon as he was withdrawn
the post on Federal Hill was amply garrisoned, and
strong fortifications, mounting upwards of fifty heavy
guns, and commanding the greater portion of Balti-
more and Fort McHenry, were thrown up by the
Fifth New York Zouave Regiment, under the direc-
tion of Col. Brewerton, of the United States Engineer
Corps. This fort inclosed the entire crown of the
hill. The angles of the bastions were so arranged
that the guns mounted on them could rake by an en-
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filading fire all the streets by which the hill could be
approached. When completed the work was a very
strong one, its huge cannon in close proximity to
South Baltimore, and effectually overlooking the city
across the basin and the shipping below. A number
of other forts were afterwards constructed, that of
Fort Marshall being the chief, a very strong work to
the east of Patterson Park, and Fort Worthington,
northeast of the Maryland Hospital. These were
fully mounted and garrisoned. Besides these regular
works, a number of others were at different times
erected, and completely defended the city. These
were numbered, beginning at the head of Baltimore
Street, on the estate of Gen. George H. Steuart,
whose property at that point was confiscated, and his
mansion and extensive grounds devoted to the use of
a hospital, known as the Jervis Hospital. Adjoining,
on a ridge overlooking a wide extent of country, an
extensive fortification was reared, the lines of which
may still be traced. This was Fort No. 1, and these
earthworks, regularly numbered, encircled Baltimore.
Many of them were never used at all, and a number
of the smaller ones, within what has now become an
inhabited part of the city, have since disappeared.
Fort No. 4 stood at the intersection of Gilmor Street
and the Liberty road, and No. 5 is now distinguished
as the little eminence just within the Madison Ave-
nue gate of Druid Hill Park. These two forts were
garrisoned after the raid of 1864. No guns were ever !
mounted in No. 5, although several pieces of heavy
ordnance were sent out, the company of the Veteran
Reserve Corps occupying it only a few weeks. Fort
No. 7 was the extensive work near Mount Royal res-
ervoir, and was garrisoned for a few days also in
July, 1864, by the Union Club Company. Two heavy
pieces of cannon were sent out there, but not mounted,
and shot and shell provided. In addition to these
strong lines of defense, there were numerous great
hospitals in different sections of the city, as well as |
camps and barracks. j

—May 14th proved an eventful day for Baltimore. !
An immense Union meeting was held in East Bal-
timore, James T. Randolph presiding, and the prin-
cipal addresses were delivered by John L. Thomas,
Jr., John T. Wilmot, and Dr. Stafford, of Caro-
line County. A schooner loaded with pikes from
Winans' shop and Mini<5-rifles were seized. Bishop
Whittingham issued a circular to the clergy of his
diocese forbidding the omission of the prayer for the
President in the regular church service. On the same
day the Legislature adjourned, and Ross Winans, a
delegate from Baltimore, was arrested at the Relay
House and confined in Fort McHenry. He was re- i
leased on the 16th without an examination. On the
day after his arrest he was nominated for Congress,
but his name was subsequently withdrawn. On the
14th, Col. Hare, with twenty-eight of the New York
volunteers, marched to the warehouse on the northeast
corner of Gay and Second Streets, where a large num-

ber of muskets and munitions of war were stored, and
removed them to Fort McHenry. Over sixty wagon-
loads of arms were thus secured, consisting of about
two thousand nine hundred muskets, of which about
two thousand were of the old flint-lock pattern, and
three thousand five hundred pikes manufactured in
Baltimore for the authorities. They were all the
property of the city.

—On the 21st another large seizure of arms belong-
ing to the city, and stored at the McKim House, was
made by order of the military authorities. On the
25th of May, John Merryman, of Baltimore County,
was arrested at his residence and removed to Fort
McHenry, charged with treason. On the following
day a writ of habeas corpus was issued by Chief Jus-
tice Taney, directed to Gen. George Cadwallader, re-
turnable Monday, May 27th. Upon that day Col.
Lee, aide-de-camp of Gen. Cadwallader, appeared in
court and read a letter from his commanding officer
declining to obey the writ. The chief justice then
issued an attachment against Gen. Cadwallader, but
the deputy marshal was refused admission to Fort
McHenry, and was not allowed to serve the writ.

—During the month of June, and until towards the
end of it, there was some lull in the intense excite-
ment in Baltimore. On the 4th, Henry Winter Da-
vis presented to Col. Morehead's regiment, encamped
at Patterson Park, an American flag which was pur-
chased by subscription by the ladies of East Balti-
more. On the 5th a demand was served upon Messrs.
D. J. Foley & Bro. by United States Marshal Boni-
fant, under instructions from Mr. Cameron, Secretary
of War, calling for the immediate delivery of all the
powder of the Hazard Powder Company, of Enfield,
Conn., which was stored in the powder-house of the
company at lower Canton. About sixty thousand
pounds, or three thousand five hundred kegs, valued at
sixteen thousand dollars, were surrendered to the mar-
shal. Messrs. A. L. Webb & Co., Baltimore agents of
Dupont's powder-mills, in Wilmington, Del., were
served with a similar notice, and a small amount in
their charge turned over to the United States. The rifle
manufactory of Messrs. Merrill & Thomas, engaged
in manufacturing a breech-loading rifle in the Sun
iron building, was seized by the United States mar-
shal, who also took possession of a number of finished
arms from their warehouse, No. 239 Baltimore Street.
About fifty men were employed in the manufacture
of the arms. On the 7th a search for powder and
arms was made among the tombs in Greenmount
Cemetery by a detailed party of Federal soldiers,
nothing, however, being discovered. The cemetery
had been strictly searched once before. The same day
Governor Hicks issued a proclamation ordering all
the State arms and equipments to be delivered to Col.

E. R. Petherbridge, the agent appointed to receive
them, the proclamation being "to warn and enjoin
upon all citizens of Baltimore, the loyal as well as the
disloyal, having in their hands and possession any
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arms and accoutrements belonging to the State, to
surrender and deliver up the same."

—On the 8th the Southern ladies of Baltimore pre-
sented to the Maryland Guard in Eichmond a Con-
federate flag, which was carried through the lines by
Mrs. Augustus McLaughlin.

—On the 10th of June, Maj.-Gen. Nathaniel P.
Banks, of Massachusetts, was appointed to the com-
mand of the Department of Annapolis, with head-
quarters at Baltimore, relieving Gen. Cadwallader.

—On the 13th of June the election for the special
session of Congress called by President Lincoln to
meet on the 4th of July took place, and Henry May,
the Independent and Conservative Union candidate,
was elected over Henry Winter Davis by a majority
of 2045.

—At three o'clock on the morning of the 27th of
June, Marshal Kane was arrested by a body of mili-
tary and taken to Fort McHenry, where he was
confined. On the same day Gen. Banks issued a
proclamation informing the citizens that by virtue of
authority vested in him, and in obedience to orders
as commanding general of the military department,
he had arrested and detained in custody Col. George
P. Kane, marshal of police. Disclaiming all purpose,
and announcing that his instructions did not authorize
him " to interfere in any manner with the legitimate
government of the people of Baltimore or Maryland,"
Gen. Banks went on to charge the existence in his
department of combinations of war organized for
resistance to the laws of the United States, pro-
viding hidden deposits of arms and ammunition,
encouraging contraband traffic with the enemies of
the country, and stealthily waiting opportunity to
combine their means and forces with those in re-
bellion against the authority of the government.
Of these combinations he charged that Col. Kane
was "believed" to be cognizant, and that he was
" both witness and protector to the transactions and
parties engaged therein," and consequently could not
be regarded by the government as " otherwise than
at the head of an armed force hostile to its authority,
and acting in concert with its avowed enemies."
The proclamation then announced that " for this
reason" Gen. Banks, "superseding" Col. Kane's "offi-
cial authority, and that of the Commissioners of
Police," had arrested and detained the marshal; and
" in further pursuance of my instructions," he added,
" I have appointed for the time being Col. John E.
Kenly, of the First Eegiment of Maryland volun-
teers, provost-marshal, with the aid and assistance
of the subordinate officers of the police department."
On the same morning Col. Kenly proceeded to the
office of the Board of Police, read to them the procla-
mation, and, in obedience to the orders of Gen. Banks,
notified them that their official authority was " super-
seded." The president of the board protested against
the proceedings, and asked time for reflection. Col.
Kenly replied that his orders were to enter imme-

diately upon the discharge of the duties assigned
him, and that he should proceed at once to the Cen-
tral Police Station, and demand there the surrender ot
the police authority exercised by Deputy Marshal
Gifford. He then proceeded thither, followed very
soon after by President Howard and Mayor Brown,
who, after the demand had been made upon the
deputy marshal, directed that officer to offer no oppo-
sition to the demand, but to acquiesce in it for the
time, until the board had an opportunity to draw up
and utter a formal protest against the alleged " usur-
pations." In compliance with this request, the deputy
marshal and the police captains, who had been sum-
moned, expressed their readiness to receive the orders
of Provost-Marshal Kenly, who forthwith entered
on his duties. Col. Kenly then issued an order "to
the officers and men of the police force of Baltimore,"
notifying them of his assuming command, and direct-
ing them to continue in the discharge of their duties

j subject to his orders and under the existing regula-
tions. Matters being thus arranged, the Board of
Police Commissioners, unable to resist the military
power of the government, protested (the mayor
uniting) in a dignified and becoming manner, as offi-
cers of the State of Maryland, against the " arbitrary
subversion of its laws and government," and refused
to recognize the right of the officers and men of their
police force to receive orders or directions from any
authority but their own. Having thus asserted in
the only mode left to them the supremacy of the laws
of Maryland within their legitimate sphere, the board
refrained from all interference with the proceedings
of the provost-marshal, who at once commenced the
appointment of individuals at his discretion to as-
sume the places and perform the functions of the old
force, which was discharged. After " superseding"
the subordinates of the Police Board, Gen. Banks
proceeded further, and removed the officers in charge
of the police and fire-alarm telegraph, and substituted
appointees of his own in their stead.

Gen. John E. Kenly, who was thus appointed to
the position of provost-marshal, was an officer dis-
tinguished for gallantry displayed on the fields of
battle in two wars. He was born in the city of Bal-
timore in 1822. His father, Edward Kenly, emigrated
to this country from England and settled in Harford
County; his mother was a Reese, and was a member of
the Society of Friends. Gen. Kenly received the educa-
tion obtainable at the private schools, and entered his
father's counting-house, where he remained until his
father retired from business. Studying law with John
S. McCulloch and James M. Buchanan, he was ad-
mitted to the bar in 1845. The Mexican war inter-
rupted his practice, and under the spur of the patriotic
ardor of those days he raised a company of volunteers,
and June 2, 1846, joined the battalion of Lieut.-Col.
Win. H. Watson for twelve months' service. In the

I " Eagle Artillery" of Baltimore he had previously
cultivated the ardor for military service, and risen to
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the rank of lieutenant. Sailing from Alexandria,
Va., the battalion landed at Brazos Santiago, on the
Rio Grande, July 2, 1846, and marched with the army
of Gen. Taylor from Bravo del Norte to Monterey.
In the battles that preceded the fall of Monterey,
Capt. Kenly participated, and when Watson fell, ral- |
lied and reformed the battalion, and kept it in action
until the battle ended. For this action he was spe-
cially mentioned by Capt. James E. Stewart. Bri-
gaded with Gen. Quitman's Tennesseeans and Geor-
gians, Capt. Kenly marched to Victoria, from whence

Bridge. The command was stationed at Jalapa until
the treaty of peace, and returned to Baltimore July
22, 1848, and was honorably discharged at Fort Mc-
Henry. The General Assembly voted Maj. Kenly the
thanks of the State for distinguished gallantry dis-
played on the field during the war with Mexico.

Resuming the practice of law, Maj. Kenly was in
1850 nominated by the Whig party for Congress, and
had been nominated by the same party for the Legis-
lature, but was each time defeated. He continued
the practice of the law without interruption until

they drove the enemy, and occupied the city. With
the division of Gen. Twiggs, the battalion marched to
Tampico, where, the term of service having expired,
the command was mustered out of service. Capt.
Kenly immediately returned to Baltimore, but re-
ceiving a commission as major in a regiment raised
in Maryland and the District of Columbia, he sailed
from Baltimore within a month after his arrival, and
with the battalion arrived at Vera Cruz ; from thence,
with Col. Hughes in command, Maj. Kenly marched
towards the capital of Mexico, participating in the
affairs at the San Juan, El Paso, and the Natural

1861, when the breaking out of the civil war again
called him to the field. His sympathies and convic-
tions being with the Union, his services were offered
to and accepted by the Federal Government. His
experience in the field, obtained in the Mexican war,
made him a central figure in military matters in
Maryland. He was appointed colonel by President
Lincoln, June 11, 1861, having previously been pro-
vost-marshal of Baltimore. Col. Kenly was severely
wounded at the battle of Front Royal, where, after
a desperate struggle, he was taken prisoner. Ex-
changed on the 15th of August, he was instrumental
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in obtaining the exchange of his command on the
17th of September. Promoted to brigadier-general,
he was commissioned by President Lincoln, Aug. 22,
1862, for "gallant conduct at the battle of Front
Royal," where by delaying the Confederates he pre-
vented the capture of the army under Gen. Banks, and
assigned to the command of the Maryland Brigade,
which he had organized. He was placed in command
of all troops in Baltimore, outside of the forts, when
Gen. Lee advanced into Maryland. Hastening to join
McClellan after the battle of Antietam, he rendered
efficient services at Hagerstown and Harper's Ferry,
where he commanded. The Maryland Brigade was
assigned to the division of Gen. French in 1863, and
then joined the Army of the Potomac under Gen.
Meade as it was marching to Gettysburg. He ren-
dered most valuable service, in the recapture of the
Maryland Heights at Harper's Ferry. He was as-
signed to the command of the Third Division, First
Army Corps, on July 12th, and was with the Army of
the Potomac until March 25,1864, when by reason of
the consolidation of the five army corps into three he
was assigned to the command of a military district
in the Middle Department, and severed his connec-
tion with the Maryland Brigade. The occasion was
availed of by one hundred and five commissioned
officers of the brigade to express their regret at
the separation, and to convey to him the expression
of their friendship, regard, and respect. Subse-
quently Gen. Kenly commanded at various times the
Third Separate Brigade, Eighth Army Corps, a bri-
gade in the Sixth and Nineteenth Army Corps in the
Shenandoah Valley ; also the First Separate Brigade,
Eighth Army Corps. Brevetted major-general of vol-
unteers " for gallant and meritorious services during
the war," March 13, 1865, he was honorably mus-
tered out of service Aug. 24, 1865. The General As-
sembly of Maryland expressed " the gratitude of the
people of Maryland as eminently due to Col. John R.
Kenly, of the First Maryland Regiment, for his early,
prompt, and distinguished services in the cause of his
country," and the corporate authorities of Baltimore
presented him a sword, through Mayor Chapman,
" for his distinguished services in defense of the
Union during the war of the Rebellion."

Gen. Kenly in 1872 wrote and published an inter-
esting history of the war with Mexico in 1846-47,
under the title of " Memoirs of a Maryland Volun-
teer." Since the close of the late civil war Col.
Kenly has devoted his attention to literature and to
the practice of the law, where he has attained a very
high position among the leading lawyers.

—On Friday evening, June 28th, the " St. Nich-
olas," a steamer running between Baltimore and va-
rious landings on the Potomac River, left the city at
her usual time, having on board about fifty passen-
gers. Nothing in their appearance indicated that
anything unusual was about to happen, and all passed
off very quietly until after the boat had touched Point

Lookout, about ten o'clock P.M. Here several of the
passengers landed, and a gentleman came on board,
who afterwards proved to be Capt. Hollins, late of
the United States naval service. He took his station
on the deck in the rear of the ladies' saloon. Among
the passengers who embarked at Baltimore was a very
respectable-looking "French lady," heavily veiled,
who had appeared much concerned about the arrival
of the boat at Washington, but on reaching the Point
she retired to her state-room, reappearing shortly after
the boat had resumed its course as a stalwart man in
a zouave uniform, who, climbing over the railing of
the deck, whispered to Capt. Hollins, when both
rushed below, and in a moment or two more the boat
stopped. A party of some twenty-five men who had
gone on board at Baltimore, disguised as mechanics,
etc., now proved to be fully in the secret, and under
the directions of Capt. Hollins and the "French
lady," who was Col. Zarvona Thomas, of the Confed-
erate army, but formerly of St. Mary's County, over-
powered the officers and crew of the boat. She then
headed for the Virginia shore, Capt. Kirwin, the com-
mander of the boat, being informed by Thomas that
she was now to be engaged in a privateering expedi-
tion. At Cone Point, on the Virginia shore, most of
the passengers were landed, and one hundred and
twenty-five officers and men of Virginia and Tennes-
see troops were taken on board, Capt. Kirwin and
fourteen of his crew being held as prisoners. The
steamer was then run down as far as the mouth of
the Rappahannock River, where three large brigs
lying off the shore were hailed. These vessels were
at once boarded and taken as prizes, laden with ice,
coal, and coffee, into Fredericksburg, where the
steamer, with her captain and crew, were delivered
into the hands of the Virginians, who shortly after
released them. About ten days after this bold exploit
the "French lady" was captured on her return to
Baltimore and shut up in Fort McHenry. Marshal
Kenly had despatched Lieut. Carmichael and John
Horner to Fair Haven to arrest Neal Green, a barber
doing business on Pratt Street near Frederick, charged
with being a participant in the assault on the Sixth
Massachusetts Regiment on the 19th of April, and
with other offenses. They arrested Green on July
8th, and were returning with him and his wife on
the steamer " Mary Washington," and on conversing
with some of the passengers, Lieut. Carmichael
learned that Capt. Kirwin, with the engineer and
another officer of the captured " St. Nicholas," were
on board the " Mary Washington," returning to Bal-
timore, as was also Col. Thomas, who had seized him,
with seven or eight others of the captors. As soon
as these facts were ascertained, and each one of the
party recognized beyond doubt, Lieut. Carmichael
directed Capt. M. L. Weems, the commander of the
" Mary Washington," to proceed, on reaching Balti-
more Harbor, to land the passengers at Fort McHenry,
the direction being given while the steamer was off
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Annapolis. Soon afterwards Carmichael and Homer,
who were in the ladies' cabin, were approached by
Thomas, who demanded to know by what authority
the steamer had been ordered to land at Fort Mc-
Henry. Carmichael informed him through authority
vested in him by Provost-Marshal Kenly. On hear-
ing this Thomas drew a pistol and called his men
around him, while Carmichael and Horner, provided
with revolvers, displayed them, and the other passen-
gers supporting them, matters thus stood until the
steamer stopped at Fort McHenry, when Carmichael
at once informed Gen. Banks of his capture. The
general instantly ordered out a company of infantry,
who marched to the steamer and secured all the ac-
cused excepting Thomas, who could not be found for
an hour and a half. At length he was discovered se-
creted in a bureau drawer in the ladies' cabin. He
and the other prisoners were then marched into the
fort and placed in confinement, while the witnesses,
some ten or twelve in number, were also detained over
night.

—A new sensation was created on the 1st of July
by the arrest of the Police Commissioners. They were
arrested between three and five o'clock in the morn-
ing, by Col. Morehead's Philadelphia regiment, which
first proceeded to the residence of John W. Davis, and
afterwards to those of Charles D. Hinks, Charles How-
ard, and William H. Gatchell. All four of the com-
missioners were conveyed to Fort McHenry, and with
the exception of Mr. Hinks, who was released on ac-
count of delicate health, were afterwards confined for
more than a year in Fort Warren, Boston Harbor.
William MeKewen, the clerk of the Police Board, was
also arrested, but was released in a few hours, there
being no charge against him. A military force was
marched into the city at an early hour and posted in
different quarters, and pieces of artillery planted in
several of the streets. Meanwhile, Mayor Brown,
being the only member of the Police Board who had
not been deprived of liberty, in order to relieve his
fellow-citizens from the embarrassments and perils of
the situation, offered to undertake the management of
the police. Gen. Banks, however, did not accept the
offer, and after some delay, on July 10th, announced
by proclamation that he had appointed George R.
Dodge, of Baltimore, marshal of police, vice Col. John
E. Kenly, who had requested to be relieved. On the
same day the troops were withdrawn from the central
part of the city and marched back to their encamp-
ments on the outskirts.

—On the 4th of July the Sixth Regiment of Mas-
sachusetts militia, Col. E. T. Jones commanding, and
stationed at the Relay House, were presented with
an elegant silk flag by the Union citizens of Balti-
more.

—July 8th the steamers "George Weems" and
" Mary Washington" were seized by Gen. Banks under
orders from the War Department, it being feared that
they might share the fate of the " St. Nicholas." On

the 18th, in Congress, the committee of the House of
Representatives to whom had been referred a resolution
to inquire whether or not the Hon. Henry May, rep-
resentative from Baltimore, was in criminal inter-
course with those in armed resistance to the govern-
ment, submitted a report that there was no evidence
of Mr. May's guilt. The report also exculpated the
President and Gen. Scott from all suspicion of a cor-
respondence with the Confederates through Mr. May's
agency. Upon the adoption of this report Mr. May
addressed the House upon the subject of the inquiry,
warmly denouncing it as an unparalleled outrage upon
his constituents, and then proceeded with some severe
remarks upon the administration, when he was called
to order by Mr. Stevens, of Pennsylvania. Mr. May
then declined to proceed with his remarks at that time.
He presented the memorial of the Police Commis-
sioners of Baltimore. Ex-Governor Francis Thomas,
of Maryland, replied to Mr. May, and maintained that
the recent election demonstrated the fact that the vast
majority of the people of Maryland entirely approved
the military measures of the administration. On the
29th of July the "Joseph Whitney," steamboat,
touched at the wharf of Fort McHenry at six P.M.,
and received on board the Police Commissioners and
Richard H. Alvey, Samuel H. Lyon, John W. Ku-
sick, James E. Murphy, Charles M. Wagelin, Dr.
Edward Johnston, and T. C. Fitzpatrick. These gen-
tlemen were transferred to Fort Lafayette, in New
York Harbor, where they remained for some time,
and from whence they were taken, with the arrested
members of the Maryland Legislature, to Fort Warren,
in Boston Harbor. The prisoners removed from Fort
McHenry arrived at Fort Lafayette on July 31st. On
the 6th of August Judge Garrison, of Kings County
Court, Brooklyn, N. Y., issued a writ of habeas corpus
for the production of the bodies of the Baltimore Po-
lice Commissioners. Col. Burke, commanding Fort
Lafayette, in answer to the writ, replied that he deeply
regretted his inability to comply with it, " pending
the exciting political troubles." Some discussion
arose between the judge and the petitioners' counsel
regarding Col. Burke's refusal, and he was ordered
himself to appear and show cause why he should not
be held for contempt. Nothing, however, came of
this effort. In the Maryland Legislature, on the 5th
of August, Mr. Wallis, from the Committee on Fed-
eral Relations, submitted a long report upon the mem-
orial of the Police Commissioners, accompanied by
a series of resolutions strongly protesting against
their detention, which were adopted by a very large
vote.

—On the 9th of August, Messrs. John C. Breckenridge
and C. L. Vallandigham being at the Eutaw House,
their friends attempted to serenade them, but on the
appearance of Mr. Breckenridge on the portico of the
hotel, about ten o'clock in the evening, it soon became
evident that his presence was obnoxious to a large
portion of the crowd gathered below. He attempted
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to address those assembled, but was continually inter-
rupted and at length retired. Mr. Vallandigham did
not appear.

—On the 14th, Bishop Whittingham issued an
earnest pastoral letter to the clergy and laity of his j
diocese regarding the approaching fast-day appointed ;
by President Lincoln. On the 15th the Union State
Convention nominated Augustus W. Bradford for (
Governor, and 8. S. Mafflt for comptroller, and a
series of very strong resolutions in favor of the Union
and condemnatory of secession in any form were
adopted as the platform for the campaign. At the
same time the " Report of the Joint Committee of the
Legislature of Maryland on Federal Relations in re-
gard to the suppression of the Board of Police and
the imprisonment of its members" was published in
full.

—On the 21st of August a number of Confederate
prisoners of war reached the city from Western Vir-
ginia, having been captured at the battles of Philippi
and Cheat Mountain. On their arrival in the city
they were taken to the Central Police Station, from
whence they were conveyed to the custom-house
building, but soon afterwards were allowed to proceed
to the Gilmor House, where they were quartered for
the night. They were on their parole, and were sent
off the next day to Old Point Comfort, where they
were to be discharged. They received a great deal of
attention from Confederate sympathizers, and were
the recipients of many presents.

—On September 5th the military authorities pro-
mulgated an order forbidding the display and sale of
all secession badges, flags, pictures, songs, photographs,
music, neckties, infants' socks, etc. On the 6th, Mayor
Brown was ordered by Gen. Dix to discontinue the
payment of the old police force. On the 5th the City
Gubernatorial Peace Convention assembled at the hall
corner of Calvert and Saratoga Streets to select dele-
gates to represent the city in the State Peace Conven-
tion to nominate candidates for Governor and comp-
troller. Dr. John F. Monmonier was called to the
chair, and John P. Poe and T. S. Hutchins were ap-
pointed secretaries. Fifty persons were put in nomi-
nation for delegates, and after considerable balloting
I. Nevitt Steele, George W. Herring, Joshua Van-
sant, Neilson Poe, Robert Gilmor, Jr., Charles H.
Meyers, John Milroy, William H. Jillard, James
Hodges, Wendell Bollman, and Hugh Gifford were
elected. A convention was held also on the same day
at Towsontown for Baltimore County, resulting in the
election of Prof. N. R. Smith, Corville Stansbury,
James H. Stone, John Bosley, William F. W. Brune,
Jr., Peter Fowble, and Charles A. Buchanan as dele-
gates to the State Peace Convention. On September
7th the police arrested at the Battle Monument House
at North Point twenty young men who were en-
deavoring to make their way South. They were con-
fined in Fort McHenry, and in a few days were trans-
ferred to Fort Lafayette. N. Williams, coach-maker,

was arrested about five o'clock on Sunday morning,
just as he was about leaving his shop with his little
daughter in a wagon drawn by two horses. The wagon
was provided with a false bottom, which on examina-
tion was found to contain eighteen large navy re-
volvers, and a package of over one hundred letters to
Baltimoreans in the South. Mr. Williams was sent
to Fort McHenry. On the evening of September 9th
a hearse containing a coffin was driven across Light
Street bridge, and either from the irreverent manner
of the driver or some other cause of suspicion the
funeral party was challenged by a sentinel, and the
coffin on examination was found to contain a quantity
of guns, pistols, percussion-caps, and other contra-
band articles, which, with the coffin, hearse, and
horses, were duly confiscated.

—On the 10th of September the Maryland State
Peace Convention assembled at the Law Buildings, at
the corner of St. Paul and Lexington Streets, and
nominated candidates for Governor and comptroller.
On the 11th of September, Col. Kane was transferred
from Fort McHenry to Fort Lafayette, and afterwards
to Fort Warren.

—On the 12th and 13th of September, in accord-
ance with an order of Maj.-Gen. Dix, commanding
in Baltimore, the military police arrested George
William Brown, mayor of Baltimore; Ross Winans,
Severn Teackle Wallis, Henry M. Warfield, Dr.
J. Hanson Thomas, T. Parkin Scott, Henry M.
Morfitt, Charles H. Pitts, William G. Harrison, and
Lawrence Sangston, members of the House of Dele-
gates from Baltimore City; Henry May, member of
Congress from the Fourth Congressional District;
Robert Denison and Leonard G. Quinlan, members
of the House of Delegates from Baltimore County;
Dr. A. A. Lynch, State senator; Francis Key How-
ard, one of the editors of the Baltimore Exchange ;
and Thomas W. Hall, editor of The South. The
prisoners were temporarily confined in Fort Mc-
Henry, and afterwards in Fort Warren, Boston
Harbor. William W. Glenn, another of the pro-
prietors of the Exchange newspaper, was arrested on
the 14th. Among those whose arrests were ordered
were John C. Brune, a prominent merchant and
member of the Legislature, and Dr. Alexander C.
Robinson, both of whom, however, made their es-
cape. It was about this period that James M. Haig,
of Baltimore, and F. Wyatt and William Gilchrist,
of Philadelphia, were arrested for sending munitions
of war southward. A search for arms on the 16th of
September resulted in finding, about two hundred
muskets concealed under the floors of Messrs. Egerton
& Keys' auction bazaar, on North and Saratoga
Streets, formerly known as the Old Mud Theatre.
The armory of the Independent Grays, on High
Street, was also entered, and about sixty muskets
and some accoutrements seized. The next day the
Maryland Club House, on the corner of Cathedral
and Franklin Streets, was searched for arms, none
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being found ; and on the 18th, John H. Weaver's
coffin warehouses were thoroughly examined, and the
coffins and burial-cases closely inspected, without
the discovery of any weapons. Christ Church was
also examined, but to no purpose. On the 28th the
Purnell Legion, Maryland Union Volunteers, were
presented, at the Washington Monument, with a flag
from the ladies of Oldtown. On the 30th of Sep-
tember the Sixth Michigan Eegiment, encamped on j
the McKim estate, were presented with a flag by a
number of Union ladies of the Eighth Ward. The
City Council adjourned sine die on the evening of
September 30th, the president of the First Branch,
J. C. Blackburn, continuing to act as mayor in place
of George William Brown until the next election,
which was held on the 9th of October.

—On the 3d of October the United States gunboat
"Pinola" was launched from the shipyard of Abra-
hams & Ashcroft, being the first government vessel
built in Baltimore since the opening of the war. On
the 9th of October an election for members of the
First Branch of the City Council was held; the
candidates of the Union party had no opposition,
the whole vote polled being 9587. On the 6th of
November the election for Governor, comptroller,
members of the Legislature, judges of the courts,
clerks, sheriff, commissioner of public works, and city
surveyor occurred. The Union candidate for Gov-
ernor, Augustus W. Bradford, was elected, 17,922 votes
having been cast for him in Baltimore, against 3347
votes cast for the Democratic candidate. Two even-
ings before the election a very large Union meeting
was held in Monument Square, at which William H.
Collins presided. Addresses were made by Augustus
W. Bradford, E. W. Thompson, of Indiana, and
others.

Augustus Williamson Bradford was born at Belair,
Harford Co., Md., Jan. 9, 1806, and died on the 1st
of March, 1881. He was educated at the Harford
County Academy, and at St. Mary's College, Bal-
timore, and after being admitted to the bar prac-
ticed law in his native town. In 1838 he removed to
Baltimore, and while still adhering to his profession,
he also threw himself into political life as an earnest
advocate of Whig principles, and a warm admirer of
Henry Clay. In 1844 he was an elector on the Clay
ticket, and distinguished himself by his speeches
during the canvass. But the defeat of Clay was so
severely felt by him that he retired from political life,
and for sixteen years neither made an address nor
attended a meeting. In the mean time, however, he
held, from 1845 to 1851, by appointment of Governor
Pratt, the position of clerk of the Baltimore County
Court, and when he was legislated out of office by the
adoption of the constitution of the latter year, Judges
Frick, Purviance, and Legrand joined in a letter
highly complimentary to him upon the discharge of
his official duties. UndeV appointment from Governor
Hicks, Mr. Bradford was one of the representatives of

Maryland at the Peace Conference which met at
1 Washington in January, 1861, in whose deliberations

he made himself conspicuous as an unconditional
Unionist. It followed that upon the organization of
the Union party in Maryland in the summer of 1861,
he was made the candidate for Governor, and was
elected by a majority of thirty-one thousand votes.
In history he will always be known as the " war Gov-
ernor of Maryland." During his four years' tenure
of the office he was untiring in the organization of
regiments for the Federal army, in recruiting for
their shattered ranks, in looking after the comfort
and welfare of the men in the field, and caring for
the families that they left at home. On several
occasions he visited the Maryland Brigade in the
Army of the Potomac, once to present it with a sta»d
of colors. His zeal made him obnoxious to the friends
of the Confederacy, and in 1864, when a raid was
made into the State by the Confederate forces, they
burned his residence in Baltimore County, and left
a note saying that the act was committed by order
of Gen. Bradley T. Johnson, in retaliation for the
burning of the house of Governor Letcher, of Vir-
ginia, which was done by order of Gen. Hunter, of the '
Federal army. Thus a severe loss was inflicted upon
Governor Bradford, but it did not shake his fidelity
to the Union cause. He had been long convinced
that slavery was not only morally wrong, but that it
was also the worst possible system of labor, and on
both grounds he advocated its abolition. But he pro-
posed to undertake the task in a legal and constitu-
tional manner, and therefore certain hasty people ac-
. cused him of indifference, and desired to rush head-
long into the work of abolishment. He refused to be
carried along by their impetuosity, and his calm,
cool judgment prevailing, the Legislature which met
in January, 1864, adopted his suggestions for the call
for a constitutional convention. This convention
met in the succeeding summer, and adopted the Free
State Constitution, doing away with slavery, which in
time was ratified by the vote of the people and of the
Maryland soldiers in the field. The new constitution
went into effect on Nov. 1, 1864, amid the rejoicings
of the Union party and the hearty applause of the
success of the Governor's labors. He presided over
the meeting of the loyal Governors which was held
at Altoona, Pa., in September, 1862, and from which
the national government derived much valuable
counsel and encouragement.

Governor Bradford was rather favorably disposed
towards the reconstruction policy of President John-
son, and in 1867 the latter appointed him surveyor of
the port of Baltimore, which position he held until
President Grant came into office. The Governor had
supported the Republican party in the elections of
1868 and thereafter, and in 1874 President Grant ten-
dered him the position of appraiser-general in the
Baltimore Custom-House, which he refused to accept
because the office seemed to him one that required
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the services of an experienced and judicious merchant,
and his own pursuits had been so entirely outside
such a sphere that he had neither mercantile educa-
tion nor experience, so that to accept the office would
make him entirely dependent upon deputies and assist-
ants, which would be utterly repugnant to his notions
of official qualification or responsibility. It has been
truthfully said of Governor Bradford that he was
never an office-seeker, and that his administration of
all the official trusts confided to him was character-
ized by stern integrity and true sagacity. As the war
Governor of Maryland, he occupied an exceedingly
difficult and delicate position, having to hold the
State steady in the Union ranks, and at the same time
combat a multitude of secret or open influences that
were bitterly hostile to him. That he bore himself
so nobly and successfully in this trying ordeal is the
strongest proof of his statesmanship. He was mar-
ried in 1835 to Miss Elizabeth Kell, daughter of the
late Judge Kell, one of the associate justices of the
Sixth Judicial District when it was composed of Har-
ford and Baltimore Counties. There are seven living
children, whose names are Augustus W., Emeline K.,
Jane B., Lizzie, Charles H., Thomas Kell, and Samuel
Webster.

—On the 12th of November a committee of prom-
inent Union citizens of Baltimore, consisting of Enoch
Pratt, Galloway Cheston, Thomas M. Smith, Thomas
Whitridge, Archibald Sterling, Wm. J. Albert, Wm.
C. Hooper, Wm. McKim, Henry D. Harvey, Wm.
C. Robinson, P. G. Saurwein, Chas. E. Woodyear,
and Wm. Callow, sought an interview with President
Lincoln on the subject of employing Baltimore me-
chanics on work for the government. On the 20th
of November, Miller's Hotel, corner of German and
Paca Streets, was searched by the police for arms, and
several persons connected with the house were arrested.
A boarder named T. Webster and his wife were seized,
but the former managed to make his escape while on
his way to Fort McHenry.

—On the 10th of December, Lieut. David E. Whit-
son, of Company I, Second Maryland Regiment, was
shot and instantly killed by a private of the company
named Joseph Koons, who was executed at Fort
McHenry on March 7, 1862. On the 12th the Mary-
land Senate, by a vote of twelve to five, declared va-
cant the seat of Coleman Yellott, of Baltimore, and
ordered a new election to be held to fill the vacancy.

1862.—On Monday night, February 17th, Col.
Samuel S. Mills and Thomas S. Piggott, one a pro-
prietor and the other principal editor of The South
newspaper, were arrested and confined in Fort Mc-
Henry, and a few days afterwards John Mills, the
publisher of the paper, was also arrested.

—On the 12th, Bishop Whittingham transmitted to
all the clergy of his parish a prayer of thanksgiving
for the recent Federal victories, to be used on all oc-
casions of public worship within eight days follow-
ing the Sunday after its receipt. During this month

notice of disloyal teachers in the public schools hav-
ing been brought before the School Commissioners, a
select committee consisting of George N. Eaton, presi-
dent, Thomas W. Griffin, J. Asbury Morgan, Edward
G. Waters, and John F. Plummer were instructed to
examine into and report upon the matter. They did
so and reported at some length, showing that there
was very little ground for the charge, and asking to
be discharged from further consideration of the sub-
ject. On May 6th the friends of Governor Hicks as-
sembled at the Maryland Institute, and under the
auspices of the Union Musical Association held a
concert in honor of the ex-Governor, and presented
him with a large and handsome national flag. The
presentation address was made by Rev. J. McKendree
Riley, to which Governor Hicks made a suitable reply.

—On the 25th of May great excitement was created
in the city by the news of Gen. Banks' retreat and the
capture of Col. Kenly, of the First Maryland Regi-
ment. A dense throng of people filled Baltimore
Street from Calvert to Holliday Streets, and a num-
ber of Southern sympathizers were set upon and
badly beaten. The excitement continued for several
days, the mob attacking and beating persons obnox-
ious to them whenever they made their appearance
on the street. On the 26th the Police Board issued a
proclamation declaring their determination to keep the
peace at all hazards, and ordering all bar-rooms and
restaurants to be closed. The various newspaper-
offices were visited by the rioters and made to display
the national colors. On the 31st of May a riot oc-
curred among the inmates of Campbell's slave jail,
on Pratt Street near Howard, which was only sup-
pressed by the assistance of the police.

—On June 1st, Gen. John A. Dix was transferred
to Fortress Monroe, and was succeeded by Gen. John
E. Wool, who arrived in Baltimore on the 8th. On
the 27th of June a young man and woman were
arrested for waving a window curtain to some Con-
federate prisoners. On the 28th of June, Judge
James L. Bartol, of the Court of Appeals, was ar-
rested at Camden Station, while on his way to his
home in Baltimore County, and confined at Fort
McHenry. He was released after a few days' im-
prisonment. At a late hour on the night of the 29th
of June a report reached the city that the Confeder-
ates were advancing, and the alarm-bells were imme-
diately sounded to call the Union Leagues and loyal

' citizens together. The streets were soon thronged
with armed men, and the work of barricading the
approaches to the city was pushed with great vigor.
At the. request of Gen. Schenck, Commodore Dornin
placed in position two gunboats at the foot of Broad-
way, and one at the Long Bridge over the Ferry Bar
road. On the day following Gen. Schenck declared
martial law in Baltimore and the Western Shore
Counties of Maryland.

—On the 17th of July, Governor Bradford appointed
a committee of fifty citizens of Baltimore, with John P.
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Kennedy at their head, to assist in raising troops.
The committee met on the 21st and asked the aid of
the City Council. As this body had adjourned, act-
ing Mayor John Lee Chapman called an extra ses-
sion, which met on the 22d. The First Branch unani-
mously passed an ordinance appropriating three
hundred thousand dollars for bounties to volunteers
in the State regiments, but on the 23d it was rejected
by the Second Branch. When this rejection was
known, an angry crowd gathered, and began to de-
nounce and threaten those members who had refused
to vote for the measure, and on the adjournment sev-
eral councilmen were assaulted with cries of " Hang
the traitors!" and severely maltreated.1

—On the 25th, at the suggestion of Gen. Wool, the
following members of, the Second Branch who had
voted against the bounty ordinance resigned their
positions in the City Council: Charles J. Baker,
president, Thirteenth and Fourteenth Wards; De-
catur H. Miller, Eleventh and Twelfth Wards ; Wil-
liam Dean, First and Second Wards; Jesse Mar-
den, Third and Fourth; Asa Higgins, Nineteenth
and Twentieth; William Swindell, Seventeenth and
Eighteenth; Joseph Kobb, Fifteenth and Sixteenth;
Francis W. Alricks, Ninth and Tenth; and John W.
Wilson, Seventh and Eighth Wards. The appro-
priation of three hundred thousand dollars was
passed by both branches of the Council early in
August, and on the 7th one of thirty thousand dol-
lars was also made towards uniforming and otherwise
equipping the First Light Division of Maryland
Volunteers. Another ordinance passed about the
same time, required all city officials, school-teachers,
and employes, no matter in what capacity, to take
the oath of allegiance.

—On the 28th of July a large war-meeting was
held in Monument Square, at which Governor Brad-
ford presided. A resolution was adopted requesting
the President to "instruct the general in command of
this military department to require all male citizens
above the age of eighteen to come forward and take
an oath to maintain the national sovereignty para-
mount to that of all State, county, or corporate pow-
ers," and to " discourage, discountenance, and forever
oppose secession, rebellion, and the disintegration of
the Federal Union." Those who should refuse to
take the oath which it was thus proposed to tender
them were to be " sent through our lines into the so-
called Southern Confederacy." A few days after-
wards the First Branch of the City Council adopted a
resolution requesting Gen. Wool to "administer such
an oath to all the citizens of the city of Baltimore at
the earliest possible period." Gen. Wool rejected
this advice, " for the reason," as he said, that it would
at a critical moment "send twenty thousand men to
swell the army of Jefferson Davis." Early in August

1 Capt. Asa Higgins and Decatur H. Miller were among those as-
saulted.

Gen. Wool issued an order requiring all persons leav-
ing the city by the Potomac, Patuxent, or West River
boats to obtain permits from headquarters, and to take
the oath, and policemen were stationed on the docks
to see that the orders regarding passes were complied
with.

—On the night of August 14th, William H. Car-
penter, one of the editors of the Maryland News Sheet,
was arrested and sent to Fort McHenry, and the paper
suppressed. Thomas D. Sultzer, assistant editor, was
also arrested. Early in August an order was issued
requiring all persons leaving the city to obtain per-
mits.

—On the 1st of September, William A. Van Nos-
trand, city marshal of Baltimore, was appointed civil
provost-marshal for the Middle Department, which
included Baltimore. During August an ordinance
was passed by the City Council requiring all teachers
in the public schools to take the oath of allegiance. On
failing to do so by the 20th of the month, they were
to be dismissed.

—The 3d and 6th of September were days of great ex-
citement in Baltimore, occasioned by the Confederate
invasion of Maryland. In view of the excitement, it
was deemed advisable to appoint four hundred special
policemen to preserve order. Several breaches of the
peace occurred, and a number of Southern sympa-
thizers were violently assaulted. On the 8th, Gov-
ernor Bradford called upon the citizens of Baltimore
to organize and complete the formation of the First
Light Division of Maryland Volunteer Militia. To
this appeal a large number of citizens responded. In
compliance with the Governor's recommendation,
Mayor Chapman on the 9th requested the citizens
of Baltimore "to assemble in their usual places of
meeting in the several wards every night this week,
and form themselves into military companies for the
defense of the city." At the same time Hugh L.
Bond, A. Sterling, Jr., John T. Graham, W. H. Pur-
nell, Theodore Hooper, P. G. Sauerwein, Thomas H.
Gardner, Dennis Carter, E. E. Petherbridge, T. T.
Martin, E. S. Hutchinson, John H. Lloyd, A. C. Hall,
and Henry Stockbridge published a request to all
those who "desire to join an independent military
organization for the defense of the city, to be called
the Maryland Line, to call and register their names
and residences at the post-office." Gen. Wool, in
command of the military department, looked to the
defenses of the city and planned additional works.
The forts, under the command of Gen. Morris, were in
complete readiness, as well as a fleet of heavy mor-
tar vessels in the harbor, prepared to lay the city in
ashes in case an outbreak occurred or the Confeder-
ates effected a lodgment within its borders. In either
of these events the destruction of Baltimore was cer-
tain. Gen. Kenly, having recovered from his wound
received at Front Eoyal, was appointed to the com-
mand of the infantry of the city.

—On the night of Friday, September 12th, a squad
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of Baltimore police and military captured Capt. Harry
Gilmor and Lieut. Grafton D. Carlisle at the house
of Dr. Luke T. Williamson, about seven miles from
the city on the Reisterstown road.

—On the 8th of October the mayoralty election was
held, the opposing candidates being John Lee Chap-
man, the "regular Union," and Frederick Fickey,
Jr., the " Union" candidate. The contest resulted in '
the success of the entire " regular Union" ticket for,
mayor and City Council, with the exception of the
councilman from the Eleventh Ward. Mr. Chap-
man received 9077 votes, and Mr. Fickey 1231. The
long-anticipated draft to fill the quota of troops re-
quired from Baltimore, as well as from a number of
the counties in the State, commenced on October
15th. The rendezvous was fixed in Baltimore at the
inclosure of the former cattle show grounds, on
Charles Street Avenue, the name of the locality being
changed to " Camp Bradford." In many instances
very high prices were paid for substitutes, the rate of
prices ranging from three hundred to nine hundred
dollars. On the 17th of the month, Gen. Morris,
commanding Fort McHenry, issued a peremptory
order forbidding any carriage to enter the gate of the
fort, bringing supplies to Confederate prisoners who
were confined there, and directing that all such sup-
plies should be marked "Provost-Marshal's Office"
and left with the guards at the outer gate. A singu-
lar petition about this time was circulated for the re-
moval of Gen. Wool, on the ground of " total lack of
judgment and discretion in the administration of the
affairs of his important office." A copy of the peti-
tion was brought to Gen. Wool, who indignantly de-
nied its charges, and hearing that the framers of the
petition held secret meetings at Temperance Temple,
the building was visited on Tuesday evening, October
28th, by Maj. William P. Jones, who arrested Thomas
H. Gardiner, clerk of the Criminal Court; Thomas
Sewell, Jr.; Thomas E. Bich, one of Governor Brad-
ford's aides; and Alexander D. Evans. They were all
removed to the police station, and the next day sent
to Fort Delaware, but were released two days after-
wards.

—On the 26th of November, Col. J. Dimmick, com-
mander of Fort Warren, was ordered to release all
the Maryland State prisoners, and on the next day
the following citizens of Baltimore were set at liberty:
Severn Teackle Wallis, Henry M. Warfield, William
G. Harrison, T. Parkin Scott, ex-members of the
Maryland Legislature; George William Brown, ex-
mayor of Baltimore; Charles Howard and William H.
Gatchell, of the Baltimore Police Commissioners;
George P. Kane, ex-marshal of Baltimore police;
Frank Key Howard, one of the editors of the Balti-
more Exchange; Thomas W. Hall, Jr., editor of the
Baltimore South ; and Eobert Hull, merchant of Bal-
timore. The Baltimore " State prisoners" arrived
home on the 28th and 29th of November. Several of
these gentlemen brought suit against the government

10

and military authorities for false imprisonment. On
the 18th of December, Gen. Wool was notified by
telegraph that he would probably be relieved in com-
mand at Baltimore, and Gen. Eobert E. Schenck, of
Ohio, put in his place. The order was presented by
Gen. Schenck on the 19th, and went into effect on the
22d, when Gen. Wool relinquished command.

1863.—On the 21st of January, Maj. William S.
Fish was appointed military provost-marshal. On
February 10th, Maj. Fish ordered a Methodist con-
gregation worshiping at the New Assembly Eooms
to keep " constantly displayed in a conspicuous posi-
tion at the head of the hall a large-sized American
flag." On the 14th the congregation gave notice that
it would hold no further religious meetings at the
New Assembly Eooms. Maj. Fish, however, sent a
note to the trustees ordering them to display the
flag wherever they might worship.

—By invitation of the mayor and City Council, Gen.
B. F. Butler visited Baltimore in the latter part of
February, being met at the Camden Street depot by
the mayor, John Lee Chapman, members of the City
Council, and of the Union League Club, who es-
corted him to the Eutaw House. He was tendered
a reception at the Maryland Institute at night, where
he made an address in advocacy of the Union. During
the day, while visiting Fort Federal Hill, Capt. Max
Woodhull, an officer of the navy and commander of
a United States gunboat, was instantly killed by the
premature discharge of a cannon during the firing of
a salute. He was directly in front of the gun, and
only a few feet from it, and was literally blown to
atoms. About this time Gen. William W. Morris, com-
manding at Fort McHenry, issued an order forbidding
any further supplies of food and clothing to be left at
the fort for Confederate prisoners, as the United
States government had ample facilities for supplying
both.

—On March 2d, Col. George P. Kane was arrested on
the charge of being concerned in the formation of a
company of seventy or eighty men to operate against
the authority of the United States, but no evidence
being brought to sustain the charge, he was released.
March 7th Maj. Fish issued the following order:

" Publishers of music, Baltimore City: Gentlemen,—The publication
or sale of secession music is considered by the commanding general and
the department at Washington an evil, incendiary, and not for the public
good. You are therefore hereby ordered to discontinue such sales until
further orders; also to send to this office any such music you may have
on hand at present."

—On the 11th all the music-dealers were summoned
by Maj. Fish to appear at his office, where the sur-
render'of all copper-plates of the prohibited music
was required. The music-dealers were also required
to take an oath pledging them to good behavior for
the future. On the same day Fish issued the follow-
ing order:

" Detective Pontier is hereby ordered to proceed to any photographist
or dealer in pictures in this city and seize all pictures of rebel generals
and statesmen which they are publicly exposing for sale, as they have
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been repeatedly requested not to display such pictures for sale, and
furthermore ordered by Marshal Van Nostrand not to sell such pictures;
and the sale of such pictures is hereby forbidden hereafter, unless by
special permission of the military authorities."

—On March 13th a fire occurred at Fort McHenry
which totally destroyed a building used as quarters
for some of the officers. The large number of soldiers
in the city and the facility with which they obtained
liquor led, about this period, to the passage of an
order by Gen. Schenck forbidding the sale of strong
drink to soldiers under penalty of imprisonment and
the closing of the shops of proprietors so offending.

—On March 20th a Union mass-meeting was held
at the Maryland Institute, which was addressed by
Andrew Johnson, Horace Maynard, Salmon P. Chase,
and others. On the 28th an order was issued direct-
ing the closing of all saloons and drinking-places in
Baltimore City and County for the next forty-eight
hours.

—A large number of Confederate prisoners—five or
six thousand—passed through Baltimore early in
April, being sent from Camp Chase and other Western
stations to the James River to be exchanged. Some
of the prisoners who had the smallpox were quar-
tered in Locust Point, where they were attended by
Confederate as well as Federal surgeons. On one
occasion a number of prisoners were quartered at
Barnum's Hotel, but when they were discovered to
be in communication" with citizens they were all
ordered into confinement at Fort McHenry. No one
was allowed to display any sympathy for prisoners
passing through the city. Jesse Hunt, president of
the Eutaw Savings-Bank and former mayor of the
city, was arrested for raising his hat in recognition of
a party of Confederate prisoners. A great deal of ex-
citement was occasioned about this time by the ban-
ishment of a number of ladies, who were sent South
because of their alleged activity in behalf of the Con-
federate cause. On the 16th of April the City Coun-
cil passed a resolution asking the mayor to issue a i
proclamation requesting the masters of shipping and
all loyal citizens to display the national flag on April
20th, that day having been set apart for a celebration
by the National Union League of Baltimore; also
that the flag should be displayed from the public
buildings, and that the public schools should be
closed on that day. On the 20th a large Union mass-
meeting was held at the Maryland Institute, at which
Governor Bradford presided. Among the speakers
were G. W. Bradford, Montgomery Blair, Gen.
Schenck, ex-Governor Hicks, David Paul Brown, of
Philadelphia, and Governor Conner, of Delaware. A
series of resolutions were adopted advocating the
abolition of slavery. Large numbers of prisoners
continued to be sent through Baltimore, and on the
21st of the month a squad of thirty-seven arrived
from Harper's Ferry, nineteen of whom took the oath
of allegiance and were sent to West Virginia. An
additional number of ladies were arrested and sent

South by order of Gen. Schenck, all of them, it was
charged, being active partisans. A stampede of slaves
took place about the same time from the neighbor-
hood of the Warren factory, on the York road, in-
duced by intelligence of President Lincoln's procla-
mation. After the battle of Chancellorsville a number
of women were arrested as Confederate spies, one of
whom was regularly enlisted as an orderly sergeant
in Jenkins' cavalry. Another lady was arrested for
treason, her mother having already been sent through
the lines, and the daughter was seized in consequence
of a letter which had fallen into the hands of the
police. About this same period a number of arrests
were made of persons belonging to an association
called the " Wooden Horse," and one hundred and
seventy-five Confederate deserters were brought into
Baltimore and took the oath of allegiance.

—On the 1st of May the provost-marshal's quarters
were removed from Taylor's building on Fayette
Street to the Gilmor House on Monument Square
(afterwards known as St. Clair's Hotel, now as Guy's
Monument House), at the corner of Court-house
Lane.

—On the 12th of May, Gen. Schenck removed, his
headquarters from Holliday Street to the Johnson
building, at the northwest corner of Calvert and Fay-
ette Streets, a part of which was also occupied by the
medical department.

—On the 25th of May the City Council passed a
resolution approving the action of Gen. Burnside in
causing the arrest of C. L. Vallandigham, of Ohio,
and ordered copies of the resolutions to be sent to
President Lincoln and Gen. Burnside. On June
5th the Union convention to nominate a candidate
for the Third Congressional District assembled at
Temperance Temple, North Gay Street, with Michael
Warner president, and Dr. James Armitage and
John M. Stevenson as vice-presidents, and John M.
Denison, secretary. Hon. Henry Winter Davis was
nominated, Mr. Swann's name being also mentioned.
On the 15th of June, in consequence of the invasion
of the State by the Confederates, President Lincoln
issued a proclamation calling for one hundred thou-
sand men; and in accordance with this proclamation
Governor Bradford, on the 16th, issued an appeal to
the people of Maryland to furnish the ten thousand
men allotted to her by voluntary enlistment.

On the same day the City Council was convened in
extra session and passed an ordinance appropriating
four hundred thousand dollars as a bounty fund, and
providing for the payment of one hundred dollars to
each person who should enlist before the 26th of June.
Among the various organizations which offered their
services under the call were the Independent Grays,
the Washington Light Infantry, the Baltimore Union
City Guards of East Baltimore, and the battalion of
Baltimore City Guards. The situation seemed so ur-
gent that Governor Bradford on the 17th decided to
arm and equip all volunteers as they were received in
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companies, without waiting for regimental organiza-
tions. Saturday and Sunday, June 20th and 21st,
were two days of great excitement in and around Bal-
timore. Business was suspended, and there were ru-
mors and counter-rumors, varying with every hour.
Gen. Schenck was active in using every means at his
command to place the city in a state of defense. He
appealed to the " Loyal Leagues," and over six thou-
sand men responded to his call. Each of the leagues
formed companies, which elected their officers, and
with three days' rations were sent to occupy the de-
fenses of the city. On Saturday, the 20th, the City
Council decided that one hundred thousand dollars of
the four hundred thousand dollars appropriated for
bounties should be devoted to the construction of forti-
fications around the city. On the morning of that day
about one thousand colored men were seized by the
police in different sections of the city and marched
out in squads of forty each to work on the defenses.
At night another force was impressed to relieve those
who had been at work throughout the day, and some
white persons were also compelled to assist in the
work. The long trains of wagons
and drays through the streets,
carrying hogsheads, barrels, and
other materials required for the
barricades were rather a novel
sight for Sunday, and brought
to the mind the scenes presented
on Sunday, the 21st of April,
1861. The work of erecting the
barricades progressed rapidly,
and on Sunday, June 21st, the
entire circuit of defenses was
completed and ready for mili-
tary occupation at any mo-
ment that the scouts and pick-
ets should announce the ap-
proach of the Confederates. The
line of intrenchments and for-
tifications on all the approaches
to the city attracted thousands of
visitors. The barricades which
were erected in many parts closed
the streets to carriages, and it
was supposed would be effect-
ual against cavalry, although
some of them were so low that a
horse could have cleared them

with ease. They were generally constructed at the
corners of streets by gathering one or two carts at
each end on the sidewalk, and then by digging up
stones on the roadway sufficient earth was thrown
up to form an embankment, leaving a narrow pas-
sage on each side for foot passengers. If an attempt
had been made to take the city, the houses in the
vicinity of the lines of barricades were to be occu-
pied by riflemen. In addition to Fort McHenry,
Fort Federal Hill and Fort Marshall, upon higher

ground than Fort McHenry, mounted each with fifty
to sixty guns of forty-two and thirty-two-pounders and
eight-inch columbiads, with a few rifled pieces, could
have destroyed Baltimore in a short time, this being
the line of defense determined on if its capture could
not be otherwise prevented. On the night of June
29th the Confederate cavalry under Stuart approached
within eight miles of Baltimore, and flying parties of
Federals driven in by them soon spread alarm and
confusion through the city. The impression prevailed
that the Confederates were advancing in force, and at
half-past eleven o'clock that night (29th) a general
alarm was sounded, and the various Union Leagues
and many other citizens assembled at headquarters,
received arms, and marched to the barricades. In a
few hours several thousand men were thus collected
and placed under the command of Brig.-Gen. E. B.
Tyler. Gen. Schenck and staff and the regular mil-
itary forces of the city took up their position on the
north of the city. The excitement continued all night,
gradually lessening as it was found the Confederates
did not arrive. Early the next morning, on the 30th

m
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of June, Gen. Schenck proclaimed martial law in the
city of Baltimore and the counties of the Western Shore
of Maryland. Orders were also issued forbidding the
sale of arms or ammunition without a permit, pro-
hibiting persons from leaving the city without passes
from the provost-marshal, and requiring all stores,
shops, manufacturers, drinking-saloons, and other
places of business, " other than apothecary-shops and
printing-offices of daily journals," to be closed at five
o'clock P.M., for the purpose of giving patriotic citi-
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zens an opportunity to drill and make themselves ex-
pert in the use of arms.

The city was now turned into a camp, and the tread
of armed men and the word of command could be
heard in every direction. At Gen. Schenck's request,
the naval authorities took part in the measures for
defense, and Commodore Dornin, the senior naval
officer on duty in Baltimore, placed several gunboats
in position to aid in repulsing any Confederate attacks.
The United States gunboat " Eutaw," one .thousand
tons, carrying eight guns (two pivot and six broad-
side), throwing an eleven-inch projectile weighing
three hundred and thirty pounds, was stationed in the
harbor near Thames Street. The gunboat " Daylight,"
carrying eight guns like those of the " Eutaw," lay at
the foot of Broadway. The " Maratanza" lay farther
up the harbor, in range of one of the principal streets,
to bear upon the city and its approaches. She also
carried eight guns. The United States gunboat
" Seymour" was stationed near the Long Bridge at
Ferry Bar, at the foot of Spring Gardens, command-
ing that part of the harbor and overlooking the Bal-
timore and Ohio Railroad and the western section of
the city. On the 1st of July, Gen. Schenck issued a
proclamation forbidding the citizens of Baltimore and
the county to keep arms in their possession un-
less enrolled in volunteer companies for the defense
of their houses. The execution of the order was in-
trusted to Gen. E. B. Tyler, and on the morning of
July 2d, Col. Augustus Sprague's Fifty-first Massa-
chusetts Regiment was placed at Gen. Tyler's dis-
posal. In squads of three or four they acted in con-
cert with the police in diligently searching the dwell-
ings of persons supposed to be disloyal for arms.
Furniture-wagons accompanied the squads, and as
soon as arms of any description were discovered they
were seized and placed in the wagons. Among the
various arms seized were muskets, carbines, rifles,
revolvers of all kinds, pistols, swords, sabres, bayonets,
bird and ducking-guns. Some of the latter were
very valuable, and many of the articles were old
family relics. In some instances citizens refused to
surrender their cherished weapons or permit their
dwellings to be searched, when they were arrested
and held in prison for a hearing.

—The news of the battle of Gettysburg produced
great excitement in Baltimore; the streets and news-
paper-offices were constantly thronged by crowds of
people eagerly seeking the latest intelligence. On
the 3d of'July, Gen. Schenck issued an order " re-
questing and recommending that every house and
place of business of every loyal citizen of Baltimore
shall have displayed upon it to-morrow, the 4th, from
ten o'clock A.M. to six P.M., the American flag." In
consequence of this order nearly every one complied
with the.request, and those who failed to comply were
marked, and afterwards paid the penalty. The de-
mand for and the exhibition of colors were quite un-
precedented. Very soon, too, the terrible results of

the battle became apparent from the large number of
wounded officers and men, both of the Union and
Confederate armies, who began to arrive in the city.
Measures of relief for the wounded were at once
adopted, and committees'appointed to solicit and for-
ward supplies. The City Council also appropriated
about six thousand dollars, and with the amount con-
tributed by the citizens, there was raised in Baltimore
fifty thousand dollars in cash besides miscellaneous
articles. A large number of the surgeons of Baltimore
were dispatched to the battle-field at Gettysburg, and
the Sanitary and Christian Commissions went to the
same place with large quantities of medical stores,
clothing, delicacies, etc. Many ladies and gentlemen
of Baltimore also went in search of friends and relations
wounded in the battle, or to act as nurses in the hos-
pitals, and a number of Sisters of Charity started on
the same noble mission. The Adams Express Com-
pany, through Samuel Shoemaker, its efficient super-
intendent, established a hospital corps, and sent J. Q.
A. Herring, Mr. Shoemaker's able assistant, with a
large quantity of ice and other stores for the relief of
the sick and wounded. There were a great many
Confederate wounded brought to Baltimore, and Gen.
Schenck on the 10th of July issued an order forbid-
ding private persons to receive or entertain wounded
Southern officers and soldiers.

—On the 20th of July a flag presentation took place
at Fort No. 1 (Davis). The colored laborers who had
been at work upon the city fortifications purchased a
large national flag, which was presented in their behalf
to the military authorities by Col. Birney, who made
a speech on the occasion. Col. Don Piatt received
the flag for Gen. Schenck and responded, a salute of
thirty-six guns closing the ceremony.

—On the 27 th of July, Col. Birney,who was recruiting
a regiment of colored troops, proceeded to Campbell's
slave jail, on Pratt Street near Howard, where, by
virtue of an order from Gen. Schenck, he liberated
the colored prisoners confined there and enlisted the
males in his regiment. He also visited the jails of
Donovan, Wilson, Hines, and Fairbanks.

—On the 31st of July the body of Capt. William D. ,
Brown, of the Chesapeake Artillery (Confederate),
who had been killed at the battle of Gettysburg, was
interred at Greenmount Cemetery. As the relatives
and friends were returning from the lot a detachment
of soldiers appeared, by orders from headquarters,
and arrested all the male attendants except the officia-
ting ministers, Revs. Dr. Slicer, Sargent, and Owens.
They were conducted to the headquarters of Brig.-
Gen. Tyler, at the Gilmor House, and after a short
detention were released. The charge against them
was that the corpse was dressed in a new Confederate
uniform. It appeared, however, that Mr. Weaver, the
undertaker, had only put on a small piece of gray
cloth where the original uniform was ragged.

—On the 10th of August the City Council passed a
series of resolutions eulogistic of Gen. Schenck, and
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thanking him for recognizing only two parties, the
loyal and the disloyal; also for his energy and ser-
vices in placing Baltimore in a state of defense during
the late invasion, and also for his declared purpose of
inflicting damages for all property wantonly destroyed
belonging to Union men. Gen. Morris, commanding
at Fort McHenry, about this time issued an order
authorizing the seizure of horses for military pur-
poses within the limits of the city. Horses seized in
accordance with the order which were found on
examination to be unfit for military purposes were to
be returned to their owners. In other cases when used
no compensation was to be made to disloyal persons.

—On the 22d of August the provost-marshal's office
was removed to Donovan's slave jail, which stood on
the southwest corner of Camden and Eutaw Streets.
Gen. Tyler's headquarters were removed to the build-
ing on Holliday Street which had formerly been oc-
cupied by Gen. Schenck.

—On the 31st of August the revenue steam cutter
the " Wamazanda," built in Baltimore, was launched
from the shipyard of John T. Fardy & Co., on the
south side of the basin near Federal Hill. On the
23d the revenue cutter " Kewanee" was launched
from the shipyard of John A. Robb & Co., Fell's
Point. In the evening a banquet in honor of the
event was given at Guy's Monument House, which
was participated in by many of the military and civic
dignitaries of the city. It was at this period that Hon.
Hugh L. Bond, judge of the City Criminal Court,
addressed his famous letter to the Secretary of War
advocating the enlistment in the Union armies of all
classes of persons of African descent, whether free or
slave. On Thursday, September 10th, the Baltimore
County Unconditional Union Convention assembled
at Temperance Temple, and passed strong resolutions
approving the policy of the government.

—On the 11th of September, Gen. Schenck issued an
order for the suppression of the Baltimore Republican
and the arrest of the editors, and in accordance with
the order the office was visited by the military about
two o'clock in the afternoon and further publication
of the paper stopped. Beale H. Kichardson, editor
and proprietor of the paper, and his son, Francis A.
Kichardson, and Stephen J. Joyce, associate editors,
were taken into custody and conducted to the office
of Col. Fish, where an order was shortly received
from Gen. Schenck directing that they should be sent
South by way of Harper's Ferry, with orders not to
return under penalty of being treated as spies. The
ground of arrest was alleged to be the publication of
a piece of poetry entitled " The Southern Cross,"
which has been attributed to Mrs. Ellen Key Blunt.

—On the 26th the City Council presented Gen.
Schenck -with complimentary resolutions indorsing
his administration. The presentation speech was
made by John G. Wilmot, of the Second Branch of
the City Council, and was responded to by Gen.
Schenck.

—On the 28th the United States transport-steamer
"City of Albany" took fire at her wharf and was
seriously damaged.

—On the 28th of September a mass-meeting of the
Unconditional Union party in favor of emancipation
was held in Monument Square, Mayor Chapman pre-
siding ; among the speakers were Henry Winter
Davis and Hon. S. P. Chase.

—On the 29th of September the Baltimore Daily
Gazette was also suppressed, and Messrs. E. F. Carter
and W. H. Neilson, editors and proprietors, were ar-
rested. On the same day Messrs. Michael J. Kelly and
John B. Piet were arrested by government detectives
upon the charge of selling a work entitled " Fourteen
Months in the Bastiles of America," written by Frank
Key Howard, of the Baltimore bar.

—On the 26th of October occurred one of the largest
and most imposing military parades of the troops
stationed in and around the city that had been wit-
nessed in Baltimore for many months previous.

—On the 3d of November, Gen. Schenck published in
Baltimore an order, dated the 27th of October, requiring
all voters at the approaching election whose loyalty
might be challenged to take an oath of allegiance to
the government. On the 2d of November, Governor
Bradford issued a proclamation instructing the judges
to obey the election laws of the State, and promising
them protection in so doing. On the same day Presi-
dent Lincoln addressed a letter to Governor Bradford
slightly modifying Gen. Schenck's order, but not re-
voking the clause requiring voters to prove their loy-
alty by oath. Governor Bradford's proclamation was
sent to the Baltimore newspaper-offices for publication
in their Tuesday morning's editions, but before they
appeared a written order was received from Gen.
Schenck peremptorily forbidding its publication until
further orders from him. The proclamation of the
Governor, however, appeared in the columns of the
Baltimore newspapers on the morning of the election,
Wednesday, November 4th, with the sanction of Gen.
Schenck, accompanied by a reply virtually repeating
the instructions of his first order. In Baltimore there
were four tickets in the field,—the Independent Union,
Regular Union, Conditional Union, and Uncondi-
tional Union. The candidates for Congress on the
Unconditional tickets were: First District, John A. J.
Creswell; Second District, Edwin H. Webster;
Third District, Henry Winter Davis; Fourth District,
ex-Governor Frank Thomas; Fifth District, Col. John
C. Holland. The candidates on the Conditional
Union ticket were: First District, John W. Crisfield;
Fifth District, Charles B. Calvert and Benjamin G.
Harris. The five Unconditional Union candidates
were all pledged to vote for the Radical administration
candidate for Speaker. In the election for State offi-
cers, the question of emancipation or slavery was to
be tested. Those who were for the speedy abolition
of slavery in the State voted for H. Goldsborough for
comptroller of the treasury; and those who wished
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to retain slavery in the State voted for Samuel S.
Maffitt for that office. In Baltimore the entire Regular
Unconditional Union ticket was elected, Goldsborough
receiving 10,942 votes, and Maffitt 368.

—On the 10th of November, Col. Fish issued an
order forbidding the further publication of the Even-
ing Transcript, a paper started but a few weeks be-
fore under the proprietorship of William H. Neilson,
formerly of the Gazette.

—On the 18th of November, President Lincoln, who
was on his way to participate in the dedication of the
National Cemetery at Gettysburg, passed through
Baltimore, and was received by the military and civic
authorities with distinguished honors. On the 23d
of November the draft commenced under the Presi-
dent's call for additional troops, and was completed
on the same day in the First and Eighth Wards, and
on the next day the Second and other wards were
proceeded with, and so on in rotation until all of
them were completed. On the 30th of November,
ex-Governor Thomas G. Pratt and Col. Nicholson
were sent South with the injunction not to return
during the war under penalty of being treated as
spies. Their offense consisted in the refusal to take
the oath of allegiance. Ex-Governor Pratt was soon
released by order of the President, and returned on
the 10th of January to Baltimore. In the latter
part of November Gen. Schenek tendered his resig-
nation as major-general of volunteers, to take effect
on the 5th of December. On the latter date Col.
Fish also resigned the position of provost-marshal,
and Brig.-Gen. Henry H. Lockwood assumed com-
mand of the department. On the same day Capt.
French was appointed provost-marshal in the place
of Col. Fish. On the 7th, Gen. Lockwood reap-
pointed Col. Fish to the position, Capt. French
resuming his duties as assistant provost-marshal.

1864.—On the 15th of January, Col. Fish tendered
his resignation, and was assigned to the command of
a brigade of cavalry. On the evening of the 24th he
was arrested by order of the Secretary of War on the
charge of official corruption and fraud while acting
as provost-marshal of Baltimore. He was afterwards
tried by court-martial, found guilty on nearly all the
charges preferred against him, cashiered, and sent to
the Albany penitentiary. On the 28th of January,
Messrs. Stephen Joyce and Francis Richardson were
rearrested at Nassau and brought to Baltimore, where
they arrived on the 29th. They were released for a
few days on parole, but on February 2d were rear-
rested, and on the following day were sent to Fort
Delaware.

—On the 11th of February the express passenger-
train which left Camden Station, Baltimore, for
Wheeling and intermediate points was captured by
Confederate raiders near Kearneysville depot, about
eight miles from Harper's Ferry, and the passengers
relieved of their money, watches, etc.

—On the 12th of March, Maj.-Gen. Lewis Wallace

was appointed to the command of the Middle Depart-
ment. He relieved Gen. Lockwood, and assumed
command on the 22d.

—On the 18th of March an attempt was made to
break out of the provost-marshal's prison, but the
effort resulted unsuccessfully. On the 30th, Rev. Dr.
Bullock, of the Presbyterian Church, was arrested on
the charge of harboring a Confederate officer, but was
soon released. On the 1st of April a large meeting
of the friends of constitutional reform was held at
the Maryland Institute. William J. Albert presided,
with John Lee Chapman and others as vice-presi-
dents. Among the speakers were Henry Winter
Davis, ex-Governor George S. Boutwell, of Massa-
chusetts, and Gen. Wallace.

—On the 6th of April the question of calling a State
Constitutional Convention was submitted to the
people, and resulted in the success of the new con-
stitution party. In Baltimore the vote was 9102 in
favor of the convention, and 87 against it. In Balti-
more County the vote was 2046 in its favor, and 811
in opposition to it. Lists of questions were submitted
to persons whose disloyalty was suspected, and they
were compelled to answer under oath detailed inter-
rogatories touching their fidelity to the government.

—On the 8th of April the city gave a banquet to
the First and Ninth Maryland Regiments, exchanged
and returned from Southern prisons. The Second
Maryland reached home on the 13th of April, and met
with an enthusiastic reception. On the 18th the great
Maryland State Fair for the benefit of the United
States Sanitary Commission commenced and con-
tinued for several weeks. On April 26th, Gen. Wal-
lace issued an order authorizing the confiscation of
the property of all persons who had left the State and
gone South.

—On the night of the 15th of May, Eugene_ Lamar
and William B. Compton, of the Confederate army,
sentenced to be hung as spies; George E. Sherer, sen-
tenced to fifteen years' imprisonment and hard labor
for various offenses against the United States; L. W.
Dorsey, awaiting trial on charge of treason; James
Gibbens, of the Confederate army, captured near City
Point by Gen. Butler's forces, effected their escape
from Fort McHenry.

—On the 23d of May a man named Andrew or Isa-
dore Laypole, who had been court-martialed and con-
demned as a Confederate spy, was hung inside of Fort
McHenry. He made a short speech from the gallows,
denying that he was a felon, then prayed fervently,
and died bravely.

—On the 20th of May, by order of the Secretary of
War, the offices of the Independent Line of Telegraph
were closed and the operators arrested. They were
released the same day on parole by Col. Woolley, pro-
vost-marshal. This action was caused by a spurious
dispatch purporting to be a proclamation from the
President calling for four hundred thousand additional
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—On May 21st, Col. Woolley's detectives captured
off Sandy Point two men bringing a large quantity of
mail-matter from the South, a large number of the
letters being addressed to persons in Baltimore.

—On the 7th of June the Union National Conven-
tion assembled at the Front Street Theatre for the pur-
pose of nominating candidates for the Presidency and
Vice-Presidency. Ex-Governor Morgan, of New York,
chairman of the National Executive Committee, called
the convention to order and nominated as temporary
president of the convention Robert J. Breckenridge,
of Kentucky. Speeches were made by Senator Mor-
gan and Dr. Breckenridge, and at the evening session
Hon. William Dennison, of Ohio, was chosen perma-
nent president. On the 8th the vote was taken, and
although the Missouri delegation were instructed to
cast their vote first in favor of Gen. Grant, the vote
for President Lincoln was made unanimous, every
other State voting for him on the first ballot. The en-
tire number of votes cast was 541. For the Vice-Presi-
dency, on the first ballot 200 votes were cast for An-
drew Johnson, 145 for Hannibal Hamlin, 113 for
Daniel S. Dickinson, 28 for Gen. Benjamin F. Butler,
21 for Rousseau, 6 for Schuyler Colfax, 2 for Attorney-
General Holt, 1 for Governor Todd, and 1 for Preston
King. Before the ballot was announced several of
the States changed their votes to Johnson, so that the
final result was: Johnson 494, Dickinson 17, and
Hamlin 9.

—On Saturday, July 9th, an unofficial dispatch an-
nouncing the defeat of Gen. Wallace at the Mon-
ocacy was received in the city, and created great ex-
citement. Between five and six o'clock on the
morning of the 10th a general alarm was sounded
throughout the city, calling the people to arms,
which was promptly responded to. People rushed
from their houses with guns in their hands, and
squads were soon marching through the streets to
the various headquarters. A proclamation was is-
sued by Governor Bradford and Mayor Chapman,
declaring that the danger was " imminent," and
earnestly calling upon the citizens to come forward
for the defense of the city without delay. Gen. John
R. Kenly, with headquarters at Fort No. 1, at the
head of Baltimore Street, was placed in command of
the defenses west of Jones' Falls, and Gen. Lock-
wood of those east of it. The Union Club called a
meeting of its members, a company was formed, and
they marched out under Capt. George A. Pope and
took possession of Fort No. 7, overlooking the
Northern Central Railroad, a short distance beyond
the Mount Royal reservoir. There they remained
during the week. In the neighborhood of the
custom-house, Exchange Place, and the docks south
of them a curious scene was presented. Many ware-
houses in that part of the city were used for govern-
ment stores, and crowds of laborers were busily
engaged in emptying them of everything likely to be
seized by the enemy. Long lines of drays were

rapidly loaded and sent off to places of safety, mostly
to vessels which lay at the docks with steam up, ready
to start down the river at a moment's notice. All
the valuables in the treasury department at the
custom-house had been sent off the preceding night,
and the contents of the post-office and pay depart-
ment of the army and navy in the Exchange Build-
ing were also hurriedly removed. Some of the army
paymasters were absent on duty, but under the
supervision of Maj. B. W. Brice, afterwards paymaster-
general, their effects were all packed up and sent on
board the steamer " Balloon." From an early hour
in the morning until late in the night the spacious
inclosures of the Camden Street Railway Station were
crowded with anxious citizens. The officers of the
Baltimore and Ohio Railroad were in their offices all
night Saturday and during Sunday, with engines fired
up and trains ready, awaiting the emergencies of the
occasion. As the morning advanced it was announced
that a special train would be dispatched for Elli-
cott's Mills, where Gen. Wallace had arrived with
the wounded. About eight o'clock in the morning
a special train arrived with three hundred and eleven
wounded and sick from his command. They were
taken in charge by Medical Director Dr. Josiah Simp-
son, United States army, and removed to the hospitals
in Patterson Park. During the morning an additional
number arrived in ambulances by the Frederick turn-
pike, together with many stragglers. At noon an-
other special train with wounded arrived, and shortly
after seven o'clock a special train of thirty cars, drawn
by two locomotives, moved into Camden Station from
Ellicott's Mills, crowded with the remnants of Gen.
Wallace's command. Upon the arrival of this train
it was surrounded by thousands of anxious spectators.
Alexander's Battery and the Federal cavalry marched
into Baltimore by the turnpike, nearly exhausted.
Sigel's and Mulligan's wagon-trains, accompanied
by their guards, also passed through the city, and
proceeded to the East End, where they encamped.
During the 10th and several subsequent days the
Confederates under Maj. Harry Gilmor were scour-,
ing the country without resistance, sometimes ven-
turing so near the city that they could be seen from
it. On the morning of the 11th a squad of Confed-
erate cavalry burned the house of Governor Bradford,
about four miles from the city, in retaliation for the
burning of Governor Letcher's house by Gen. Hunter
in Virginia. During the night of the 11th, Maj.
Gilmor's command passed through Towsontown,
where they remained a few hours, refreshing them-
selves at Ady's Hotel, and on departing presented
Mr. Ady with a fine horse in return for his hospi-
tality. During the raid Gen. Johnston's command fell
in with Painter's celebrated traveling ice-cream sa-
loon, and as they were out of rations, vanilla, lemon,
and other ices were issued to the whole command,
every man of which ate until he could eat no more.
On the morning of the 11th a party of Confederates
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visited the house of Ishmael Day, an old man of about
sixty-five years, in Baltimore County, and demanded
that he should haul down an American flag which
he had erected over his gateway. He replied, " Gen-
tlemen, burn my house to the ground, but I will shoot
any man that touches that flag." Upon this reply,
Wm. Fields, one of the party, and a native of Balti-
more, approached to take down the flag, when the
old man fired upon him with a bird-gun loaded with
duck-shot, inflicting wounds from which he died in
Baltimore on the 15th. Day managed to make his
escape, but his house was burned.

—At a late hour on Monday night, July 11th, Maj.-
Gen. Edward 0. C. Ord was appointed to the com-
mand of the Eighth Army Corps and the Middle De-
partment, and entered on his duties at once. He re-
tained Gen. Kenly in command of the defenses, which
were being strengthened and manned so as to com-
mand every approach to the city. Additional earth-
works and barricades were also thrown up in every
direction. Gen. Lockwood was in command of the
outposts. The colored men in the city were organized
into companies, selected white officers, and after
being supplied with arms, were marched to the forti- '
fications. The City Council on the same day appro-
priated one hundred thousand dollars for the erection
of defenses, and unanimously adopted a resolution
requesting the mayor to confer with the commander
of the department with reference to the expediency
of closing all places of business and the arming of
all the citizens. Mayor Chapman had an interview
with Gen. Ord the same evening, and, in accordance
with their views, Governor Bradford on the 12th
issued a proclamation, through Gen. John S. Berry,
calling upon the whole enrolled militia of the city to
prepare for immediate service. In response to this
call the citizens assembled in their respective wards
on Wednesday afternoon, July 13th, and were en-
rolled for service. Those who refused or neglected to
obey the call were sought out and forced to do duty
on the fortifications and barricades. About ten thou-
sand men reported under the Governor's proclama-
tion, but on the 15th were released from assembling,
although they were ordered to hold themselves in
readiness in case of another alarm. For a few days
Baltimore was entirely isolated from the rest of the
country, except by water. Provisions and fuel doubled
in price, and there was some suffering among the poor
in consequence. The telegraph-wires were cut, rail-
road-bridges burned, and travel almost entirely inter-
rupted. The mails for Philadelphia and the North
generally were sent by steamers for a day or two, and
passengers from Philadelphia came to Havre-de-Grace
by rail, and thence by steamboat to Baltimore. A
few days afterwards trains ran as far as the Gun-
powder River, where the passengers and baggage
were conveyed across on flatboats, and thence by rail
to Baltimore. Gen. Ord directed* that passes to leave
the city should not be issued to any except those

living outside of it who could prove their loyalty.
These restrictions were abolished on the 14th, and on
the same date the barricades were removed. By the
20th the embargo which had been laid upon nearly
every species of business was removed by order of the
authorities, and business returned to its usual chan-
nels. Nearly all the railroads were again in running
order by the 24th, the greatest damage, as usual, hav-
ing fallen upon the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad.
Gen. Ord remained in command of the forces of the
Middle Department until the excitement subsided,
when Gen. Wallace resumed his command. Not long
after these events, Arthur Christie and wife, British
subjects, were arrested for removing a national flag
from the room of a Federal officer who boarded in the
same house with them. The matter was referred to
the Secretary of War, who ordered Christie and his
wife to leave the department and the State within
twenty-four hours, and not to return during the war.

—On the 4th of August a meeting was held in Light
Street Methodist church for the purpose of raising
funds for the relief of the people of Chambersburg,
Pa., which had been burned on the 30th of July by
the Confederates. The same day was observed as a
day of fasting and prayer, in accordance with the
President's proclamation. On the 23d of August,
Gen. Wallace ordered Gen. Lockwood, commanding
the third separate brigade,

"to detail a competent officer from his command to proceed to the
late residence of Ishmael Day, Baltimore Co., Md., and make an esti-
mate of the damage sustained by him in the destruction of his property
by the rebels during the late raid, and assess upon and collect from the
disloyal and disaffected persons residing within a radius of five miles of
Mr. Day's farm a sum equal to the amount of the damages sustained by
him, and to pay the same when collected to Mr. Day. The levy will be
made upun the individuals according to their taxation list."

—On the 24th of August a serious riot occurred in
the neighborhood of the Union Relief Rooms be-
tween a section of the provost-guard, consisting of
Company A, and the Twenty-third Regiment of Penn-
sylvania Veteran Volunteers. An attempt was made
by the provost-guard to arrest some of the members
of the regiment who were intoxicated, when the re-
mainder endeavored to rescue their comrades, and the
riot ensued, which was only quelled by the personal
interference of Col. Woolley.

—On the 29th of August, William H. Rogers, alleged
spy, blockade-runner, and Confederate mail-carrier,
John B. H. Embert, Braxton Lyon, and Samuel B.
Home, alleged spies, soldiers, and blockade-runners,
were sentenced to be hung at Fort McHenry, but the
sentence was not carried into execution.

—On the 2d of September, Capt. William Henry
Wiegel was made first assistant provost-marshal.
The 7th was observed in Baltimore and elsewhere as
a day of rejoicing for the recent Federal victories.

—On the 13th, Gen. Wallace issued an order com-
manding the closing of all stores on South Eutaw
Street between Camden and Lee Streets, on Conway
Street between Eutaw and Paca, and on Little Paca
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Street above Conway. The proprietors were also or-
dered to remove their goods within three days. These
shops consisted of clothing, cigar, jewelry, hat, cap,
boot, variety, and fancy stores, confectioneries, and
restaurants. The order closing them was issued in
consequence of alleged abuses practiced by the pro-
prietors upon soldiers, especially the substitutes who
were quartered at the Union Belief and Soldiers'
Rest Rooms on Eutaw Street near Conway while on
their way to join the army.

—On September 19th, Gen. Wallace issued an order
regulating the sales of gunpowder, and prohibiting
sales in considerable quantities without permission
from the military authorities. I

—On September 21st, George W. McDonald, alias j
M. M. Dunning, of the Third Maryland Cavalry, was
executed according to the military code at Fort Me- j
Henry for desertion and attempt to kill. •

—On the 30th of September the Evening Post was \
suppressed for the publication of articles offensive to
loyal citizens.

—On October 10th a large Union mass-meeting was
held in Monument Square, which was addressed by
Gen. John R. Kenly, Henry Wilson, of Massachu-
setts. Hon. Thomas Swann, R. Stockett Matthews,
and Dr. Christopher C. Cox.

—On the 12th of October the election of mayor and
City Council was held in Baltimore, and the new
constitution was submitted to the voters of the whole
State. By its provisions Baltimore was divided into
three legislative districts, with a right to three sena-
tors instead of one, and eighteen delegates instead of
twelve. Before casting their ballots at this election, all
suspected voters, besides being required to take the
test oath, were also called upon to answer a number
of searching interrogatories touching their loyalty.
The declared total vote on the constitution in Balti-
more was 11,832, of which 9779 was " for," and 2053
"against." The total mayoralty vote was 14,618, of
which John Lee Chapman, the " Regular Union" can-
didate, received 11,334, and Archibald Stirling, Jr.,
" Independent Union," 3783. The vote in Baltimore
County was 2001 in favor of, and 1869 against the
constitution. j

—On the 17th of October the mercantile community ;
was greatly agitated by the wholesale arrest of several
business firms and their employes. A communica-
tion was received from the War Department by Col.
Woolley, provost-marshal, directing him to arrest the
following persons, which was accordingly done: Ham- !

ilton Easter & Co., dry-goods dealers; Wiesenfield & i
Co., clothiers; Jordan & Rose, dry-goods dealers;
Isaac P. Coale & Bro., commission merchants;
Charles E. Waters & Co., hardware merchants ; A.
& L. Friedenrich, gentlemen's furnishing articles;
Simon Frank & Co., jobbers ; at the store of Hamil-
ton Easter & Co.: Hamilton Easter, J. H. Easter,
John Easter, Jr., James H. Wheedon, James Conway,
William P. Carroll, Benjamin Harrison, Charles

Turner, James Fisher, William Haskinson, Thomas
D. Fullerton, Isaac Heldic, Benjamin Perry, W. H.
Webb, James M. Gwinn, Donal Paily, Charles S.
Custer, Charles Calhoun, Edward Power, William H.
Spencer, Robert Simons, John E. Burbag, John E.
Kitsen, William Kitsen, Samuel Kitsen, George B.
Baker, George R. Rhoades, James Carroll, Joshua R.
Dryden, William Johnson, George R. Cross, M.
Leaky, W. H. Arnold, Henry A. Hubbard, James R.
Clarke, S. Parsons, John A. Field, William Fuller-
ton, William McConkey, Thomas Mullooley, Cahas
Mitchell, Charles F. Easter, and Benjamin Robinson;
at the house of Jordan & Rose: B. Stern, Solomon
Rose, W. P. Rose, Isaac Rose, and Solomon Herman;
at the house of Isaac P. Coale & Bro.: John Guele,
Washington Sanderson, John McMullen, J. L. Bes-
sick, Thomas Coale, and W. H. Jones; at the house
of Charles E. Waters & Co.: Robert Murray, E. L.
Jones, and Charles E. Waters ; at the house of Wies-
enfield & Co.: M. Wiesenfield, E. G. Lichy, Jr., Louis
Newman, John Zoller, Wakeman Nelson, S. L. Lichy,
Benjamin Hergesheimer, G. H. Pitcher, Valentine
Benzen, Bennet Helling, Charles France, Thomas
Gorsuch, and Joseph Bumgardner; on Centre Mar-
ket Space and Baltimore: Goody R. Wiesenfield,
Michael Wiesenfield, Michael Wiesenfield, Jr., Fer-
dinand Lazarus, Philip Danaburg, Nathan Stern-
heimer, Abraham Fisher, and John Barrett; at the
house of Friedenrich & Co.: Leon Friedenrich and
Abraham Friedenrich; at the house of Simon Frank
& Co.: Simon Frank, Alexander Frank, Abraham
Adler, John Robinson, Segus Maumberg. The stores
were immediately closed, guards stationed at the doors,
and the prisoners sent to Washington in a special
train.

—On the 18th of October the Unconditional Union
State Convention assembled in Temperance Temple,
with Gen. John S. Berry as president. Hon. John L.
Thomas, Jr., nominated Hon. Thomas Swann for
Governor, who was declared the unanimous choice of
the convention. Dr. Christopher C. Cox was nomi-
nated for Lieutenant-Governor, Hon. Alexander
Randall for attorney-general, Hon. Robert J. Jump
for comptroller, and Hon. Daniel Wiesel for judge of
the Court of Appeals. On October 20th one hundred
guns were fired from Fort Federal Hill in honor of
Sheridan's victory in the Valley of Virginia. On the
22d, M. J. Terry, agent of New York soldiers in the
field, was arrested at his office, No. 85 Fayette Street,
on the charge of conspiracy to defraud voters at the
Presidential election by substituting on the soldiers'
ballots the name of Gen. George B. McClellan instead
of Abraham Lincoln.

—On the 24th of October, Thomas S. Alexander, of
the Baltimore bar, on behalf of Samuel G. Miles, a
slave-owner, applied to the Superior Court of this
city for a writ of mandamus to compel Governor Brad-
ford to reject the soldiers' vote which was cast outside
of the State on the ground of illegality. The applica-
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tion was refused pro forma by Judge Martin, and an
appeal was taken the same day to the Court of Ap-
peals, which affirmed the decision on the 29th, Judge
Bartol dissenting. On the 27th of October the Demo-
cratic State Convention assembled in Baltimore.

—On November 1st the Evening Loyalist was sup-
pressed by order of Gen. Wallace. On the same day,
by order of Gen. Wallace, three salutes were fired in
honor of the new constitution, the first of thirty-five
guns at daylight, the second of one hundred guns at
noon, and the third of thirteen at sunset. On the 3d of
the month a man was arrested at Camden Station
having in his possession a large Confederate mail and
a fine sword intended for Col. Harry Gilmor. The
letter accompanying the gift led to the arrest of a
lady of high social position in Baltimore. She was
committed to jail, tried before a military commission,
found guilty, and sentenced to be imprisoned for five
years and to pay a fine of five thousand dollars. She
was sent to Fitchburg, Mass., under charge of Capt.
W. H. Wiegel, but was soon afterwards released.

—On the 8th of November the election for President
and Vice-President took place. The vote for the
Lincoln electors in Baltimore was 14,984, and for the
McClellan electors 2953. The vote in Baltimore
County for the Lincoln ticket was 2576, and for
McClellan 2662. On the 9th of November, Gen.
Wallace issued an order providing for the establish-
ment of a Freedmen's Bureau in the Middle Depart-
ment with the office at Baltimore, with Maj. William
M. Este, A.D.C., in charge. "As it will be im-
possible," said Gen. Wallace in this order, "to carry
it out without having a place in which the sick, help-
less, and needy can be temporarily rested and pro-
vided for, Maj. Este is directed to take possession
of the building known formerly as the Maryland
Club House, but now named 'Freedman's Rest,' to
select some excellent lady to take charge of the same
as matron, and to suitably prepare and furnish as
many rooms as may be required for the purpose pro-
posed." Donations were also requested, and " lest
the moneys derived from donations and from fines
collected should prove insufficient to support the
institution," the order continued, " Maj. Este will
proceed to make a list of all the avowed rebel sym-
pathizers resident in the city of Baltimore, with a
view to levying such contributions upon them in aid
of the ' Freedman's Rest' as may be from time to time
required." That portion of the order selecting the
Maryland Club House as the " Freedman's Rest"
was afterwards revoked.

—On December 6th, Messrs. R. Q. Taylor & Co.,
hatters, were arrested and had their store closed for a
few days for displaying over their door an umbrella i
of the obnoxious red and white. They were released
on explaining that such umbrellas had been the sign
in Baltimore from time immemorial.

—On December 14th the large iron gunboat " Mon-
ocacy," built for the government by Messrs. A. W.

Denmead & Son, was launched from their shipyard
at Canton. The "Monocacy" was the second vessel
of her class built in the country, and the largest war-
ship built or repaired in Baltimore during the war.

1865.—On the 3d of April the news of the evacua-
tion of Petersburg and the capture of Richmond was
received in Baltimore and produced the wildest ex-
citement. So vast a concourse soon crowded the
streets in the vicinity of the newspaper-offices that
serious disturbances were apprehended, and a strong
force of police and military were detailed for duty in
the central portions of the city. At three o'clock in
the afternoon, in accordance with an order issued by
Mayor Chapman, flags were unfurled from the engine-
houses and the bells rung. At night the Union citizens
illuminated their dwellings and places of business, and
it was not until midnight that the exuberant feeling
began to subside. A large stand was erected in front
of the American office, where the thousands were ad-
dressed by several popular speakers.

—On the 4th a salute of one hundred guns was fired
from Fort Federal Hill by order of Gen. Morris. On
the 6th of April, in pursuance of an order of the
mayor and City Councils, the city was draped in
flags, the bells were rung, and cannon roared their
congratulations at the recent Federal triumph. Houses
streamed with bunting and battle-flags, pennants and
revenue colors were suspended in all directions, and
the city was dressed in red, white, and blue. Balti-
more Street was decorated from Broadway to Carey
Street, and the display of bunting was richer and
more profuse than ever seen in any similar demon-
stration in this city before. The streets were filled
with thousands of people, and at night the entire
city was brilliantly illuminated, especially the news-
paper-offices, which were the centres of attraction.
Monday, the 10th, was also a day of intense excite-
ment in Baltimore, owing to the intelligence of Lee's
surrender. As soon as the news was received in Bal-
timore of the assassination of President Lincoln, the
police commissioners were convened in order to act
in harmony with the military authorities in preserv-
ing peace and order. The most stringent orders were
issued to the police force, who were on duty both day
and night at every prominent point. The drinking-
houses were all closed, and Gen. Morris, commander
of the Middle Department, issued a proclamation sus-
pending all travel to or from the city, either by railroad,
steamboat, or turnpike, with a view of apprehending
the murderers of the President in case they should be in
the city or on their way to it. Gen. Morris also issued
orders to the commanding officers of the troops around
Baltimore to be ready for service at a moment's notice,

i and two pieces of ordnance were placed in Holliday
Street near Fayette. A section of a battery was also
stationed near the quarters of the provost-marshal.
On the morning of the 15th of April, Mayor Chap-
man issued an order convening the City Council, and
requested all the shipping in the harbor, all public
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buildings and private residences, to display the United
States flag at half-mast, and also that the various
bells of the city be tolled between the hours of eleven
and twelve A.M., and between the hours of five and
six P.M. These requests were promptly complied
with, and before night the whole city was draped in
mourning. The courts adjourned, and in the evening
the places of amusement were ordered to be closed.
The City Council appropriated ten thousand dollars
for the apprehension of the murderer or murderers,
and soon all the roads swarmed with pickets ordered
to arrest all suspicious persons. Commodore Dornin
had charge of the harbor and an armed tug, to pre-
vent any vessel from leaving the port. The Eight
Bev. William R. Whittingham, the Episcopal bishop
of Maryland, issued an address to the clergy of his
diocese, and Archbishop Spaulding also issued one
to the Catholic clergy.

—Gen. Wallace arrived in Baltimore on the 15th
from Philadelphia, and on the 19th resumed com-
mand of the department, which had been so satisfac-
torily administered by Brevet Brig.-Gen. W. W. Mor-
ris, United States army, who again took command of
Fort McHenry and the other forts about Baltimore.
Immediately after Gen. Wallace resumed command
he issued the following order respecting the uniform
worn by the pupils of the Catonsville Military Insti-
tute:

" HEADQUARTERS MIDDLE DIVISION, EIGHTH ARMY CORPS,
" BALTIMORE, April 19,1865.

" General Orders No. 86.
" The gray uniform worn by certain young men, snid to be students,

has become so offensive to loyal soldiers and citizens that it is prohibited
in this department.

" This order will take effect from and after the 25th of the present
month.

" By command of
" MAJ.-GEN. WALLACE.

" GEORGE H. HOOKER, Amt-Adjt. General."

—About half-past ten o'clock on the morning of the
21st the remains of President Lincoln reached this
city, and accompanied by a large military and civic
procession, were taken to the rotunda of the Ex-
change, where the coffin was opened, and at least ten
thousand persons viewed the remains during the two
hours alloted.

—On the 24th of April the City Council passed a
resolution protesting " against the policy of allowing
ex-Confederates to return and remain in the city, and
requesting the military authorities not to tolerate this
the worst of dangerous evils." On the 25th, Gen.
Wallace, in accordance with the opinion of Attorney-
General Speed, issued an order prohibiting " prison-
ers of war (rebels) paroled to return to their homes
to await exchange" from remaining in the Middle
Department, and commanding their arrest if found
within its limits.

—It was also proposed in the City Council to re-
quest the mayor to call a town-meeting of the loyal citi-
zens, "that an expression of the loyal public of Balti-
more may be had in relation to the presence in our

midst of returned rebels, who, with an unblushing
effrontery, presume to take their places again as mem-
bers of our loyal community." In accordance with
the orders of the commanding general, and out of re-
spect for the dominant authority of the City Council,
a large number of ex-Confederates were arrested for
" coming into this department without authority," and
upon taking the oath of allegiance were sent North,
where they were tolerated. A great many, fearing
criminal prosecution for acts committed while in the
Confederate service or for participation in the troubles
of Baltimore in April, 1861, fled from the city.

—On the 19th, Gen. Wallace also sent a circular to
all the clergymen in Baltimore, requesting them to
" avoid everything in the least calculated to offend

• the sensibilities" of " men and women who esteem
| their loyalty only a little less sacred than their re-

ligion." The excited state of feeling growing out of
the assassination of President Lincoln and the return
of paroled Confederate prisoners led to the passage
of a resolution by the City Council requesting the
military authorities to close the Methodist church on
Franklin and Pine Streets, the church of the same
denomination on Madison and Preston Streets, and

I to discontinue the meetings of the congregations wor-
shiping at Eed Men's Hall, on Paca Street, and at
Winans' Chapel, all of which were charged with
being composed of Southern sympathizers.

—On the 24th, Gen. Wallace addressed a communi-
cation to the City Council, through Col. Woolley, pro-
vost-marshal, stating that the oath of allegiance had
been taken by Rev. Drs. Bullock and Lefevre and
Mr. Hamner and Capt. Trippe, and that he trusted
that the action of the gentlemen named would prove
entirely satisfactory.

—On the 29th, Gen. Wallace addressed a letter to
Mayor Chapman, in which he said,—

" Both branches of the City Council, as appears by their resolution
\ received to-day, formally request me aB commander of this department
: *to remove from their midst1 the Rev. J. J. Bullock, Kev. J. E. Ham-
I ner, Rev. J. Lefevre, and all such dangerous persons as are ' inimical to

our government.' The First Branch is at the same time pleased to inform
me that, for reasons stated, it is not satisfied with the oath of allegi-
ance which those reverend gentlemen have solemnly taken and sub-
scribed ; on the contrary, it asks of me ' to require of them additional
guarantees.' . . . I feel sure, however, that I will not suffer in the
opinion of these authorities if for once I differ with the Council and
respectfully decline to accept their reasons as sufficient to justify the
measures they have advised."

—On the 29th of April restrictions on travel by
steamer or sailing-vessel to the Western Shore of
Maryland were withdrawn, and on the 4th of May
all restrictions on trade were removed.

—On the 2d of May, Gen. Wallace prohibited the
sale of "portraits of any rebel officer or soldier, or of
J. Wilkes Booth, the murderer of President Lincoln."

—On the 18th of July, Gen. Winfield S. Hancock
assumed command of the Middle Department with
headquarters in Baltimore, with Lieut.-Col. Adam E.
King as adjutant-general. On the 2d of August, Gen.
Hancock issued an order requiring paroled prisoners


